
SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
South Lakeland House, Kendal, Cumbria LA9 4UQ
www.southlakeland.gov.uk 

You are requested to attend a meeting of 
the Audit Committee

on Thursday, 1 December 2016, at 6.30 p.m.
in the Georgian Room, Kendal Town Hall

Committee Membership

Councillors

Stephen Coleman (Chairman)
Stan Collins (Vice-Chairman)

Joss Curwen
Kevin Lancaster

Matt Severn
Ian Stewart

David Williams

Tuesday, 22 November 2016

Debbie Storr, Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer)

For all enquiries, please contact:- 
Committee Administrator: Inge Booth
Telephone: 01539 793190
e-mail: committeeservices@southlakeland.gov.uk

Please note – This meeting will be preceded at 6.00 p.m. by an informal meeting of the Committee 
with representatives of both Internal and External Audit, without the presence of officers, also in 
the Georgian Room at Kendal Town Hall.

Public Document Pack

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


AGENDA

Page Nos.
PART I 

1 APOLOGIES 

To receive apologies for absence, if any.

2 MINUTES 5 - 8

To authorise the Chairman to sign, as a correct record, the minutes of the 
meeting of the Committee held on 21 September 2016 (copy attached).

3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive declarations by Members of interests in respect of items on this 
Agenda. 

Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of Conduct, 
they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or other 
registrable interests which have not already been declared in the Council’s 
Register of Interests.  (It is a criminal offence not to declare a disclosable 
pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting.)

Members may, however, also decide, in the interests of clarity and 
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such disclosable 
pecuniary interests which they have already declared in the Register, as well as 
any other registrable or other interests.

If a Member requires advice on any item involving a possible declaration of 
interest which could affect his/her ability to speak and/or vote, he/she is advised 
to contact the Monitoring Officer at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting.

4 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS 

To consider whether the items, if any, in Part II of the Agenda should be 
considered in the presence of the press and public.

5 AUDIT COMMITTEE 2016/17 WORK PROGRAMME 9 - 12

To review the Committee’s Work Programme for 2016/17.

6 RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE 13 - 40

To note the Strategic Risk Register – Quarter 2, 2016/17.

7 ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2016/17 41 - 60

To consider the adoption of proposed accounting policies to be used for the 
closure of the 2016/17 accounts.

8 REVIEW OF THE LOCAL CODE OF GOVERNANCE 61 - 80

To consider the results of the review of the Council’s Local Code of 
Governance.

9 INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS PROGRESS REPORT 81 - 124

To consider progress made in implementing the Internal Audit Report 
recommendations.

10 EXTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS AND UPDATE REPORT 125 - 142

To note a summary of external audit progress to date and emerging issues and 
developments that may be relevant to the Council.



11 EXTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL AUDIT LETTER FOR SOUTH LAKELAND 
DISTRICT COUNCIL 

143 - 154

To receive the Annual Audit Letter for year ended 31 March 2016.

12 APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS 155 - 164

To consider an invitation to join a national procurement exercise to select and 
appoint External Auditors following the closure of the Audit Commission and the 
end of the transitional arrangements at the conclusion of the 2017/18 audits.

13 INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 165 - 174

To note a summary of the work carried out by Internal Audit and details of the 
progress made on the delivery of the approved Audit Plan for 2016/17.

14 REVIEW OF CONSTITUTION 175 - 240

To consider the results of the annual review of the Council’s Constitution for 
consideration by the Audit Committee.

15 REVIEW OF ANTI-FRAUD POLICY AND ACTIVITY 241 - 272

To note the results of the Audit Committee’s annual review of the Council’s Anti-
Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy.

16 AUDIT COMMITTEE RISK REGISTER 273 - 282

To review the updated Audit Committee Risk Register.

17 REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 283 - 294

To consider the results of the annual review of the Committee’s effectiveness.

18 OTHER SIGNIFICANT FINANCIAL ISSUES 

To receive a verbal update from the Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 
Officer) on any other significant financial issues.

PART II 

Private Section (exempt reasons under Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) Order 2006, specified by way of paragraph number)
There are no items in this Part of the Agenda.



This page is intentionally left blank



11 
21.09.2016 Audit Committee 
 

 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of the proceedings at a meeting of the Audit Committee held in the 
Georgian Room, Kendal Town Hall, on Wednesday, 21 September 2016, at  
6.30 p.m. 
 

Present 
 

Councillors 
 

 Stephen Coleman (Chairman) 
Stan Collins (Vice-Chairman) 

 
Joss Curwen 

Kevin Lancaster 
 

Matt Severn 
David Williams 

 

  
 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Ian Stewart. 
 

Officers 
 

Jason Habbershon Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer 

Anthea Lowe Solicitor to the Council 

Shelagh McGregor Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) 

Peter Notley Chief Accountant 

Helen Smith Financial Services Manager 

Debbie Storr Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer) 

 
Also in attendance were Jackie Bellard (External Auditor), Neil Krajewski (External 
Audit Manager) and Peter Harrison (Internal Audit Manager). 
 

AUD/16 MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED – That the Chairman be authorised to sign, as a correct record, the 
minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 21 July 2016. 
 

AUD/17 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that no declarations of interest were raised. 
 

AUD/18 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that there are no excluded items on the agenda. 
 

AUD/19 WORK PROGRAMME 2016/17  
 
The Financial Services Manager explained that the first individual internal audit 
reports from the new provider would be presented to the Audit Committee at its 
meeting in December. 

RESOLVED – That the Work Programme for 2016/17 be noted. 

Page 5

Item No.2



12 
21.09.2016 Audit Committee 
 

 

 
AUD/20 INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS PROGRESS REPORT  

 
The Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) presented a report 
providing an update on the progress made in implementing the Internal Audit 
Report recommendations.  
 
Appendix 1 to the report contained details of 46 recommendations, of which 15 
had future completion dates. Of the 31 remaining recommendations, 12 had been 
completed and 19 were partially completed. 
 
Following a query regarding Recommendation 7 of the Follow up Audit of Asset 
Management, as set out within Appendix 1, it was confirmed that work was 
ongoing to finalise the process to log and follow up rent review cases, and that it 
was expected that this would be agreed within the next couple of months. 
 
RESOLVED – That the progress made with implementing the Internal Audit Report 
recommendations be noted. 
 

AUD/21 EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL AUDIT  
 
The Effectiveness of Internal Audit report was presented by the Internal Audit 
Manager. He explained that the recent change in internal audit provider had 
resulted in the focus of the report being on the arrangements the previous provider 
had in place during 2015/16 and the new arrangements put in place with  
TIAA Limited. 
 
The Council was required to conduct a review of the effectiveness of its system of 
Internal Audit at least once a year. For the purposes of the review, the areas of 
assurance which had been relied upon were as follows:- 
 

 Public Sector Internal Audit Standards; 

 Audit Charter; 

 Head of Internal Audit Option – 2015/16; and 

 Performance Indicators. 
 
RESOLVED – That the conclusion that the Council has an effective system of 
internal audit in place that complies with the principles of the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards and has planned improvement activities to ensure full compliance, 
be endorsed. 
 

AUD/22 THE EXTERNAL AUDIT FINDINGS FOR SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT 
COUNCIL 2015/16  
 
The External Audit Manager presented the External Audit Findings for South 
Lakeland District Council for the year ended 31 March 2016. The report 
highlighted the key findings arising from the audit. 
 
The report’s findings that the Council had achieved value for money in its use of 
resources was welcomed by Members. 

Page 6



13 
21.09.2016 Audit Committee 
 

 

 
In response to a query regarding the identified internal control risk, the Assistant 
Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) explained that this issue had also been 
identified by the Council’s Human Resources Manager and that new, robust 
controls regarding this had been put in place. 
 
A discussion took place on the going concern principle. The External Auditor 
explained that the continuation and provision of services was considered when 
applying the principle to a local authority audit. 
 
RESOLVED – That the External Audit Findings for South Lakeland District Council 
2015/16 be noted. 
 

AUD/23 STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2015/16 AND THE ANNUAL GOVERNANCE 
STATEMENT  
 
The Chief Accountant presented the audited Statement of Accounts 2015/16. The 
unaudited Statement of Accounts had been approved by the Assistant Director 
Resources (Section 151 Officer) on 29 June 2016 and reported to the Audit 
Committee on 21 July 2016. The Section 151 Officer would also be required to re-
approve the audited statements. The accounts had also been subject to external 
audit and public inspection from 1 July. No material errors had been identified as 
part of the audit process. 
  
It was required that the accounts be considered and approved by Members and 
published no later than the 30 September following the year end to which they 
related. This statutory deadline would come forward to the 31 July following the 
year end as of the 2017/18 financial year. 
 
In addition, the letter of representation required approval and signature by both the 
Section 151 Officer and Chairman of the Audit Committee and formed part of the 
overall assurance required by the External Auditor. 
 
The Chief Accountant highlighted the Council’s good working relationship with the 
External Auditors, and explained that the Council was confident that it was on 
schedule to meet the faster closure and publication timetable of the audited 
accounts referred to above. 
 
In response to a question from the Committee, the Chief Accountant clarified that 
the sale of old vehicles occurred when they became uneconomical to run and that 
applying the de minimis principle meant that the resulting income may not always 
be accounted for as a capital receipt. 
 
The Chairman thanked the Financial Services Team for their work in putting the 
Statement of Accounts together. 
 

Page 7



14 
21.09.2016 Audit Committee 
 

 

RESOLVED – That 
 
(1) the following be approved:- 
 
 (a) the audited Statement of Accounts, as at Appendix 2 to the report; 

and 
 
 (b) the letter of representation, as at Appendix 1 to the report; and 
 
(2) the Chairman of the Audit Committee be authorised to sign the letter of 
representation and the Statement of Accounts on behalf of the Committee. 
 

AUD/24 OTHER SIGNIFICANT FINANCIAL ISSUES  
 
The Financial Services Manager explained that the technical consultation on the 
Local Government Finance Settlement 2017/18 had already begun. She also drew 
attention to the multi-year financial settlement proposal which would be considered 
by Council at its meeting on 22 September 2016. 
 
RESOLVED – That the update on other significant financial issues be received. 
 
 
 
 
 
The meeting ended at 7.00 p.m. 

Page 8



 
1/12/2016 AUDIT COMMITTEE

2016/17 WORK PROGRAMME 

Page 1 of 4

Lead Officer 21 July 2016 21 Sept  2016 1 Dec 2016 20 April 2017

Committee Administration 

Committee Terms of Reference Inge Booth √

Set work programme for coming year Helen Smith √

Review progress against work programme Helen Smith √ √ √ √

Training – to be arranged as necessary 
outside meetings Helen Smith √

Audit Committee Annual Report

(Referral to Council)
Helen Smith √

Update of progress regarding Internal and 
External Audit recommendations & the Annual 
Governance Action Plan

Shelagh 
McGregor √ √ √ √

Private Meeting – Internal and External Audit Inge Booth √

External Audit

2015/16 Annual Audit Letter Neil Krajewski √

2015/16 Grant Certification Report Neil Krajewski √

2016/17 Opinion Audit Plan Neil Krajewski √

Audit Fee Letter Neil Krajewski √

P
age 9

Item
 N

o.5



 
1/12/2016 AUDIT COMMITTEE

2016/17 WORK PROGRAMME 

Page 2 of 4

Lead Officer 21 July 2016 21 Sept  2016 1 Dec 2016 20 April 2017

External Auditor Update Neil Krajewski √ √ √

Appointment of External Audit Helen Smith As required

Internal Audit

2015/16 Annual Internal Audit Report Niki Riley √

2016/17 Internal Audit Progress Report 
(including Individual Audit Report and updates 
on high priority recommendations if required)

Peter Harrison
No individual 
audit reports 
finalised yet

√ √

Internal Audit Annual Plan  (including review 
of Internal Audit Charter) Peter Harrison √ (2016/17) √ (2017/18)

Review effectiveness of Internal Audit Helen Smith Defer until 
September 2016 √

Accounts

Review 2015/16 Statement of Accounts 
(including the International Auditing Standards 
compliance response) and Annual 
Governance Statement

Helen Smith √

2015/16 Statement of Accounts - Receive 
external auditor’s opinion on Accounts (Audit 
Findings Report & Financial Resilience 
Report)

Neil Krajewski √

P
age 10



 
1/12/2016 AUDIT COMMITTEE

2016/17 WORK PROGRAMME 

Page 3 of 4

Lead Officer 21 July 2016 21 Sept  2016 1 Dec 2016 20 April 2017

2015/16 Approve Statement of Accounts 
amended following Audit  (if needed) 
(including signature of letter of representation)

Helen Smith √

Review Accounting Policies for 2016/17 
Statement of Accounts Pete Notley

√ (brought-
forward from 
April 2017)

√ 

Regulatory Framework

Review Annual Governance Statement for 
inclusion in the St of A/Cs Report above *

Shelagh 
McGregor Incorporated into Statement of Accounts

Appoint Panel to review Annual Governance 
Statement Inge Booth

Not needed due 
to change in final 

accounts 
timetable

Contribute to review of Constitution Helen Smith √

Annual Review of Anti-Fraud Policy & Activity Helen Smith √

Review of Performance Management 
Framework Simon McVey √

Review of Risk Management Policy Simon McVey

Additional report: 
process for future 

review √

Audit Committee Risk Register Helen Smith √ √

Strategic Risk Register Simon McVey √ √

P
age 11



 
1/12/2016 AUDIT COMMITTEE

2016/17 WORK PROGRAMME 

Page 4 of 4

Lead Officer 21 July 2016 21 Sept  2016 1 Dec 2016 20 April 2017

Review Local Code of Governance  Helen Smith √

Review Whistleblowing Policy Helen Smith Biennial – next due December 2017

Review Audit Committee’s effectiveness Helen Smith √

Financial Issues

Update of significant financial issues not 
covered elsewhere on the agenda

Shelagh 
McGregor As requiredP

age 12



1 
 

South Lakeland District Council 

Audit Committee 

1 December 2016 

Risk Management Update 

 

PORTFOLIO: Councillor Sue Sanderson –Council Organisation and 
People Portfolio Holder 

REPORT FROM: Debbie Storr - Director Policy and Resources (Monitoring 
Officer) 

REPORT AUTHOR: John Davies – Performance and Risk Officer 

WARDS: Not Applicable 

KEY DECISION: Not Applicable 

 

1.0 EXPECTED OUTCOME 

1.1 The Audit Committee is updated with the Strategic Risk Register. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 That  Audit Committee note the Strategic Risk Register in appendix 1 of 
this report 

3.0 BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS 

3.1 Risk Management is a vital organisational control and is a key part of the 
Council’s governance arrangements.  

3.2 The Strategic Risk Register contains all those risks above and below the line 
of risk tolerance.  

3.3 All risks above the line of tolerance have mitigations listed. These mitigations 
are designed to reduce the risks in terms of likelihood or impact or both.  

3.4 The aim of mitigations is to reduce a risk from the current position on the risk 
matrix to the target position.   

3.5 A risk should reach its target position by the target date. For a risk to be 
managed on schedule the mitigations must be implemented by their due 
dates. Not completing mitigations on time places a risk in exception.  

3.6 Risks are highlighted with exception status as part of quarterly performance 
reporting arrangements. A risk is only removed from the register (archived) if 
there is no longer any risk. Please see the Risk Register at appendix 1. 

3.7 Audit Committee of 23 April 2015, Item AUD/55 required sight of the full 
register to satisfy the committee that strategic risks were being managed.  

Page 13

Item No.6



2 
 

4.0 CONSULTATION 

4.1 This report has been prepared by the Performance and Risk Officer based on 
quarter two updates to the register. Officers responsible for risk mitigations 
have been consulted to review the progress made in completing them. Risk 
owners have been consulted to review the current likelihood and impact of 
risks where they are positioned above the line of risk tolerance.  

4.2 The Strategic Risk Register is reviewed by Senior Management Team each 
quarter as part of quarterly performance monitoring and reporting 
arrangements. A new risk around Waste Collection has been added to the 
register. This is risk number 16 on page 19 of appendix 1. Senior 
Management Team gave the Strategic Risks Register a further review on 
10/11/16.  

5.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

5.1 No alternative options – the Audit Committee requires that risk management 
arrangements are effective. 

6.0 LINKS TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES 

6.1 Risk management arrangements underpin the achievement of all priorities. 

7.0 IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 Financial and Resources 

7.1.1 There are no financial or resource implications in updating Audit Committee 
on recent risk activity.  However, many of the risks identified relate to financial 
issues and are considered as part of the Council’s Medium Term Financial 
Plan, budget preparation and monitoring process.  

7.2 Human Resources 

7.2.1 There are no human resource implications in updating Audit Committee on 
risk activity. 

7.3 Legal 

7.3.1 There are no legal implications in updating Audit Committee on recent risk 
activity. 

7.4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4.1 Risk management arrangements underpin Health, Social, Economic and 
Environmental objectives. Therefore there is no requirement to carry out a 
Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Assessment.  

Have you completed and Health, 
Social, Economic and Environmental 
Impact Assessment? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If yes, please confirm that it is 
attached to the report in the 
appendices. 

Yes ☐ No ☐ 

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons. 

Risk management arrangements 
underpin Health, Social, Economic 
and Environmental objectives. 

Page 14



3 
 

 

7.5 Equality and Diversity 

7.5.1 Risk management underpins equality and diversity objectives and therefore 
there is no requirement to carry out an Equality Impact Assessment. 

Have you completed an Equality 
Impact Analysis? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If yes, please confirm that it is 
attached to the report in the 
appendices. 

Yes ☐ No ☐ 

If you have not completed an 
Equality Impact Analysis, please 
explain your reasons. 

Risk management arrangements 
underpin Equality and Diversity 
objectives. 

7.6 Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

That actions to mitigate 
the strategic risks are 
not met 

The risks are not 
reduced or increase and 
impact on the Council’s 
delivery against 
budgets/services 

Risk mitigations are 
monitored as part of 
quarterly performance 
monitoring 
arrangements and 
appropriate action taken 
to reduce risks. 

That risks are not 
captured or kept under 
review 

Risks are not up to date 
or monitored leading to 
impact on service 
delivery 

Risks are reviewed each 
quarter by Senior 
Management Team as 
part of quarterly 
performance reporting 
arrangements. 

 

CONTACT OFFICERS 

Report Author – John Davies, Performance and Risk Officer, 01539 733333, 
rj.davies@southlakeland.gov.uk  

 

APPENDICES ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT 

Appendix No.  

1 Strategic Risks Register - available at Audit Committee on 21st 
July 2016. 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE 

Previous Audit Committee updates can be seen here 

Quarterly performance reports to Cabinet can be seen here  

Page 15

mailto:rj.davies@southlakeland.gov.uk
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=135
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=121


4 
 

TRACKING INFORMATION 

Assistant 
Director 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Solicitor to the 
Council 

SMT Scrutiny 
Committee 

02/11/16 02/11/16 02/11/16 10/11/16  

Executive 
(Cabinet) 

Audit 
Committee 

Council Section 151 
Officer 

Monitoring 
Officer 

 01/12/2016  02/11/16 02/11/16 

Human 
Resource 
Services 
Manager 

Leader 

 

Ward 
Councillor(s) 

 

  

02/11/16     

 

Page 16



Appendix 1

1
Version: 1
Date: 04/10/2016
Quarter: 2, 2016/17

Strategic Risks Register - Quarter 2, 2016/17

How to understand this report:
This register contains the full and complete list of the Council’s Strategic Risks.

The risk matrix - risks are prioritised by considering their degree of likelihood and impact:

The next page shows how the information for each risk is presented.

High

Medium x

Low x

Very Low

Negligible Marginal Serious Critical

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact

Risks positioned in the blue zone of the risk matrix are 
unacceptable and require quarterly mitigation and 
management. Mitigation updates are listed for these risks. 

Risks positioned in the green zone of the risk matrix are 
acceptable and require an annual review in quarter four.

P
age 17



Appendix 1

2
Version: 1
Date: 04/10/2016
Quarter: 2, 2016/17

Each risk is presented with the following information:

Risk No. & Name
The risk name is a concise and clear title for the risk

Description
A description of the circumstances which help to generate risk

Current Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the current 
position of the risk.

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
Review Date:
The date when this risk will be 
considered and reviewed

Target Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the desired 
position of the risk following the 
completion of mitigations.

XLi
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
Target Date:
The date that the risk must reach the 
target position – through the completion 
of mitigations.

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

A mitigation is an action which is designed 
to reduce or eliminate the risk.  The 
mitigation can improve the likelihood or 
impact of the risk.

A short update on progress made 
with the mitigation

The person responsible for 
progressing the mitigation

Mitigations should be implemented 
by their due dates for the risk to be 
improved effectively.

History 
of Risk 
Improvement

For each risk a history of risk review and improvement is shown:
RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓  =  a risk review indicates that there is now less risk
RISK POSITION INCREASED ↑  =  a risk review indicates that there is now more risk
RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔  =  a risk review indicates that there is the same level of risk
RISK IDENTIFIED ●  =  a newly identified risk is entered onto this register

Risk Owner The person with sufficient authority to control this risk Portfolio the Portfolio that this risk is relevant to 
 

P
age 18



Appendix 1

3
Version: 1
Date: 04/10/2016
Quarter: 2, 2016/17

Strategic Risks Register

  Risk 1 was archived during quarter 1 2016/17

Risk 2
Contracts do not deliver the standards of performance required 
within the contract fee agreed.

Description

Current Position of Risk

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

Review Date
Annual – end of March

Target Position of Risk

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

Target Date
Not applicable risk is below 
tolerance

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

Mitigations are not applicable as this risk is 
below tolerance.

n/a n/a n/a

History 
of Risk 
Improvement

This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four.
Q4 2014/15: RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓ - on 09/04/15 Senior Management Team reviewed this risk as Impact Marginal and Likelihood Low. Risk 
ownership is allocated to each Assistant Director.
Q4 2015/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - risk reviewed as Impact Marginal and Likelihood Low. Next review is Q4 2016/17
Q1 2016/17 SMT Risk Register Review: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - risk reviewed as Impact Marginal and Likelihood Low. Next review is Q4 
2016/17
10/11/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review prior to Audit Committee indicates no change.

Risk Owner Assistant Directors Portfolio Finance Portfolio

P
age 19



Appendix 1

4
Version: 1
Date: 04/10/2016
Quarter: 2, 2016/17

Risk 3
Business Continuity

Description
1/ Loss of South Lakeland House and Server room prevents access to systems and 
data:
Loss of main office and server room due to major fire prevents access to systems and 
data. Likelihood is low due to fire prevention measures however impact is critical as 
affects all services at once, some at critical times. The remote access server that 
allows people to access systems and data from remote locations is based in South 
Lakeland House and if destroyed would severely limit services. A fire could also 
destroy most laptops. The delay in getting new laptops supplied with an SLDC 
configuration would again severely limit services. 
2/ Loss of telecommunications due to external or internal infrastructure failure:
Likelihood is at least significant as telephony issues occur several times each year. 
Impact is serious as affects all services for up to a day and inevitably at critical times. A 
current work around in extremis allows public calls to be redirected to Eden and then 
to Canal Head Depot, however staff would have to use mobiles to make external calls. 
The Emergency Control Room (SLDC Contact Centre) has independent phone lines and 
WIFI internet access and mobile phone reception in place. 

Current Position of Risk

x

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

Review Date
Quarterly

Target Position of Risk

xLi
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

Target Date
Not applicable as risk is below 
tolerance

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

Resilient internet connection to provide email Due date now set and technical 
options are being evaluated. 

Update 14/07/16: Configuration 
options have been reviewed and the 
only solution is to purchase a 
separate broadband connection into 
South Lakeland House. Costs to be 

IT Services Manager 31/12/16

P
age 20



Appendix 1

5
Version: 1
Date: 04/10/2016
Quarter: 2, 2016/17

confirmed so that a decision can be 
made to proceed or not.

Update 13/10/16: Costs have been 
established and an order has been 
raised for implementation by 
31/12/16 - due date amended to 
31/12/16.

Resilient internet connection to provide the 
public with access to Council data

Options are being reviewed. 
Update 14/07/16 and 13/10/16: The 
solution to this mitigation is the 
same as the mitigation above.

IT Services Manager see mitigation due date above

Resilient telephony network Complexity of technical solution 
requires amended due date.

IT Services Manager 31/12/16

Review of low bandwidth network connected 
sites 

Review is underway but other 
mitigations are higher priority

Update 13/10/16: Review is 90% 
completed.

IT Services Manager 31/12/16

History 
of Risk 
Improvement

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.
Q4 2015/16: POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Progress is on track with three further mitigations completed. Risk reviewed as having Impact Critical 
and Likelihood Low.
Q1 2016/17: POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Awaiting costs for decision on viability to proceed on purchase of a separate broadband connection into 
South Lakeland House. Risk reviewed as having Impact Critical and Likelihood Low.
May be broadened out to include staff resources and financial aspects.
Q1 2016/17 SMT Risk Register Review: RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓ - Risk reviewed as having Impact Serious and Likelihood Low. Risk is improved 
due to progress with mitigations. Completed actions and early previous history has been archived. During Q2 this risk may be developed to include 
loss of staff and financial impacts.
10/11/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review prior to Audit Committee indicates no change.

Risk Owner Assistant Director Performance and Innovation Portfolio Council Organisation and People Portfolio – Deputy 

P
age 21



Appendix 1

6
Version: 1
Date: 04/10/2016
Quarter: 2, 2016/17

Leader

P
age 22



Appendix 1

7
Version: 1
Date: 04/10/2016
Quarter: 2, 2016/17

Risk 4
Affordable housing targets are not met.

Description
There is a risk that the Council may not achieve the Council Plan target: ‘By 2025 we 
will have enabled with the private sector the development of 1,000 new affordable 
homes for rent’. The Council will need to enable delivery of new affordable and open 
market housing particularly through private sector led development across the 
district.

Current Position of Risk

XLi
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Review Date
Annual – end of March

Target Position of Risk

XLi
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

Target Date
Not applicable risk is below 
tolerance

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

Mitigations are not applicable as risk is below 
tolerance

n/a n/a n/a

History 
of Risk 
Improvement

This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four.
Q4 2014/15: RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓ - on 09/04/15 Senior Management Team reviewed this risk as Impact Serious and Likelihood Very Low, 
performance monitoring indicates that housing targets are on track.
Q4 2015/16: POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Senior Management Team reviewed this risk as Impact Serious and Likelihood Very Low, performance 
monitoring continues to indicate that housing targets are on track. Next review is Q4 2016/17
Q1 2016/17 SMT Risk Register Review: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Senior Management Team reviewed this risk as Impact Serious and 
Likelihood Very Low – to be reviewed in Q2.
10/11/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review prior to Audit Committee indicates no change.

Risk Owner Assistant Director Strategic Development Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio

P
age 23



Appendix 1

8
Version: 1
Date: 04/10/2016
Quarter: 2, 2016/17

Risk 5
Impact of the Welfare Reform on communities

Description
Welfare reform is a major element of recent government spending cuts - resulting in 
significant changes to taxes and benefits. Universal Credit may have an impact on the 
level of benefits. Welfare reform therefore impacts on low-income tenants and social 
landlords.

Current Position of Risk

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Review Date
Annual – end of March

Target Position of Risk

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

Target Date
Not applicable risk is below 
tolerance

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

Mitigations are not applicable as this risk is 
below tolerance.

n/a n/a n/a

History 
of Risk 
Improvement

This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four.
Q4 2014/15: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - on 09/04/15 Senior Management Team reviewed this risk as Impact Marginal and Likelihood Low.
Q4 2015/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - reviewed risk is Impact Marginal and Likelihood Low. Next review is Q4 2016/17
Q1 2016/17 SMT Risk Register Review: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - reviewed risk is Impact Marginal and Likelihood Low. Next review to be in 
Q2.
10/11/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review prior to Audit Committee indicates no change.

Risk Owner Assistant Director & Chief Finance Officer Portfolio Culture and Wellbeing Portfolio

P
age 24



Appendix 1

9
Version: 1
Date: 04/10/2016
Quarter: 2, 2016/17

Risk 6
Medium Term Financial Planning – delivery of a balanced budget

Description
Current and future years proposed budget reductions (expenditure and income) are 
not achieved. Future year’s budget reductions (expenditure or income) are not 
identified. Significant existing income sources are not protected or effectively 
managed. Income from Central Government is reduced above the current 
assumptions. NDR income assumptions are not achieved. 

Current Position of Risk

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Review Date
Quarterly

Target Position of Risk

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

Target Date
Annual – end of March

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

MTFP assumptions are reviewed, updated and 
reported on a quarterly basis

Mitigation is in place and on track Assistant Director of Resources 
(Section 151)

Each quarter

Options to resolve any issues are provided to 
the Cabinet each quarter

Mitigation is in place and on track Assistant Director of Resources 
(Section 151). Assistant Directors
Directors

Each quarter

History 
of Risk 
Improvement

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.
Q4 2015/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Risk reviewed as having serious impact and significant likelihood. Assistant Directors and Directors 
have been added to mitigation ‘Options to resolve any issues are provided to the Cabinet each quarter’ to reflect cross council responsibility. 
Q1 2016/17 SMT Risk Register Review: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Risk reviewed as having serious impact and significant likelihood. Early 
previous history is archived. 
Q2 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Risk reviewed as serious impact and significant likelihood. The DCLG 4 year settlement application is 
completed. Early previous history is archived.       
10/11/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review prior to Audit Committee indicates no change.                          

Risk Owner Assistant Director & Chief Finance Officer Portfolio Finance Portfolio

P
age 25



Appendix 1

10
Version: 1
Date: 04/10/2016
Quarter: 2, 2016/17

Risk 7
Information Management is not effective

Description
The Council is required to have effective information governance procedures. It will 
be necessary to manage corporate information by implementing processes, roles and 
controls - including the Data Protection and Information Security Policies.

Current Position of Risk

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Review Date
Quarterly

Target Position of Risk

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

Target Date
Not applicable risk is below 
tolerance

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

Continue to reinforce key standards and 
policies via regular communication. Ensure 
Managers are appropriately trained and 
requirements are clearly set out in Job 
Descriptions and reinforced via appraisals. 
Ensure Internal Audit findings are acted on in 
a timely manner.

This mitigation added on 11/11/15

Training schedule in early draft. Key 
standards to be agreed by HR 
Committee in summer 2016

Principal Performance and 
Intelligence Officer

Summer 2016

Clear and ongoing communications to staff to 
reinforce policies and protocols. Regular 
review and monitoring of arrangements 
across services by Operational Managers 
supported by Information Security/ 
Governance Teams in Policy & Partnerships 
and ICT.

This mitigation added on 11/11/15

Training schedule in early draft. Key 
standards to be agreed by HR 
Committee in summer 2016

Principal Performance and 
Intelligence Officer

Summer 2016

History 
of Risk 

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.
Q2 2015/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Policy and Partnerships has assessed the risk as having Impact Serious and Likelihood Medium.

P
age 26



Appendix 1

11
Version: 1
Date: 04/10/2016
Quarter: 2, 2016/17

Improvement Q3 2015/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Policy and Partnerships has assessed the risk as having Impact Serious and Likelihood Medium.
Q4 2015/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Policy and Partnerships has assessed the risk as having Impact Serious and Likelihood Medium.
Q1 2016/17 SMT Risk Register Review: RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓ - Senior Management Team has reviewed as having Impact Serious and 
Likelihood Low. Likelihood has reduced due to progress with mitigations. Completed mitigations and early previous history have been archived.
10/11/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review prior to Audit Committee indicates no change. Risk name updated from ‘Information 
management’ to ‘Information Management is not effective’.

Risk Owner Assistant Director Performance and Innovation Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio

P
age 27



Appendix 1

12
Version: 1
Date: 04/10/2016
Quarter: 2, 2016/17

Risk 8
The infrastructure required to deliver the Council Plan priorities is 
not provided.

Description
Infrastructure is required to support businesses and housing development objectives. 
The Council will need to implement the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to 
provide funding stream for infrastructure delivery. There will need to be protocols for 
CIL Governance and an up to date Infrastructure Delivery Plan.
Due to the impacts of Storm Desmond there may be implications associated with 
future flood resilience measures and infrastructure repairs.

Current Position of Risk

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Review Date
Quarterly

Target Position of Risk

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

Target Date
Not applicable risk is below 
tolerance

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

Annual update of Infrastructure Delivery Plan. Review largely complete to be 
reported to Cabinet

Development Strategy and Housing 
Manager

01/12/16

Development of protocols for CIL Governance. To be reported to Cabinet Development Strategy and Housing 
Manager

01/12/16

CIL Review proposed as part of Development 
Management Policies process.

To be undertaken when draft DM 
policies are consulted upon in 
Autumn 2016

Development Strategy and Housing 
Manager

01/03/18

History 
of Risk 
Improvement

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.
Q3 2015/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Risk remains unchanged at Impact Serious and Likelihood Medium. Due dates of mitigations have 
been amended to tie in with scheduled timescales.
Q4 2015/16: RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓ - Risk reviewed as Impact Serious and Likelihood Low. Significant CIL liabilities identified. Some Kendal 
Town Centre projects implemented. Air quality position improved. Next review is Q4 2016/17.
Q1 2016/17 SMT Risk Register Review: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Risk remains unchanged at Impact Serious and Likelihood Medium. 
Description of risk is widened out to reflect implications associated with Storm Desmond. Completed mitigations and early previous history have 
been archived.            
10/11/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review prior to Audit Committee indicates no change.

P
age 28



Appendix 1

13
Version: 1
Date: 04/10/2016
Quarter: 2, 2016/17

Risk Owner Assistant Director Strategic Development Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio

P
age 29



Appendix 1

14
Version: 1
Date: 04/10/2016
Quarter: 2, 2016/17

Risk 9
Essential strategic partnerships required to deliver the Council Plan 
do not operate effectively.

Description
Where necessary robust agreements will be needed. Also opportunities and resource 
implications should be identified. Partnerships will need to work supportively to 
achieve Council Plan objectives.
The introduction of NHS STP’s and the movement of South Cumbria CCG’s into 
Lancashire/Morecambe Bay by April 2017 requires new strategic partnerships to be 
formed with these groups to ensure SLDC and its communities gain maximum benefit 
from any changes.

Current Position of Risk

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Review Date
Annual

Target Position of Risk

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

Target Date
Target met

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

Monitor resource, cost and reputational 
impact with established strategic partnerships

No cost implications to the council in 
maintaining partnerships

Partnerships & Organisational 
Development Manager

31/03/17 annual review

History 
of Risk 
Improvement

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.
Q4 2014/15: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - on 09/04/15 Senior Management Team reprioritised risk as Serious Impact and Medium Likelihood.
Q1 2015/16: RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓ - following appraisal by Policy and Partnerships it has been decided that mitigations 1 & 2 are met. 
Policy and Partnerships confirm that the risk has reached the target position of Likelihood Low and Impact Marginal. Next review is now in Q4.
Q4 2015/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - risk remains at Likelihood Low and Impact Marginal. Next review is Q4 2016/17
Q1 2016/17 SMT Risk Register Review: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - risk reviewed as Likelihood Low and Impact Marginal. Completed 
mitigations have been archived. Mitigation due date reset to reflect the next annual review.
10/11/16: RISK POSITION INCREASED ↑- SMT review prior to Audit Committee indicates an increase in potential impact to ‘Serious’. The 
introduction of NHS STP’s and the movement of South Cumbria CCG’s into Lancashire/Morecambe Bay by April 2017 requires new strategic 
partnerships to be formed with these groups to ensure SLDC and its communities gain maximum benefit from any changes. Risk description 
updated.

Risk Owner Chief Executive Portfolio Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio – Leader

P
age 30



Appendix 1

15
Version: 1
Date: 04/10/2016
Quarter: 2, 2016/17

  Risk 10 and Risk 11 were archived during quarter 1 2016/17

Risk 12
Health and Safety management of contracts

Description of risk
Health and safety management arrangements require a review for officer led 
contracts. A review may indicate new requirements and resources. Expert legal advice 
is required in order to achieve compliance and reasonable cost.

Current Position of Risk

x

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Next Review Date
Quarterly

Target Position of Risk

x

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

Target Date
31/03/17

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

1/ Contracts Management Health and Safety 
training is provided

Completed Principle Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing Officer

09/04/15

2/ Officer leads carry out onsite H&S 
monitoring which is proportionate to the risk

ongoing All staff managing contracts Ongoing requirement

3/ Officer led contracts are subject to spot 
checks for onsite monitoring records.

Q4 2015/16: Initial assessment 
indicates that evidence exists for 
H&S checks

All managers with contracts. Ongoing requirement

History 
of Risk 
Improvement

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.
Q1 2016/17 SMT Risk Register Review: RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓ - progress with mitigations has reduced this risk. Risk reviewed as Impact 
Critical and Likelihood Low. Early previous history has been archived.
Q2 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Risk reviewed as Impact Critical and Likelihood Low. Early previous history has been archived.
10/11/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review prior to Audit Committee indicates no change.

Risk Owner Chief Executive Portfolio Finance Portfolio

P
age 31



Appendix 1

16
Version: 1
Date: 04/10/2016
Quarter: 2, 2016/17

Risk 13
Impact of new projects and initiatives on existing Council Plan 
priorities

Description of risk
There is a risk that new projects and initiatives take the resources required by other 
projects and initiatives currently in the programme. 

Current Position of Risk

x

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Next Review Date
Quarterly

Target Position of Risk

x

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

Target Date
31/03/17

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

Ensure that potential new projects and 
initiatives are subject to a pre-assessment 
which measures their priority

Completed and ongoing 
requirement.
Update 10/11/16: Reinforce the 
assessment and prioritisation of new 
projects – review in six months.

Director of People and Places Ongoing requirement

Review on 31/03/17

History 
of Risk 
Improvement

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.
Q4 2015/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Flood Recovery activity is still significant and maintains the risk as Impact Serious and Likelihood 
Medium. 
Q1 2016/17 SMT Risk Register Review: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Flood Recovery activity continues. This risk is reviewed as Impact Serious 
and Likelihood Medium. Early previous history has been archived.
Q2 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - This risk is reviewed as Impact Serious and Likelihood Medium. Early previous history has been 
archived.
10/11/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review prior to Audit Committee indicates no change. Risk name updated from ‘Impact of new 
projects and initiatives’ to ‘Impact of new projects and initiatives on existing Council Plan priorities’.

Risk Owner Director of People and Places Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio

P
age 32



Appendix 1

17
Version: 1
Date: 04/10/2016
Quarter: 2, 2016/17

P
age 33



Appendix 1

18
Version: 1
Date: 04/10/2016
Quarter: 2, 2016/17

Risk 14
Unintended impacts of efficiencies and service changes

Description of risk
New efficiencies and changes brought about by one service can have unintended 
negative impacts on the efficiency and running of another service – especially if 
proposals are not consulted on until to late in the process. These impacts can increase 
the cost of running other services. Also the changes brought about by other 
organisations have the potential to influence Council resources and delivery.

Current Position of Risk

x

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Next Review Date
Annual – end of March

Target Position of Risk

x

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

Target Date
Not applicable risk is below 
tolerance

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

This risk is managed via the Service Planning 
and Budgeting processes. 

Completed Operational Managers
Senior Management Team

Mitigations in place within 
existing Service Planning and 
Budgeting processes.

Promote early discussions on potential change 
with external parties

New mitigation on 10/11/16 Director of People and Places 31/03/17

History 
of Risk 
Improvement

This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four.
For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.
Q4 2014/15: RISK IDENTIFIED ● - risk separated from risk 013/14’ impact of new projects’. Reviewed by Senior managers as Marginal Impact and 
Medium Likelihood. On 09/04/15 Senior Management Team reviewed this risk as Impact Marginal and Likelihood Medium.
Q4 2015/16: RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓ - Service Planning activity has reduced the likelihood of this risk.  Risk reviewed as Impact Marginal and 
Likelihood Low. This risk will now be reviewed in Q4 2016/17.
Q1 2016/17 SMT Risk Register Review: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Risk reviewed as Impact Marginal and Likelihood Low. The risk 
description has been developed to include partner organisations.
10/11/16: RISK POSITION INCREASED ↑- SMT review prior to Audit Committee indicates an increase in risk to Impact Serious and Likelihood 
Medium due to continued financial pressure on external parties and funding arrangements. New mitigation added. Risk name improved for clarity 
from ‘Impact of efficiencies’ to ‘Unintended impacts of efficiencies and service changes’. This risk is now above risk tolerance and will be reviewed 

P
age 34



Appendix 1

19
Version: 1
Date: 04/10/2016
Quarter: 2, 2016/17

each quarter.

Risk Owner Director of People and Places Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio

P
age 35



Appendix 1

20
Version: 1
Date: 04/10/2016
Quarter: 2, 2016/17

Risk 15
Customer Connect Programme

Description
The programme fails to deliver what’s set out in the programme definition and 
customer contact strategy.
Customer Connect is a challenging programme that requires significant change 
to ways of working for staff across the Council. There are currently 25 risks on 
the Customer Connect Risk Log. Of these 25 risks there are 14 risks with a score 
of 6-12. This quantity of risk is significant and therefore requires an escalation 
to the Strategic Risk Register. Mitigations are in place for the risks, however the 
main challenges to the programme are: Scope and Ambition, Staff resources 
and capacity, Skills and Workforce Planning, Buy in from Customers and 
Training and development for staff and Councillors.

Current Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the current 
position of the risk.

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
Review Date:
The date when this risk will be 
considered and reviewed

Target Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the desired 
position of the risk following the 
completion of mitigations.

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
Target Date:
The date that the risk must reach the 
target position – through the completion 
of mitigations.

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

The programme is being managed via the 
Programme Board with resources 
identified to deliver year 1 and 2 of the 
programme.

Financial resources are set aside 
for the programme, but there is a 
requirement to identify all the 
staff needed over the next two 
years to support the projects

Partnerships & Organisational 
Development Manager

01/07/2017

There is a risk log for the programme SMT have ownership of all the 
risks and identified mitigations

Projects & Innovation Officer 01/07/2017

History 
of Risk Improvement

Q1 2016/17 SMT Risk Register Review: RISK IDENTIFIED ●  - The operational risk ‘Customer Connect Programme’ is escalated as 
Likelihood Medium and Impact Serious - Senior Management Team decide to include as a Strategic Risk on the Strategic Risk 
Register.
Q2 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔   - Assessed as Likelihood Medium and Impact Serious. Mitigations are listed to 
control the risk.

P
age 36



Appendix 1

21
Version: 1
Date: 04/10/2016
Quarter: 2, 2016/17

10/11/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review prior to Audit Committee indicates no change.

Risk Owner Assistant Director Performance and Innovation - Senior 
Responsible Owner.

Portfolio Housing & Innovation  and Council Organisation & People

P
age 37



Appendix 1

22
Version: 1
Date: 04/10/2016
Quarter: 2, 2016/17

Risk 16 
Waste Collection

Description
Management of waste collection vehicle manoeuvres on recycling and waste 
collection rounds.
There are many practical and advanced technological safety precautions in 
place including the following:
Waste collection rounds have risk assessments and safe systems of work in 
place.
All drivers and crews have been trained.
All rounds are monitored to ensure that safe systems are adhered to.
Vehicles have advanced technologies fitted e.g. reversing CCTV and 
sophisticated radar to assist the driver and crews manoeuvre safely

Current Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the current 
position of the risk.

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
Review Date:
Each quarter when above the line of 
risk tolerance

Target Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the desired 
position of the risk following the 
completion of mitigations.

XLi
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
Target Date:
31/03/17

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

Maintain and keep up to date the Safe 
System of Work, inspections and the 
utilisation of risk reducing technologies.

In progress and reviewed by the 
Street Scene Health and Safety 
Working Group on a quarterly 
basis

Street Scene Manager Continuous

Commission specialist support to assist in 
the completion of a further review of 
vehicle movements including reversing on 
private drives, private roadways and 
narrow access highways 

In progress Street Scene Manager 31/12/16

Implement the findings of the above 
review 

To do Street Scene Manager 31/03/17

P
age 38



Appendix 1

23
Version: 1
Date: 04/10/2016
Quarter: 2, 2016/17

History 
of Risk 
Improvement

Q2 2016/17:  RISK IDENTIFIED ● - Risk is currently managed operationally but following HSE visit it was suggested that the risk be 
included on the  Strategic Risks Register and has been assessed as Likelihood Low and Impact Critical.
10/11/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review prior to Audit Committee indicates no change.

Risk Owner Assistant Director Neighbourhood Services Portfolio Environment Portfolio

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 40



South Lakeland District Council 

Audit Committee 

1 December 2016 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2016/17 

PORTFOLIO: Not applicable 

REPORT FROM: Shelagh McGregor – Assistant Director Resources 
and Section 151 Officer 

REPORT AUTHOR: Pete Notley – Chief Accountant 

WARDS: All wards 

KEY DECISION NO: Not applicable 

 

1 EXPECTED OUTCOME 

1.1 This report presents the proposed accounting policies to be used for the closure of 
the 2016/17 accounts. These are prepared in line with CIPFA’s Code of Practice 
on Local Authority Accounting in the UK 2016/17 (the Code). Adopting the 
proposed policies will support timely production of a high quality set of annual 
accounts.  

2 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 It is recommended that Audit Committee adopt the accounting policies at 
Appendix 1 for closure of the 2016/17 Accounts.  

3. BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS 
 

3.1 As part of its statement of accounts, the Council needs to disclose the accounting 
policies it has applied to all material balances and transactions. There is little 
discretion to the Council as the proper accounting practices, that all local 
authorities follow, are set down in the Code. There have only been minor changes 
in the Code with relevance to the Council.  

 
3.2 The presentation of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement has 

been revised so that this will better reflect how the Council is structured and 
manages its resources. This is a change from 2015/16 where the format followed 
a national standard for service expenditure (Service Reporting Code of Practice 
(SeRCOP).  
 

3.3 In addition, a new funding and expenditure note will also be introduced. This will 
reconcile the movement on the General Fund balance to the Surplus or Deficit on 
Provision of Services. This will explain the statutory adjustments made to figures 
calculated in line with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
Although these disclosures already existed within the accounts, the proposed 
changes are designed to help make the accounts clearer for readers. 
 

Page 41

Item No.7



3.4 Although there will be changes to the appearance of the accounts, they do not 
directly impact on the underlying accounting policies. The proposed accounting 
policies are presented at Appendix 1. Apart from changes to the dates, these 
have not changed from the 2015/16 policies. These do not depart from the 
provisions of the 2016/17 Code. 

 
3.5 These polices have been presented at the April meeting in previous years. This 

earlier adoption of the accounting policies will assist with production of the draft 
accounts by 31 May 2017. The aim is to have the audited accounts complete by 
31 July 2017, as set out by external audit in the 2015/16 annual audit letter. 

 
3.6 By statute, preparation of draft accounts will come forward to 31 May following the 

relevant year end, for financial years 2017/18 onwards. At the same time, the 
audited statements will need to be published by 31 July following the relevant 
financial year end. 
 

4.0 CONSULTATION 

4.1 All local Authorities are consulted as part of CIPFA’s preparation of the Code. 

5.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

5.1 No alternative options are proposed, the Council has no circumstances that would 
justify a material departure from the Code. 

6.0 LINKS TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES 

6.1 Robust and efficient reporting of financial performance and position supports all 
Council priorities. 

7.0 IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 Financial and Resources 

7.1.1 The policies in Appendix 1 underpin the Council’s reporting on its financial 
performance and position. There is little discretion to depart from the policies set 
down by the Code. 

7.2 Human Resources 

7.2.1 There are no human resources implications of this report. 

7.3 Legal 

7.3.1 The Code constitutes ‘proper accounting practices’ to be followed by a local 
authority under the terms of section 21 of the Local Government Act 2003.  

7.4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

Have you completed and Health, Social, 
Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If yes, please confirm that it is attached to 
the report in the appendices. 

Yes ☐ No ☐ 

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your reasons. 

The accounting policies presented are 
in line with statutory guidance; there 
are no direct HSEE implications.  

Page 42



 

7.5 Equality and Diversity 

Have you completed an Equality Impact 
Analysis? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If yes, please confirm that it is attached to 
the report in the appendices. 

Yes ☐ No ☐ 

If you have not completed an Equality 
Impact Analysis, please explain your 
reasons. 

The accounting policies presented are in 
line with statutory guidance; there are no 
direct equality and diversity implications. 

 

7.6 Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

The Council reports its financial 
performance and position on the 
basis of accounting policies that 
materially depart from the Code. 

Material errors are 
included in the draft 
statements or the accounts 
may be qualified. 

Officers review the 
Code annually and 
Committee adopt the 
updated Polices 

 

CONTACT OFFICERS 

Report Author – Pete Notley, Chief Accountant, ext3157, p.notley@southlakeland.gov.uk 

 

APPENDICES ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT  

Appendix No.  

1 Accounting Policies 2016/17  

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

2015/16 Final Accounts http://tinyurl.com/q2v6w6n 

 

TRACKING INFORMATION 

Assistant 
Director 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Solicitor to the 
Council 

SMT Scrutiny 
Committee 

10/11/2016 n/a n/a 10/11/2016 n/a 

Executive 
(Cabinet) 

Committee Council Section 151 
Officer 

Monitoring 
Officer 

n/a 1/12/2016 n/a 10/11/2016 10/11/2016 

Human Resource Services 
Manager 

Leader  Ward 
Councillor(s) 

n/a n/a  n/a 

 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 44



Appendix 1

The purpose of this appendix is to set out the accounting policies to be used for 
preparation of the 2016/17 statement of accounts. These are identical to the 2015/16 
polices except to changes to the relevant dates.

INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this section is to explain the basis for the recognition, measurement and 
disclosure of transactions and other events in the accounts of South Lakeland District 
Council. Where individual transactions and other events are not covered by these policies 
they are accounted for in accordance with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice identified below.

The accounting policies are the main principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices 
that specify how these transactions and other events are reflected in the financial 
statements of the Council.  

The accounts follow the appropriate accounting standards as required by the CIPFA Code 
of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17 (the Code 
of Practice). The Code constitutes a “proper accounting practice” under the terms of 
Section 21 (2) of the Local Government Act 2003.  The Code is based on approved 
international accounting standards, except where these conflict with specific accounting or 
legislative requirements, so that the Council’s accounts present a true and fair view of the 
financial position and transactions of the authority. 

The basic accounting convention adopted is historic cost, modified by the revaluation of 
certain categories of tangible non-current assets and financial assets.

The Accounting Policies that follow are presented in an order that, as far as possible, 
corresponds with the layout of the main statements. A full index of Policies follows.

GENERAL PRINCIPLES
Policy 1 Fundamental Accounting Concepts
Policy 2 Estimation and Prior Year Errors
Policy 3 Accruals of Income and Expenditure
Policy 4 VAT

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE
Policy 5 Revenue Grants and Contributions 
Policy 6 Employee Benefits
Policy 7 Costs of Support Services
Policy 8 External Interest
Policy 9 Charges to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement for the Use of Non-current Assets
Policy 10 Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute

BALANCE SHEET
Policy 11 Fair Value Measurement
Policy 12 Definition of Capital Expenditure

Page 45



Policy 13 Property, Plant and Equipment
Policy 14 Heritage Assets
Policy 15 Investment Properties
Policy 16 Intangible Assets
Policy 17 Non-Current Asset Disposal
Policy 18 Leases
Policy 19 Bad Debts
Policy 19 Cash and Cash Equivalents
Policy 20 Capital Grants and Contributions
Policy 21 Provisions
Policy 22 Reserves
Policy 23 Financial Assets
Policy 24 Financial Liabilities
Policy 25 Post Balance Sheet Events

OTHER
Policy 26 Contingent Liabilities
Policy 27 Contingent Assets

1. FUNDAMENTAL ACCOUNTING CONCEPTS

a) Underlying Assumptions

Accruals
The financial statements, other than the cash flow information, are prepared on an accruals 
basis.  This means that expenditure and income are recognised in the accounts in the 
period in which they are incurred or earned, not as money is paid or received. 

Going Concern
The financial statements have been prepared on the assumption that the Council will 
continue in operation for the foreseeable future.

b) Qualitative Characteristics of Financial Information

Understandability
These accounts are based on accounting concepts, treatments and terminology, which 
require reasonable knowledge of accounting and local government.  However, all 
reasonable efforts have been made to use plain language and where technical terms are 
unavoidable they have been explained as they occur.

Relevance
The accounts have been prepared with the objective of providing information about the 
Council’s financial performance and position that is useful to the reader in assessing the 
stewardship of public funds and for making future economic decisions.

Materiality
The Code permits the concept of materiality to be used in the preparation of the accounts. 
Omissions or mis-statements of items are material if they could, individually or collectively, 
influence the decisions or assessments of users made on the basis of the financial 
statements. Materiality depends on the nature or size of the omission or mis-statement 

Page 46



judged in the surrounding circumstances. The nature or size of the item, or a combination 
of both, could be the determining factor. 

Faithful Representation
The financial information is complete, neutral and free from error in that it:

 has been prepared so as to reflect the reality or substance of the transaction and 
activities underlying them, rather than their formal legal character;

 represents faithfully the transactions and events it purports to or could reasonably 
be expected to represent;

 is free from deliberate or systemic bias;
 is free from material error;
 is complete within the bounds of materiality and cost.

Comparability
The financial statements have been prepared to allow comparison of the Council’s financial 
position over time. In addition to complying with the Code, the Council’s statements also 
comply with the Service Reporting Code of Practice (SeRCOP); this establishes proper 
practice with regard to consistent financial reporting and therefore aids comparability with 
other local authorities.

Verifiable
Information used to prepare the accounts can be verified. Where estimates have been 
used, the relevant assumptions underlying the estimation technique will be disclosed.

Timely
The statutory timeframe for preparation of the accounts will be adhered to.

Primacy of Legislative Requirements
Local Authorities derive their powers from statute and their financial and accounting 
framework is closely controlled by primary and secondary legislation.  It is a fundamental 
principle of local authority accounting that, where specific legislative requirements and 
accounting principles conflict, legislative requirements as shown in Appendix B to the Code 
shall apply. To satisfy the twin demands of accounting regulations and legislation, Local 
Authority accounts include a reconciling statement to disclose how legislation has had an 
impact on the general fund and other reserves (the Movement in Reserves Statement and 
supporting note).

2. ESTIMATION AND PRIOR YEAR ERRORS

In order to prepare the annual accounts by the specified deadline, it has been necessary 
to use estimation methods in relation to some transactions and events. The Council has 
applied the same methods this year as in previous years.

The estimation techniques that have been used are, in the Council’s view, appropriate and 
consistently applied.  Should the effect of a change to an estimation technique be material, 
a description of the change and, if practicable, the effect on the results for the current period 
and future years would be separately disclosed.

Where errors have occurred in relation to previous years’ recognition, measurement, 
presentation, or disclosure of elements of financial statements, they are corrected 
retrospectively where material and disclosed in the notes to the statements.

Page 47



3. ACCRUALS OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE

In compliance with the Code, in all material respects both revenue and capital accounts of 
the Council are maintained on an accruals basis.  That is, sums due to or payable by the 
Council during the year are included in the accounts whether or not the cash has actually 
been received or paid in the year. In particular:

 Fees, charges and rents due from customers are accounted for as income at the 
date the Council provides the relevant goods or services

 Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there is a 
gap between the date supplies are received and their consumption, if material, they 
are carried as inventory on the Balance Sheet. Where not material, these will be 
expensed in year.

 Employee Costs – see separate Employee Benefits Policy below
 Interest payable on borrowings, and receivable on investments, is accounted for on 

the basis of the effective interest rate for the relevant financial instrument rather than 
the cash flows fixed or determined by the contract

 Where income and expenditure have been recognised, but cash has not been 
received or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the 
Balance Sheet. Where it is doubtful that debts will be settled, the balance of debtors 
is written down and a charge made to revenue for the income that might not be 
collected

Accruals are largely based on known commitments and are assessed accurately. Where 
estimates are made, they are based on historical records, precedence and officers’ 
knowledge and experience. In all cases the Council adopts a prudent approach to avoid 
overstating its resources.

4. VALUE ADDED TAX (VAT)

Value Added Tax is included within the accounts only to the extent that it is irrecoverable 
and therefore charged to revenue or capital expenditure as appropriate. VAT receivable is 
excluded from income.

5. REVENUE GRANTS AND CONTRIBUTIONS

Government grants and contributions are accounted for on an accruals basis. Specific 
revenue grants and contributions are matched with the service expenditure to which they 
relate in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement unless there are 
conditions that have not been met. In such cases the income is credited to Receipts in 
Advance until the conditions are met. Once conditions are met the grant is transferred to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Where there are no conditions outstanding, but expenditure has not been incurred, the 
grant is transferred to an earmarked reserve until the expenditure is incurred. It is then 
transferred to the General Fund Balance through the Movement in Reserves Statement.

Grants to cover general expenditure e.g. Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and Council Tax 
Freeze grant are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement within 
the Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income line. 

Page 48



Repayments of Grants and Contributions are shown as a revision of an accounting 
estimate, and are set-off against the previous entries in the accounts.

6. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

During Employment
Short-term benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year-end. They 
include salaries, paid annual leave, sick leave and non-monetary benefits for current 
employees. They are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which 
employees render service to the Council. 

An accrual is made at the end of each year for the cost of holiday entitlement and flexi-time 
balances not taken at the year-end. The accrual is based on the salary rates for the year 
in which it will be taken. The accrual is charged to the cost of services, but then reversed 
out in the Movement in Reserves Statement, so that benefits are charged to revenue in the 
year in which the holiday or flexi-time is taken.

Termination Benefits
These are benefits payable as a result of a decision taken by the Council to terminate an 
employee’s employment before the normal retirement date, or as a result of an employee’s 
decision to accept voluntary redundancy. They are charged on an accruals basis to the 
relevant service in the period when the Council can no longer withdraw the offer of benefits 
made to the employee or when the criteria for recognising a provision to cover such costs 
are met, whichever is the earliest. 

Where termination benefits involve pension enhancements, statutory provisions require 
the amount charged to the General Fund to be the amount paid in the year and not that 
calculated in accordance with relevant accounting standards. The Movement in Reserves 
Statement therefore shows entries in and out of the Pensions Reserve to bring the 
treatment into line with the accruals requirements of Accounting Standards.

Retirement Benefits
The Council has adopted the accounting requirements under IAS19 – Retirement Benefits, 
as required by the Code. Employees of the Council are members of Cumbria County 
Pension Fund, part of the Local Government Pension Scheme. The Local Government 
Scheme is accounted for as a defined benefits scheme:

 The liabilities of the Cumbria Local Government Pension Scheme attributable to the 
Council are included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected 
unit method – i.e. an assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation 
to retirement benefits earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about 
mortality rates, employee turnover rates, etc, and projections of estimated earnings 
for current employees

 Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate and 
type of bond provided by the Actuary 

 The assets of the Cumbria Local Government Pension Scheme attributable to the 
Council are included in the Balance Sheet at their fair value:
- quoted securities at current bid price
- unquoted securities by professional estimate
- unitised securities at current bid price
- property at market value

Page 49



The change in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following components:

Component Detail Accounting Treatment
Current service cost Increase in the present value of the 

defined benefit obligation resulting 
from employee service in the 
current period including interest on 
the current service cost.

Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure
Statement for appropriate 
service

Past service cost / 
gains

Change in the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation for 
service in prior periods resulting 
from a plan amendment or 
curtailment and any gain or loss on 
settlement.

Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure
Statement, Non
Distributed costs

Net interest on the net 
defined benefit 
liability(asset)

Change during the period in the net 
defined liability (asset) that arises 
from the passage of time.

Financing and Investment 
Income and  Expenditure
in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement

Other contributions to 
the Pension Fund 
including Gains/losses 
on
settlements and
curtailments

Result of actions to relieve Council 
of liabilities or events that reduce 
expected future service or accrual 
of benefits of employees

Debited to Net Cost of 
Services in Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure 
Statement,
Non Distributed Costs

Re-measurements  
(return on plan assets, 
actuarial gains and 
losses)

Return on Plan assets not included 
in net interest. Changes in net 
pensions liability arising because 
events have not coincided with 
assumptions made at last actuarial 
valuation or changes to actuaries’ 
assumptions split between 
demographic and financial 
assumptions

Accounted for in the Pensions 
Reserve and as part of Other 
Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure.

Contributions paid to
the Cumbria Local
Government Pension
Scheme

Cash paid as employer’s
contributions to the pension fund.

Not accounted for as an 
expense in Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure 
Statement but charged against 
General Fund through 
Movement in Reserves

Other administration 
costs

Other costs of scheme 
administration

Debited to other operating 
expenditure

In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund balance to 
be charged with the amount payable by the Council to the pension fund in the year, not the 
amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In the Movement in 
Reserves Statement this means that there are appropriations to and from the Pensions 
Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for retirement benefits, and replace them 
with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and any amounts payable to the fund but 
unpaid at the year-end.

Any prepayments into the pension fund will be treated as a reduction to the pension liability.

Discretionary Benefits
The Council also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits 
in the event of early retirements. Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award 

Page 50



to any member of staff are accrued in the year of the decision to make the award, and 
accounted for using the same policies as are applied to the Local Government Pension 
Scheme.

Residual Arrangements
The Greater Manchester and West Yorkshire Pension Funds charge the Council for the 
full pensions of a small number of pensioners of local authorities that were replaced by 
South Lakeland District Council in the 1974 Local Government Re-organisation.

7. COSTS OF SUPPORT SERVICES

The accounting treatment for support services has been prepared in accordance with 
SeRCOP.  The costs of management and administration overheads have been allocated 
to all services.  

The following costs are accounted for as separate expenditure heads and are shown on 
the face of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement:

 Corporate and Democratic Core – costs relating to the Council’s status as a multi-
functional, democratic organisation

 Non-Distributed Costs – cost of discretionary benefits awarded to employees retiring 
early and any depreciation and impairment losses on surplus assets

The total absorption costing principle is used with the full cost of overheads and support 
services being shared between users on the following basis:

Description Basis of Allocation
Financial Services Gross revenue expenditure 

Budget
Legal Services Time apportionment
Human Resources/Payroll Staff Numbers
Democratic Services Time apportionment
Administrative Buildings Area occupied
Information Services Number of PC Users
Corporate Services Time apportionment

8. EXTERNAL INTEREST

Interest payments on external borrowings (Public Works Loans Board and other bodies) 
are fully accrued in order that each year bears the costs of interest related to its actual 
external borrowing.  External interest income is credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement over the period to which it relates.

9. CHARGES TO THE COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE   
STATEMENT FOR THE USE OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Service revenue accounts, support services and trading accounts are debited or credited 
with the following amounts to record the real cost of holding non-current assets during the 
year:

 Depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service

Page 51



 Impairment losses attributable to the clear consumption of economic benefits on 
tangible non-current assets used by the service and other losses where there are 
no accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which they can be written-
off

 Amortisation of intangible non-current assets attributable to the service.

The Council is not required to raise Council Tax to cover depreciation, impairment losses 
or amortisations.  However, it is required to make an annual Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) to contribute towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement (equal to an 
amount calculated on a prudent basis determined by the Authority in accordance with 
statutory guidance). Depreciation, impairment losses and amortisations are therefore 
replaced by MRP in the Movements in Reserves Statement, by way of an adjusting 
transaction with the Capital Adjustment Account for the difference between the two.

10. REVENUE EXPENDITURE FUNDED FROM CAPITAL UNDER STATUTE

Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions, 
but does not result in the creation of non-current assets owned by the Council (REFCUS), 
has been charged as expenditure to the relevant service revenue account in the year. 
Examples include disabled facilities grants on private houses.  

Where the Council has determined to meet the cost of this expenditure from  capital 
resources, a transfer to the Capital Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts 
charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement through the Movement 
in Reserves Statement, so there is no impact on the level of the Council Tax. 

11. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Where asset and liability values on the balance sheet reflect their current value, these will 
be measured at Fair Value unless a different measurement basis is specified in the Code. 
This is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a 
liability, in an orderly transaction, between market participants, at the measurement date. 

This definition will also be applied if disclosures about Fair Values are required for assets 
and liabilities measured on a  basis other than fair value.

12. DEFINITION OF CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

All expenditure on the acquisition, construction, replacement or restoration of a tangible 
non-current asset has been capitalised and classified as property, plant, equipment, 
heritage asset or investment property, where it is probable that future economic benefits 
or service potential associated with the item will flow to the Council and where the cost can 
be measured reliably.

This will also include subsequent expenditure except where this only maintains the asset’s 
potential to deliver the level of service anticipated when the asset was acquired. In this 
case, the expenditure will be treated as revenue and will be charged to the service account.

Page 52



Where a component of an asset is replaced or restored the amount in the accounts relating 
to the old component is de-recognised. Major overhaul or replacement expenditure can 
also be capitalised if it relates to a non-current asset that has previously been depreciated.

A non-current asset is initially recognised at its cost, which is its purchase price plus any 
costs directly attributable to bringing it into working condition for its intended use.  Directly 
attributable costs are the labour costs of own employees (e.g. site workers, in-house 
architects and surveyors) arising directly from the construction or acquisition of the specific 
asset, the incremental costs to the Council that would have been avoided only if the 
particular non-current asset had not been constructed or acquired.

Costs will be ineligible to the extent that they relate to activity that takes place before the 
intention to acquire or construct a particular non-current asset has been confirmed.  
Examples include project appraisals and feasibility studies.

The Council has adopted an aggregate de-minimis level of £10,000 for expenditure on 
capital schemes; if expenditure in a single financial year is less than £10,000 it will still be 
capitalised if this is part of an ongoing scheme which in total is £10,000 or more. 
Expenditure on schemes below this level is charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement in the year it is incurred.

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  

Recognition and Valuation
After initial recognition in the accounts at cost, non-current assets are valued on the basis 
required by International Standards and recommended by CIPFA and the Royal Institute 
of Chartered Surveyors (RICS). 

Operational Land and buildings have been valued by the Council’s external valuers at 
Current Value on the basis of market related evidence where available. Depreciated 
Replacement Cost (DRC) has been used on specialist assets where there is no active 
market. The basis of the valuation, including that for vehicles, equipment and plant, is the 
net realisable value in existing use.  Depreciated historic cost has been used as a proxy 
for Current Value for vehicles, plant and equipment. 

Infrastructure assets and assets under construction are held at depreciated historic cost; 
community assets are held at historic cost.

Revaluations
Revaluations of non-current assets are being carried out as part of a rolling programme 
over a four-year cycle. However, in addition material changes to asset valuations will be 
adjusted in the interim period as they occur, for example where there is enhancement 
expenditure in the year or as a result of an impairment review. Although a rolling 
programme is used, the Council’s valuers will consider the carrying amounts of all land and 
building assets at the balance sheet date for the potential of material misstatement. 
Revaluations of non-current assets also take place when an asset is classified as Held for 
Sale.

Any gains on revaluation will be credited to the Revaluation Reserve, unless it reverses a 
previous loss on the same asset that was charged to service expenditure. In that event the 

Page 53



equivalent gain will be credited back to where the charge was made in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. 

Losses on valuation will be debited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement, unless it can be set against any previous gains in Revaluation Reserve for that 
asset.

Impairment
All categories of non-current assets or material individual assets are reviewed each year 
for evidence of reductions in value.

Where there is a material reduction in recoverable amount, the loss is reflected through an 
impairment charge to the service accounts, unless there is a revaluation surplus in the 
revaluation reserve for that asset, in which case it will be set off against that surplus.  

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided for on all non-current assets with a finite useful life with the 
exception of Investment Properties, some Heritage Assets, Assets Under Construction and 
Assets Held for Sale.  Where depreciation is provided for, assets are generally depreciated 
using the “straight line” method on the opening balance. Details of the relevant periods are 
shown in the Property, Plant and Equipment note to the accounts. The depreciation periods 
are reviewed each year.

In exceptional circumstances, where an event occurs in year that creates a material 
difference between the opening and closing valuation of an asset, a different approach 
may be used to provide a fair estimate of the value of using the asset in the year. This 
would base the depreciation charge on a value judged to best represent the year in 
question overall. This will only be done where it has a material impact on the depreciation 
charge and the details will be made explicit within the notes to the accounts.

Revaluation gains are also depreciated. An amount equal to the difference between current 
value depreciation and that which would have been charged on a historical cost basis, is 
transferred each year from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account.

Derecognition
Property, Plant and Equipment is derecognised on disposal or when it has no future 
economic benefit or social benefit.

The gain or loss from derecognition is the net of its disposal proceeds, if any, and its 
carrying amount and is included in the Other Operating Expenditure in the Surplus or Deficit 
on the Provision of Services.

Where part of an asset is being replaced or restored, the carrying amount of the existing 
part is derecognised and replaced with the recognised amount for the new part. Where the 
carrying amount of the existing part is difficult to identify, estimates based on the cost of 
the new part are used to establish the amount.

14. HERITAGE ASSETS

Heritage Assets are those that are:
 held and maintained principally for their contribution to knowledge and culture 

and/or 

Page 54



 preserved in trust for future generations because of their cultural, environmental or 
historical associations 

They include both tangible and intangible assets. Where the values of these items are 
individually and/or collectively immaterial they are included in the Balance Sheet at a 
nominal value, and reference is made to them in the notes to the Accounting Statements.

With the exception of the relaxations shown below, Heritage Assets are recognised and 
measured in accordance with the policies on Property, Plant and Equipment or Donated 
Assets.

Land and Buildings
Where valuation methods cannot be applied due to the nature of the asset, for example 
Kendal Castle, a nil value has been used. No impairment or depreciation is therefore 
applicable in these cases.

Collections
The disparate collections held in various locations within the Council are reported in the 
Balance Sheet at valuation. This is estimated using the insurance value. When acquisitions 
are made they are initially recognised at cost, whereas donations will be recognised at 
valuation by reference to market information. 

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Assets held and managed purely for rental income or capital appreciation are held as 
Investment Properties, and their annual revenue income and expenditure are reflected in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement within Financing and Investment 
Income and Expenditure. They are not subject to depreciation but are re-valued annually 
at Fair Value according to market conditions at the year-end.

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Expenditure on assets that do not have physical substance, but are identifiable and 
controlled by the Council (e.g. software licences), is capitalised when it will bring benefits 
to the Council for more than one financial year. The asset is normally held at historical cost, 
less any accumulated amortisation (depreciation) and impairment loss, unless there is an 
active market in which case fair value will apply. 

The amortisation (depreciation) cost is charged to the relevant service account over the 
economic life to reflect the pattern of consumption of benefits. Where an intangible asset 
has an indefinite life no amortisation (depreciation) is applied. In line with tangible assets, 
the values of intangible assets (if in use) are reviewed periodically, and impairment, 
disposal and useful life policies are also applied and reviewed. 

Page 55



17. NON-CURRENT ASSET DISPOSAL

Held for Sale
Assets held for sale must be available for and in a physical condition appropriate for 
immediate sale, all approvals received or granted and expected to be sold within one year. 
In most cases this will be when the Council approves its sale and marketing. 

When an asset is classified as for sale, it is immediately revalued in its pre-reclassification 
asset class. It is then reclassified and shown on the Balance Sheet at the lower of this 
amount and fair value less costs to sell. When the asset is sold any gain or loss is shown 
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Gains are only recognised up 
to the value of any losses previously posted to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 

Receipts
Receipts from disposals are credited to Other Operating Expenditure in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. 
Amounts in excess of £10,000 are accounted for as Capital Receipts.

The balance of receipts, after taking account of costs of disposal, is credited to a Capital 
Receipts Reserve and can only be used for new capital investment or set aside to reduce 
the Council’s underlying need to borrow (the Capital Financing Requirement). Gains or 
losses on disposals are not a charge against Council Tax as amounts are provided for 
under separate capital financing arrangements. Amounts are appropriated from the 
General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement.

18. LEASES

General
The Council enters into leases both from and to external organisations/individuals. The 
nature of the lease can be either operational or finance with the determining factor being 
the amount of risks and rewards that pass with the lease. The Council currently has no 
Finance leases.

Operating Leases
Rentals payable are charged directly to Service costs in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. This generally means they 
are charged when they become payable.

Rents received are credited to Service costs in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as they are due.

18. BAD DEBTS

The Council continually reviews its debts as part of its monitoring process taking account 
of past recovery rates and any relevant advice from external bodies. Provision is made for 
impairment of debts, which for most services is calculated as 25% of all debts between 6 

Page 56



months and one year old, 50% of all debts between 1 and 2 years old and 100% of all 
debts over two years old.  

Separate amounts are calculated for Council Tax, NNDR, Housing Rents and Benefits. 
These reflect increasing levels of provision dependent on the stage of recovery, with 
anything over two years being fully provided for. 

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and Cash Equivalents include:
 petty cash
 amounts held in instant access accounts
 the consolidated payments and income accounts with the Council’s main bankers

20. CAPITAL GRANTS AND CONTRIBUTIONS 

Capital grants and contributions received for the purposes of financing capital expenditure 
are credited to Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income and Expenditure in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on an accruals basis, unless there are 
conditions that have not been met. In this case, the income is credited to Capital Grants 
Receipts in Advance until the conditions are met. It is then transferred to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

When there are no conditions outstanding and the related expenditure to be financed from 
that grant has been incurred, the grant is transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account 
and reported through the Movement in Reserves Statement.

Where there are no conditions outstanding but the related expenditure has not been 
incurred the grant is transferred to Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve and reported in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. When the expenditure is incurred the grant is 
transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account with appropriate reporting in the Movement 
in Reserves Statement.

Repayments of Grants and Contributions are shown as a revision of an accounting 
estimate and set off against the previous entries in the accounts. Repayment is regarded 
as capital expenditure and transfers are made between the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement and the Capital Adjustment Account with the transfer being 
reported in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

21. PROVISIONS

The Council makes general provisions for significant liabilities or losses, which are likely or 
certain to be incurred but are uncertain as to the amounts or dates on which they will arise. 
For example the Council may be involved in a court case that could eventually result in the 
requirement to make a settlement or pay compensation.

Provisions are charged to the appropriate service in the year that the Council becomes 
aware of the obligation, based on the best estimate of the amount that might be paid. When 
payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision set up in the Balance 

Page 57



Sheet. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each financial year and where it is apparent 
that it is no longer needed or the amount needs to be changed, then amounts are either 
credited back to revenue or additional sums charged to revenue to increase the provision.

Details of each provision are included in Notes to the Accounting Statements.

22. RESERVES

The Council sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes, 
contingencies and cash flow management.  Reserves are created by appropriating 
amounts out of the General Fund in the Movement in Reserves Statement. When 
expenditure is incurred it is charged to the service revenue account in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. The reserve is appropriated back into the General 
Fund in the Movement in Reserves Statement so that there is no net charge against council 
tax for the expenditure. A list of reserves for specific purposes, and an explanation of their 
use, is included in the notes to the Accounting Statements. 

Capital Reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets and 
retirement benefits. These are not available for use by the Council for revenue purposes, 
and some can only be used for specific statutory purposes. These reserves are explained 
in the relevant notes to the Accounting Statements.

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets are classified into two main types:
 loans and receivables – assets  that have fixed or determinable payments but are 

not quoted in an active market
 assets held for sale – assets that do not fit under any other category; these are held 

at fair value and may include, for example, equity shareholdings and quoted 
investments, including UK Gilts.

Loans and Receivables
Loans and receivables are initially measured at fair value and carried at their amortised 
cost. Annual credits to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest 
receivable are based on the carrying amount of the asset multiplied by the effective rate of 
interest for the instrument. For most of the loans that the Council has made, this means 
that the amount included in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal receivable, and 
interest credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the amount 
receivable for the year in the loan agreement.

The Council has made loans to voluntary organisations and other bodies at less than 
market rates (soft loans). When soft loans are made, a loss is recorded in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for the present value of the interest 
that will be foregone over the life of the instrument, resulting in a lower amortised cost than 
the outstanding principal. Interest is credited at a marginally higher effective rate of interest 
than the rate receivable from the voluntary organisations, with the difference serving to 
increase the amortised cost of the loan in the Balance Sheet. Statutory provisions require 
that the impact of soft loans on the General Fund Balance is the interest receivable for the 
financial year – the reconciliation of amounts debited and credited to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement to the net gain required against the General Fund 

Page 58



Balance is managed by a transfer to or from the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account 
in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

Where assets are identified as impaired because of a likelihood arising from a past event 
that payments due under the contract will not be made, the asset is written down and a 
charge made to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Any gains and losses that arise on the de-recognition of the asset are credited/debited to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Assets Available for Sale
Where financial instruments meet the Code criteria of “Assets Held for Sale” any change 
in fair value due to market conditions will be posted to ‘Other Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure’ but will be reversed into the Financial Instruments Available for Sale Reserve. 
This will leave only the effective interest rate based on the amortised cost as a credit to the 
General Fund.

24. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and carried at their amortised cost. 
Annual charges to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest 
payable are based on the carrying amount (balance carried forward) of the liability, 
multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. For most of the borrowings 
that the Council has, this means that the amount included in the Balance Sheet is the 
outstanding principal repayable, and interest charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement is the amount payable for the year in the loan agreement. 
Accounting for debt re-structuring or early settlement will be in accordance with the Code 
and relevant statute.

25. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Events after the Balance Sheet date which relate to conditions that existed at the balance 
sheet date, are adjusted in the Accounts and disclosures. For events occurring after the 
Balance Sheet date relating to conditions that arose after that date, adjustments are not 
made in the Accounts but details are disclosed in a note. Events taking place after the date 
of authorisation are not reflected in the Statement of Accounts.

26. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Where there is a possible obligation to make a payment, but the amount and timing is not 
certain, no entry is required to be made in the accounts.  However, for each class of 
contingent liability which the Council has the following commentary has been included in 
the notes to the Accounting Statements:

 the nature of the contingency
 a brief description
 an estimate of the financial effect (where appropriate) 

Page 59



 an indication of the issues relating to the amount and level of certainty of any 
payment 

27. CONTINGENT ASSETS

Contingent assets occur where a possible asset arises from past events and whose 
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events 
not wholly within the control of the Council. No entry is required to be made in the accounts.   
However, for each class of contingent asset which the Council has, the following 
information has been included in the notes to the Accounting Statements:

 a commentary on the nature of the contingency
 a brief description
 an estimate of the financial effect (where appropriate)
 an indication of the issues relating to the amount and level of certainty of any receipt.

Page 60



South Lakeland District Council 

Audit Committee 1 December 2016 

Council 15 December 2016 

REVIEW OF THE LOCAL CODE OF GOVERNANCE 

PORTFOLIO: Not applicable 

REPORT FROM: Shelagh McGregor – Assistant Director Resources 
and Section 151 Officer 

REPORT AUTHOR: Helen Smith - Financial Services Manager 

Pete Notley - Chief Accountant 

WARDS: Corporate Issue 

KEY DECISION NO: Not applicable 

 

1.0 EXPECTED OUTCOME 

1.1 This report is presented to show the results of the review of the Council’s 
Local Code of Governance. It is expected that the revisions are adopted by 
the Committee/Council.  

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 It is recommended that Audit Committee:- 

(1) consider the proposed revisions to the Local Code of Governance 
and recommend its approval to full Council. 

(2) note the revised arrangements and timetable for the Annual 
Governance Statement.  

2.2 It is recommended that Council:-  

 Note the review of the Local Code of Governance and approve the 
proposed changes. 

3 BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS 
 

3.1 Local authorities should have in place an effective system of internal control 
(SIC). For South Lakeland District Council, the key features of the SIC are 
described within the Local Code of Governance.  

3.2 Under the Accounts and Audit Regulations (2015), the Council is required to 
review the effectiveness of the SIC annually and to report this through an 
Annual Governance Statement. This is done alongside the statement of 
accounts and must be prepared in accordance with proper practices.  

Page 61

Item No.8



3.3 CIPFA have recently published a revised version of their governance 
framework for local authorities, ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government: Framework (2016)’. This counts as proper practice and is to be 
applied for financial years from 1/4/2016 onwards. This has slightly re-arranged 
the previous framework moving from 6 principles to 7. This is in line with 
CIPFA’s broader International Framework: Good Governance in the Public 
Sector (2014). The underlying content of the new framework is broadly the 
same as the previous version.  

3.4 The table below sets out the new and the old principles and broadly how 
these map on to each other: 

Table 1: New and old principles of good governance 

Ref New Principle Old Principle 

A 

 
 

Behaving with integrity, demonstrating 
strong commitment to ethical values, 
and respecting the rule of law 

Promoting our values and demonstrating the 
values of good governance through upholding 
high standards of conduct and behaviour. 

Members and officers working together to 
achieve a common purpose with clearly 
defined functions and roles. 

B 
Ensuring openness and comprehensive 
stakeholder engagement 

Engaging with local people and other 
stakeholders to ensure robust local public 
accountability. 

C 
Defining outcomes in terms of 
sustainable economic, social, and 
environmental benefits 

Focusing on the purpose of the authority and 
on outcomes for the community including 
citizens and service users and creating and 
implementing a vision for the local area. 

D 
Determining the interventions necessary 
to optimise the achievement of the 
intended outcomes 

Taking informed and transparent decisions 
which are subject to effective scrutiny and 
managing risk. 

E 
Developing the entity’s capacity, 
including the capability of its leadership 
and the individuals within it 

Developing the capacity and capability of 
members and officers to be effective. 

F 
Managing risks and performance 
through robust internal control and 
strong public financial management 

Taking informed and transparent decisions 
which are subject to effective scrutiny and 
managing risk. 

G 
Implementing good practices in 
transparency, reporting, and audit to 
deliver effective accountability 

 

LOCAL CODE REVIEW 

3.5 Within the Audit Committee work programme is the annual review of the Local 
Code of Governance (“Local Code”). As the framework has changed, there 
are a number of changes to the Local Code required. A large part of this is to 
realign the Local Code, previously based on 6 principles, with the new 
framework based on 7 principles.  

Page 62



3.6 The first step of the process was to re-align the existing provisions to the new 
principles. The second step was to review for any new requirements and to 
add these in. As a result of this process, a revised Local Code is presented at 
Appendix 1. This should be considered alongside Appendix 2 which sets out 
the key features of the internal control framework.  

3.7 A number of new measures have been added in, these are set out at the end 
of each principle within Appendix 1. These reflect measures that are in place, 
but which were not previously explicit in the local code. They include: 

 reference to the anti-bribery, fraud and corruption policies  

 reference to the Council’s Freedom of Information policy, Transparency 
obligations and use of the Website 

 reference to report templates, submission processes and minuting of 
decisions 

 reference to the reporting of performance done through the Performance 
Sub Committee of Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 reference to a link between service plans and the targets within the 
Council plan 

 reference to strategic investment planning through the capital 
programme and budget setting process 

 reference to consultation with senior managers and PH as part of 
finalising committee reports 

 reference to the calendar of meetings 

 reference to organisational development policies and accreditation 

 reference to greater use of technology to promote efficiency 

 reference to Financial Procedure rules 

 reference to data sharing, gathering and storage as well as data quality 

 reference to risk management procedures 

 reference to Audit Committees: Practical Guidance for Local Authorities 
and Police (CIPFA, 2013) 

ANNUAL REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS (Annual Governance Statement) 

3.8 Similar to the previous framework, CIPFA have issued detailed guidance 
which includes specific examples around how each principle might be 
implemented. This best practice framework will be used to help review the 
effectiveness of the Local Code.  

3.9 Similar to the previous framework, a self-assessment exercise will be 
completed by Officers with a proposed action plan to address any areas 
where there may be scope for potential improvements. The outcome of this 
review and any other relevant sources of evidence (e.g. the internal audit 
annual opinion) will be set out in the Annual Governance Statement. This is to 
be published as part of the Statement of Accounts. It is not anticipated that 
self-assessment against the new framework will result in any significant 
governance issues being flagged.  

3.10 The deadlines for preparing the draft statement are coming forward from 30 
June to 31 May following the relevant financial year end. This will be on a 
statutory basis for 2017/18. The Council is planning to meet this deadline a 
year early. This will mean that the draft AGS will need to be prepared by 31 
May 2017. 

Page 63



3.11 In prior years a sub group of Audit Committee Members have met between 
the April and July meetings to review the AGS. Given the change to the 
accounts timescales it is now planned to bring the draft AGS to the April Audit 
committee.  

4.0 CONSULTATION 

4.1 Officers have reviewed the existing Local Code of Governance and the new 
CIPFA LASAAC. Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: 
Framework (2016). 

5.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

5.1 The Committee can alter the detail of the Local Code of Governance, however 
it should ensure that any amendments comply with best practice and the 
legislative framework. 

6.0 LINKS TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES 

6.1 The system of internal control as described in the Local Code underpins the 
achievement of all Council priorities. 

7.0 IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 Financial and Resources 

7.1.1 This report has no financial implications 

7.2 Human Resources 

7.2.1 There are no human resources implications of this report. 

7.3 Legal 

7.3.1 There are no legal implications of this report. 

7.4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4.1  

Have you completed and Health, Social, Economic 
and Environmental Impact Assessment? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If yes, please confirm that it is attached to the report 
in the appendices. 

Yes ☐ No ☐ 

If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, 
please explain your reasons. 

The Local Code of Governance 
has no direct HSEE 
implications. 

7.5 Equality and Diversity 

7.5.1  

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If yes, please confirm that it is attached to the report 
in the appendices. 

Yes ☐ No ☐ 

If you have not completed an Equality Impact 
Analysis, please explain your reasons. 

The Local Code of Governance 
has no direct Equality and 
Diversity implications. 

 

Page 64



7.6 Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

Weaknesses identified 
in the Annual 
Governance Statement 
action plan are not 
addressed adequately. 

Non-compliance with Local 
Code of Corporate governance 
with possible loss of public 
confidence about the way the 
Council conducts its business 

Regular reporting schedule 
so that Members and senior 
officers can monitor 
progress in addressing the 
weaknesses identified. 

Local Code prepared 
that is not in line with 
proper practice 

Potential gaps in system of 
internal control 

Regular review of Local 
Code; annual review of 
effectiveness based on 
CIPFA framework 

 

CONTACT OFFICERS 

Pete Notley, Chief Accountant, ext 3157, p.notley@southlakeland.gov.uk 
Helen Smith, Financial Services Manager, ext 3147, h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk 
 

APPENDICES ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT  

Appendix No.  

1 Local Code of Governance 2016/17 

2 Key elements of system of internal control 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

International Framework: Good Governance in 
the Public Sector IFAC/CIPFA 

http://tinyurl.com/lvqtdx2 

 

TRACKING INFORMATION 

Assistant 
Director 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Solicitor to the 
Council 

SMT Scrutiny 
Committee 

14/11/16 n/a 14/11/16 14/11/2016 n/a 

Executive 
(Cabinet) 

Committee Council Section 151 
Officer 

Monitoring 
Officer 

n/a 1/12/16 15/12/16 14/11/16 14/11/16 

Human Resource Services 
Manager 

Leader Ward 
Councillor(s) 

 

n/a n/a n/a  

 

Page 65

mailto:p.notley@southlakeland.gov.uk
http://tinyurl.com/lvqtdx2


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 66



1

Appendix 1

The purpose of this appendix is to set out the Local Code of Governance for 
2016/17.

South Lakeland District Council
Local Code of Governance December 2016

Contents

Introduction

Principle A – Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical 
values, and respecting the rule of law

Principle B –  Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement

Principle C – Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and 
environmental benefits

Principle D – Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the 
achievement of the intended outcomes

Principle E – Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its 
leadership and the individuals within it

Principle F – Managing risks and performance through robust internal control 
and strong public financial management

Principle G – Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit 
to deliver effective accountability

Annual Review of Corporate Governance

Introduction

This Local Code of Governance has been developed from a framework document 
produced by The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) 
and the Society of Local Authority Chief Executives and Senior Managers 
(SOLACE). The CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government: Framework (2016) defines governance as follows: 

“Governance comprises the arrangements put in place to ensure that the 
intended outcomes for stakeholders are defined and achieved. 

Page 67



2

To deliver good governance in the public sector, both governing bodies and 
individuals working for public sector entities must try to achieve their entity’s 
objectives while acting in the public interest at all times. 

Acting in the public interest implies primary consideration of the benefits for society, 
which should result in positive outcomes for service users and other stakeholders.”

The framework contains seven principles. These are as follows: 

Principle A – Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical 
values, and respecting the rule of law

Principle B –  Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement

Principle C – Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and 
environmental benefits

Principle D – Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the 
achievement of the intended outcomes

Principle E – Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its 
leadership and the individuals within it

Principle F – Managing risks and performance through robust internal control 
and strong public financial management

Principle G – Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit 
to deliver effective accountability

The Council is committed to these principles and has adopted them into its Local 
Code. The remainder of this document sets out the local arrangements that support 
the achievement of these principles. The Council will review the effectiveness of 
these arrangements against the Framework on an annual basis.

The Council commits itself to the following principles:

Principle A   Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical 
values, and respecting the rule of law

Local government organisations are accountable not only for how much they 
spend, but also for how they use the resources under their stewardship. This 
includes accountability for outputs, both positive and negative, and for the 
outcomes they have achieved. In addition, they have an overarching responsibility 
to serve the public interest in adhering to the requirements of legislation and 
government policies. It is essential that, as a whole, they can demonstrate the 
appropriateness of all their actions across all activities and have mechanisms in 

Page 68



3

place to encourage and enforce adherence to ethical values and to respect the 
rule of law. 

In pursuance of this principle we will:

1. make a Chief Executive (or equivalent) responsible and accountable to the 
authority for all aspects of operational management;

2. make a senior officer (the Section 151 Officer) responsible to the authority 
for ensuring that appropriate advice is given on all financial matters, for 
keeping proper financial records and accounts, and for maintaining an 
effective system of internal financial control;

3. appoint a professionally qualified and experienced Chief Finance Officer 
(Section 151 Officer), who will lead the promotion and delivery of good 
financial management, safeguarding public money and ensuring 
appropriate, economic, efficient and effective use of funds; together with 
professional accountability for finance staff throughout the Council;

4. make a senior officer (the Monitoring Officer) responsible to the authority 
for ensuring that agreed procedures are followed and that all applicable 
statutes, regulations and other relevant statements of good practice are 
complied with.

5. develop and maintain shared values including leadership values both for 
the Council and its staff reflecting public expectations about the conduct 
and behaviour of individuals and groups within and associated with the 
Council;

6. use the Council’s shared values to act as a guide for decision making and 
as a basis for developing positive and trusting relationships within the 
Council;

7. develop and adopt formal codes of conduct defining standards of personal 
behaviour;

8. develop and maintain an effective standards committee that acts as the 
main means to raise awareness and take the lead in ensuring high 
standards of conduct are firmly embedded within the local culture;

9. put in place arrangements to ensure that members and staff of the Council 
are not influenced by prejudice, bias or conflicts of interest in dealing with 
different stakeholders and put in place appropriate processes to ensure 
that they continue to operate in practice;

10.put in place arrangements to ensure that procedures and operations are 
designed in conformity with appropriate ethical standards, and to monitor 
their continuing compliance in practice;

11.ensure that systems and processes for financial administration and 
control, protection of the Authority’s resources and assets, are designed in 
conformity with appropriate ethical standards; and are subject to 
monitoring of their effectiveness;

12.put in place arrangements so that conflicts of interest on behalf of 
members and employees can be avoided and put in place appropriate 
processes to ensure that they continue to operate in practice;

13.put in place effective transparent and accessible arrangements for dealing 
with complaints;

Page 69



4

14.actively recognise the limits of lawful activity placed on the Council by the 
ultra vires doctrine but also strive to utilise the Council’s powers to the full 
benefit of our communities;

15.observe all specific legislative requirements placed upon the Council as 
well as the requirements of general law, and in particular integrate the key 
principles of administrative law – rationality, legality and natural justice into 
the Council’s procedures and decision making;

16.put in place effective systems to protect the rights of staff. Ensure that 
policies for whistle blowing which are accessible to staff and those 
contracting with the authority, and arrangements for the support of whistle 
blowers, are in place;

Additional Measure:

17.  put in place effective anti-bribery, fraud and corruption policies that 
comply with the Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and 
Corruption (CIPFA, 2014). 

Principle B   Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement

Local government is run for the public good, organisations therefore should 
ensure openness in their activities. Clear, trusted channels of communication and 
consultation should be used to engage effectively with all groups of stakeholders, 
such as individual citizens and service users, as well as institutional 
stakeholders. 

In pursuance of this principle we will:

1. develop protocols to ensure effective communication between members 
and officers in their respective roles;

2. develop protocols to ensure that the leader and chief executive negotiate 
their respective roles early in their relationship and that a shared 
understanding of roles and objectives is maintained;

3. ensure that the Council’s vision, strategic plans, priorities and targets are 
developed through robust mechanisms, and in consultation with the local 
community and other key stakeholders, and that they are clearly articulated 
and disseminated;

4. in pursuing partnerships, agree a set of values against which decision 
making and actions can be judged in line with and having referred to the 
Partnership Working Framework.

5. develop and maintain open and effective mechanisms for documenting 
evidence for decisions and recording the criteria, rationale and 
considerations on which decisions are based;

6. put in place effective arrangements designed to encourage individuals from 
all sections of the community to engage with, contribute to and participate 
in the work of the authority;

7. make clear to ourselves, all staff and the community, to whom we are 
accountable and for what;

Page 70



5

8. consider those institutional stakeholders to whom we are accountable and 
assess the effectiveness of the relationships and any changes required;

9. establish clear channels of communication with all sections of the 
community and other stakeholders and put in place monitoring 
arrangements to ensure that they operate effectively;

10.put in place arrangements to enable the authority to engage with all sections 
of the community effectively. These arrangements will recognise that 
different sections of the community have different priorities and establish 
explicit processes for dealing with these competing demands;

11.develop and maintain a clear policy on how staff and their representatives 
are consulted and involved in decision making;

12.when working in partnership, ensure that engagement and consultation 
undertaken by the partnership is planned with regard to methodology, target 
audience and required outcomes. Existing mechanisms and groups will be 
used where appropriate. In the work cycle of the partnership it must be clear 
and demonstrable to the public what has happened to any feedback and 
what has changed as a result.

Additional measures:

13.To put in place measures to ensure freedom of information requests and 
transparency requirements are adhered to, including publication through 
the Council’s website. 

14.To ensure committee decisions are fully documented through the use of 
appropriate report templates, agenda submission processes and minutes.

Principle C   Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and 
environmental benefits

The long-term nature and impact of many of local government’s responsibilities 
mean that it should define and plan outcomes and that these should be 
sustainable. Decisions should further the organisation’s purpose, contribute to 
intended benefits and outcomes, and remain within the limits of authority and 
resources. Input from all groups of stakeholders, including citizens, service users, 
and institutional stakeholders, is vital to the success of this process and in 
balancing competing demands when determining priorities for the finite resources 
available. 

In pursuance of this principle we will:

1. make a clear statement of the authority’s purpose and vision and use it as 
a basis for corporate and service planning and shaping the community 
strategy and local area agreements;

2. review on a regular basis the authority’s vision for the local area and its 
impact in the authority’s governance arrangements;

3. when working in partnership, ensure that there is a common vision 
underpinning the work of the partnership that is understood and agreed by 
all partners. The vision should:

Page 71



6

a. be supported by clear and measurable objectives with targets and 
indicators

b. identify quality and cost drivers for deciding what services will be 
either provided or commissioned by the partnership.

4. develop and maintain an effective scrutiny function which encourages 
constructive challenge and enhances the authority’s performance overall;

5. produce an annual report on scrutiny function activity;

Additional measures:

6. ensure performance, financial and non-financial, is reported to senior 
management and Members. 

7. Link service plans to agreed measures and targets within the Council plan;
8. ensure strategic investment decisions are managed through the capital 

budgeting process and Medium Term Financial Plan, including the 
economic, social and environmental impacts.

9. ensure committee reports are shared with senior management and 
portfolio holders as part of the pre agenda submission process.

Principle D   Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the 
achievement of the intended outcomes

Local government achieves its intended outcomes by providing a mixture of legal, 
regulatory, and practical interventions (courses of action). Determining the right 
mix of these courses of action is a critically important strategic choice that local 
government has to make to ensure intended outcomes are achieved. They need 
robust decision-making mechanisms to ensure that their defined outcomes can 
be achieved in a way that provides the best trade-off between the various types 
of resource inputs while still enabling effective and efficient operations. Decisions 
made need to be reviewed frequently to ensure that achievement of outcomes is 
optimised. 

In pursuance of this principle we will:

1. decide how the quality of service for users is to be measured and ensure 
that the information needed to review service quality effectively and 
regularly is available;

2. decide how value for money is to be measured and ensure that we have the 
information needed to review value for money and performance effectively; 
Measure the environmental impact of policies, plans and decisions;

3. produce timely, accurate and impartial financial information for decision 
making, enabling the Authority to meet its objectives and providing effective 
stewardship and value for money;

4. ensure that effective mechanisms exist to monitor service delivery;
5. ensure that those making decisions are provided with information that is fit 

for the purpose – relevant, timely and gives clear explanations of technical 
issues and their implications;

Page 72



7

6. produce clear, timely, complete and accurate information for budget holders 
and senior officers relating to the budgetary and financial performance of 
the Council;

7. establish a medium term business and financial planning process in order 
to deliver a financial strategy ensuring sustainable finances, a robust 
annual budget process ensuring financial balance and an adequate 
monitoring process; all of which are subject to regular review;

8. when working in partnership:
a. ensure that there is clarity about the legal status of the partnership
b. ensure that the roles and responsibilities of the partners are agreed 

so that there is effective leadership and accountability
c. ensure that Council representatives make clear to all other partners 

the extent of their authority to bind their organisations to partner 
decisions

Additional measures
9. agree annually a calendar of meetings to be used as the basis for forward 

planning of decision making

Principle E   Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its 
leadership and the individuals within it

Local government needs appropriate structures and leadership, as well as people 
with the right skills, appropriate qualifications and mindset, to operate efficiently 
and effectively and achieve intended outcomes within the specified periods. A 
local government organisation must ensure that it has both the capacity to fulfil its 
own mandate and to make certain that there are policies in place to guarantee 
that its management has the operational capacity for the organisation as a whole. 

Because both individuals and the environment in which an organisation operates 
will change over time, there will be a continuous need to develop its capacity as 
well as the skills and experience of individual staff members. Leadership in local 
government is strengthened by the participation of people with many different 
types of backgrounds, reflecting the structure and diversity of communities. 

In pursuance of this principle we will:

1. publish an annual report on a timely basis to communicate the authority’s 
activities and achievements, its financial position and performance;

2. assess the skills required by members and officers and make 
arrangements to agree a development plan to develop those skills and 
address any training gaps, to enable roles to be carried out effectively;

3. embed financial competencies within all appropriate person specifications 
and appraisals;

4. ensure that Councillor’s roles and responsibilities for monitoring 
financial/budgetary performance are clear; and they are provided with and 
have access to adequate financial skills and training to assist in 
discharging these responsibilities;

Page 73



8

5. develop skills on a continuing basis to improve performance, including the 
ability to scrutinise and challenge and to recognise when outside expert 
advice is needed, in line with the member development strategy;

6. provide induction programmes tailored to individual needs and 
opportunities for members and officers to update their knowledge on a 
regular basis;

7. ensure that the statutory officers have the skills, resources and support 
necessary to perform effectively in their roles and that these roles are 
properly understood throughout the authority;

8. consider career structures for members and officers to encourage 
participation and development;

Additional measures:

9. Manage the strategic Human Resource Management and Organisational 
Development needs of the organisation through relevant policies and 
accreditation.

10.Promote the use of technology to enhance efficiency and quality of service.

Principle F   Managing risks and performance through robust internal control 
and strong public financial management

Local government needs to ensure that the organisations and governance 
structures that it oversees have implemented, and can sustain, an effective 
performance management system that facilitates effective and efficient delivery 
of planned services. Risk management and internal control are important and 
integral parts of a performance management system and are crucial to the 
achievement of outcomes. Risk should be considered and addressed as part of 
all decision making activities. 

A strong system of financial management is essential for the implementation of 
policies and the achievement of intended outcomes, as it will enforce financial 
discipline, strategic allocation of resources, efficient service delivery and 
accountability. 

It is also essential that a culture and structure for scrutiny are in place as a key 
part of accountable decision making, policy making and review. A positive 
working culture that accepts, promotes and encourages constructive challenge is 
critical to successful scrutiny and successful service delivery. Importantly, this 
culture does not happen automatically, it requires repeated public commitment 
from those in authority. 

In pursuance of this principle we will:

1. maintain a prudential financial framework, balance commitments with 
available resources; and monitor income and expenditure levels to ensure 
this balance is achieved;

Page 74



9

2. ensure compliance with the CIPFA codes regarding a Prudential 
Framework for Capital Finance and Treasury Management;

3. put in place effective arrangements to deal with a failure in service 
delivery;

4. determine a scheme of delegated and reserved powers within the 
constitution and ensure that it is monitored and updated when required;

5. require appropriate management accounting, functions and controls to be 
in place within the Council, together with outsourced and partnership 
arrangements;

6. ensure budget calculations are robust and reserves are adequate;
7. ensure that effective management arrangements are in place at the top of 

the organisation;
8. ensure that risk management is embedded into the culture of the authority, 

with members and managers at all levels recognising that risk 
management is part of their job;

9. ensure effective internal control arrangements exist for sound financial 
management systems and processes;

10.when working in partnership, put in place protocols for working together 
which include a shared understanding of respective roles and 
responsibilities of each organisation;

11.when working in partnership, ensure that there are robust procedures for 
scrutinising decisions and behaviour and that these decisions and 
behaviour are compliant with any local authority rules/codes or comply 
with any rules/codes developed for the purpose of the partnership;

12. review the scope of the Chief Finance Officer’s (Section 151 Officer’s) non 
financial areas of responsibility to ensure financial matters are not 
compromised;

13.provide the Financial Services with the resources, expertise and systems 
necessary to perform its role effectively within the Council;

14.when working in partnership, ensure that partners individually and the 
partnership collectively share responsibility for appointing people to the 
partnership who have the required skills and are at an appropriate level. 
The partnership should:

a. identify the capacity and capability requirements of the partnership
b. conduct an audit of the capacity and capability of the partnership 

and partners
c. develop an effective plan for addressing any gaps.

15.on an annual basis, publish an annual report giving information on the 
authority’s vision, strategy, plans and financial statements as well as 
information about the outcomes, achievements and the satisfaction of 
service users in the previous period;

Additional measures:

16.Set out clear financial and contract procedure rules, kept under review as 
part of the overall Constitution of the Council.

17.Put arrangements in place for sharing, gathering and storing data and 
ensuring data quality. 

Page 75



10

18.Put arrangements in place to capture and manage risks corporately.

Principle G  Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit 
to deliver effective accountability

Accountability is about ensuring that those making decisions and delivering 
services are answerable for them. Effective accountability is concerned not only 
with reporting on actions completed, but also ensuring that stakeholders are able 
to understand and respond as the organisation plans and carries out its activities 
in a transparent manner. Both external and internal audit contribute to effective 
accountability. 

In pursuance of this principle we will:

1. set out a clear statement of the respective roles and responsibilities of the 
Council’s executive committee and the members individually and the 
authority’s approach towards putting this into practice;

2. set out a clear statement of the respective roles and responsibilities of the 
Council’s other committees and members and senior officers;

3. set out the terms and conditions for remuneration of members and officers 
and publish an Annual Pay policy statement in accordance with the 
requirements of the Localism Act 2011;

4. ensure an effective internal audit function is resourced and maintained
5. develop and maintain effective arrangements for determining the 

remuneration of senior staff;
6. ensure that professional advice on legal and financial matters is available 

and recorded well in advance of decision making and used appropriately 
when decisions have significant legal or financial implications;

7. enable the Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) to bring influence to 
bear on all material decisions and provide advice on the levels of reserves 
and balances to be retained;

8. require our arrangements for financial and internal control and 
management of risk to be formally addressed within the annual 
governance reports;

9. when working in partnership, ensure that partnership papers are easily 
accessible and meetings are held in public unless there are good reasons 
for confidentiality. The partners must ensure that:

a. the partnership receives good quality advice and support and 
information about the views of citizens and stakeholders, so that 
robust and well reasoned decisions are made; and

b. risk is managed at a corporate and operational level; and
c. all partners comply with the Bribery Act 2010 regarding offering, 

promising or giving of an advantage, and the requesting, agreeing 
to receive or accepting of an advantage.

10.ensure that the authority as a whole is open and accessible to the 
community, service users and staff and make a commitment to openness 
and transparency in all our dealings, including partnerships subject only to 

Page 76



11

the need to preserve confidentiality in those specific circumstances where 
it is proper and appropriate to do so;

11.develop and maintain an effective audit committee which is independent of 
the executive and scrutiny functions;

12.enable the Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) to have direct 
access to the Council’s Audit Committee and External Auditor

Additional measures:

13.Ensure audit committee complies with Audit Committees: Practical 
Guidance for Local Authorities and Police (CIPFA, 2013).

Annual Review of Corporate Governance

At the end of the year, the Council will produce its Annual Governance Statement 
which will review the effectiveness of the actual system of internal control in place 
against both the Local Code of Governance and the CIPFA best practice 
framework. The review will draw various sources of evidence including: 

 detailed self-assessment against the CIPFA best practice examples
 the Internal Audit annual opinion, 
 relevant reports from External Audit, 
 year end reports from Scrutiny, Audit and Standards committees
 assurances from senior management and significant partners

As part of its governance role, the Audit Committee will oversee this review on 
behalf of the Council.

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 78



APPENDIX 2

Framework for the Internal Control Environment

 Embedded system
 Operates throughout 

organisation
 Internal & external 

reviews
 Action orientated
 National/local KPI’s 
 Periodic progress 

reports

 Internal Audit’s opinion 
expressed in periodic 
and annual reports to 
audit committee

 Operates under terms 
of reference

 Rolling strategic & 
annual plans, Member 
approved

 Risk-based plan

 Annual plan
 Annual letter
 Audit opinion
 Value for Money 

opinion

 Departmental Policies
 Control & risk self-

assessment 
questionnaires 
completed with 
feedback from senior 
Managers

 Strategic operational 
strategy & registers

 Embedded in policies & 
planning

 Effectiveness evaluated
 Project appraisal

 Fraud reports and 
investigations

 Reports by inspectors
 Post implementation 

reviews of projects

Internal Control Framework
 Council Constitution
 Council Plan
 Local Code of Governance
 Medium Term Financial Plan
 Revenue & Capital Budgets
 Service Plans
 Performance Management 

Framework
 Service Partnership Protocols 

and Agreements 
 South Lakeland Local Plan
 Financial Management 

Reporting
 Project management process
 Risk management & registers
 Anti-Bribery, Fraud & Corruption 

Policy
 Information Security Policy
 Financial Procedure Rules
 Codes of Conduct for Members 

& Officers
 Whistleblowing policy
 Freedom of Information Policy
 Corporate Procurement 

Strategy
 Health and Safety Policy
 Corporate Property Strategy
 Asset Management Plan
 Surveillance Policy
 Human Resources Policies
 Customer Access Strategy
 Equality and Diversity
 Accessibility Policy
 Data Protection and 

Governance
 Community Engagement 

Strategy

Annual Governance Statement
 published with the Statement of 

Accounts 
 approved by Leader and Chief 

Executive

Independent review by Audit 
Committee Members to 
examine draft AGS & 

supporting evidence and 
recommend approval

Draft Annual 
Governance Statement

 Internal Control 
environment 
reviewed by 
Finance, 
Partnerships and 
Organisational 
Development, 
Internal Audit

 Governance best 
practice reviewed

 Draft AGS produced 

Performance Sub 
Committee

 Monitors residual risk 
and management

 Monitors risk profile
 Receives risk 

monitoring reports
 Performance Indicators 

& Performance Plan

Monitoring Officer

 Monitors compliance 
with Constitution, 
standards and 
legislation

Section 151 Officer 

 Monitors compliance 
with internal/external 
financial regulatory 
framework

Performance
Management

Internal
Audit

External 
Audit

Risk 
Management

Other 
sources of 
assurance

Assurances 
by 

Managers

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 80



South Lakeland District Council
Audit Committee
1 December 2016

Internal Audit Recommendations Progress Report
PORTFOLIO: Not applicable

REPORT FROM: Shelagh McGregor – Assistant Director (Resources) 
and Section 151 Officer

REPORT AUTHOR: Helen Smith – Financial Services Manager

WARDS: Not applicable (corporate issue)

KEY DECISION NO: Not applicable

1.0 EXPECTED OUTCOME
1.1 This report provides an update of the progress with implementing the Internal 

Audit Report Recommendations. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION
2.1 It is recommended that Audit Committee:-

(1) note the progress made with implementing the Internal Audit 
Report recommendations.

3.0 BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS
3.1 A series of recommendations have been made by Internal Audit to improve 

governance. These recommendations should be implemented with regard to 
their priority. This report is a monitoring tool used by managers to track and 
report progress. The Internal Audit Manager also provides separate and 
independent comment on the implementation of the recommendations as part 
of regular and/or one off audits. 

Internal Audit Recommendations Performance
3.3 Appendix 1 contains the detailed recommendations and a note of the 

progress made against them.  There are 46 recommendations set out in the 
Appendix, 23 of which have future completion dates.  Out of the 23 remaining, 
17 have been completed, 2 have been superseded and 4 are partially 
completed.  

Page 81

Item No.9



4.0 CONSULTATION
4.1 The author of this report has consulted with officers responsible for 

implementing each of the recommendations and has prepared this report on 
that basis.  The report has been considered by the Senior Management 
Team.

5.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
5.1 None.
6.0 LINKS TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES
6.1 Improving governance will mitigate the risks and support the achievement of 

Council Plan priorities.
7.0 IMPLICATIONS
7.1 Financial and Resources
7.1.1 No additional financial or resources implications.
7.2 Human Resources
7.2.1 No additional human resources implications.
7.3 Legal
7.3.1 This reporting mechanism provides assurance that the governance 

arrangements are effectively managed and reported.

7.4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental  

Have you completed a Health, 
Social, Economic and Environmental 
Impact Assessment?

Yes ☐ No ☒

If yes, please confirm that it is 
attached to the report in the 
appendices.

Yes ☐ No ☐

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons.

This report is a corporate governance 
issue and has no direct health, social, 
economic or environmental impacts.  

7.5 Equality and Diversity
Have you completed an Equality 
Impact Analysis?

Yes ☐ No ☒

If yes, please confirm that it is 
attached to the report in the 
appendices.

Yes ☐ No ☐

If you have not completed an 
Equality Impact Analysis, please 
explain your reasons.

This report is a corporate governance 
issue and has no direct equality or 
diversity impacts. 

Page 82



7.6 Risk
Risk Consequence Controls required
That the audit 
recommendations and 
Annual Governance 
Statement Action Plan 
are not implemented in 
a timely manner.

Poor practice, weak 
controls, poor Value for 
Money. 

Prioritisation of the 
action to implement the 
recommendation and 
actions and monitoring 
and reporting of the 
process.

CONTACT OFFICERS
Report Author – Helen Smith, Financial Services Manager; 01539 793147, 
h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk

APPENDICES ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT
Appendix No.
1 Detailed Audit Report Recommendations Progress 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE
None. 

TRACKING INFORMATION
Assistant 
Director

Portfolio 
Holder

Solicitor to the 
Council

SMT Scrutiny 
Committee

My Report n/a n/a

Executive 
(Cabinet)

Audit 
Committee

Council Section 151 
Officer

Monitoring 
Officer

n/a 1/12/2016 n/a My Report

HR Resources 
Manager

Leader Ward 
Councillor(s)

Assistant 
Directors 

xx n/a n/a

Page 83

mailto:h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 84



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

AMBER – work in progress 

GREEN -  implemented

KEY:
 
 

WHITE –  deadline in the future

INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

Date of Audit Report:
Audit Report Title:

18/11/14
Audit of Grounds Maintenance

1 Follow up Recommendation 2 for 
‘Audit of Grounds Maintenance’ on 10 
August 2015:
The key performance indicators and 
the system for recording and 
monitoring against them should be 
decided. Medium Priority.

Principal Community 
Spaces 
Officer/Assistant 
Director

 01/04/17 Partial The report was completed Sept 2015 and taken 
to October Cabinet.  The recommendation is to 
extend the contract with CLL and develop a 
partnership and a business plan.  Discussions 
are currently taking place to ascertain what is 
required to make this happen for 1 April 2017
Update 07/06/16: Progress is on track for 
01/04/17.

Update 23/08/16: Progress is on track
Update 17/11/16: monthly meetings held with 
CLL and SLDC staff: progress is on track

P
age 85



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

Date of Audit Report:
Audit Report Title:

5/11/14
Audit of Lake Windermere Services

2 Recommendation 1:
The Council should develop its 
operational service planning 
arrangements for Windermere Lake 
Services to more clearly link service 
objectives and associated 
performance measures to wider 
Council’s priorities and the Strategic 
Vision of the partnership.
Medium priority

Director of People and 
Places

01/04/17  Partial Management recognised this is issue. There is 
to be a refresh of the Windermere Strategy; the 
Director of People and Places is leading on this 
review with LDNP.
The timetable for the refreshed strategy has 
been revised with the LDNPA and reported to 
Lake Administration Committee,  with a 
completion date of the end of October 2016
Draft action points from the 2011-15 
Windermere Strategy are to be aligned to 
corporate priorities and will be incorporated into 
the Service Plan for year commencing Jan 2016. 
Progress is on track for inclusion in service plans 
for 2016/17.

Update 09/06/16: Draft action points are now 
incorporated into the Service Plan - this rec is 
now partially implemented
Update 23/08/16: The completion date is now 
revised to 01/04/17 following agreement of 
Windermere Management Strategy Working 
Group (members of SLDC and LDNPA)

P
age 86



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

Date of Audit Report:
Audit Report Title:

11/06/2015
Audit of General IT Controls

3 Recommendation 1:
All system users should be requested 
to complete a declaration to confirm 
their receipt, understanding of and 
compliance to the IT Acceptable Use 
Policy. These declarations should be 
retained.
Consideration may also be given to 
the automation of this declaration 
through the network log on process.
Medium priority.

IT Services Manager 30/09/16 Partial All new staff read and sign the appropriate 
policies prior to being given access to the 
council network – we haven’t requested all users 
resign as yet because the policies still need to 
be reviewed and updated
Update 13/06/16: Policies are being prepared for 
HR Committee in September as part of the 
information Governance Project. Due date 
amended to 30/09/16.
Update 23/08/16 The IT Acceptable Use Policy 
was approved by the HR Committee on 
06/09/16.
This will be communicated to staff and 
managers.

4 Recommendation 3:
Once all policies are refreshed, the 
procedure to be applied in the event 
of potential / known IT security 
breaches should be defined and 
documented. These arrangements 
should be made available to key staff.
Medium priority.

IT Services Manager March 2016 Partial Agreed that this will be part of the new policies 
that are created as part of the wider Information 
Governance project.
The project has created the high level 
governance framework but the policies at this 
level haven’t been updated as yet. We are 
aiming to have the newly amended policies 
presented at the Sept HR Committee.  They will 
be rolled out after they have been approved.

P
age 87



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

Date of Audit Report:
Audit Report Title:

10/9/15
Follow up Audit of Asset Management

5 Recommendation 1:                                                                                   
The Council should have an 
overarching strategy of what is 
required / expected from its 
investment property portfolio.
Medium priority

Assistant Director 
(Strategic Planning)

 30/09/17 Follow up Conclusion: 
The recommendation will be implemented as 
part of the property/asset management strategy 
review. 
Update 14/03/16: Preparation of a 
comprehensive medium term Strategic asset 
management Plan is a key action in year 1 of the 
re-tendered Property Management contract 
which commences in 2016/17. Ahead of that the 
Council has already commissioned a Town 
Centre masterplan exercise for Kendal, this will 
also inform strategic decisions about the 
investment portfolio
Update 13/06/16: The new Property Services 
Management Provider will undertake a strategic 
review of the whole of the Council’s portfolio in 
the first twelve months of the new contract.
Update 23/08/16: The contract starts on 1st 
October 2016 and will deliver recommendations 
in first twelve months.
Update 17/11/16: contract commenced, work 
commenced, draft will be delivered by 30/6/17

P
age 88



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

6 Recommendation 4:                                                                                     
Management need to ensure a 
system is in place to enable proper 
co-ordination between the Property 
Services Contractor, the PS Manager, 
Legal and Finance sections to ensure 
all tenants/leaseholders are invoiced 
for the correct amount on a timely 
basis. 
Management should also monitor the 
effective operation of this system and 
apply accuracy checks to ensure the 
amounts charged are correct.
High priority.

Assistant Director 
(Strategic Planning)

31/03/17 Partial Follow up Conclusion: 
This recommendation is partially implemented.  
Management actions demonstrate that actions 
were taken to coordinate efforts and apply 
accuracy checks to ensure the amounts charged 
are correct.    
Update 14/03/16: Partially implemented. 
Some monthly meetings have taken place but 
due to vacancies in Legal and the Asset 
Management Services these are not as yet as 
effective as they need to be.
Update 13/06/16: Monthly review meetings are 
now in place between Legal and the Property 
Services provider to progress these.
Update 23/08/16: Progress is on track and 
collection performance has improved 
significantly.
Update 17/11/16: Meetings timetabled, work 
commenced to improve co-ordination of 
information held between departments.

P
age 89



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

7 Recommendation 7:                                                                                   
Management should review the 
process to log and follow up rent 
review cases to ensure rent reviews 
are undertaken and enforced on a 
timely basis.
Medium Priority.

Assistant Director 
(Strategic Planning)

31/03/17 Partial Update 14/03/16: There is a performance 
indicator in the new property management 
contract which highlights performance on 
completion of rent reviews over set time periods 
from giving instruction. It should be noted 
however that some tenants are less than 
constructive in seeking to agree rent reviews, in 
which case an independent process has to be 
actioned in order to reach a conclusion on those 
rent reviews. In the meantime progress on faster 
completion is being monitored with the property 
services contractor at the e monthly meetings.
Update 13/06/16: Monthly review meetings have 
commenced between Legal and the Property 
Services provider to progress these issues.
Update 23/08/16: Progress is on track – process 
improvements are embedded in the new 
contract.
Update 17/11/16: monthly list now submitted to 
Corporate Asset Manager for action. 

P
age 90



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

8 Follow up Recommendation 3  
Relevant contract manager(s) should 
ensure that there is corrective 
action(s) in place that is agreed with 
the Property Services Contractor to 
increase completion rate of rent 
reviews/lease renewals. 
Medium Priority.

Recommendation 2 also refers

Assistant Director 
(Strategic Planning)

31/03/17 Partial The new Property Services Contract 
commences in October 2016. One of the key 
year 1 actions is to develop a draft asset 
management strategy; this can be completed 
and the political process gone through in time for 
the implementation date agreed in the audit 
report of March 2017.
Additionally the new contract now has time 
related KPI`s for the completion of rent reviews 
(and lease renewals) following good practice. 
This KPI can be negotiated with the current 
provider NPS for the remainder of their (now 
extended) contract.
Update 13/06/16: A new set of performance 
indicators is included in the Property Services 
Management Contract which targets 
completions.
Update 23/08/16: Progress is on track – process 
improvements are embedded in the new 
contract starting on the 1st October 2016.
Update 17/11/16: Progress is on track to 
complete agreement of KPIs by end of 
December 2016.

P
age 91



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

Date of Audit Report:
Audit Report Title:

10/11/2015
Audit of the Homelessness (Social Lettings) Scheme

9 Recommendation 6:
The methodology for calculating fees 
should be revisited to aid better 
transparency of the data and fees 
charged for each aspect.
Medium priority

Principal Housing 
Solutions & 
Homelessness Officer

31 August 
2016

Review by 
31/10/16 

Superseded Agreed management action: 
Agreed, the methodology will be reviewed to 
ensure transparency in the calculation.
Update 03/06/16: This is currently being looked 
at, although no new properties are now being 
taken on and current ones are unlikely to be 
changed before the scheme changes.
Update 23/08/16: In line with the update above, 
the scheme will be fully reviewed in the Autumn. 
Major changes are expected and so there are no 
plans to carry out this recommendation.

Update 17/11/16: no further properties to be 
taken on so recommendations can now be 
archieved.

P
age 92



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

10 Recommendation 8:
Procedures should be established to 
ensure that each property with an 
established tenancy has an expected 
date in which the landlord will take 
possession and onward responsibility 
for the tenancy. Also, the current 
arrangements for assisting clients to 
move onward to alternative 
accommodation should be reviewed 
and a procedure documented for 
action.
(Refer to Recommendation 1 - 
Performance measures and outcomes 
should be reported to reflect the 
Scheme achievements i.e. when 
tenancies are returned to private 
sector landlord with established 
tenancies in situ, for future 
management or when clients progress 
from the Scheme to alternative 
accommodation.)
High priority

Principal Housing 
Solutions & 
Homelessness Officer

August 2016
Reviewed by 
31/10/16

Superseded Agreed management action: 
This will be considered as part of the wider 
scheme review which will consider the pathways 
to alternative accommodations.

Update 03/06/16: This is currently under review 
as part of a major review of the whole scheme 
and how it works.

Update 23/08/16: please see previous 
commentary above.P

age 93



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

Date of Audit Report:
Audit Report Title:

12/11/2015
Audit of Street Cleaning

11 Recommendation 1:
The Service Plan should include 
specific actions relating to Education 
& Enforcement to reflect the Council 
Plan’s overall Environment priority. 

These actions should be targeted at 
the areas of greatest need and 
supported by clear objectives, 
budgets, targets and performance 
measures which can be independently 
reviewed by management and enable 
performance reporting of service 
outputs and outcomes.
Medium priority

Street Scene Manager Amended to 
31/03/17

Partial Agreed management action: 
The Clean Streets Campaign Action Plan will be 
revised to include specific targeted programs of 
educational / enforcement activity that are 
considered appropriate and proportionate and as 
may be considered necessary led by intelligence 
gathered from the contact centre. A separate 
Education Plan is not considered necessary nor 
enhanced resources needed to directly deliver 
educational messages at this time. We will 
continue to work with partner organisations 
LDNPA, CCC and LAPS and Town Councils to 
support them delivering their statutory and civic 
responsibilities. Current evidence points to an 
ongoing reduction in fly tipping incidents, Dog 
fouling issues, and recent limited feedback from 
a district wide parish council consultation did not 
indicate widespread nor significant littering 
concerns.
Update 10/06/16: Since restructuring from April 
2016 a working draft for Clean Streets has been 
developed. The due date has been reviewed 
and amended to 31/03/17.
Update 23/08/16: Progress is on track for the 
above actions.

P
age 94



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

12 Recommendation 2:
Management should consider whether 
Education & Enforcement 
requirements should be formally 
included within the Waste, Recycling 
and Street Cleansing service 
specification. Medium priority

Street Scene Manager  31/03/17 Partial Agreed management action:
Consideration will be given to including 
additional details regarding the Street Care 
enforcement and education, aims and 
objectives, as detailed within the service 
specification and any specific matters including 
key targeted project work will be Included within 
the service plan and clean streets campaign 
action plan. 

Update 10/06/16: This particular service is not 
included in the waste and recycling contract, 
however, it forms part of the Street Scene 
Managers responsibilities and is the critical eye 
on the delivery of both in-house and external 
contracts. This would need to be discussed with 
the Assistant Director as to whether this should 
be included. Working closely enables a quick 
response and value for the customer.

Update 23/08/16: Progress is on track. Changes 
may be required to the structure of 
Neighbourhood Services.

P
age 95



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

Date of Audit Report:
Audit Report Title:

30/03/16
Audit of Use of Agency and Interim Staff

13 Recommendation 1:
The Recruitment and Selection policy 
should be reviewed to ensure it 
includes all information Managers 
may require when recruiting agency 
workers. 

Where changes to the policy are 
made / guidance introduced, they 
should be communicated and staff 
trained on it as appropriate.  We also 
recommend that a lead officer should 
be made responsible for ensuring the 
policy and guidance are kept up to 
date and applied across the Council.
Medium priority

HR Manager 31 Dec 2016 Partial The procedure and documentation will be 
reviewed and updated to ensure the correct 
procedure is in place.
Written ‘Guidance’ will be provided alongside 
training of the relevant employees.
Update 23/08/16: The R&S procedure is being 
reviewed and is due to be considered by HR on 
the 15 November 2016. 
Update 17/11/16: Review of R&S procedure has 
been delayed until other elements of the 
Customer Connect project are completed and 
future requirements are better understood.

P
age 96



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

14 Recommendation 2:
Management should set out the 
management information 
requirements to enable them to 
monitor the use of agency / interim 
workers and identify any issues 
arising in this area.

Once defined the information should 
be regularly reported at an 
appropriate level e.g. Assistant 
Director Group.
Medium priority

Chief Accountant & HR 
Manager

July 2016 July
2016

Action agreed to be reported as part of the 
quarterly monitoring report.

Update 09/06/16: Progress is on track for 
reporting in Quarter One for 2016/17.

Update 23/08/16: The quarterly monitoring 
report now contains detailed information on 
agency and interim staff and was in place for 
Quarter One reporting 2016.

15 Recommendation 3:
A corporate purchasing arrangement 
should be put in place for the supply 
of agency / interim workers which 
provides value for money, is reviewed 
for best value on a regular basis, 
meets the needs of all service areas, 
and which is then used for the 
recruitment of all agency / interim 
workers.
Following the introduction of a 
corporate purchasing arrangement 
relevant monitoring of compliance with 
this and appropriate contract 
management arrangements should be 
established as necessary.
Medium priority

HR Manager  31/03/17 Partial Improvements to this area have already been 
implemented. These will be reviewed and 
updated as necessary as part of the above 
procedure and guidance manual.

Update 23/08/16: Working with procurement to 
develop arrangements – progress is slower than 
anticipated due to the vacancies in the HR 
section which were recruited to in early Sept. 

Update 17/11/16: Discussions started.  
Operational Managers have been approached to 
ensure existing arrangements are captured in 
the procurement process.  Potential use of 
frameworks being examined.

P
age 97



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

Date of Audit Report:
Audit Report Title:

13/05/2016
Audit of Housing Benefits

16 Recommendation 1:
The draft targeted quality checking 
procedures should be finalised and 
communicated to staff. Management 
should ensure that training is provided 
if necessary, that controls are in place 
to ensure procedures are complied 
with and that procedures are 
maintained up to date.
Medium Priority

Shared Benefits 
Manager

July 2016 Jun 2016 The draft procedures have been finalised and 
communicated to staff. 

Implemented

P
age 98



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

17 Recommendation 2:
Management should formally set out 
their requirements in relation to 
‘housekeeping’ reports and their use 
to ensure they can be confident in the 
assurances they take from this 
process.
Medium Priority

Shared Benefits 
Manager

Sept 2016 July 2016 This information was provided, but is not 
centrally held.  A full list will be produced and 
maintained.

The team will be asked to add a notebook entry 
to advise what action has been taken, if any.

The case in question is satisfactory.  The report 
tested is run to advise of persons turning 18 so 
that it can be checked whether a non-dependent 
deduction applies, it is not run to review 
deductions or to check that customers have 
notified us of changes.  This information was 
already on the claim and a deduction had been 
applied so no further action was needed.

Update 23/08/16: Implemented

18 Recommendation 3:
Management should review the 
arrangements in place around 
performance monitoring and reporting 
to ensure that they are satisfied with 
the controls in place to mitigate risks 
in this area.
Medium Priority

Shared Benefits 
Manager

Dec 2016 Aug 2016 A review of the performance monitoring data has 
been ongoing over the past 12 months. 

A review of the instructions and proper checks 
will be undertaken prior to completion of reports 
for members to ensure accuracy and 
consistency.

Update 23/08/16: Implemented

P
age 99



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

Date of Audit Report:
Audit Report Title:

17/6/16
Audit of Bereavement Services

19 Recommendation 1:
The Community and Leisure Service 
Plan should be developed to include 
specific objectives and targets for 
Bereavement services which clearly 
contribute to Council priorities. 
Arrangements should be put in place 
to monitor and report on performance.
High Priority

Principal Community 
Spaces Officer

Dec 2016 The service is flexibly delivered to meet 
customer needs at what is often a very difficult 
time for grieving families, we do not believe that 
the service would benefit from specific targets at 
this time. The service does contribute to the 
broader outcomes of the council plan in making 
the area the best place to live, work and explore 
and to provide excellence in how it delivers the 
service . The current and future objectives for 
the service will be considered in the drafting of 
the Parks and Open Spaces Strategy.  A target 
date for completion of the strategy is December 
2016.

Update 23/08/16: A draft Parks and Open 
Spaces Strategy will be in place by December 
2016.

Update 17/11/16: Parks and Open Spaced 
Strategy to be finalised for 31/3/17 so concurrent 
with the commencement of grounds 
maintenance contract extension.

P
age 100



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

20 Recommendation 2:
Management should make 
arrangements to develop 
comprehensive documented 
procedures for Bereavement 
Services.
Medium Priority

Principal Community 
Spaces Officer / 
Bereavement Services 
Officer

 31/03/17 WIP The development and documenting of 
procedures has been set as a target for the 
Bereavement Services Officer, as part of the 
appraisal process.  The target date for 
achievement was July 2015.  Whilst some 
procedures have been documented Further work 
is required to complete this task and a new 
timescale will be set.
Update 23/08/16: Six procedures have been 
identified to document and these will be 
completed by 31/03/17.
Update 17/11/16: on target

21 Recommendation 3:
Business continuity actions for 
bereavement services should be 
progressed.
Medium Priority

Principal Community 
Spaces Officer / 
Bereavement Services 
Officer

31/03/17 The training of a Support Assistant to provide 
cover for the Bereavement Services Officer role 
has been included as a target as part of the 
Bereavement Services Officer’s appraisal.  The 
target date for achievement was July 2015. This 
activity has commenced but due to staff changes 
further work is required to complete this task and 
a new timescale will be set.
Update 23/08/16: a team restructure will deliver 
business continuity arrangements by 31/03/17.
Update 17/11/16: on target

P
age 101



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

22 Recommendation 4:
Management should assure 
themselves that efficiencies relating to 
future service planning opportunities 
have been fully explored and actions 
identified and progressed as 
appropriate.
Medium Priority

Community and 
Leisure Manager/ 
Principal Community 
Spaces Officer / 
Bereavement Services 
Officer

annually

Dec 2016

Fees and charges for this service area are 
reviewed annually. Emerging best practice and 
service enhancements are considered including 
alternative burial options in light of customer 
need and appropriate legislation at the time. 
These will additionally be considered in the 
drafting of the Parks and Open Spaces Strategy.
Update 23/08/16: A draft Parks and Open 
Spaces Strategy will be in place by December 
2016.
Update 17/11/16: Parks and Open Spaced 
Strategy to be finalised for 31/3/17 so concurrent 
with the commencement of grounds 
maintenance contract extension.

P
age 102



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

23 Recommendation 5:
There should be a mechanism in 
place to ensure that risks associated 
with the Service are identified, 
assessed and managed.
High Priority

Principal Community 
Spaces Officer

Dec 2016 WIP Service operational risks associated with the 
work undertaken in Cemeteries is 
comprehensively recorded and reviewed by the 
contractor undertaking this activity and is subject 
to scrutiny and consideration by the client 
officers .  
Risks associated with business continuity will be 
considered and assessed in accordance with the 
corporate risk management approach. Target 
Sept 2016 
Update 23/08/16: risks will be identified and 
developed as part of the service planning 
process by Dec 2016.
Update 17/11/16: Service planning process to 
commence in early 2017 for completion by 
March 2017

24 Recommendation 6:
Management should ensure that 
adequate arrangements are in place 
to review and assess the Services 
future planning arrangements.  This 
could include ensuring provision can 
be maintained, identifying ways of 
improving the service and possible 
cost reductions for the Council.
High Priority

Principal Community 
Spaces Officer

Dec  2016 WIP Risks identified with future provision including 
business continuity will be managed utilising the 
corporate risk management approach. Target 
Sept 2016 for risks to be identified and 
assessed.
Update 23/08/16: risks will be identified and 
developed as part of the service planning 
process by Dec 2016.
Update 17/11/16: Service planning process to 
commence in early 2017 for completion by 
March 2017

P
age 103



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

25 Recommendation 7: 
Once objectives and performance 
targets have been established for the 
service (see recommendation 1), 
Senior management should define the 
frequency and type of reporting they 
require to effectively monitor the 
service.  
Medium Priority

Principal Community 
Spaces Officer

31/3/17 In light of the comments made for 
recommendation 1 above Management will 
define a reporting framework based on 
exceptions.

Update: Reporting and monitoring mechanisms 
will be completed as part of the partnership with 
CLL and the Business Plan  - deadline 31/03/17

Update 17/11/16: Service planning process to 
commence in early 2017 for completion by 
March 2017

26 Recommendation 8:
Management should ensure that there 
is a mechanism in place to confirm the 
accuracy of charges made to 
customers.
Medium Priority

Community & Leisure 
Manager / Principal 
Community Spaces 
Officer

Oct 2016 Oct 2016 The fees and charges levied for this service are 
included in the Corporate Fees and charges 
report approved by Full Council. A mechanism 
will be developed to provide a cross check of 
charges and invoices raised.

Update 23/08/16: Accuracy checking is in place 
and is predicted complete by Oct 2016.

P
age 104



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

27 Recommendation 10
Arrangements should be in place to 
give management assurance that the 
service keeps abreast of changes to 
legislation relating to bereavement 
services.
Medium Priority

Community & Leisure 
Manager / Principal 
Community Spaces 
Officer

Sept 2016 September 
2016

The Bereavement Services Officer is very well 
trained and vastly experienced in delivering 
services in this area of work and is often called 
upon by other authorities seeking guidance and 
support.

When the Job description is updated it will 
include a requirement for the Bereavement 
Services Officer to Assume and maintain an up-
to-date working knowledge of policy, legislation, 
regulation and best practice requirements 
sufficient to maintain effective delivery in all 
these relevant areas.

Update 23/08/16: Predicted complete by Sept 
2016.

Date of Audit Report:
Audit Report Title:

23/6/16
Audit of Leisure Services

P
age 105



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

28 Recommendation 1:
All responsibilities under the contract 
should be formally assigned and 
documented and objectives and 
measures of success are 
communicated through annual 
appraisals. 
The Director / Assistant Director 
should establish arrangements to be 
assured that all aspects of contract 
activity and monitoring are being 
undertaken in accordance with 
organisational requirements.
Medium Priority

Assistant Director 
Neighbourhood 
Services

Oct 2016 Oct 2016 The AD provided a statement that the 
Performance is managed via regular meetings 
with the Operations Manager for this area.
This will be further reinforced through the 
documentation of procedures referred to in the 
response to recommendation 4 
NCL documents all maintenance and building 
management works due and undertaken which 
provides the basis for periodic inspection and 
assessment of their activities.  The Gas 
certificate issue arose through it being at the 
expiry of an arrangement under the previous 
leisure partnership and the commencement of 
NCL’s direct instruction of gas certification. The 
new certificate was in place from the 16th June 
and recorded no defects requiring attention. 
Future certification is now wholly within NCL’s 
property management system. 
The Community and Leisure Manager will work 
with the Corporate Asset Manager to agree their 
respective responsibilities towards the 
management of the contract and in particular the 
periodic inspection and assessment of NCL’s 
building and plant maintenance programme.
October implementation date enables the arrival 
of the new Asset Manager
Link to recommendation 4
Update 23/08/16: Progress is on track

P
age 106



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

29 Recommendation 2:
To further strengthen the new Leisure 
Partnership risk management 
process, management should formally 
consider the key risks that SLDC 
faces with respect to the Leisure 
Partnership to inform the Community 
and Leisure Services Plan and the 
corporate risk management process.
Medium Priority

Director People and 
Places

Oct 2016 October 2016 A risk aware approach to the management of the 
contract is critical if we are to achieve the full 
potential of the Leisure Partnership and avoid a 
risk averse approach which ties valuable 
resources in unproductive checking and 
verification of the fine detail of the contract and 
specification. 
The Audit recognises the work to undertaken to 
develop the approach in accordance with the 
Corporate and Service planning risk 
management process.

Update 23/08/16: Progress is on track.

P
age 107



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

30 Recommendation 3:
Arrangement should be in place to 
obtain regular documented 
assurances that the provider has the 
required level of insurance cover in 
place during the life of the contract.

Arrangements should be introduced 
for the Council to receive periodic 
assurances that the Leisure Partner 
complies with all legislative 
requirements set out in the Leisure 
Partnership.
High Priority

Community and 
Leisure Manager

August 16 Implemented The required insurances are, and have been, in 
place.  NCL provided a copy of ‘Insight – 
Community Risks Policy Schedule’ referring to 
Policy No. XAO-262020-5603, with the period of 
insurance indicated as 1st April 2015 to 31st 
March 2016.   This did not specifically refer to 
Professional Negligence insurance.  
However, the subsequent statement from Zurich 
(as referred to with the electronic document title 
09/12/15) confirms that Public Negligence 
insurance forms part of the cover under Policy 
No. XAO-262020-5603
When sought, documentary evidence has been 
forthcoming. We are assured that NCL has 
complied with the insurance requirements of the 
Leisure Partnership.  The Auditor should 
consider revision to the priority of this 
recommendation.

With regard to assurance over compliance with 
all legislative requirements, the Partnership 
Board receives updates on activities and 
progress which focus on areas where risk of 
potential non-compliance may be greatest, for 
example, Health and Safety, Finance, 
Employment.  The overarching spirit/requirement 
of this clause is activated in practice through 
these review meetings.

To date, the review meetings have not 

P
age 108



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

presented any issues on which we would need 
to seek evidence of compliance. 

In response to the Audit and to provide greater 
assurance, The Community and Leisure 
Manager has agreed with NCL that there will be 
two of their contract management meetings, one 
in December and one in June at which relevant 
documentation and procedures will be 
examined.

31 Recommendation 4:
Procedures for the monitoring of the 
Leisure Partnership contract should 
be documented, and aligned with the 
Council’s contract monitoring policy 
and procedure, financial and contract 
procedure rules and other relevant 
internal regulations.
Medium Priority

Community and 
Leisure Manager

Dec 2016 November 
2016

Contract management practice is in place and 
informed by the requirements of the specification 
Section 9 – Performance Management.   
Contract management practice is evolving and 
documentation of procedures will take place.

Update 23/08/16: Progress is on track.

P
age 109



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

32 Recommendation 5:
A deadline for receipt of the delivery 
plan for future years should be agreed 
with the Leisure Partner and 
arrangements introduced to ensure 
that this is received by the due date.
High Priority

Community and 
Leisure Manager

August 16 Implemented NCL provided a comprehensive business plan at 
the commencement of the partnership in April 
2014. In January 2015 the Board (minutes have 
been supplied) considered the financial and 
business plan for 15/16 – agreed and accepted 
the projections. The board were accepting of the 
original plan extending into year 2 of the 
partnership. This is an appropriate exercise of 
management discretion

The Year 3 delivery plan was discussed in draft 
at the Board meeting in May 2016 and agreed 
some additional detail and information was 
required. The plan is being finalised.

P
age 110



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

33 Recommendation 6: 
To strengthen SLDC’s performance 
monitoring of  ‘Wellbeing’ related 
services, higher level and operational 
indicators addressing the themes set 
out in the Partnership Agreement, 
should be fully developed and 
reported through the quarterly 
contract management meetings. 

The Council should ensure that the 
performance indicators and targets 
are translated into work tasks and 
targets throughout the organisation.
Medium Priority

Operational Indicators / 
targets:

Community and 
Leisure Manager

NCL Contract manager 
to ensure reflection of 
targets in organisations 
work programmes.

Higher level outcomes:

Community and 
Leisure Manager, 
Assistant Director 
Neighbourhood 
Services

Operational 
Indicators / 
targets:
October 2016

Higher level 
outcomes:
Leisure 
Partnership 
Board 
progress 
report – May 
2017

Partial Operational performance indicators (e.g. 
Activity/Usage, Health and Safety, finance) and 
narrative about progress on initiatives are 
reported to Leisure Partnership Board on a 
quarterly basis.  The contract commenced with 
an absence of baseline information from the 
previous operator. Now in year three, informed 
targets can be established in addition to the 
financial performance targets (budget 
projections/assumptions on revenues) that have 
been in place through the business plan.
In 2016, NCL are implementing a new business 
management software (LEGEND) which is in 
operation across all GLL Sites.  This provides 
data for benchmarking and the analysis of 
performance, enabling informed and realistic 
assessment of performance and target setting.
Operational Performance is the easy task. 
Much more challenging is to relate activity and 
interventions to the higher level health and 
wellbeing outcomes the Council is seeking for 
the South Lakeland area. For example, ‘that 
older people remain active and independent for 
longer due to better health and mobility through 
exercise’.
NCL/SLDC have identified the opportunity in 
year three of the partnership to move forward, 
influencing partnership and collaborative action 
to address these higher level outcomes.  
Narrative will continue to be reported to the 

P
age 111



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

Partnership Board.

Update 23/08/16: Progress is on track for both 
parts of this recommendation.
Update 17/11/16: Progress is on track for both 
parts of this recommendation

34 Recommendation 7:
Management should formally 
document the risk assessment that 
supports the decision not to undertake 
independent verification of the 
performance information provided by 
the Leisure Partner.  

The risk assessment should follow the 
Council’s risk management process, 
and should include input from relevant 
professionals such as Legal Services 
to ensure that the Council is not 
exposed to unacceptable contract-
related risks.
Medium Priority

Risk documentation:

Director People and 
Places

Verification:

Community and 
Leisure Manager

Risk 
Documentati
on:
Oct 2016

Verification:
Completed – 
no further 
action

Implemented

The Community and Leisure Manager is in 
regular contact, including on site presence with 
NCL.  The financial performance (which is 
critically dependent upon activity and usage) and 
the observations whilst on site do not indicate 
any doubts about the veracity of the data. 
Management consider this a low risk and this will 
be documented in the risk assessment. 
In the response to recommendation 3, we have 
indicated that the Community and Leisure 
Manager has established two of the contract 
management meetings in year will consider 
specific information. This will include verification 
checks.

P
age 112



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

35 Recommendation 8:
Regular contract management 
meetings between the lead officers 
should be held as per the risk 
mitigation identified on the Partnership 
risk register.  To ensure there is 
transparency and an accurate record 
of decisions taken, Management 
should review procedures for the 
administration of meetings to ensure 
that agendas pick up all outstanding 
actions and minutes fully record:
• When an action is required, 
who is required to resolve the action
• What is required from the 
action
Medium Priority

Community Leisure 
Manager / NCL 
Contract Manager

Complete – 
no further 
action

Implemented Contract Management meetings take place on a 
monthly basis (required quarterly by the 
Contract) and Partnership meetings take place 
on a quarterly basis, (as required by the 
Contract). Notes are produced and circulated. 
Notes of meetings will be circulated within 2 
weeks of the meeting

Date of Audit Report:
Audit Report Title:

04/05/16
Audit of Housing Standards

36 Recommendation 1:
a) The objectives/priorities and 
performance targets that relate to 
enforcement of housing standards 
and DFGs should be included or 
cross-referenced to the 2015/16 
Development Strategy  Service Plan 
in order to monitor and evaluate 
delivery of these. 

a)Development 
Strategy & Housing 
Manager

a)Apr 2016 a) Mar 
2016

a) The Development Strategy Service Plan 
for 2016/17 that details objectives and 
performance targets relating to enforcement of 
housing standards and DFGs is now completed. 
Update 23/08/16: Completed March 2016.

P
age 113



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

36 b) Arrangements should be made to 
link personal objectives to service 
objectives and these should be 
monitored and evaluated as part of 
the staff appraisal process.

b)Housing Strategy & 
Delivery Manager

b)Aug 2016
amended to 
Oct
2016

b)September 
2016

b) The specific actions and targets from the 
draft Housing Standards Team Plan 2016/17 will 
be include in staff’s personal objectives and 
monitored and evaluated as part of the staff 
appraisal process. 
Update 23/08/16: Progress is on track for the 
amended date of October 2016.

36 c) Details of the review and approval 
of the 2015/16 Development Strategy 
Service Plan and Housing Standards 
Team’s plan should be formally 
documented. 

c)Development 
Strategy & Housing 
Manager

c)Apr 2016 c) Mar 
2016

c) The completed Development Strategy 
Service Plan was considered by Senior 
Management Team. 
Update 23/08/16: Completed March 2016.

36 d) Details of the 2015/16 
Development Strategy Service Plan 
should be communicated for staff to 
access and understand.

d)Development 
Strategy & Housing 
Manager

d)Apr 2016 d) Mar 
2016

d) The Development Strategy Service Plan 
has been communicated to all members of the 
Housing Standards Team.  
Update 23/08/16: Completed March 2016.

P
age 114



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

36 e) Training and guidance should be 
provided to managers on the purpose 
of the service plan and their 
responsibilities for establishing a 
mechanism to check and to formally 
document the monitoring, evaluation 
and reporting the delivery of service 
objectives/actions.
Medium Priority

e)Assistant Director & 
Development Strategy 
& Housing Manager

e)Aug 2016

Amend to 
Dec 2106

e) The Assistant Director and Development 
Strategy & Housing Manager will liaise with 
other officers to provide guidance to managers 
across the Council on the purpose of the service 
plans and their responsibilities for establishing 
internal arrangements for monitoring, evaluating 
and reporting the delivery of the service 
objectives/actions.
Update 23/08/16: Scope of training is currently 
being investigated with a view to implementation 
by Dec 2016.

37 Recommendation 2:
Training and guidance should be 
provided to managers on their 
responsibilities for appropriately 
identifying, assessing and managing 
risks within their service area.  
Medium Priority

Development Strategy 
& Housing Manager

Apr 2016 Mar 2016 Identified service risks relating to the 
enforcement of housing standards and DFGs to 
assess and manage are included in the 
Development Strategy Service Plan for 2016/17. 
The identified risks have been discussed and 
shared with the Housing Standards Team.

Update 23/08/16: Implemented

P
age 115



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

38 Recommendation 3:
a) The DFGs Policy should 

be reviewed and updated 
and this should be formally 
documented. 

b) The DFGs system procedure 
notes should be reviewed and 
updated to reflect all current working 
practices and to support the DFGs 
policy. The DFGs procedural notes 
should clearly define all current 
working practices that includes; 
procuring and tendering of works; 
validation and approval checks and 
reflect other related Council’s 
procedures and guidance i.e. 
Council’s Contractual Procedural 
Rules.

c) Those accountable  for 
approving and awarding DFGs should 
be reminded of their responsibility for 
being assured that the  procedures to 
follow and the checks to be performed 
to verify the accuracy, validity and 
consistency of DFGs procurement 
and financial information are formally 
documented. 

d) A timescale should be set for 

Housing Strategy & 
Delivery Manager

Jan 2017 a) and b) A small working group led by the 
Housing Strategy & Delivery Manager will be 
established to review the DFG policy and 
procedures. 

b) and c) The revised procedures will reflect 
all current working practices. The DFG policy 
and procedures will be communicated to staff

d) The revised DFG policy will be submitted 
to Cabinet for approval by January 2017.

Update 23/08/16: Progress is on track.

Update 17/11/16: Progress is on track.

P
age 116



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

the review and update of the DFGs 
Policy and Procedure notes including 
the relevant approval arrangements.

a) Medium Priority

39 Recommendation 4:
Procedures should be introduced to 
support the enforcement policy.  They 
should define expected guidance for 
staff to follow in order to process 
enforcement of housing standard 
cases and include: clearly defined the 
roles and responsibilities; task to be 
undertaken, timescale requirements; 
documents to use; and reporting 
arrangements.  A timescale should be 
set for preparing the procedures 
including the approval arrangements.
Medium Priority

Housing Strategy & 
Delivery Manager

Jan 2017 The same small working group led by the 
Housing Strategy & Delivery Manager as 
referred to in Rec 3 will review the enforcement 
policy to include guidance on the implementation 
of the policy.

Update 23/08/16: Progress is on track.

P
age 117



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

40 Recommendation 5:
Arrangements should be introduced 
for monitoring and reporting 
compliance and  non-compliance with 
the Enforcement policy and DFGs 
policy. Arrangements for non-
compliance should be clearly defined 
and documented in each policy. A 
timescale should be set for 
documenting and implementing these 
arrangements.
High Priority

Housing Strategy & 
Delivery Manager

Jan 2017 The Enforcement Policy and DFGs policy will be 
updated to include the arrangements for 
monitoring and reporting non-compliances and 
escalating these.

Internal arrangements (i.e. 1:1 meetings, 
Housing Standards Team meetings) will be used 
to monitor, review and document compliances 
and non-compliances with policies and 
procedures.

Arrangements will be established to monitor and 
report non-compliances that relate to external 
parties i.e. DFG contractors.  

Update 23/08/16: Progress is on track.

P
age 118



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

41 Recommendation 6:
a) The scheme of delegation for 
enforcement officers should be 
reviewed, updated and authorised by 
relevant officers including the Legal 
department to reflect the most up-to-
date legislation and to ensure they are 
correctly specified. 

b) A timescale should be set for 
the review and update of the schemes 
of delegation including the relevant 
sign-off arrangements.
High Priority

Housing Strategy & 
Delivery Manager

Apr 2016 Apr 2016 a)and b) The schemes of delegation have been 
reviewed and updated. The Legal Department 
have reviewed the schemes of delegation and 
will do so again in April 2017.

Update 23/08/16: Implemented.

P
age 119



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

42 Recommendation 7:
a) Management should ensure that a 
timetable is set to review the 
arrangements for regularly monitoring 
staffing establishment for the 
enforcement of housing standards 
and DFGs that includes setting a 
target to monitor, evaluate and report 
the enforcement of housing standards 
performance activity against target.

b) Managers should be reminded of 
the need to retain a record of regular 
meetings with staff that supports 
discussions made regarding the 
Housing Standards Team 
performance etc. Any outcomes from 
such meetings should be reported and 
escalated and where appropriate 
corrective action taken should be 
documented.
Medium Priority

Development Strategy 
& Housing Manager

May 2016 March 2016 a) Within the Housing Standards Team there is  
limited resource available to monitor and 
evaluate its  performance activity. Therefore the 
Housing Standards Team  Development 
Strategy Service Plan for 2016/17 that details 
objectives and performance targets relating to 
the enforcement of housing standards and DFGs 
will be used now and on an ongoing basis as a 
mechanism to monitor and report on the staffing 
establishment of the enforcement of housing 
standards and DFGs. Internal arrangements ie 
1:1 meetings, Housing Standards Team 
meetings will be used to  monitor and review 
staffing establishment of enforcement of housing 
standards and DFGs.

b) A record of actions from regular meetings ie 
1:1s with staff will be documented.

Update 23/08/16: Implemented during March 
2016

P
age 120



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

43 Recommendation 8:
a) Management should ensure 
that a timescale is set for the review 
and update of the procurement and 
tendering arrangements to select and 
award work consistently on a 
competitive basis and to support value 
for money. All checks performed 
should be formally documented and 
decision making clearly defined and 
transparent. 

b) Management should ensure 
that a timescale is set for the review 
and update of the list of contractors to 
procure and tender for DFGs work 
and to introduce a formal system for 
accrediting contractors to undertake 
DFGs work.
High Priority

Housing Strategy & 
Delivery Manager

Mar 2017 a) and b) The DFG procurement and tendering
arrangements, including awarding contracts and 
accrediting contractors, are included in the 
Corporate Procurement Strategy that has been 
approved by Cabinet. These arrangements and 
a list of approved contractors will be undertaken 
by the end of this financial year.

Update 23/08/16: Progress is on track.

P
age 121



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

44 Recommendation 9:
a) Management should ensure 
that a timescale is set for deciding the 
stage of the project when a site view 
inspection visit to assess and evaluate 
the contractors’ work progress and 
who will perform these visits prior to 
approving payment requests.  

b) Management should ensure 
that a timescale is set for the review of 
management information to use in 
monitoring the variances in 
contractors’ types of works and pricing 
to assist in decision making and 
support value for money.
Medium Priority

Housing Strategy & 
Delivery Manager

Jan 2017 a)  and b) A small working group led by the 
Housing Strategy & Delivery Manager will be 
established to review the DFG policy and 
procedures. The revised procedures will reflect 
the stage of the project when a site inspection 
visit will take place and the information to be 
used to monitor variances in contractors’ types 
of work and pricing.

Update 23/08/16: Progress is on track.

45 Recommendation 10:
Training should be provided to all staff 
involved in the DFG procurement 
arrangement on their responsibilities 
for declaring relevant business 
interests which may lead to conflict of 
interests and to make contractors 
aware of the need to share any 
potential conflicts of interests.
Medium Priority

Housing Strategy & 
Delivery Manager

Aug 2016

Amend to 
Sept 2016

September 
2016

We will ask the procurement manager to give a 
presentation to the Housing Standards Team on 
their responsibilities and the contractors’ 
responsibilities for declaring conflicts of interest.

Update 23/08/16: In progress and predicted 
complete by the end of September. 

Update 17/11/16: complete

P
age 122



APPENDIX 1
INTERNAL AUDIT 

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 

Recommendations Responsible officer Deadline Date 
Completed

Progress Comment

46 Recommendation 11:
Management should ensure a 
timetable is set for comparing the 
staffing arrangements for the 
enforcement of housing standards 
and DFGs with other local authorities 
to assist in improving existing 
arrangements and identify new 
opportunities to deliver value for 
money.
Advisory

Housing Strategy & 
Delivery Manager/
Policy and 
Performance Manager

Jly 2016

Amend to Oct 
2016

The Housing Strategy & Delivery Manager has 
obtained a list of local authorities nationwide and 
within Cumbria to review and identify new 
opportunities to improve the staffing 
establishment of housing standards. This work 
has been completed.

In addition the Corporate Policy and 
Performance Manager will work alongside the 
Housing Strategy & Delivery Manager to review 
and establish housing standards benchmarking 
information to assist with identifying new 
opportunities for improvements.

Update 23/08/16: Initial Benchmarking 
information and analysis provided comparing SL 
Housing Strategy and delivery services with 
CIPFA benchmark family or comparators. Data 
provided includes cost per head, performance 
measures and scorecard data. Partially 
complete and predicted complete by the end of 
October

P
age 123



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 124



Audit Committee 

Progress and Update Report for 

South Lakeland District Council

Year-ending 31 March 2017

1 December 2016

Jackie Bellard
Engagement Lead
T 0161 234 6394
E jackie.bellard@uk.gt.com

Neil Krajewski
Engagement Manager
T 0161 234 6371 
E neil.p.krajewski@uk.gt.com

Maeve Morgan
In-Charge Auditor
T 0161 953 6446
E maeve.t.morgan@uk.gt.com

P
age 125

Item
 N

o.10



Audit Committee progress report and emerging issues  and developments – South Lakeland District Council 

2© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

The contents of  this report relate only to the matters which have come to our 

attention, which we believe need to be reported to you as part of  our audit 

process. It is not a comprehensive record of  all the relevant matters, which may 

be subject to change, and in particular we cannot be held responsible to you for 

reporting all of  the risks which may affect your business or any weaknesses in 

your internal controls. This report has been prepared solely for your benefit and 

should not be quoted in whole or in part without our prior written consent. We 

do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party 

acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of  the content of  this report, as 

this report was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose.

P
age 126



Audit Committee progress report and emerging issues  and developments – South Lakeland District Council 

3© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

Contents

Contents Page

Introduction 4

Progress at  11 November 2016 5

Emerging issues and developments: 

National Sector Issues

Grant Thornton Technical Update

Grant Thornton Publications and Events

7

10

13

P
age 127



Audit Committee progress report and emerging issues  and developments – South Lakeland District Council 

4© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

Introduction

Members of the Audit Committee can find further useful material on our website 

www.grant-thornton.co.uk, where we have a section dedicated to our work in the public 

sector. Here you can download copies of our publications including:

• Your Generation: Making decentralised energy happen 

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/making-decentralised-energy-happen/

• Culture of Place: A copy of the report and a collection of short videos can be found 

on our website at: http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/culture-of-place/

Members and officers may also be interested in out recent webinars:

Alternative delivery models: Interview with Helen Randall of Trowers and Hamlins, 

discussing LATCs and JVs in local government. 

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/qa-on-local-authority-alternative-
delivery-models/

Cyber security in the public sector: Our short video outlines questions for public 
sector organisations to ask in defending against cyber crime  
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/cyber-security-in-the-public-sector/

This paper provides the Audit Committee with a report 

on progress in delivering our responsibilities as your 

external auditors. 

Neil Krajewski 
Engagement Manager
T 0161 234 6371

M 07880 282 364

E neil.p.krajewski@uk.gt.com

Jackie Bellard

Engagement Lead
T 0161 234 6394 

M 07880 456 195

E jackie.bellard@uk.gt.com

P
age 128



Audit Committee progress report and emerging issues  and developments – South Lakeland District Council 

5© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

Progress at 11 November  2016

Work Undertaken 

Expected Date of

Completion Comments

Fee Letter 
We issued the 'Planned fee letter for 2016/17 in April 2016. April 2016 We issued our fee letter earlier this year.

Accounts Audit Plan
We are required to issue a detailed accounts audit plan to the 
Council setting out our proposed approach in order to give an 
opinion on the Council's 2016-17 financial statements.

We also inform you of any subsequent changes to our audit 
approach.

April 2017 We will present our Audit Plan for 2016/17 to the  Audit Committee at its meeting in April 
2017.

Interim accounts audit 
Our interim fieldwork visit includes:
• updating our review of the Council's control environment
• updating our understanding of financial systems
• review of Internal Audit reports on core financial systems
• early work on emerging accounting issues
• early substantive testing

March 2017
We plan to undertake our interim work in March 2017. Any significant matters arising 
from that work will be presented as part of Audit Plan in April 2017. 

Certification Audit
• We are required to certify the Council's Housing and 

Council Tax Benefit claim

30 November 2016 Council officers submitted the unaudited 2015/16 claim to the Department of Work and 
Pensions in advance of the published deadline of 30 April 2016. The deadline for 
completing our certification work is 30 November 2016. Our work on the claim is nearing 
completion at the time of drafting this report and we will provide a verbal update at the 
meeting. 

Progress against plan
On track

Opinion and VfM conclusion

Plan to give opinion before 31 July 2017 
(statutory deadline is 30 September 2017)

Outputs delivered

Fee letter, Progress Reports, delivered 
to plan

P
age 129



Audit Committee progress report and emerging issues  and developments – South Lakeland District Council 

6© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

Progress at 11 November 2016

2016/17 work

Expected Date of  

Completion Comments

Final accounts audit
Including:
• Audit of the 2016-17 financial statements
• proposed opinion on the Council's accounts

Planned for June  - July 
2017

We have been discussing the timetable for undertaking our final accounts fieldwork with 
management. Subject to management being able to provide the draft accounts by 31 May 
2017, we anticipate commencing our fieldwork in June so that we can report our findings to 
the Audit Committee in July 2017.

Value for Money (VfM) conclusion
The scope of our work has changed and is set out in the final 
guidance issued by the National Audit Office in November 
2015. The Code requires auditors to satisfy themselves that; 
"the Council has made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources".
The guidance confirmed the overall criterion as; "in all 
significant respects, the audited body had proper arrangements 
to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed 
resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for 
taxpayers and local people".
The three sub criteria for assessment to be able to give a 
conclusion overall are:
• Informed decision making
• Sustainable resource deployment
• Working with partners and other third parties

February – July 2017 We plan to commence our value for money risk assessment in early 2017. We will report 
any significant risks identified as part of our Audit Plan in April 2017. 

P
age 130



National Sector 
IssuesP

age 131



Audit Committee progress report and emerging issues  and developments – South Lakeland District Council 

8© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

Financial sustainability of  local 
authorities: capital expenditure and resourcing

According to the NAO, Local 

authorities in England have 

maintained their overall capital 

spending levels but face pressure to 

meet debt servicing costs and to 

maintain investment levels in their 

existing asset bases.

Since 2010-11, local authorities have faced less pressure on 

their resources to support capital expenditure as compared 

to revenue. Although local authorities’ revenue spending 

power fell by over 25 per cent  in real terms from 2010-11 

to 2015-16, the NAO estimates that capital grants to 

authorities marginally increased from 2010-11 to 2014-15, 

(excluding education).

Capital spending by authorities increased by more than 

five per cent in real terms overall between 2010-11 and 

2014-15, but this is uneven across local authorities and 

service areas. Almost half of authorities reduced their 

capital spending. Most service areas saw an increase in 

capital spend with the exception of culture and leisure: 

capital spending fell by 22 per cent overall in this area.

The NAO's report, published on 15 June, found that 

authorities face a growing challenge to continue long-

term investment in their existing assets. Total spending 

has remained stable, but increasingly capital activities are 

focused on ‘invest to save’ and growth schemes that 

cover their costs or have potential to deliver a revenue 

return. Many areas of authorities’ asset management 

programmes do not meet these criteria and are now seen 

as a lower priority.

The report also notes that local authorities’ debt servicing 

costs have grown as a proportion of revenue spending as 

revenue resources have fallen. A quarter of single-tier and 

county councils now spend the equivalent of 10 per cent 

or more of their revenue expenditure on debt servicing, 

with metropolitan district councils being particularly 

exposed.

According to the NAO, DCLG has rightly focused on 

revenue issues in the 2015 Spending Review but in future 

reviews will need to focus more on capital. The 

Department is confident from its engagement with 

authorities that revenue pressures are their main concern, 

however the NAO’s analysis demonstrates that capital 

costs exert significant and growing pressure on revenue 

resources. 

National Audit Office

The full report is available at:

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/fina
ncial-sustainability-of-local-
authorities-capital-expenditure-
and-resourcing/

P
age 132



Audit Committee progress report and emerging issues  and developments – South Lakeland District Council 

9© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

The changing face of  Corporate 
Reporting 

We have established a global network 

of  public sector auditors and advisors 

to share good practice and to provide 

informed solutions to the corporate 

reporting challenges our clients face. 

We were fortunate to have the CEO of the IIRC speak at 

our most recent meeting. Integrated Reporting, <IR>, is a 

new approach to corporate reporting and it is building a 

world-wide following in both the public and private 

sectors. 

In the commercial sector, <IR> has led to improvements 

in business decision making, the understanding of risks 

and opportunities as well as better collaborative thinking 

by boards about goals and targets.

<IR> is based on integrated thinking that results in a 

report by an organisation about sustainable value creation. 

It requires a more cohesive and efficient approach to 

organisational reporting that draws on different reporting 

strands and communicates the full range of factors that 

materially affect the ability of an organisation to create 

value over time.

By moving the focus away from only short-term, 

backward looking, financial reporting, <IR> encourages 

organisations to report on a broader range of measures 

that link their strategic objectives to their performance. 

The result is an overview of an organisation's activities 

and performance in a much wider, more holistic, context.

• <IR> encourages organisations to consider whether 

there are any gaps in the information that is currently 

available to them, so that integrated thinking becomes 

embedded in mainstream practice.

• <IR> is underpinned by the International <IR> 

Framework published in December 2013. It is 

principles- based, allowing organisations to innovate 

and develop their reporting in the context of their 

own regulatory framework, strategy, key drivers, goals 

and objectives.

• <IR> is consistent with the Strategic Reports 

required from UK companies, the Performance 

Reports that government departments, agencies and 

NHS bodies produce and the developing Narrative 

Reporting in local government.

The IIRC has established a Public Sector Pioneer 

Network to consider why and how the public sector can 

adopt <IR>, with the end goal of improving 

transparency and building trust. There is already a core of 

UK organisations within this such as the World Bank 

Group, UNDP, the City of London Corporation, the 

Wales Audit Office and UK government departments.

<Integrated Reporting>

Further information is available 
on the IIRC's website

P
age 133



Grant Thornton 
Technical updateP

age 134



Audit Committee progress report and emerging issues  and developments – South Lakeland District Council 

11© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

Accounting and audit issues

Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in t he United Kingdom 2016/17
CIPFA/LASAAC has issued the Local Authority Accounting Code for 2016/17. The main changes to the Code include:
• the new measurement requirements at depreciated replacement cost for the Highways Network Asset (HNA) and
• the requirement for local authorities to report in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on the same basis as they 

are organised and report in the year (ie. no longer following SERCOP). This is accompanied by the introduction of a new Expenditure 
and Funding Analysis which provides a reconciliation between the way local authorities budget and report during the year and the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

In respect of HNA, the Accounting Code requires local authorities to comply with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Transport Infrastructure 
Assets issued in 2013. The Transport Infrastructure Code is currently being revised and will be reissued as the Highways Network Asset 
Code (HNA Code) over the summer of 2016. Whilst no major changes are expected to the basis of the accounting set out in the previous 
Code of Practice on Transport Infrastructure Assets, the detailed accounting requirements will not be finalised until the updated HNA 
Code is formally issued. As discussed with management, we understand that th e Authority does not have a Highways Network 
Asset.

The key challenge for local authorities is around the accuracy and completeness of supporting records for HNA inventory and condition at 
1 April 2016 and effective arrangements for recording expenditure and other movements on HNA from that date.

Challenge questions:
• Is your Finance team aware of the changes to the 2016/17 Code and have they assessed the potential impact?

P
age 135



Audit Committee progress report and emerging issues  and developments – South Lakeland District Council 

12© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

Accounting and audit issues

Flexible use of capital receipts

DCLG has issued a Direction and Statutory Guidance on the flexible use of capital receipts to fund the revenue costs of reform projects. 
The direction applies from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2019. 

The Direction sets out that expenditure which 'is incurred by the Authorities that is designed to generate ongoing revenue savings in the 
delivery of public services and/or transform service delivery to reduce costs and/or transform service delivery in a way that reduces costs 
or demand for services in future years for any of the public sector delivery partners' can be treated as capital expenditure.

Capital receipts can only be used from the disposals received in the years in which the flexibility is offered rather than those received in 
previous years. 

Authorities must have regard to the Statutory Guidance when applying the Direction.

Challenge questions:
• Is your Assistant Director (Resources) aware of this new direction?

P
age 136



Grant Thornton 
Publications and 
events

P
age 137



Audit Committee progress report and emerging issues  and developments – South Lakeland District Council 

14© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

Culture of  Place

Our towns, counties and cities have 

distinct and varied cultures

Our towns, counties and cities have their own 
compelling and richly varied cultures. There are shared 
and sometimes contested values, local traditions, 
behaviours and drivers for change. Culture evokes 
memory and identity. It affects how we feel about 
where we live and work and what's possible. It can be 
a set of stories describing how we do things around 
here, bringing out the best in us – like our history and 
heritage – but also preventing us from moving 
forward.

With local authorities increasingly adopting a place-
shaping role we’re exploring how culture impacts on 
the sector’s ability to facilitate and support a vibrant 
economy.

We have hosted two round tables with local authority 
CEOs, leaders and others, to consider how local 
authority leadership needs to change if it is to take 
local culture into account.

From conversations with local authority CEOs, 
leaders and others, we have collated a selection of 
stories that invite us all to think about how the sector 
can disrupt fixed thinking, open up cultures and 
energise our places. They go beyond what’s 
immediately obvious, voice what is sometimes unsaid 
and work with the strengths of their place.

Grant Thornton reports

Challenge question: 

Is the Council familiar with 
this publication?

Although the term culture of place is heavily 
subjective our initial conversations suggest there are 
some common themes occurring.
• The place leader is the story teller – leaders need 
to be more deliberate in their storytelling, 
helping communities make sense of a complex 
world, the past, present ad possible futures

• Being clear about what they want to see – there 
is a strong need to create an environment that 
gives people permission to care, to be 
innovative, to take action themselves, to adapt 
and experiment

• Socio-economic situations often drive the 
culture – the uniqueness of socio-economic 
factors leads to a recognition that one place will 
never be like another – and, in fact, should not 
aspire to be so - instead tailoring their approach 
to the areas specific strengths.

• It's all about context – areas within Britain can 
be local, national and international all at the 
same time, learning to live with, and get the best 
advantage from, what's on our doorstep is key.

A copy of the report and a collection of short videos 

can be found on our website at:

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/culture

-of-place/

P
age 138



Audit Committee progress report and emerging issues  and developments – South Lakeland District Council 

15© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

Advancing closure: 
the benefits to local authorities

With new regulation bringing forward 

the required publishing date for 

accounts local authorities must 

consider the areas needed to 

accelerate financial reporting.

In February 2015, regulations were laid before parliament 

confirming proposals to bring forward the date by which 

local authority accounts must be published in England. 

From 2017-18, authorities will need to publish their 

audited financial statements by 31 July, with Wales 

seeking to follow a similar approach over the next few 

years.

Many local government bodies are already experiencing 

the benefits of advancing their financial reporting 

processes and preparing their accounts early, including:

• raising the profile of the finance function within the 

organisation and transforming its role from a back 

office function to a key enabler of change and 

improvement across the organisation;

• high quality financial statements as a result of 

improved quality assurance arrangements;

• greater certainty over  in-year monitoring 

arrangements and financial outturn position for the 

year, supporting members to make more informed 

financial decisions for the future;

• improved financial controls and accounting systems, 

resulting from more efficient and refined financial 

processes; and

• allowing finance officers more time to focus on forward 

looking medium term financial planning and 

transformational projects, to address future financial 

challenges.

While there is no standard set of actions to achieve faster close 

there are a number of consistent key factors across the 

organisations successfully delivering accelerated closedown of 

their accounts, which our report explores in further detail, 

including:

• enabling sustainable change requires committed leadership 

underpinned by a culture for success

• efficient and effective systems and processes are essential

• auditors and other external parties need to be on board and 

kept informed throughout

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en
/insights/advancing-closure-the-
benefits-to-local-authorities/

P
age 139



Audit Committee progress report and emerging issues  and developments – South Lakeland District Council 

16© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

Website Relaunch

We have recently launched our new-look website.  

Our new homepage has been optimised for 

viewing across mobile devices, reflecting the 

increasing trend for how people choose to access 

information online. We wanted to make it easier 

to learn about us and the services we offer.

You can access the page using the link below –
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/industries/public-

sector/

P
age 140



GRT102468

P
age 141



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 142



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  South Lakeland District Council |  October 2016

The Annual Audit Letter

for South Lakeland District Council

Year ended 31 March 2016

October 2016

Jackie Bellard
Engagement Lead
T 0161 234 6394
E jackie.bellard@uk.gt.com

Neil Krajewski
Engagement Manager
T 0161 234 6371 
E neil.p.krajewski@uk.gt.com

Maeve Morgan
In-Charge Auditor
T 0161 953 6446
E maeve.t.morgan@uk.gt.com

P
age 143

Item
 N

o.11



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  South Lakeland District Council |  October 2016
2

Contents

Section Page

1. Executive summary 3

2. Audit of the accounts 4

3. Value for Money conclusion 8

4. Working with the Council 9

Appendices

A Reports issued and fees 10P
age 144



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  South Lakeland District Council |  October 2016
3

Executive summary

Purpose of this letter

Our Annual Audit Letter (Letter) summarises the key findings arising from the 

work that we have carried out at South Lakeland District Council (the Council) for 

the year ended 31 March 2016.

This Letter is intended to provide a commentary on the results of our work to the 

Council and its external stakeholders, and to highlight issues that we wish to draw 

to the attention of the public.  In preparing this letter, we have followed the 

National Audit Office (NAO)'s Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and Auditor 

Guidance Note (AGN) 07 – 'Auditor Reporting'.

We reported the detailed findings from our audit work to the Council’s Audit 

Committee as those charged with governance in our Audit Findings Report on 21 

September 2016.

Our responsibilities

We have carried out our audit in accordance with the NAO's Code of Audit 

Practice, which reflects the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability 

Act 2014 (the Act). Our key responsibilities are to:

• give an opinion on the Council’s financial statements (section two); and

• assess the Council’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources (the value for money conclusion) (section 

three).

In our audit of the Council’s financial statements, we comply with International 

Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (ISAs) and other guidance issued by the 

NAO.

Our work

Financial statements opinion

We gave an unqualified opinion on the Council’s financial statements on 22 

September 2016. No material amendments to the financial statements were 

required as a result of our audit.

Value for money conclusion

We were satisfied that the Council put in place proper arrangements to ensure 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources during the year ended 

31 March 2016. We reflected this in our audit opinion on 22 September 2016.

We would like to record our appreciation for the assistance and co-operation

provided to us during our audit by the Council's staff.

Certification of grants

We also carry out work to certify the Council's Housing Benefit subsidy claim on 

behalf of the Department for Work and Pensions. Our work on this claim is not 

yet complete and will be finalised by 30 November 2016. We will report the results 

of this work to the Audit Committee in our Annual Certification Letter.

Grant Thornton UK LLP

October 2016

P
age 145



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  South Lakeland District Council |  October 2016
4

Audit of  the accounts

Our audit approach

Materiality

In our audit of the Council’s accounts, we use the concept of materiality to 

determine the nature, timing and extent of our work, and in evaluating the results 

of our work. We define materiality as the size of the misstatement in the financial 

statements that would lead a reasonably knowledgeable person to change or 

influence their economic decisions. 

We determined materiality for our audit of the Council’s accounts to be £904,060, 

which is 2% of the Council's gross revenue expenditure. We used this benchmark, 

as in our view, users of the Council's accounts are most interested in how it has 

spent the income it has raised from taxation and grants during the year. 

We also set a lower level of specific materiality for certain areas such as cash, 

senior officer remuneration and related-party transaction disclosures.

We set a lower threshold of £45,203, above which we reported errors to the Audit 

Committee in our Audit Findings Report.

The scope of our audit

Our audit involves obtaining enough evidence about the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial statements to give reasonable assurance that they are 

free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 

This includes assessing whether: 

• the Council’s accounting policies are appropriate, have been consistently 

applied and adequately disclosed; 

• significant accounting estimates made by management are reasonable; and

• the overall presentation of the financial statements gives a true and fair view.

We also read the narrative report and annual governance statement to check 

they are consistent with our understanding of the Council and with the accounts 

on which we give our opinion.

We carry out our audit in line with ISAs (UK and Ireland) and the NAO Code 

of Audit Practice. We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Our audit approach was based on a thorough understanding of the Council's 

business and is risk-based. 

We identified key risks and set out overleaf the work we performed in response 

to these risks and the results of this work.

P
age 146



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  South Lakeland District Council |  October 2016
5

Audit of  the accounts

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk

Valuation of property plant and equipment
The Council revalues its assets on a rolling basis over a five-
year period. The Code requires that the Council ensures that  
the carrying value at the balance sheet date is not materially 
different from current value. This represents a significant 
estimate by management in the financial statements.

� Reviewed management's processes and assumptions for the calculation of the estimate.

� Reviewed the competence, expertise and objectivity of any management experts used.

� Reviewed the instructions issued to valuation experts and the scope of their work.

� Tested the revaluations made during the year to ensure they are input correctly into the Council's asset 
register.

� Discussed with the valuer the basis on which the valuation is carried out and challenged the key 
assumptions.

� Reviewed and challenged the information used by the valuer to ensure it is robust and consistent with our 
understanding.

� Evaluated the assumptions made by management for those assets not revalued during the year and how 
management has satisfied themselves that the carrying value of these assets is not materially different to 
current value.

We did not identify any issues to report.

Valuation of pension fund net liability

The Council's pension fund asset and liability, as reflected in its 
balance sheet, represents a significant estimate in the accounts.

The value of the pension fund net liability is estimated by 
specialist actuaries.

� Reviewed the management processes to ensure the data supplied to the Cumbria Pension Fund is accurate 
and complete. 

� Liaised with the auditor of the Cumbria Pension Fund to understand the controls in place to ensure the data 
supplied to the actuary is accurate and complete.

� Compared the estimates used by the actuary to produce the valuation with actuals available to the Council 
and the Pension fund after the year-end.

� Undertook procedures to understand and assess the assumptions and techniques used by the actuary to 
estimate the value of the pension fund liability.  

� We reviewed the consistency of the pension fund asset and liability and disclosures in notes to the financial 
statements with the actuarial report from your actuary.

We did not identify any issues to report.

These are the risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work. 

P
age 147



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  South Lakeland District Council |  October 2016
6

Audit of  the accounts

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk

Accounting for the impact of flooding 

The recent floods impacted on the Council's financial 
statements, particularly the Collection Fund and the valuation of 
Property, Plant and Equipment. We concluded that as the 
associated transactions were outside the normal course of 
business and the amounts concerned were material to the 
Council, this met the definition of a significant risk.

• We met with officers and reviewed relevant documentation to obtain an overview of the impact of the floods.

• We discussed with officers the different flood relief schemes which the Council established in conjunction with 
Cumbria County Council and central government.

• We agreed the applicable accounting treatment for the flood relief funds established. In particular, we agreed 
whether the Council was acting as principal or agent with regard to those schemes where the funding to make 
payments to businesses or local residents was provided by central government. Transactions where the 
Council is acting as an agent are not recognised in the Authority's comprehensive income and expenditure 
account, in accordance with relevant accounting standards.

• We considered the controls management established to ensure that the impact of the floods was 
appropriately reflected in the Council's accounts.

• We reviewed the claim submitted to the Department for Communities and Local Government in respect of the 
Bellwin Scheme. This scheme reimburses the Council for some of the costs incurred in relation to flooding 
events. We obtained sufficient assurance that the income due to the Council had been recognised in the 
2015-16 statements on an appropriate basis.

• We examined the entries in the Collection Fund in respect of discounts awarded to Council Tax payers and 
Business Rate payers in respect of the schemes established to assist those affected by floods. We obtained 
sufficient assurance that the Council had adhered to guidance issued by DCLG and we were able to trace the 
discounts awarded to relevant supporting evidence. 

• We confirmed the programme of valuations included appropriate coverage of Council assets affected by 
flooding.  

We agreed that, in the interests of transparency, agency transactions relating to flood relief grants should be 
disclosed in the accounts. Additional disclosures have been added to Note 12.

P
age 148



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  South Lakeland District Council |  October 2016
7

Audit of  the accounts

Audit opinion

We gave an unqualified opinion on the Council's accounts on  22 September 2016, 

in advance of the 30 September 2016 national deadline.

The Council made the accounts available for audit in line with the agreed 

timetable, and provided a good set of working papers to support them. The 

finance team responded promptly and efficiently to our queries during the course 

of the audit.

Issues arising from the audit of the accounts

We reported the key issues from our audit of the accounts of the Council to the 

Council's Audit Committee on 21 September 2016. 

In addition to the key audit risks reported above, we identified four adjustments 

during our audit. Management agreed to process the required adjustments to the 

disclosure notes in the accounts. 

Annual Governance Statement and Narrative Report

We were also required to review the Council's Annual Governance Statement 

and Narrative Report. Both documents were consistent with the supporting 

evidence provided by the Council and with our knowledge of the Council. 

CIPFA introduced a requirement for local government bodies to produce a 

narrative report this year. This report replaces the explanatory foreword and the 

intention is that the narrative report provides a broader, strategically-focussed 

commentary on the Council's financial position and its financial and non-

financial performance than was the case previously. Management included the 

majority of the content recommended by CIPFA in its narrative report but have 

agreed to consider incorporating more information about the Council's 

organisational structure, its forward plans, particularly with regard to the capital 

programme and the borrowing facilities available to the Council.  

Other statutory duties 

We also have additional powers and duties under the Act, including powers to 

issue a public interest report, make written recommendations, apply to the 

Court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary to law, and to give 

electors the opportunity to raise questions about the Council's accounts and to 

raise objections received in relation to the accounts. We are pleased to confirm 

that we did not have cause to exercise these powers this year. 

P
age 149



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  South Lakeland District Council |  October 2016
8

Value for Money conclusion

Background

We carried out our review in accordance with the NAO Code of Audit Practice 

(the Code), following the guidance issued by the NAO in November 2015 which 

specified the criterion for auditors to evaluate:

In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions and deploys resources 

to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. 

Key findings

Our first step in carrying out our work was to perform a risk assessment and 

identify the key risks where we concentrated our work. Our risk assessment did 

not identify any significant risks pertaining to the Council's arrangements to secure 

value for money. We revisited this assessment before providing our audit opinion 

and were satisfied that it remained appropriate.

Our Audit Findings report agreed with the Council in September 2016 summarised 

the key matters considered when finalising our risk assessment. 

Overall VfM conclusion

We are satisfied that in all significant respects the Council put in place proper 

arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 

resources for the year ending 31 March 2016.

P
age 150



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  South Lakeland District Council |  October 2016
9

Working with the Council

Our work with you in 2015/16

We are really pleased to have worked with you over the past year. We have 

established a positive and constructive relationship. Together we have 

delivered some great outcomes. 

An efficient audit – we completed our audit fieldwork by the end of 

August and provided our audit opinion on 22 September. This was 

consistent with the timetable we agreed with you. Our audit team are 

knowledgeable and experienced in your financial accounts and systems. 

Our relationship with your team provides you with a financial statements 

audit that continues to finish ahead of schedule releasing your finance 

team for other important work. 

Improved financial processes – during the year we reviewed your financial 

systems and processes including employee remuneration, non-pay 

expenditure and property plant and equipment. 

Understanding your operational health – through the value for money 

conclusion we provided you with assurance on your operational 

effectiveness and we discussed and considered the developments most 

likely to impact on the Council's financial health going forward. 

Sharing our insight – we provided regular audit committee updates covering 

best practice. Areas we covered included the following reports produced by 

the firm:

• Innovation in Public Financial Management, 

• Knowing the Ropes – our audit committee effectiveness review;

• Making Devolution Work; and

• Reforging Local Government. 

We have also shared with you our insights on advanced closure of local 

authority accounts, in our publication "Transforming the financial reporting 

of local authority accounts" and will continue to provide you with our 

insights as you bring forward the production of your year-end accounts.

Looking Ahead to 2016/17

We will continue to work with you and support you over the next financial 

year as you work toward bringing forward your audit timetable so that the 

audit can be concluded by 31 July 2017.

Locally our focus will be on:

• An efficient audit – our commitment to delivering an efficient audit will 

include sharing of best practice to help officers to streamline the 

preparation of working papers prepared to support the audit team; and

• Understanding your operational health – we will focus our value for 

money conclusion work on the developments within the Council and the 

sector as a whole most likely to impact on the Council's medium-term 

financial and operational health.  

P
age 151



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  South Lakeland District Council |  October 2016
10

Appendix A: Reports issued and fees

Fees

Planned
£

Actual fees 
£

2014/15 fees 
£

Statutory audit of Council 55,851 55,851 79,364

Grant certification (Housing Benefit 
Subsidy)

5,082 TBC 10,060

Total fees (excluding VAT) 60,933 TBC 89,424

We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit and certification of grant claims. No other non-audit services were provided. 

Reports issued

Report Date issued

Audit Plan 5 April 2016

Audit Findings Report 7 September 2016

Annual Audit Letter 27 October 2016

The 2015/16 fee reduced compared to the prior year as a result of a reduction in 

the scale fee announced by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA). This 

followed a national procurement exercise and the reduction was applied across 

the sector. Additionally, the scale fee for the Council was reduced by £3,672 in 

January 2016 from that originally proposed by PSAA to reflect the fact that the 

Council no longer produces Group Accounts and has transferred its local 

authority housing stock. The reduction in fee was reflected in the Audit Plan 

issued in April 2016. 

Our certification work on the Council's claim for housing benefit subsidy is 

ongoing. We will confirm the final fee in respect of this work after the certified 

claim has been submitted to the Department for Work and Pensions. 

P
age 152



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  South Lakeland District Council |  October 2016

P
age 153



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 154



1 
 

South Lakeland District Council 

Audit Committee 

1 December 2016 

APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS 

 

PORTFOLIO: not applicable 

REPORT FROM: Shelagh McGregor – Assistant Director (Resources) 
and Chief Finance Officer 

REPORT AUTHOR: Helen Smith – Financial Services Manager 

WARDS: Corporate issue 

KEY DECISION: not applicable 

 

1.0 EXPECTED OUTCOME 

1.1 This report considers the invitation to join a national procurement exercise to 
select and appoint External Auditors following the closure of the Audit 
Commission and the end of the transitional arrangements at the conclusion of 
the 2017/18 audits.  The Council will need to consider the options available to 
ensure new arrangements in time to make a first appointment by 31 
December 2017. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 It is recommended that Audit Committee:- 

(1) recommend that Council on 15 December 2016 opt-in to the 
Sector Led Body approach for the appointment of External 
Auditors. 

3.0 BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS 

3.1 The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 brought to a close the Audit 
Commission and established transitional arrangements for the appointment of 
external auditors and the setting of audit fees for all local government and 
NHS bodies in England. On 5 October 2015 the Secretary of State 
Communities and Local Government (CLG) determined that the transitional 
arrangements for local government bodies would be extended by one year to 
also include the audit of the accounts for 2017/18. 

3.2. The Council’s current external auditor is Grant Thornton, this appointment 
having been made under  a contract let by the Audit Commission. Following 
closure of the Audit Commission the contract is currently managed by Public 
Sector Audit Appointments Limited (PSAA), the transitional body set up by the 
LGA with delegated authority form the Secretary of State CLG. Over recent 
years the Council has benefited from reduction in fees in the order of 50% 

Page 155

Item No.12



2 
 

compared with historic levels. This has been the result of a combination of 
factors including new contracts negotiated nationally with the firms of 
accountants, savings from closure of the Audit Commission and changes in 
the volume of work following the Council’s housing transfer. The Council’s 
current external audit fees are £56,000 per annum.  

3.3. When the current transitional arrangements come to an end on 31 March 
2018 the Council will be able to move to local appointment of the external 
auditor. There are a number of routes by which this can be achieved, each 
with varying risks and opportunities. These were considered by Audit 
Committee on 21 April 2016 and it was approved that the Council indicate its 
interest in opting-in to the Sector Led Body approach for the appointment of 
External Auditors.  This is likely to deliver the best value for money and will 
also avoid the requirement to set up an auditor panel made up wholly, or with 
a majority, of independent members as defined by the Act. (Independent 
members for this purpose are independent appointees, this excludes current 
and former elected members (or officers) and their close families and friends.)  

3.4 The Cumbria Chief Finance Officers considered these options at their meeting 
of 11 March 2016 and supported the sector led body. 

3.5 PSAA, the body set up by the LGA, has now been specified by the Secretary 
of State as the sector led body who will appoint external auditors for opted-in 
authorities for the five financial years from 1 April 2018, unless the Secretary 
of State chooses to terminate this role.  PSAA have sent a formal invitation for 
the Council to opt-in to the new arrangements.  This invitation is attached at 
Appendix 1.  

3.6 The decision to opt-in must be taken in accordance with the Local Audit 
(Appointing Person) Regulations 2015 which require Council rather than Audit 
Committee to make the decision.  It is intended that a report is taken to 
Council on 15 December 2016 to request approval of the decision to opt-in.  

6.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

6.1 Alternative options were detailed in the report to Audit Committee on 21 April 
2016.  If the sector led body route is not approved then the Council will need 
to either make a stand-alone appointment or set up a Joint Auditor Panel 
under joint local procurement arrangements.  Both these options would 
require the recruitment and servicing of an Auditor Panel.  The Council have 
until December 2017 to make an appointment. In practical terms this means 
one of the options outlined in this report will need to be in place by spring 
2017 in order that the contract negotiation process can be carried out during 
2017. 

7.0 LINKS TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES 

7.1 Being efficient and transparent in our dealings with the public. 

8.0 IMPLICATIONS 

8.1 Financial and Resources 

8.1.1 Current external fees levels are likely to increase when the current contracts 
end in 2018.  

Page 156



3 
 

8.1.2 If the Council does not opt-in to the national exercise then the cost of 
establishing a local or joint Auditor Panel will need to be estimated and 
included in the Council’s budget for 2016/17 and 2017/18. This will include the 
cost of recruiting independent appointees (members), servicing the Panel, 
running a bidding and tender evaluation process, letting a contract and paying 
members fees and allowances.  

8.1.3 Opting-in to a national exercise provides maximum opportunity to limit the 
extent of any increases by entering in to a large scale collective procurement 
arrangement and would remove the costs of establishing an auditor panel. 

8.2 Human Resources 

8.2.1 There are no direct Human Resources implications of this report. 

8.3 Legal 

8.3.1 Section 7 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires a relevant 
authority to appoint a local auditor to audit its accounts for a financial year not 
later than 31 December in the preceding year. Section 8 governs the 
procedure for appointment including that the authority must consult and take 
account of the advice of its auditor panel on the selection and appointment of 
a local auditor. Section 8 provides that where a relevant authority is a local 
authority operating executive arrangements, the function of appointing a local 
auditor to audit its accounts is not the responsibility of an executive of the 
authority under those arrangements; 

8.3.2 Section 12 makes provision for the failure to appoint a local auditor: the 
authority must immediately inform the Secretary of State, who may direct the 
authority to appoint the auditor named in the direction or appoint a local 
auditor on behalf of the authority.  

8.3.3 Section 17 gives the Secretary of State the power to make regulations in 
relation to an ‘appointing person’ specified by the Secretary of State.  This 
power has been exercised in the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 
2015 (SI 192) and this gives the Secretary of State the ability to enable a 
Sector Led Body to become the appointing person. 

8.4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental   

Have you completed and Health, 
Social, Economic and Environmental 
Impact Assessment? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If yes, please confirm that it is 
attached to the report in the 
appendices. 

Yes ☐ No ☐ 

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons. 

The procurement of external auditors 
is a corporate governance issue and 
has no direct social, economic and 
environmental impacts.   

 

Page 157



4 
 

8.5 Equality and Diversity 

Have you completed an Equality 
Impact Analysis? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If yes, please confirm that it is 
attached to the report in the 
appendices. 

Yes ☐ No ☐ 

If you have not completed an 
Equality Impact Analysis, please 
explain your reasons. 

The procurement of external auditors 
is a corporate governance issue and 
has no direct equality and diversity 
impacts. 

8.6 Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

The Council has no 
external auditors 
appointed by December 
2017 

Failure to meet statutory 
requirement; loss of 
reputation; requirement 
by Secretary of State to 
appoint external 
auditors. 

There is no immediate 
risk to the Council, 
however, early 
consideration by the 
Council of its preferred 
approach will enable 
detailed planning to take 
place so as to achieve 
successful transition to 
the new arrangement in 
a timely and efficient 
manner. 
Opting-in will enable the 
LGA to invest in 
developing appropriate 
arrangements to support 
the Council. 
 

 

CONTACT OFFICERS 

Report Author – Helen Smith, Financial Services Officer, 01539 793147, 
h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk 

APPENDICES ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT  

Appendix No.  

1 Appointing an external auditor – Information on the national 
scheme (PSAA) 

Page 158



5 
 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE 

Name of Background 
document 

Where it is available  

Audit Committee Update on 
Arrangements for External 
Audit 21 April 2016 

http://tinyurl.com/jv6e3c6 

 

 

TRACKING INFORMATION 

Assistant 
Director 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Solicitor to the 
Council 

SMT Scrutiny 
Committee 

11/11/16 n/a 11/11/16 11/11/16 n/a 

Executive 
(Cabinet) 

Committee Council Section 151 
Officer 

Monitoring 
Officer 

n/a 1/12/16 n/a 11/11/16 11/11/16 

Human 
Resource 
Services 
Manager 

Leader 

 

Ward 
Councillor(s) 

 

  

n/a n/a n/a   

 

Page 159

http://tinyurl.com/jv6e3c6


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 160



Appointing an external auditor 

Information on the national scheme 

Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited (PSAA) 

We are a not-for-profit company established by the Local Government Association (LGA). We 
administer the current audit contracts, let by the Audit Commission before it closed.  

We have the support of the LGA, which has worked to secure the option for principal local 
government and police bodies to appoint auditors through a dedicated sector-led national 
procurement body. We have established an advisory panel, drawn from representative groups 
of local government and police bodies, to give access to your views on the design and operation 
of the scheme.  

The national scheme for appointing local auditors 

We have been specified by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government as 
the appointing person for principal local government bodies. This means that we will make 
auditor appointments to principal local government bodies that choose to opt into the national 
appointment arrangements we will operate for audits of the accounts from 2018/19. These 
arrangements are sometimes described as the ‘sector-led body’ option, and our thinking for this 
scheme was set out in a prospectus circulated to you in July. The prospectus is available on the 
appointing person page of our website. 

We will appoint an auditor for all opted-in authorities for each of the five financial years 
beginning from 1 April 2018, unless the Secretary of State chooses to terminate our role as the 
appointing person beforehand. He or she may only do so after first consulting opted-in 
authorities and the LGA. 

What the appointing person scheme will offer 

We are committed to making sure the national scheme will be an excellent option for auditor 
appointments for you.  

We intend to run the scheme in a way that will save time and resources for local government 
bodies. We think that a collective procurement, which we will carry out on behalf of all opted-in 
authorities, will enable us to secure the best prices, keeping the cost of audit as low as possible 
for the bodies who choose to opt in, without compromising on audit quality.  

Our current role means we have a unique experience and understanding of auditor procurement 
and the local public audit market. 

Using the scheme will avoid the need for you to: 

 establish an audit panel with independent members;

 manage your own auditor procurement and cover its costs;

 monitor the independence of your appointed auditor for the duration of the appointment;

 deal with the replacement of any auditor if required; and

 manage the contract with your auditor.

Our scheme will endeavour to appoint the same auditors to other opted-in bodies that are 
involved in formal collaboration or joint working initiatives, if you consider that a common auditor 
will enhance efficiency and value for money. 

Appendix 1

Page 161

http://www.psaa.co.uk/supporting-the-transition/appointing-person/


 
 

 

We will also try to be flexible about changing your auditor during the five-year appointing period 
if there is good reason, for example where new joint working arrangements are put in place. 

Securing a high level of acceptances to the opt-in invitation will provide the best opportunity for 
us to achieve the most competitive prices from audit firms. The LGA has previously sought 
expressions of interest in the appointing person arrangements, and received positive responses 
from over 270 relevant authorities. We ultimately hope to achieve participation from the vast 
majority of eligible authorities.  

High quality audits 

The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 provides that firms must be registered as local 
public auditors with one of the chartered accountancy institutes acting in the capacity of a 
Recognised Supervisory Body (RSB). The quality of registered firms’ work will be subject to 
scrutiny by both the RSB and the Financial Reporting Council (FRC), under arrangements set 
out in the Act. 

We will: 

 only contract with audit firms that have a proven track record in undertaking public audit 
work; 

 include obligations in relation to maintaining and continuously improving quality in our 
contract terms and in the quality criteria in our tender evaluation; 

 ensure that firms maintain the appropriate registration and will liaise closely with RSBs and 
the FRC to ensure that any quality concerns are detected at an early stage; and 

 take a close interest in your feedback and in the rigour and effectiveness of firms’ own 
quality assurance arrangements.  

We will also liaise with the National Audit Office to help ensure that guidance to auditors is 
updated as necessary.  

Procurement strategy 

In developing our procurement strategy for the contracts with audit firms, we will have input from 
the advisory panel we have established. The panel will assist PSAA in developing 
arrangements for the national scheme, provide feedback to us on proposals as they develop, 
and helping us maintain effective channels of communication. We think it is particularly 
important to understand your preferences and priorities, to ensure we develop a strategy that 
reflects your needs within the constraints set out in legislation and in professional requirements. 

In order to secure the best prices we are minded to let audit contracts: 

 for 5 years; 

 in 2 large contract areas nationally, with 3 or 4 contract lots per area, depending on the 
number of bodies that opt in; and 

 to a number of firms in each contract area to help us manage independence issues. 
 

The value of each contract will depend on the prices bid, with the firms offering the best value 
being awarded larger amounts of work. By having contracts with a number of firms, we will be 
able to manage issues of independence and avoid dominance of the market by one or two 
firms. Limiting the national volume of work available to any one firm will encourage competition 
and ensure the plurality of provision. 

Page 162



 
 

 

Auditor appointments and independence 

Auditors must be independent of the bodies they audit, to enable them to carry out their work 
with objectivity and credibility, and in a way that commands public confidence.  

We plan to take great care to ensure that every auditor appointment passes this test. We will 
also monitor significant proposals for auditors to carry out consultancy or other non-audit work, 
to protect the independence of auditor appointments. 

We will consult you on the appointment of your auditor, most likely from September 2017. To 
make the most effective allocation of appointments, it will help us to know about: 

 any potential constraints on the appointment of your auditor because of a lack of 
independence, for example as a result of consultancy work awarded to a particular firm; 

 any joint working or collaboration arrangements that you think should influence the 
appointment; and 

 other local factors you think are relevant to making the appointment. 

We will ask you for this information after you have opted in. 

Auditor appointments for the audit of the accounts of the 2018/19 financial year must be made 
by 31 December 2017. 

Fee scales 

We will ensure that fee levels are carefully managed by securing competitive prices from firms 
and by minimising our own costs. Any surplus funds will be returned to scheme members under 
our articles of association and our memorandum of understanding with the Department for 
Communities and Local Government and the LGA.  

Our costs for setting up and managing the scheme will need to be covered by audit fees. We 
expect our annual operating costs will be lower than our current costs because we expect to 
employ a smaller team to manage the scheme. We are intending to fund an element of the 
costs of establishing the scheme, including the costs of procuring audit contracts, from local 
government’s share of our current deferred income. We think this is appropriate because the 
new scheme will be available to all relevant principal local government bodies. 

PSAA will pool scheme costs and charge fees to audited bodies in accordance with a fair scale 
of fees which has regard to size, complexity and audit risk, most likely as evidenced by audit 
fees for 2016/17. Pooling means that everyone in the scheme will benefit from the most 
competitive prices. Fees will reflect the number of scheme participants – the greater the level of 
participation, the better the value represented by our scale fees.  

Scale fees will be determined by the prices achieved in the auditor procurement that PSAA will 
need to undertake during the early part of 2017. Contracts are likely to be awarded at the end of 
June 2017, and at this point the overall cost and therefore the level of fees required will be 
clear. We expect to consult on the proposed scale of fees in autumn 2017 and to publish the 
fees applicable for 2018/19 in March 2018.  

Page 163



 
 

 

Opting in 

The closing date for opting in is 9 March 2017. We have allowed more than the minimum eight 
week notice period required, because the formal approval process for most eligible bodies, 
except police and crime commissioners, is a decision made by the members of an authority 
meeting as a whole.  

We will confirm receipt of all opt-in notices. A full list of authorities who opt in will be published 
on our website. Once we have received an opt-in notice, we will write to you to request 
information on any joint working arrangements relevant to your auditor appointment, and any 
potential independence matters that would prevent us appointing a particular firm. 

If you decide not to accept the invitation to opt in by the closing date, you may subsequently 
make a request to opt in, but only after 1 April 2018. The earliest an auditor appointment can be 
made for authorities that opt in after the closing date is therefore for the audit of the accounts for 
2019/20. We are required to consider such requests, and agree to them unless there are 
reasonable grounds for their refusal. 

Timetable 

In summary, we expect the timetable for the new arrangements to be: 

 Invitation to opt in issued 27 October 2016 

 Closing date for receipt of notices to opt in 9 March 2017 

 Contract notice published 20 February 2017 

 Award audit contracts By end of June 2017 

 Consult on and make auditor appointments By end of December 2017 

 Consult on and publish scale fees By end of March 2018 

 
Enquiries 

We publish frequently asked questions on our website. We are keen to receive feedback from 
local bodies on our plans. Please email your feedback or questions to: 
appointingperson@psaa.co.uk.  

If you would like to discuss a particular issue with us, please send an email to the above 
address, and we will make arrangements either to telephone or meet you. 

 

Page 164

http://www.psaa.co.uk/supporting-the-transition/appointing-person/
mailto:appointingperson@psaa.co.uk


South Lakeland District Council 

Audit Committee  

1 December 2016 

INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 

PORTFOLIO: Not applicable 

REPORT FROM: Shelagh McGregor – Assistant Director Resources 
and Section 151 Officer 

REPORT AUTHOR: Peter Harrison – Director, TIAA Limited 

WARDS: Corporate Issue 

KEY DECISION NO: Not applicable 

 

1.0 EXPECTED OUTCOME 

1.1 This report is presented to provide the Committee with an update on progress 
in delivering the Internal Audit programme. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 It is recommended that Audit Committee:  

(1) notes the progress in scheduling and undertaking the Internal 
Audit Annual Plan. 

BACKGROUND 

3.1 TIAA was appointed as SLDC’s internal audit provider effective from 1st April 
2016.  

3.2 The Three Year Audit Strategy and Annual Plan was approved on 21st July 
2016. This was due to an overrun of the 2015/16 programme with final audit 
reports being presented by the previous provider at that July meeting.    

3.3 The intention has always been that the programme, although late in 
commencing, will be complete by the end of March 2017. This will 
substantially be the case, although there are two reviews where it would be 
more optimum timing to carry out the reviews in April 2017. 

3.4 The review of National Non-Domestic Rates is proposed for early April once 
notices have been issued for 2017/18. This will ensure the review 
concentrates on the latest processes and takes in to account the revaluation.  

3.5 The review of Flood Grants is proposed for the end of April. This is after the 
closing deadlines for grant applications and a period of grace for those 
applications to be processed. 

3.6 Work is currently underway with three reviews having completed the fieldwork 
stage at the date of the meeting. 

Page 165

Item No.13



4.0 CONSULTATION 

4.1 The timing of the reviews has been agreed with officers and more detailed 
assignment planning will take place before each review commences.  

5.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

5.1 Internal Audit is required, under the mandatory Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS), to prepare an annual risk based audit plan for approval by 
the Audit Committee.  

6.0 LINKS TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES 

6.1 Internal Audit supports the delivery of the Council Priorities as set out in the 
Council Plan by providing independent assurance over the arrangements in 
place across the Council to deliver priorities and objectives. 

7.0 IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 Financial and Resources 

7.1.1 This report has no financial implications 

7.2 Human Resources 

7.2.1 There are no human resources implications of this report. 

7.3 Legal 

7.3.1 There are no legal implications of this report. 

7.4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4.1  

Have you completed and Health, Social, Economic 
and Environmental Impact Assessment? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If yes, please confirm that it is attached to the report 
in the appendices. 

Yes ☐ No ☐ 

If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, 
please explain your reasons. 

The Internal Audit Progress 
Report has no direct HSEE 
implications. 

 

7.5 Equality and Diversity 

7.5.1  

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If yes, please confirm that it is attached to the report 
in the appendices. 

Yes ☐ No ☐ 

If you have not completed an Equality Impact 
Analysis, please explain your reasons. 

The Internal Audit Progress 
Report has no direct Equality 
and Diversity implications. 

 

Page 166



7.6 Risk 

7.6.1 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

Internal Audit coverage 
does not address the 
high risk areas of 
Council activity.  

Non-delivery of the 
agreed Audit Plan.  

Unplanned work which 
arises in year which 
requires audit 
attention. 

The Council does not receive 
adequate assurance over the 
internal control environment.  

The Council would be more 
vulnerable to risk. 

Potential breach of the statutory 
requirement to maintain an 
adequate and effective system 
of internal control. 

 

Risk based annual audit 
planning. 

Regular progress reporting 
to senior management and 
Audit Committee each 
quarter. 

A degree of flexibility in the 
Plan to accommodate 
unplanned work. 

 

 

CONTACT OFFICERS 

Peter Harrison, Director, TIAA Limited. t: 07970 376542 e: peter.harrison@tiaa.co.uk  
 

APPENDICES ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT  

Appendix No.  

1 Internal Audit Progress Report 2016/17 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

None  

 

TRACKING INFORMATION 

Assistant 
Director 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Solicitor to the 
Council 

SMT Scrutiny 
Committee 

15/11/2016 n/a 15/11/2016 15/11/2016 n/a 

Executive 
(Cabinet) 

Committee Council Section 151 
Officer 

Monitoring 
Officer 

n/a 1/12/2016 n/a 15/11/2016 n/a 

Human Resource Services 
Manager 

Leader Ward 
Councillor(s) 

 

n/a n/a n/a  

 

Page 167



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 168



Internal Audit

November 2016 FINAL

South Lakeland District Council

Internal Audit Progress Report 

2016/17

Appendix 1

P
age 169



South Lakeland District Council

Internal Audit Progress Report 2016/17

Page 1

INTRODUCTION

1. This summary report provides the Audit Committee with an update on the progress of our work at South Lakeland District Council as at 14th November 2016.

PROGRESS AGAINST THE 2016/17 ANNUAL PLAN 

2. Our progress against the Annual Plan for 2016-17 is set out in Appendix A. 

AUDITS COMPLETED SINCE THE LAST REPORT TO COMMITTEE

3. There have been no internal audits that have been finalised since the last meeting of the Audit Committee. The review of risk management table has been 
completed and a draft report issued awaiting management responses. 

CHANGES TO THE ANNUAL PLAN 2016/17   

4. There are no changes proposed to the Annual Plan at this time. 

5. As agreed with the Financial Services Manager, an additional 30 days work has been carried out in relation to the completeness of property records as part of the 
transition of the contract away from NPS. This work did not require the production of a report. 

FRAUDS/IRREGULARITIES 

5. We have not been advised of any frauds or irregularities in the period since the last summary report was issued.

PROGRESS ACTIONING PRIORITY 1 RECOMMENDATIONS

9. This section of the report will used to provide updates regarding the implementation any Priority 1 recommendations (i.e. fundamental control issues on which 
action should be taken immediately) that arise from our reviews. We have issued the Risk Management report at the draft stage; this did not contain any Priority 1 
recommendations.  

RESPONSIBILITY/DISCLAIMER

10. This report has been prepared solely for management's use and must not be recited or referred to in whole or in part to third parties without our prior written 
consent. The matters raised in this report not necessarily a comprehensive statement of all the weaknesses that exist or all the improvements that might be made. 
No responsibility to any third party is accepted as the report has not been prepared, and is not intended, for any other purpose. TIAA neither owes nor accepts any 

P
age 170



South Lakeland District Council

Internal Audit Progress Report 2016/17

Page 2

duty of care to any other party who may receive this report and specifically disclaims any liability for loss, damage or expense of whatsoever nature, which is 
caused by their reliance on our report.

. 

P
age 171



South Lakeland District Council

Internal Audit Progress Report 2015/16

Page 3

 Appendix A

Progress against the Annual Plan for 2016/17
Delete if not required

System Planned 
Quarter

Days Current Status Comments

Risk Management 3 5 Draft report issued

ICT Network Security and Cybercrime 3 5 Fieldwork  commenced 16th 
November 2016

Local Government Transparency Code 3 10 Fieldwork  commenced 21st November 
2016

Data Assurance 3 10 Dates to be confirmed Dates to be agreed week commencing 14th 
November 2016 when undertaking ICT review.

Digital Innovation 3 10 Dates to be confirmed Dates to be agreed week commencing 14th 
November 2016 when undertaking ICT review.

Taxi Licensing 3 10 Scheduled for December 2016/January 
2017

Debtors 4 10 Scheduled for January 2017

Main Accounting Systems 4 10 Scheduled for January 2017

Electoral Registration 4 10 Dates to be confirmed

Cash Receipting – Car Parking 4 10 Dates to be confirmed

Capital Investment 4 20 Scheduled for February 2017

Procurement 4 15 Scheduled for March 2017

Contract Management 4 15 Scheduled for March 2017

P
age 172



South Lakeland District Council

Internal Audit Progress Report 2015/16

Page 4

System Planned 
Quarter

Days Current Status Comments

National Non-Domestic Rates 4 10 Scheduled for early April 2017 To be carried out after revaluation work and 
notices issued.

Flood Grants 4 10 Scheduled for end April 2017 To be carried out after applications close and are 
processed.

Follow Up Ongoing 10

   KEY:
= Site work commenced

= Draft report issued

= Final report issued

= To be commencedP
age 173



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 174



1 
 

South Lakeland District Council 

Audit Committee 

1 December 2016 

REVIEW OF CONSTITUTION 

 

PORTFOLIO: Not applicable 

REPORT FROM: Shelagh McGregor – Assistant Director (Resources) 
and Chief Finance Officer 

REPORT AUTHOR: Helen Smith – Financial Services Manager 

WARDS: Corporate issue 

KEY DECISION: Not applicable 

 

1.0 EXPECTED OUTCOME 

1.1 This report is presented to enable consideration of the results of the annual 
review of the Council’s Constitution for consideration by Audit Committee.  It 
includes a number of recommendations to increase the efficiency of the 
procurement process and to improve internal controls.  

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 It is recommended that Audit Committee:- 

(1) consider and refer to Council for approval the recommended 
amendments to the Constitution as set out in the appendices to 
this report. 

3.0 BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS 

3.1 The Audit Committee Work Programme for 2016/17 includes an annual review 
of the Council’s Constitution.  This review concentrates on the areas of the 
constitution with a direct impact on the financial controls of the Council 
contained within the Financial Procedure Rules and the Contract Procedure 
Rules.  There was a major re-write of these areas of the Constitution last year.  
This year the proposed amendments are to clarify some areas of ambiguity. 

3.2 The changes proposed are shown as tracked-changes in Appendix 1 and 
Appendix 2.  They are: 

3.2.1 To clarify that in the absence of the Chief Finance Officer then her 
responsibilities for the proper financial arrangements are 
delegated to the Financial Services Manager; 

3.2.2 To clarify that the Chief Finance Officer is responsible for 
designating bank signatories; 

Page 175

Item No.14



2 
 

3.2.3 To clarify the arrangements for cheque signatures as pre-printed 
cheques are no longer used. 

3.2.4 To include references to insurances in the Contract Procedure 
Rules and that the Chief Finance Officer has to agree the level of 
insurances for each contract based on an assessment of risks; 

3.2.5 To amend references to Pre-Qualification Questionnaires to 
Selection Questionnaires in line with new government 
terminology. 

6.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

6.1 It is good practice to regularly review the Constitution.  The recommended 
changes give a balance between operational efficiency and strong internal 
controls. 

7.0 LINKS TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES 

7.1 Being efficient and transparent in our dealings with the public. 

8.0 IMPLICATIONS 

8.1 Financial and Resources 

8.1.1 This report has no direct financial implications.  The proposals clarify the 
existing rules and will increase efficiency through reduce need to produce 
reports for minor decisions. 

8.2 Human Resources 

8.2.1 There are no direct Human Resources implications of this report. 

8.3 Legal 

8.3.1 There are no direct legal implications of this report. 

8.4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental   

Have you completed and Health, 
Social, Economic and Environmental 
Impact Assessment? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If yes, please confirm that it is 
attached to the report in the 
appendices. 

Yes ☐ No ☐ 

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons. 

The update of the finance and 
contract procedure rules have no 
direct HSEE implications.   

 

8.5 Equality and Diversity 

Have you completed an Equality 
Impact Analysis? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If yes, please confirm that it is 
attached to the report in the 
appendices. 

Yes ☐ No ☐ 

If you have not completed an 
Equality Impact Analysis, please 
explain your reasons. 

The update of the finance and 
contract procedure rules have no 
direct equality and diversity impacts. 

Page 176



3 
 

8.6 Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

Failure to review 
Constitution 

 

Failure to have effective 
delegation to officers in 
place 

Potential failings in the 
internal controls 
contained within the 
Constitution 

Potential delays in 
decision making 

A thorough review and 
assessment based on 
external guidance 

 

CONTACT OFFICERS 

Report Author – Helen Smith, Financial Services Officer, 01539 793147, 
h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk 

APPENDICES ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT  

Appendix No.  

1 Recommended changes to the Financial Procedure Rules 

2 Recommended changes to the Contract Procedure Rules 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE 

Name of Background 
document 

Where it is available  

Council Constitution http://tinyurl.com/kfk26gb  

 

TRACKING INFORMATION 

Assistant 
Director 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Solicitor to the 
Council 

SMT Scrutiny 
Committee 

11/11/16 n/a 11/11/16 11/11/16 n/a 

Executive 
(Cabinet) 

Committee Council Section 151 
Officer 

Monitoring 
Officer 

n/a 1/12/16 n/a 11/11/16 11/11/16 

Human 
Resource 
Services 
Manager 

Leader 

 

Ward 
Councillor(s) 

 

  

n/a n/a n/a   

 

Page 177

http://tinyurl.com/kfk26gb


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 178



 

 

FINANCIAL PROCEDURE RULES 

 
STATUS 
 
These Financial Procedure Rules provide a framework for managing the Council’s financial affairs. They 
apply to every Officer and Member of the Council and anyone acting on its behalf. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for issuing advice and guidance to underpin the Financial 
Procedure Rules that Officers and Members of the Council and anyone acting on its behalf are required to 
follow. 
 
Failure to comply with the requirements of the Financial Procedure Rules may, if appropriate, lead to action 
being taken against officers under the Council’s Disciplinary Procedure and against Members by the 
Council’s Standards Committee.   
 
1. GENERAL 
 
 Statutory References 
 
1.1 Under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Chief Finance Officer is responsible for 
the financial affairs of the Council and is particularly responsible for: 
 
(a) Supervising arrangements for the receipt of income due to the Council and   expenditure incurred by 
the Council. 
 
(b) The preparation and presentation of final accounts. 
 
(c) The maintenance of a continuous and effective internal audit of the Council’s activities. 
 
1.2 Under Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 the Chief Finance Officer or in her/his 
absence a designated member of his staff has a duty to make a report if it appears to him that the Council, a 
Committee, a Member or Officer of the Council or joint committee on which the Council is represented: 
 
(a) has made or is about to make a decision which involves or would involve the Council incurring 
expenditure which is unlawful; 
 
(b) has taken or is about to take a course of action which, if pursued to its conclusion, would be unlawful 
or likely to cause a loss or deficiency on the part of the Council; or 
 
(c) is about to enter an item of account, the entry of which is unlawful. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer must make a report under Section 114 if it appears to her/him that the Council’s 
expenditure (including commitments) in a financial year is likely to exceed the resources (including sums 
borrowed) available to meet them. 
 
Any Officer of the Council who is or should be aware of the circumstances specified at (a), (b) and (c) above 
or any expenditure which is likely to exceed the amounts allocated in the Council’s Budgets shall notify the 
Chief Finance Officer to enable her/him to carry out their statutory duty. 
 
General 
 
1.3 Reference in these Rules to Portfolio Holders refer equally to Committees which manage budgets. 
 References to Directors include the two Directors, the Chief Executive and the Assistant Directors. 
 References to Departments refer to the accompanying administrative organisations. 
 In the absence of the Chief Finance Officer the Financial Services Manager, as deputy s151 officer, 
has delegated authority to carry out all actions within this part of the Constitution. 
  
1.4 Each Director shall consult the Chief Finance Officer with respect to any matter within his control 
which is liable materially to affect the finances of the Council before any provisional or other commitment is 
incurred or before reporting thereon to Members. 
 

Appendix 1 

Page 179



 

 

1.5 In allocating the duties of officers within their Departments, each Director shall arrange for internal 
checks to ensure that:- 
 
(a) The duty of keeping records relating to income shall not be carried out by officers who are also 
responsible for the collection of income. 
 
(b) The duties of issuing orders, certifying the receipt of goods or the completion of work, and approving 
accounts for payment shall be carried out by different officers. 
 
1.6 It is the duty of all officers appointing consultants to carry out work on behalf of the Council to bring 
these Rules to the attention of those consultants and instruct them to follow such procedures as are relevant. 
 
2. ACCOUNTING 
 
2.1 All accounting procedures and records of the Council and its officers shall be in a form approved by 
the Chief Finance Officer. Where such procedures and records are maintained in an Assistant Directorate 
other than that of the Chief Finance Officer the Director or Assistant shall, before giving approval, gain the 
Chief Finance Officer’s approval to any proposed changes. 
 
2.2 No accounting procedure or financial records shall be amended or discontinued without the prior 
approval of the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
2.3 All accounts and accounting records of the Council shall be compiled by the Chief Finance Officer or 
under her/his direction. 
 
2.4 The Chief Finance Officer shall ensure that all accounts, accounting records, balance sheets, etc of 
the Council are properly completed, presented to the Members and submitted to external audit in 
accordance with statutory requirements. 
 
3. BUDGETS - GENERAL 
 
3.1 Budget Preparation – will cover the forthcoming five year period and be subject to a timetable 
prepared by the Chief Finance Officer and approved by Cabinet. The Chief Finance Officer will produce the 
Five Year Medium Term Financial Plan on an annual basis in consultation with Cabinet Members and 
Management Team for approval by the Council. Regular updates of the strategic financial position will be 
provided to the Cabinet and Council. 
 
3.2 The detailed form of capital and revenue estimates shall be determined by the Chief Finance Officer 
in accordance with any general directions of the Cabinet and after consultation with the Management Team. 
 
3.3 Revenue Budgets – Staffing budgets shall be prepared by the Chief Finance Officer in consultation 
with the relevant Director. All other estimates of revenue income and expenditure shall be prepared by 
appropriate Directors in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer and submitted to Members for approval. 
The Chief Finance Officer shall collate the estimates and submit them to the Cabinet with a report setting out 
how this compares to the Council’s existing Medium Term Financial Plan. 
 
3.4 Capital budgets shall be prepared in the form of a rolling five-year Capital Programme. The Chief 
Finance Officer shall review and estimate the capital resources available to the Council over the five year 
period. Bids for the use of capital resources shall be made in a form agreed by the Cabinet, to include an 
appropriate level of project appraisal and an assessment of the revenue consequences of the capital 
scheme. The Cabinet shall be responsible for the allocation of resources within a viable Capital Programme 
for submission to the Council for approval. 
 
4. BUDGETARY CONTROL 
 
It is the duty of the Cabinet and/or every Committee to monitor and regulate the Council’s performance 
against the targets set out in the Corporate and Service Plans and how resources have been utilized against 
the approved Budget during each budget period.  
 
Financial sustainability of the Council is paramount and projected variations to approved budgets and 
service delivery must be properly managed within a robust control system. Directors and other Budget 
holders responsible for budgets shall maintain an effective system of budgetary control. Budgets are the 

Page 180



 

 

reflection of service plans and variations in either must be matched to the other in performance and other 
reports.  
 
All budgets will be assigned to a budget holder who is responsible and accountable for spending and 
generating income in accordance with the approved budget and associated service plan. Budget holders are 
responsible for the underlying reliability of the financial data and service performance. The responsibility of 
Officers for budgets will be clearly defined and determined by the Chief Executive and Directors, who shall 
determine relevant procedures to be followed by those officers. (See 4.2) 
 
The Chief Finance Officer shall make available to all budget holders information on commitments, receipts 
and payments to enable them to carry out these duties and to allow them to monitor performance and make 
proposal/take decisions on changes. Budget holders will be provided with training to assist them (provided 
by the Chief Finance Officer). Each Director/budget holder shall utilize the Council’s corporate financial 
management system to maintain records of orders raised and other commitments, recording their effect on 
budgeted expenditure. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer has overall responsibility for the Budget Framework including the Budget 
Timetable, Budgetary Control reporting arrangements and preparation of the Year End Statement of 
Accounts.  Each Budget will have a single named Manager, determined by Management Team. The Chief 
Finance Officer is responsible for ensuring that the Budget and Council Tax Setting is carried out in 
accordance with the statutory deadlines. 
 
Finance Section responsibilities: 
 
The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the following areas of budget setting and budgetary control: 
 

 assisting Assistant Directors and budget holders in the preparation of draft budgets 

 provision of timely, accurate, relevant financial information to budget holders to enable effective 
budgetary control to be carried out 

 budgetary control reporting arrangements 

 provision of financial advice and training to budget holders 

 to actively use information from Directors on service trends that may have a impact on budgets. 

  
Responsibilities of Directors: 
 

 preparation of detailed revenue budgets, including the compilation of information produced centrally, 
to the standards and timescales set by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 liaison with Accountancy and other staff in the provision of budgets 

 identification of areas in which budget savings and/or efficiencies can be made 

 assistance in the preparation of service reviews and the implementation of these and other approved 
changes to budgets. 

 identification of development proposals and implementation if approved 

 ensuring that budgets are consistent with approved service plans 

 identification and subsequent review of meaningful profiles for budgets “signing off” detailed budgets 
and profiles to indicate that managers accept their content and accuracy and believe that they are 
sufficient to deliver the service 

 monitoring budgets using monthly budgetary control reports and managing the service within budget 

 Where overspends are identified, or projected, to alert Directors or Management Team as 
appropriate and to propose actions to correct the overspending 

 notifying Directors and/or Management Team of potential underspendings/ increased income that 
could be of corporate benefit to the Council 

 compliance with the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules 

 provision of timely, relevant and accurate explanations for budget variances as required by the Chief 
Finance Officer, Management Team and Members 

 update Finance staff on service trends that may have an impact on budgets. 

Page 181



 

 

 developing performance information to complement budgetary control processes 

 
Responsibilities of Members: 
 
Members generally are responsible for taking an overview of the Council’s finances and its performance 
against budgets. In particular: 
 

 Full Council is required to review periodically the adequacy of the Council’s overall budget. 

 Portfolio holders are required, in conjunction with budget holders, to monitor and manage budgets for 
the services under their control. 

 
Budget monitoring reports shall be produced by the Chief Finance Officer on the first working day of each 
month. The Service Accountants are responsible for checking the reports prior to their distribution. Each 
Director and Portfolio Holder will receive budget monitoring reports for their services.  A summary report will 
be produced for publication electronically for Members and officers. 
 
Reports will be submitted to the Management Team, Cabinet and Council quarterly on the Authority’s 
projected Income and Expenditure compared with the budget.   
 
4.3 The inclusion of items in approved budgets represents the authority to incur expenditure except 
where the Cabinet has a reservation on such items.  
 
4.4 The Cabinet shall not approve a supplementary revenue estimate or amend a capital budget without 
Directors first having consulted with the Chief Finance Officer on the financial implications. A comment will 
be sought from the Chief Finance Officer to be incorporated to the Report on the proposal made to Council 
to approve a supplementary revenue or capital estimate. 
 
4.5 Nothing in these regulations shall prevent a Director from incurring expenditure which is essential to 
meet any immediate needs created by an emergency subject to their action being reported forthwith to the 
Cabinet. 
 
5. SUPPLEMENTARY REVENUE ESTIMATES 
 
General 
 
5.1 Prior to any request for a supplementary revenue estimate being made Portfolio Holders and 
Directors should consider whether the expenditure can be accommodated within existing budgets by the use 
of virement.  All requests for supplementary revenue estimates must be discussed with the Chief Finance 
Officer prior to being considered by Cabinet. 
 
5.2 No supplementary estimates below £25,000 should be granted; instead virement should be identified 
to accommodate the expenditure; 
 
5.3 The Cabinet is able to grant supplementary revenue estimates up to a value of £100,000.  
Supplementary revenue estimates above that limit can only be approved by Full Council. 
 
General Fund 
 
5.4 Supplementary revenue estimates shall only be granted where suitable virement cannot be 
identified.  Such supplementary estimates shall be restricted to the following genuinely exceptional and 
inescapable items of expenditure: 
 
(a) contractual claims, court and litigation costs; 
 
(b) health and safety items constituting a risk to “life and limb”; 
 
(c) additional expenditure arising from tenders following competitive tendering of services (conversely, 
savings on such tendering should be returned to contingencies); 
 
(d) additional legislative responsibilities. 
 

Page 182



 

 

5.5 Supplementary revenue estimates may be allowed for income-generating schemes where 
expenditure in the year will result in increased net income in subsequent years which will, at least, cover the 
amount of the supplementary estimate; 
 
5.6 No supplementary revenue estimates should be granted that have an ongoing financial implication 
for subsequent years.  
 
Reporting  
 
5.7 Regular reports to the Cabinet shall clearly state the ongoing implications of proposed expenditure, 
identify the source of finance being used for supplementary estimates and the balance available within the 
Working Balance. 
 
6. UNSPENT GRANTS 
 
6.1 Where 
 
(a) a grant or contribution has been received in a financial year for which there are no conditions; and 
 
(b) the grant is unspent at the end of the financial year, the relevant Assistant Director can request that 
the grant be carried forward to the following financial year. 
 
6.2. The mechanism for the carry forward is the granting of a supplementary revenue estimate for the 
income. Items up to a value of £100,000 can be approved by Cabinet with larger requests to be considered 
by Full Council. 
 
6.3. All requests for the carry forward of unspent grants should be discussed with the Chief Finance 
Officer prior to submission to Cabinet for approval. 
 
UNDERSPENT BUDGETS  
 
General 
 
6.4 All requests for the carry forward of unspent budgets should be discussed with the Chief Finance 
Officer and the relevant Portfolio Holder should be consulted. 
 
6.5 The mechanism, for the carry forward is the granting of a supplementary revenue estimate, on the 
strength of an underspending in the previous year. Items up to a value of £100,000 can be approved by 
Cabinet with larger requests to be considered by full Council.  
 
6.6 Requests for carry forwards must be submitted to the Chief Finance Officer by the deadline set 
annually by the Chief Finance Officer and be accompanied by an explanation of the service need and 
implications. Carry forwards must be for use on specific items of expenditure which have no on-going cost 
implications for subsequent years. 
 
6.7 In many cases, requests for carry forward of budgets will be made before the final expenditure for the 
financial year is known.  Approvals can be made in these instances but will be subject to possible withdrawal 
if the Assistant Directorate, Department or Council budget is subsequently found to be overspent. 
 
6.8 A minimum limit of £10,000 per item will usually apply to the gross value of savings considered for 
carry forward.  
 
The Assistant Director will be required to identify and explain the reasons for his opinion that 
underspendings have arisen from savings.  
 
In the context of this policy, underspends are defined as underspending of expenditure budgets or additional 
income against income budgets provided that those savings have not been anticipated for corporate use.  
 
Limitations 
 
6.9 An Assistant Director will not be allowed to carry forward any unspent budget where the overall net 
expenditure for the year exceeds the Assistant Director’s revenue budget. 
 

Page 183



 

 

In these circumstances the Assistant Director may be required to deduct the overspending from its budget 
for the following year.  Individual cases will be considered on their merits, taking into account the degree to 
which external factors are responsible for the overspending.  
 
The amount of any unspent estimates to be carried forward will be limited to the Assistant Director’s overall 
net underspending for the year, where this is a smaller amount.  
 
6.10 Where a budget is approved for a Council year, rather than a financial year (for example the 
Chairman’s Allowance) any underspend will be automatically carried forward if requested. 
 
6.11 Subject to these limitations, approval for the carry forward of qualifying unspent budgets will not 
normally be withheld. However, corporate considerations, particularly budgetary constraints, may cause 
individual provisions to be over-ridden or the whole policy to be suspended in the overall interests of the 
Council.  
 
7. TRANSFER OF BUDGETS (VIREMENT) 
 
7.1 Virement is intended to enable the Cabinet, Directors and their staff to manage budgets with a 
degree of flexibility within the overall Budget and Policy Framework to optimise the use of resources.  
However, it may be appropriate to suspend these provisions and apply more restrictive procedures if 
required by the Council’s financial position. 
 
Virements are administered by the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
7.2 The overall Revenue and Capital Budget is approved by Council and published in the Annual Budget 
book. Assistant Directors are authorised to spend in accordance with the estimates that make up the Budget 
and in accordance with the Contract Procedure Rules. Virement will be required if resources are to be 
moved between the lines set out in the Budget Book. 
 
Virement must not create additional overall budget Commitment. Assistant Directors are expected to 
exercise discretion in managing their budgets responsibly and prudently, for example by avoiding future 
commitments for which they have not identified resources. 
 
7.3 Virement can only be applied to direct expenditure.  It cannot be applied to the budget headings such 
as Capital Charges, Recharged Employees, Central Support Recharges, Departmental Recharges or 
Indirect Income.  In general, virement will not be allowed from employee budgets. 
 
Following consultation with the Chief Finance Officer, the responsible Assistant Director(s) shall be entitled 
to transfer budgets from with and between any one service to another up to a maximum limit of £60,000 per 
transfer. 
 
The Cabinet shall be entitled to transfer budgets from within and between any one service to another up to a 
limit of £100,000 per transfer. 
 
Beyond these limits, approval to transfers can only be given by full Council. 
 
The Corporate Financial Monitoring process should be used for approval where appropriate. 
 
Virement requests must include details of the reason for the transfer and details of the impact on service 
delivery. 
 
7.4 Virements will only be allowed where they are within these rules and generally in accordance with 
the policies of the Council and there will be no overall effect on the Budgets of the General Fund. 
 
7.5. These virement rules must also be applied where additional income is received above levels 
included in the approved budget. 
 
7.6. Where an approved budget is a lump-sum budget or contingency intended for allocation during the 
year, its allocation will not be treated as a virement, provided that the amount is used in accordance with the 
purposes for which it has been established and there is an approved basis and terms, including financial 
limits, on which it will be allocated. 
 

Page 184



 

 

7.7 The Chief Finance Officer is able to transfer budgets to correct allocations, to reflect restructures and 
in the case of ‘housekeeping’ where budgets could be held under more appropriate headings. 
 
8. CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 
 
8.1 Capital expenditure shall not be incurred unless it forms part of the approved Capital Programme and 
has been allocated an expenditure account by the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
8.2 The Cabinet may adjust the phasing of expenditure, by deferment or advancement, of existing 
approved schemes in the Capital Programme. 
 
8.3 The Cabinet may transfer Capital Programme provisions from one approved scheme to another 
approved scheme, subject to a limit of £100,000 per individual transfer. 
 
8.4 The Cabinet may allocate available capital resources within the Capital Programme to new schemes 
which are urgent, necessary and generally in accordance with Council priorities, subject to a limit of 
£100,000 per individual allocation, provided in all cases the Chief Finance Officer is consulted and is 
satisfied with the affordability and advisability of the proposed use of resources. 
 
Beyond these limits, amendments to the Capital Programme can only be made by Council. 
 
9. FINANCING OF CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 
 
The Chief Finance Officer may adjust the planned method of financing capital expenditure within the 
aggregate resources available to the Council, provided that such ‘switching’ of financing is in the Council’s 
interest and in accordance with the Prudential Framework and Treasury Management Policy and Statement.  
Factors to be taken into account in such adjustments shall include prudence, affordability, financial 
advantage, flexibility and risk considerations. 
 
10. RESERVES AND WORKING BALANCES 
 
10.1 The power to establish financial reserves is restricted to full Council except that Cabinet is able to set 
aside amounts (up to £100,000 in aggregate) where this would assist in the efficient operation of the 
Council’s activities. The Chief Finance Officer must be consulted and be satisfied with the proposed setting 
aside of resources. 
 
10.2 The purpose and limits on the operation of each significant reserve should be set out in the annual 
Medium Term Financial Plan. 
 
10.3 Unless determined otherwise by Council, the use of resources held in reserves and the Council’s 
working balances shall be determined by full Council (as agreed in the annual Revenue Budget, Capital 
Programme or otherwise) except that Cabinet is able to make or adjust transfers from reserves not 
exceeding £100,000 after consultation with the Chief Finance Officer where these would assist in the 
financial management of the Council. 
 
10.4 The Chief Finance Officer is required, as part of the annual budget process, to carry out a formal 
review of balances and reserves and to advise the Council on their adequacy.  In particular she/he is 
responsible for: 
 
(a) preparing a statement for Council showing the estimated opening working balance for the year 
ahead, the addition to/withdrawal from balances, and the estimated end of year balance, including reference 
to the extent to which such reserves are to be used to finance recurrent expenditure. 
 
(b) reporting on the annual review of earmarked reserves, listing the various earmarked reserves, the 
purposes for which they are held, showing the estimated opening balances for the year, planned 
addition/withdrawals and the estimated closing balances, and advising on their appropriate levels. 
 
(c) making a statement on the adequacy of the general reserves and provisions in respect of the 
forthcoming financial year and the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan, taking into account the strategic, 
operational and financial risks facing the authority. 
 
The advice given by the Chief Finance Officer should be recorded formally in the minutes of the Council 
meeting, including whether or not that advice has been accepted. 

Page 185



 

 

 
10.5 Following the closure of the accounts for a financial year, the Chief Finance Officer will report to 
Cabinet and Audit Committee on the transfers to and the use of reserves and working balances for that year 
and seek approval of those transactions by full Council. 
 
11. MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 
 
11.1 The Chief Finance Officer is required to produce and seek approval from Council for a Medium Term 
Financial Plan, detailing the Council’s projected financial position for a period of five years ahead.  The Plan 
should be drawn up by reference to the Council’s Corporate Plan and include the financial implications of 
that Plan.  As a minimum the Medium Term Financial Plan should contain 
 

 current and projected revenue budgets, including the revenue effects of capital and other 
investments; 

 projections of council tax levels to finance those budgets; 

 an indication of identifiable budgetary pressures and an action plan to deal with those pressures; 

 capital expenditure plans and resource projections; 

 projections of reserves and working balances; and 

 an assessment of the adequacy of reserves and the risks attaching to the assumptions in the Plan. 
 
11.2 The Plan should be updated at regular intervals during the year and form part of the Annual Budget 
Process. All significant proposals with financial implications should be assessed against the Medium Term 
Financial Plan and the effects of those proposals reported at the time of making a decision. 
 
12. EXTERNAL AUDIT 
 
12.1 The Council’s activities will be audited by the External Auditor appointed in accordance with the 
requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. 
 
13. INTERNAL AUDIT 
 
13.1 Regulation 6 of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011 requires the Council to maintain an 
adequate and effective Internal Audit.  Arrangements for that audit will be approved by the Audit Committee. 
 
13.2 The Internal Audit Annual Plan will be submitted for approval by the Audit Committee.  An Annual 
Report of the activities of Internal Audit and the completion of the Audit Plan are to be submitted to the Chief 
Finance Officer within three months of the end of each financial year and subsequently reported to the 
Committee. 
 
13.3 A continuous risk based internal audit, under the independent control and direction of the Chief 
Finance Officer, shall be arranged to carry out an examination of accounting, financial and other operations 
of the Council. 
 
13.4 For the purpose of Internal Audit, the Chief Finance Officer or her/his authorised representative shall 
have authority to: 
 
(a) enter at all reasonable times on any Council premises or land 
 
(b) have access to all records, documents and correspondence relating to any financial or other 
transaction of the Council 
 
(c) require and receive such explanations as are necessary concerning any matter under examination, 
and 
 
(d) require any employee of the Council to produce cash, stores or any other Council property under his 
control. 
 
13.5 The Internal Auditor shall have the right to report any concerns directly to the Chief Executive, 
appropriate Councillors and the District Auditor. 
 

Page 186



 

 

14. BANKING ARRANGEMENTS, CHEQUES AND BACS 
 
14.1 All arrangements with the Council’s bankers shall be made or approved by the Chief Finance Officer, 
who shall be authorised to operate such banking accounts as they may consider necessary including the 
designation of authorised signatories. 
 
14.2 All cheques, or other payment instruments/stationery excluding those drawn on authorised imprest 
accounts, shall be ordered only on the authority of the Chief Finance Officer, who shall make proper 
arrangements for their safe custody. 
 
14.3 Cheques on the Council’s main banking accounts shall bear the facsimile signature of the Chief 
Finance Officer or be signed by the Chief Finance Officer or other officer authorised to do so in accordance 
with the Council’s banking arrangements be signed in accordance with the bank mandate (i.e. single 
signature under £10,000, two signatures over £10,000). 
 
14.34 Payments made by BACS shall be authorised by the Chief Finance Officer or his/her representative 
in accordance with the Council’s banking arrangements. 
 
15. IMPREST ACCOUNTS 
 
15.1 The Chief Finance Officer shall provide such petty cash and advance accounts as he/she considers 
appropriate for such officers of the Council as may need them for the purposes of defraying petty cash and 
other expenses. Such accounts shall be maintained on the imprest system. 
 
15.2 Where he/she considers it appropriate, the Chief Finance Officer shall open an account with the 
Council’s bankers for use by the imprest holder who shall not allow such account to be overdrawn. It shall be 
a standing instruction to the Council’s bankers that the amount of any overdrawn balance on an imprest 
holder’s banking account shall forthwith be reported to the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
15.3 No income received on behalf of the Council may be paid into an imprest account but must be 
banked or paid to the authority as provided elsewhere in these regulations. 
 
15.4 Payments shall be limited to minor items of expenditure and to such other items as the Chief Finance 
Officer may approve and shall be supported by a receipted voucher to the extent that the Chief Finance 
Officer may require. 
 
15.5 An officer responsible for an imprest account shall carry out periodic reconciliations of his/her 
account and give the Chief Finance Officer a certificate as to the state of his/her imprest advance. 
 
On leaving the employment of the Council, or otherwise ceasing to be entitled to hold an imprest advance, 
an officer shall account to the Chief Finance Officer for the amount advanced to him/her. 
 
15.7 All cash floats held are to be confirmed to the Chief Finance Officer in writing at the end of each 
financial year. 
 
15.8 Every transfer of official money from one member of staff to another shall be evidenced in the 
records of the Departments concerned by the signature of the receiving officer, or by an official receipt. 
 
16. CONTRACTS  
 
16.1 The Contract Procedure Rules deal with the regulation and control of contracts for the execution of 
work and the supply of goods, materials and services awarded by the Council.  These Rules should be 
followed in conjunction with those Rules. 
 
16.2 In the paragraphs under this section reference to the “relevant person” shall mean the appropriate 
Director, an officer nominated by him/her in writing for that contract or a private architect, engineer or other 
consultant engaged by the Council for the purpose of that contract. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer shall be consulted as to any Performance Bonds to be obtained or given in 
respect of a proposed contract. 
 
16.3 Each Director responsible for the awarding of contracts, which provide for payment to be made by 
instalments, shall arrange for the keeping of a register, to the satisfaction of the Chief Finance Officer, to 

Page 187



 

 

show the state of account on each contract between the Council and a contractor, together with any other 
payments and related professional fees. 
 
16.4 Payments to contractors on account of contracts shall be made only on a certificate issued by the 
relevant person. 
 
16.5 Subject to the provisions of the contract in each case, every variation shall be authorised in writing by 
the relevant person.  Each variation shall include an estimate of the increase or reduction in cost arising from 
that variation of the contract. 
 
16.6 When the net effect of such variations exceeds the following limits, this shall be reported as soon as 
possible to the Cabinet or relevant Committee of the Council through the Corporate Financial Monitoring 
process where the overspend is greater than £10,000 of 10% of the contract sum, whichever is greater. 
 
Provided that it shall not be necessary to report such net effect in the case of contracts undertaken under 
agency or contractual arrangements on behalf of another local or public authority where that authority has 
approved the cost of the variation. 
 
16.7 Where the relevant person issues a certificate and the amount to be paid on that certificate, when 
added to amounts previously certified for payment, would result in the contract sum or budgetary provision 
being exceeded, then the certificate shall be accompanied by a report fully explaining the position from the 
relevant person to the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
16.8 The final certificate of completion of any contract shall not be issued until the relevant person has 
produced to the Chief Finance Officer a detailed final statement of account and all relevant documents, if 
required. 
 
16.9 The Chief Finance Officer shall, to the extent that is considered necessary, examine final accounts 
for contracts and shall be entitled to make all such enquiries and receive such information and explanations 
as may be required in order to be satisfied as to the accuracy of the accounts. 
 
16.10 Every works contract and every other contract which is estimated to exceed £60,000 in value or 
amount shall include provision for liquidated damages, except where the contract is a partnering contract 
entered into under the Council’s procurement policy. Where there has been a delay in the completion of a 
contract and an extension of time is not appropriate to be authorised, the relevant person shall impose the 
liquidated damages clause in all instances, unless, after consultation with the Monitoring Officer, it is decided 
it is inappropriate to do so. 
 
16.11 A report as to final costs under each contract shall, after agreement of the final account, be 
incorporated into the Post Implementation Review submitted to the Senior Management Team, Cabinet or 
relevant Committee by the appropriate Director after consultation with the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
16.12 Claims from contractors in respect of matters not clearly within the term of any existing contract shall 
be referred to the Monitoring Officer for consideration of the Council’s legal liability and, where necessary, to 
the Chief Finance Officer for financial consideration, before a settlement is reached. 
 
16.13 Where a contractor enters into liquidation or receivers are appointed or the contractor makes 
arrangement or composition with his/her creditors, the relevant person shall report the full circumstances in 
writing to the Cabinet or relevant Committee of the Council as soon as they are known to him/her. 
 
16.14 Every Officer and Member of the Council has a responsibility to declare any links or personal 
interests that they may have with purchasers, suppliers and /or contractors if they are engaged in contractual 
or purchasing decisions on behalf of the Council, in accordance with established Codes of Conduct. 
 
17. ORDERS FOR WORK, GOODS AND SERVICES 
 
17.1 The following procedures and those in Rule 18 relate primarily to the electronic entry and 
authorisation of purchase orders and certification of creditor invoices using the Integra financial information 
system.  The same principles apply to non-purchase order invoices and to purchases using procurement 
(purchasing) cards. 
 
17.2 Official orders shall be issued in advance for all work, goods or services to be supplied to the council, 
except for:  

Page 188



 

 

 

 supplies of public utility services, or other services, where paid by direct debit; 

 petty cash purposes; 

 works on Council properties that fall within the planned maintenance contract administered by the 
Council’s property services contractor; 

 such other exceptions as the Chief Finance Officer may approve. 

 
Orders for works arranged with the Council’s property services contractor must follow the specific 
procedures so arranged for this purpose through the Corporate Asset Manager. Initially a work request form, 
appropriately authorised, should be submitted to the Council’s property services contractor and once a 
suitable contractor has been arranged to carry out the work, an official order should be raised direct to that 
contractor. Full details of the procedure are available on SharePoint. 
 
In exceptional circumstances where an order cannot be dispatched at the time of making the commitment, 
the supplier should be given an order number and the Confirmation Order issued not later than the next 
working day. 
 
17.3 Official orders shall be in the form approved by the Chief Finance Officer and are to be approved 
only by officers authorised by the appropriate Director who shall be responsible for official orders issued from 
his department. The Director shall ensure that:  
 

 value for money is obtained in all cases, primarily by obtaining and recording alternative quotations 
for the supply;  

 the order is allocated to the correct accounting code and that the relevant budget is not exceeded  

 
17.4 Each order should record the agreed price for the supply or the estimated cost of the supply, delivery 
and invoicing addresses. 
 
17.5 Each order shall conform with the directions of the Council with respect to central purchasing and the 
standardisation of supplies and materials. 
 
17.6 Orders must never be split to avoid authorisation limits. 
 
17.7 When the work, goods or services to which the order relates has been received or carried out, 
appropriate confirmation of this must be obtained (normally in the form of a delivery note, advice note or 
works schedule) – only then should the receipt be recorded by means of the entry of a Goods Received Note 
(GRN) in Integra. 
 
17.8 Procurement cards will be issued to Officers based on an assessment of needs.  Cardholders must 
follow procedures laid down by the Chief Finance Officer: cards will be withdrawn if the facility is misused. 
 
18. PAYMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
 
18.1  Apart from Credit Card, petty cash and other payments from imprest accounts, the payment of 
monies due from the Council shall be by BACS payment or other instrument drawn on the Council’s banking 
account by the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
All requests for payment submitted to the Chief Finance Officer must be in the form prescribed by him/her. 
 
18.2 The Director issuing an order is responsible for ensuring that the work, goods or services to which an 
account relates has been carried out or supplied as requested to a satisfactory standard. Normally this is 
evidenced on Integra by entry of a Goods Received Note, or for a non-purchase order invoice by completion 
of the appropriate boxes on the certification voucher. 
 
18.3 Any significant price variation between the purchase order and the resulting invoice will require 
certification by an appropriate officer. Non-purchase order invoices will require manual certification by 
signature. Before certifying an account, the certifying officer shall, save to the extent that the Chief Finance 
Officer may otherwise determine, satisfy himself that: 
 

Page 189



 

 

(a) the work, goods or services to which the account relates have been received, carried out, examined 
and approved. 
 
(b) the quantities, prices, extension, calculations, discounts, other allowances, credits and tax are 
correct 
 
(c) the account has not been previously passed for payment and is a proper liability of the Council 
 
18.4 Periodically a list of officers authorised to approve such records shall be circulated by the Chief 
Finance Officer to each Director together with specimen signatures for confirmation by that Director. The 
Director shall ensure that this list be amended on the occasion of any changes to signatories. The Director 
shall ensure that adequate separation of duties exists by arranging that the officer certifying an account for 
payment is a different person to the one who ordered the supply. 
 
18.5 Properly certified accounts (either by electronic means, in terms of purchase order price variations, 
or by manual signature) shall be passed without delay to the Chief Finance Officer who shall examine them 
to the extent that he considers necessary, for which purpose he shall be entitled to make such enquiries and 
to receive such information and explanations as he/she may require. 
 
18.6 Amendments should not normally be made to an invoice. Where an amendment is required or where 
an invoice is received that does not quote a purchase order number and that invoice falls within the ordering 
criteria, the invoice shall be returned to the supplier for replacement. 
 
18.7 Accrual of expenditure is normally dealt with by entry of Goods Received Notes in the Integra 
system. For any expenditure that falls outside the purchase ordering system, each Director shall, as soon as 
possible after 31 March, and not later than a date specified by the Chief Finance Officer in each year, notify 
the Chief Finance Officer of all outstanding expenditure relating to the previous financial year which has not 
been paid at that date. 
 
19. PAYROLL 
 
19.1 The payment of all salaries, pensions, compensation and other emoluments to all employees or 
former employees of the Council shall be made by the Chief Finance Officer or under arrangements 
approved and controlled by him/her. 
 
19.2 Each Director shall notify the Assistant Director Resources as soon as possible and in the form 
prescribed by him/her, of all matters affecting the payment of such emoluments, and in particular: 
 
(a) appointments, resignations, dismissals, retirements, suspensions, secondments and transfers 
 
(b) absences from duty for sickness or other reason, apart from approved leave 
 
(c) changes in remuneration, other than normal increments and pay awards and agreements of general 
application 
 
(d) information necessary to maintain records of service for superannuation, income tax, national 
insurance, etc. 
 
19.3 Appointments of all employees shall be made in accordance with the regulations of the Council and 
the approved grades and rates of pay. 
 
19.4 All time records or other pay documents shall be in a form prescribed or approved by the Assistant 
Director Resources and shall be certified in manuscript by or on behalf of the appropriate Director. The 
names of officers authorised to certify such records shall be sent to the Assistant Director Resources by 
each Director together with specimen signatures and shall be amended on the occasion of any change. 
 
20. TRAVELLING, SUBSISTENCE AND ATTENDANCE ALLOWANCES 
 
20.1 All claims for payment of car allowances, subsistence allowances, travelling and incidental expenses 
shall be submitted to the Chief Finance Officer, duly certified in a form approved by him/her, made up to a 
specified day of each month, within a prescribed period. The names of officers authorised to certify such 
records shall be sent to the Chief Finance Officer by each Director together with specimen signatures and 
shall be amended on the occasion of any change. 

Page 190



 

 

 
20.2 The certification by or on behalf of the Director shall be taken to mean that the certifying officer is 
satisfied that the journeys were authorised, the expenses properly and necessarily incurred and that the 
allowances are properly payable by the Council. 
 
20.3 Officers shall normally submit claims for expenses at monthly intervals. Any claims submitted more 
than two months after the expenses were incurred will be paid only with the express approval of the Chief 
Finance Officer. All claims for a financial year are to be submitted within one month of 31 March. 
 
20.4 Payments to Members, including co-opted members of the Council or its Cabinet, Committees or 
Sub-Committees, Panels and Working Parties, who are entitled to claim travelling or other allowances will be 
made by the Chief Finance Officer upon receipt of the prescribed form duly completed. Any claims submitted 
more than two months after the expenses were incurred will be paid only with the express approval of the 
Monitoring Officer. All claims for a financial year are to be submitted within one month of 31 March. 
 
21. INCOME 
 
21.1 The collection of all money due to the Council shall be under the supervision of the Chief Finance 
Officer and all systems, procedures and documentation involved in the assessment, collection, receipt and 
recovery of all income due to the Council shall be approved by him/her.  All account forms shall require 
remittances to be sent in accordance with instructions issued by the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
21.2 Subject to arrangements made by the Chief Finance Officer, each Director shall either furnish 
him/her with such particulars in connection with work done, goods supplied or services rendered and of all 
other amounts due as may be required to record correctly all sums due to the Council and to ensure the 
prompt rendering of accounts for the recovery of income due, or shall arrange to record those transactions 
and details in the appropriate system within his Department. 
 
21.3 When raising sales invoices on the Integra system, each Director shall ensure that the customer 
details, fees, VAT treatment, period covered and details of the debt are recorded accurately and that the 
debt can be substantiated if disputer by the customer. 
 
21.4 Recovery of outstanding sundry debts shall be administered by the Chief Finance Officer but 
responsibility for the debt lies with the originating Director, who shall liaise with the debtor and instruct the 
Chief Finance Officer on the best means of recovery. 
 
21.5 The Chief Finance Officer shall be notified promptly of all money due to the Council including 
contracts, leases and other agreements and arrangements entered into which involve the receipt of income 
by the Council and the Chief Finance Officer shall have the right to inspect any documents or other evidence 
in this connection as may be decided. 
 
21.6 All receipt forms, books, tickets and other such items shall be ordered and supplied to Departments 
by the Chief Finance Officer, who shall be satisfied with the arrangements for their control. 
 
21.7 All amounts received by an authorised officer of the Council shall be immediately acknowledged by 
the issue of an official receipt, ticket or similar voucher. 
 
21.8 All income received by an officer on behalf of the Council shall without delay be paid to the Chief 
Finance Officer, or, as directed, to the Council’s banking account or transmitted directly to any other body or 
person entitled thereto. No deduction may be made from such income save to the extent that the Chief 
Finance Officer may specifically authorise. Each officer who so banks income shall enter on the paying-in 
slip a reference to the related debt (such as the receipt number, invoice number or the name of the debtor) 
or otherwise indicate the origin of the cheque. On the reverse of each cheque, the officer shall enter the 
name of his/her Assistant Directorate, office or location, or otherwise identify the cashier. When a receipt is 
issued the receipt number should be indicated on the reverse of the cheque.  Where the banking covers a 
range of income sources the officer making the banking must ensure a return analysing the income and 
agreeing to the amount of the banking is forwarded to the Chief Finance Officer at the time of the banking. 
 
21.9 Personal cheques shall not be cashed out of money held on behalf of the Council. 
 
21.10 Every transfer of official money from one member of staff to another shall be evidenced in the 
records of the Departments concerned by the signature of the receiving officer, or by an official receipt. 
 

Page 191



 

 

21.11 Each Director shall as soon as possible after 31 March, and not later than a date specified by the 
Chief Finance Officer in each year, notify the Chief Finance Officer of all outstanding income due relating to 
the previous year which has not previously been notified. 
 
21.12 At least once per year, each Director shall, in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer, review 
scales of charges or fees relating to his/her Directorate in accordance with the Corporate Charging Policy, 
budget timetable and budget strategy. Consultation shall be carried out in accordance with the Corporate 
Charging Policy. Proposals should be approved by Cabinet or Committee as appropriate. 
 
22. EXTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS (PARTNERSHIPS, EXTERNAL FUNDING ARRANGEMENTS 
AND WORK FOR THIRD PARTIES) 
 
22.1 Partnerships are likely to play a key role in delivering community strategies and in helping to promote 
and improve the well-being of the area. Local authorities are working in partnership with others – public 
agencies, private communities, community groups and voluntary organisations. On other occasions the 
Council may agree to provide services funded by outside bodies, sometimes acting as an accountable body. 
There may be occasions when the Council is requested to provide services on behalf of other bodies, often 
provided under a Service Level Agreement. The External Arrangements Rules deal with the regulation and 
control of such arrangements. These rules should be followed in conjunction with those Rules. 
 
22.2 In particular, the key controls for Assistant Directors are:- 
 
Partnerships: 
 
(a) If appropriate, to be aware of their responsibilities under the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules and 
the Contract Procedure Rules 
 
(b) To ensure that risk management processes are in place to identify and assess all known risks 
 
(c) To ensure that project appraisal processes are in place to assess the viability of the project in terms 
of resources, staffing and expertise. 
 
(d) To agree and accept formally the roles and responsibilities of each of the partners involved in the 
project before the project commences. 
 
(e) To communicate regularly with other partners throughout the project so that problems can be 
identified and shared to achieve their successful resolution. 
 
(f) To ensure the Council’s insurers are informed of the proposals and suitable insurance is arranged. 
 
External Funding Arrangements: 
 
(g) To ensure that key conditions of funding and any statutory requirements are complied with and that 
the responsibilities of the Accountable Body are clearly understood. 
 
(h) To ensure that funds are acquired only to meet the priorities approved in the policy framework by the 
Council. 
 
(i) To ensure that any match-finding requirements are given due consideration prior to entering into 
long-term agreements and that future revenue budgets reflect these requirements. 
 
(j) To ensure that the consequences for the Council, or for any partners for whom the Council may be 
acting as Agent, of exceeding the funding or expenditure requirements are clearly set out and understood. 
 
(k) To ensure the consequences for the Council’s VAT position are understood. 
 
(l) To ensure the Council’s insurers are informed of the proposals and suitable insurance is arranged. 
 
Work for Third Parties 
 
(m) To ensure that proposals are costed properly in accordance with guidance provided by the Chief 
Finance Officer including consideration of any VAT implications. 
 

Page 192



 

 

(n) To ensure that contracts are drawn up using guidance provided by the Chief Finance Officer and that 
the formal approvals process is adhered to. 
 
(o) To issue guidance with regard to the financial aspects of third party contracts and the maintenance of 
the contract register. 
 
(p) To ensure the Council’s insurers are informed of the proposal and suitable insurance is arranged. 
 
23. PRUDENTIAL FRAMEWORK 
 
23.1 The Council is obliged to adhere to the requirements of the CIPFA Code on a Prudential Framework 
for Local Authority Capital Finance.  The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for preparing the indicators 
stipulated by the Code and reporting them to Council for approval.  The indicators are to be reviewed at least 
annually and on major amendments to the Capital Programme. 
 
23.2 The Prudential Indicators are to be taken into account in managing the Council’s finances, 
particularly its projections of future expenditure and resources. 
 
23.3 The Council is required to approve and keep up to date a Treasury Management Policy Statement 
and agree an annual Strategy Statement to direct its treasury activities. 
 
23.4 Capital financing decisions are to be made in accordance with the Council’s Treasury Management 
Policy and Strategy and the Prudential Code. 
 
23.5 The Council’s performance against its prudential indicators should be monitored regularly by the 
Chief Finance Officer and reported to Council and Performance Sub-Committee at least once during each 
year and at the end of each year. 
 
24. INVESTMENTS, BORROWINGS, LEASING AND TRUST FUNDS 
 
24.1 All investments and borrowing of money and leasing arrangements shall be made in the name of the 
Council. 
 
24.2 All investment and borrowing transactions shall be carried out in accordance with the Council’s 
approved Treasury Management Policy and Strategy Statements. 
 
24.3 All securities the property of or in the name of the Council and the title deeds of all property in its 
ownership shall be kept in the custody of the Monitoring Officer. 
 
24.4 The Chief Finance Officer shall be the Council’s registrar of stocks, bonds and mortgages and shall 
maintain records of all leasings and borrowing of money by the Council. 
 
24.5 All trust funds shall wherever possible be in the name of the Council. 
 
24.6 All officers acting as trustees by virtue of their official position shall deposit all securities etc. relating 
to the trust with the Chief Finance Officer unless the deed otherwise provides. 
 
24.7 The Chief Finance Officer shall seek and accept tenders for leasing facilities for the acquisition of 
assets where this is an appropriate method of financing subject to consultation with the relevant Portfolio 
Holder(s) and Director(s). 
 
25. LAND AND BUILDINGS 
 
25.1 The Monitoring Officer shall maintain a terrier or register of all Land and Buildings owned by the 
Council and a register of leases recording the responsible Assistant Director, purpose for which held, 
location, extent and plan reference, purchase details, particulars of nature of interest and rents payable and 
particulars of tenancies granted. 
 
25.2 All contracts for the acquisition or disposal of land/buildings shall be signed or sealed and the 
Monitoring Officer shall arrange for the secure custody of all title deeds. 
 

Page 193



 

 

25.3 The Monitoring Officer shall be responsible for instituting routine inspection of all Council Land and 
Buildings and ensuring that schedules of maintenance are prepared and work instigated and supervised on 
behalf of the Council as advised. 
 
26. INVENTORIES 
 
26.1 Inventories recording furniture, fittings and equipment, plant and machinery held by each Directorate 
shall be maintained by the Assistant Director concerned. The form of the inventories shall be settled by the 
appropriate Assistant Director after consultation with the Chief Finance Officer.  All items contained therein 
shall, as far as possible, be suitably marked as council property. 
 
26.2 Each Assistant Director shall be responsible for maintaining at least an annual physical check of all 
items on the inventory, for taking action in relation to surpluses or deficiencies and revising the inventory 
accordingly. In some areas, more frequent spot-checks may be appropriate in addition. The Chief Finance 
Officer must be informed of any significant discrepancies discovered on checking inventories. 
 
26.3 A copy of each inventory should be submitted to the Chief Finance Officer when requested. 
 
Where assets are to be disposed of the relevant Assistant Director shall be required to keep comprehensive 
records of the disposal. 
 
26.4 The Council’s property shall not be removed otherwise than in accordance with the ordinary course 
of the Council’s business or used otherwise than for the Council’s purposes except in accordance with 
specific directions issued by the Assistant Director concerned. 
 
27. STOCKS AND STORES 
 
27.1 Each Assistant Director shall be responsible for the care and custody of the stocks and stores in 
his/her Department and for the maintenance of appropriate records in a form approved by the Chief Finance 
Officer. 
 
27.2 Stocks shall not be in excess of normal requirements except in special circumstances with the 
approval of the Assistant Director concerned. 
 
27.3  Assistant Directors shall arrange for periodical test examinations of stocks by persons other than 
storekeepers and shall ensure that all stocks are checked at least once in every year. 
 
27.4 The Chief Finance Officer shall be entitled to receive from each Assistant Director such information 
as he/she requires in relation to stores for the accounting, costing and financial records.  Surplus materials, 
stores or equipment shall be disposed of by competitive tender or public auction unless the Cabinet decides 
otherwise in a particular case. Where the aggregate value of surplus materials, stores or equipment etc. to 
be disposed of does not exceed £5,000 in any one financial year, the appropriate Assistant Director, in 
conjunction with the Chief Finance Officer, shall be authorised to make the appropriate arrangements for 
disposal. 
 
28. AMOUNTS TO BE WRITTEN-OFF 
 
28.1 The Chief Finance Officer is authorised to write-off debts which for all accounts for an individual 
debtor do not exceed £20,000. 
 
28.2 The Chief Finance Officer is authorised to write-off stocks and stores up to £20,000 for any one item 
in any one financial year. 
 
28.3 The Chief Finance Officer, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder responsible for financial matters, 
be authorised to write-off irrecoverable business rate debts in excess of £20,000 but which do not exceed 
£100,000 and in all cases exceeding £100,000 where further recovery action is impossible because the 
debtor is subject to bankruptcy, liquidation or an administration order. In such cases to comply with 
requirements of the Official Receiver and other similar bodies the debt may be written-off on Council records 
prior to formal approval by the Chief Finance Officer providing that approval is given within 14 days. 
 
28.4 The Chief Finance Officer shall be supplied with such information with regard to write-offs as is 
considered necessary. 
 

Page 194



 

 

28.5 The Director People and Places is authorised to write-off debts relating to penalty charge notices. 
 
28.6 For debts which fall outside the categories stated in paragraphs 28.1 to 28.5 Cabinet approval will be 
required. This will be included in the Corporate Financial Monitoring process. 
 
29. SECURITY 
 
29.1 Each Assistant Director is responsible for maintaining proper security at all times for all buildings, 
stocks, stores, furniture, equipment, cash etc., under his/her control. 
 
29.2 Maximum limits for cash holdings shall be agreed with the Chief Finance Officer and shall not be 
exceeded without his/her express permission. 
 
29.3 Persons responsible for keys to safes and similar containers shall make arrangements to ensure the 
safe custody of the keys at all times; the loss of any such keys must be reported to the Chief Finance Officer 
immediately. 
 
29.4 Each Assistant Director shall maintain a register of key holders in a secure place. 
 
29.5 The Assistant Director Policy and Performance shall be responsible for maintaining proper security 
and privacy as respects information held in the computer installation. 
 
29.6 The responsibility for all hardware, software, information held and ensuring that the standards as set 
by the Assistant Director Policy and Performance within each Directorate rests with the appropriate Director. 
 
29.7 The security of personal possessions in the work environment is the responsibility of the owner and 
the Council will accept no responsibility for the security of any items not necessary for the service of the 
Council. 
 
30. INSURANCES 
 
30.1 The Chief Finance Officer shall effect all insurance cover, where appropriate by competitive 
tendering, and negotiate all claims in consultation with appropriate Assistant Directors where necessary. 
 
30.2 Assistant Directors shall notify the Chief Finance Officer immediately of all new risks, properties or 
vehicles which may require to be insured and of any alterations affecting existing insurances. 
 
30.3 Assistant Directors shall forthwith notify the Chief Finance Officer in writing of any loss, liability or 
damage or any event likely to lead to any claim against the Council. 
 
30.4 All appropriate employees of the Council shall be included in a suitable fidelity guarantee insurance. 
 
30.5 The Chief Finance Officer shall annually, or at such other period as is considered necessary, review 
the level of risk and external insurance in consultation with the appropriate Assistant Director. 
 
31. FINANCIAL STATIONERY 
 
31.1 All official receipt forms, cheques, tickets, stores requisition notes, order books and other documents 
representing money shall be ordered, controlled and issued by and be in the custody of the Chief Finance 
Officer, who shall supply the requirements of all Directorates.  A register shall be kept by him of all receipts 
and issues of such documents, and each issue shall be acknowledged by the signature of the officer to 
whom the issue is made, the quantity issued to be determined by ascertained needs.  The officer 
responsible for the stationery shall ensure that it is stored in a secure place and that unauthorised access is 
prevented. 
 
32. INDEMNITIES 
 
32.1 Directors should consult with the Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer regarding the terms of 
any indemnity which the Council is requested to give. 
 

Page 195



 

 

33. IRREGULARITIES 
 
33.1 Whenever any matter arises which involves, or is thought to involve, financial irregularities 
concerning cash, stores or other property of the Council, or any suspected irregularity in the exercise of its 
functions the Director concerned shall immediately notify the Chief Finance Officer who shall take such steps 
as he/she considers necessary by way of investigation and report as detailed in the Anti-Bribery, Fraud and 
Corruption Policy. Directors should, meanwhile, take any appropriate action to prevent further loss and 
secure records and documents against removal or alteration. 
 
33.2 The Chief Finance Officer should decide whether to involve the Police in matters of serious 
irregularities and inform the Leader or appropriate Chairman accordingly. 
 
33.3 Full details of procedures for dealing with suspected irregularities are given in the Anti-Bribery, Fraud 
and Corruption Policy. 
 
Definitions of principal irregularities are: 
 
Fraud is ‘the intentional distortion of financial statements or other records by persons internal or external to 
the Authority which is carried out to conceal the misappropriation of assets or otherwise for gain’.  
 
Theft is ’dishonestly appropriating property belonging to another with the intention of permanently depriving 
them’. 
 
Corruption is ‘the offering, giving, soliciting or acceptance of an inducement or reward which may influence 
the action of any person’. 
 
Bribery is the offer, promise or giving of a financial or other advantage to another person, intending to 
induce them to perform improperly a relevant function or activity, or to reward a person for such improper 
performance. 
 
33. DEPARTURES TO FINANCIAL PROCEDURE RULES 
 
33.1 In the event of it being impracticable to apply any of these rules in any particular case, the Chief 
Finance Officer is authorised to waive compliance, subject to reporting any major departures to the next 
following Cabinet. 
 

Page 196



 

 

CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 

 
BRIEF GUIDE 
 
SECTION 1:  SCOPE OF CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 
 
1. BASIC PRINCIPLES 
2. DIRECTORS’ AND ASSISTANT DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES 
3. EXEMPTIONS 
4. FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS 
5. CONSORTIA 
6. COLLABORATIVE AGREEMENTS 
7. PARTNERSHIPS 
8. ACCOUNTABLE BODY 
9. E-PROCUREMENT 
10. RELEVANT CONTRACTS 
 
SECTION 2: COMMON REQUIREMENTS 
 
11. STEPS PRIOR TO PROCUREMENT 
12. TRANSFER OF UNDERTAKINGS PROTECTION OF EMPLOYEES 
13. NON-COMMERCIAL CONSIDERATIONS, EQUALITIES & COMMUNITY BENEFIT 
14. RECORDS 
15. TENDER PROCEDURE 
 
SECTION 3: CONDUCTING PROCUREMENT AND DISPOSAL 
 
16. FINANCIAL LIMITS AND THRESHOLDS 
17. AWARD CRITERIA 
18. QUOTATIONS 
19. ITT 
20. SUBMISSION AND RECEIPT OF TENDERS/QUOTATIONS 
21. OPENING OF TENDERS/QUOTATIONS 
22. CLARIFICATION PROCEDURES  
23. EVALUATION 
24. AWARD 
 
SECTION 4: CONTRACT AND OTHER FORMALITIES 
 
25. CONTRACT FORMALITIES 
26. SAFEGUARDS FOR DUE PERFORMANCE 
27. PREVENTION OF CORRUPTION 
28. DECLARATION OF INTEREST 
 
SECTION 5: CONTRACT MANAGEMENT 
 
29. MANAGING CONTRACTS 
30. RISK ASSESSMENT AND CONTINGENCY PLANNING 
31. CONTRACT MONITORING, EVALUATION AND REVIEW 
32. GLOSSARY 
 

Page 197



 

 

BRIEF GUIDE TO CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 
 
These Contract Procedure Rules (issued in accordance with section 135 of the Local Government Act 1972) 
are intended to promote good procurement practice and public accountability and deter corruption, ensuring 
value for money on all Council spend. The rules are the best defence against allegations that a procurement 
process has been conducted unlawfully. 
 
Legal challenges against public procurement are increasing with potentially serious consequences for the 
Council and its officers if procurement activity is not undertaken to the highest standards of probity and 
professionalism. 
 
These Rules are complimented by the Sustainable Procurement and Commissioning Strategy and the 
Procurement Toolkit maintained by the Procurement Team. The guidance can be found on the Council’s 
SharePoint. 
 
For the purposes of these rules, where there is a requirement for communication to be in writing, this shall be 
deemed to include e-mail transmissions as well as hard copy. In addition, the term “contract”, refers to both 
paper/hard copy documents and process and their replication by electronic media. 
 
In accordance with the Constitution, the Monitoring Officer in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer, is 
authorised to make technical amendments from time to time to these Contract Procedure Rules. 
 
Important Tips. 
 

 Follow the rules if you procure goods, services or building work. This is very much in your own 
interest as well as that of the Council. 

 Ensure that all known future procurements projects are placed on the Council’s Procurement 
Schedule in advance as part of the annual review or as they arise. 

 Take all necessary legal, financial, HR and professional advice. Do this early in the procurement 
process to avoid abortive effort and to allow time for consideration of all relevant issues. 

 Declare any personal conflict of interest, financial or otherwise, in a contract. Corruption is a criminal 
offence. 

 Check you have correct and appropriate authorisation before you proceed. 

 Check whether there is an existing contract or an appropriate framework agreement that you can 
make use of before undergoing a competitive process. 

 Consider your procurement objectives and available procurement routes such as collaboration, use 
of framework agreements or exemptions/waivers at the outset. 

 Consider risk, including non-financial factors, at the outset e.g. data protection, safeguarding. 

 If your procurement affects any of the Council’s land and building you must contact the Corporate 
Asset Manager. 

 Use the Council’s chosen e-tendering portal, The Chest. 

 Use the Procurement Toolkit that can be found on SharePoint. 

 Ensure you have agreed your contract documents including selection and award criteria, weightings 
and draft terms and conditions before you publish any OJEU advert, Pre-qualification Questionnaire 
(PQQ) or tender. 

 Pre-market engagement in now allowed and encouraged under the Public Contracts Regulations 
2015. The nature of the pre-market engagement should be agreed with the Procurement Team. 
Once the procurement has commenced contact should be via The Chest only. 

 Tenders take time with minimum timescales specified for some aspects of the process. Ensure you 
consult with the Procurement Team to draw up an appropriate procurement timetable. For tenders 
above the OJEU threshold minimum timescales are mandatory by law.  

 Take into account mobilisation periods, elections, public holidays and other events which may impact 
the decision making or implementation process.  

 Take into account any approval process (including Forward Plan) if required by the Procurement 
Schedule or if your procurement is not on the Procurement Schedule. 

Page 198



 

 

 Ensure your service and any potential changes being considered as part of this procurement are 
assessed for their ultimate social value, impact on equality and impact on sustainability before 
proceeding. 

 Keep bids confidential during the bidding process. 

 Keep records of dealings with suppliers and contractors. 

 Complete a written contract where appropriate, and  Council order before the supply of goods, 
services or works begin. 

 Nominate an appropriately qualified contract manager with responsibility for ensuring the contract 
delivers as intended. 

 Share lessons learned about what went well or not so well during the procurement, feedback to the 
Procurement Team. 

 Assess each contract 6-12 months after award to see how well it met the procurement needs and 
Value for Money requirements. 

 Remember that all information regarding your procurement process could be subject to a Freedom of 
Information Request or Environmental Information Regulations request. Requests for information 
concerning tender processes and suppliers/contractors are relatively common and publication of 
tenders is part of the movement towards greater transparency. However, before releasing any 
information consult the Principal Performance and Intelligence Officer and the Procurement Team. 

 Under the Government’s transparency requirements all contracts over £10,000 must be included on 
the electronic contracts register once the contract is awarded or extended. This should also include 
waivers and exemptions. 

 
SECTION 1: SCOPE OF CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 
 
1. BASIC PRINCIPLES 
 
1.1 The following basic principles shall apply to all procurement and disposal procedures and contracts:- 
 

 All procurement activity will comply with the EU Treaty and Procurement Directives, UK Legislation, 
the Council Constitution and all other relevant policies and procedures; 

 The Council will undertake procurement activity using the most efficient and effective methods and 
will select the most appropriate delivery mechanisms to ensure Value for Money; 

 All procurement activity will include due consideration of social, economic and environmental factors 
and will be assessed on Whole Life Costing; 

 Robust contract management will support improved service delivery through continuous 
improvement in the quality of goods, works and services; and 

 Procurement will be fair, open and transparent and undertaken to the highest standards of probity, 
integrity, honesty and professionalism. 

 
1.2 These rules apply equally to tenders and requests for quotations. 
 
1.3 All contracts must have an appropriate funded budget. 
 
1.4 These Contract Procedure Rules shall be reviewed and updated annually. These Rules and 
Amendments to them shall be agreed and approved by the full Council. 
 
2. DIRECTORS’ AND ASSISTANT DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
2.1 Directors and Assistant Directors shall:- 
 
2.1.1 Review and update the Council’s Procurement Schedule (including exemptions and waivers) at least 
annually. 
 
2.1.2 Ensure the central registers of: 
 
 (a) contracts completed by signature, rather than by the Council’s seal and arrange their 

safekeeping on Council premises; 

Page 199



 

 

 
 (b) exemptions recorded under Rule 3; 
 
 (c) are updated for all procurements. 
 
2.1.3 Compile and keep under continuous review a written schedule of all standing delegations made by 
them under these Contract Procedures 
 
3. EXEMPTIONS AND WAIVERS 
 
Exemptions 
 
3.1 Nothing in these Rules shall require written quotations or tenders to be invited if:- 
 
 (a) the total estimated value is less than £10,000 although obtaining quotes to ensure best 

value is encouraged. Where quotations have been sought they should be retained in a format agreed 
by the Procurement and Contracts Manager; or 

 
 (b) the goods, services or works are proprietary or of such a specialised nature that they can 

only be obtained from one particular supplier; or are sold only at a fixed price and no reasonably 
satisfactory alternative is available; or 

 
 (c) the prices of the goods or materials are wholly controlled by trade organisations or 

Government Order and no reasonably satisfactory alternative is available; or 
 
 (d) a purchase is to be made at a public auction, provided that the person bidding is satisfied 

that the cost of the purchase is reasonable compared to the cost of alternative methods of purchase; 
or 

 
 (e) the purchase is through an alternative contract or Framework Agreement available to the 

Council and which has been put together as a result of a lawfully tendered competition; or 
 
 (f) the contract is with professional persons for the provision of services where the personal 

skill of those persons is of primary importance; or 
 
 (g) for other reasons certified by the relevant Director there would be no genuine competition; or 
 
 (h) the contract is for the execution of work, the supply of goods, or services certified by the 

relevant Director as being required so urgently as not to permit the invitation of quotations or tenders; 
or 

 
 (i) the works to be executed or the goods, works or services fall within the scope of the existing 

contract; an extension of an existing contract as stated in the initial contract agreement; or 
 
 (j) the works to be executed or the goods, works or services fall within the scope of an existing 

contract where there is a genuinely justifiable case to use the existing contract to maintain continuity 
of supply. Extensions will not be considered where to do so would breach EU Procurement 
legislation. 

 
The Procurement Team and the Chief Finance Officer must be consulted before an exemption is agreed by 
the relevant Director under clauses (b) to (j). These exemptions will be included in the Procurement 
Schedule or, if issued under clauses (b) to (j), will be reported by the relevant Director as part of the 
Corporate Financial Monitoring process. 
 
Waiving the Rules 
 
3.2.1 Subject to UK and EU law any of these rules may be waived in consultation with the Procurement 
Team and the Chief Finance Officer. Waivers should be included in the Procurement Schedule to be 
approved by Council as part of the budget setting process. If this is not possible, waivers shall be approved 
by the Monitoring Officer where they are satisfied that to do so is justified in special circumstances and those 
special circumstances and the advantages and disadvantages of the alternative options are identified. 
Waivers should be reported to the next meeting of the Cabinet or relevant Committee of the Council if over 

Page 200



 

 

£100,000 or by the relevant Director as part of the Corporate Financial Monitoring process if less than 
£100,000. 
 
3.2.2 All waivers will be recoded centrally in a format agreed by the Procurements and Contracts Manager. 
 
4. FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS 
 
4.1 Where the Council identifies and adopts suitable Framework agreement(s) that have been tendered 
and awarded by central or local government or other public body or statutory undertaker the Council may 
benefit from using those agreements without entering into a separate procurement process, provided:- 
 
4.1.1 There are one or more suitable suppliers who are party to the framework; 
 
4.1.2 An options appraisal proportionate to the contract value has been conducted to ensure the council is 
obtaining best value; 
 
4.1.3 The duration of any call off contract that results is calculated to take account of the nature and 
volatility of the market for the goods, works or services that are being procured; 
 
4.1.4 All framework instructions are complied with, such as those relating to:- 
 

 which organisations can access the framework; 

 use of direct award or mini competition; 

 terms and conditions; and 

 contract duration; 

 
4.1.5 The use of the Framework Agreement is recorded in the electronic Contract Register. This should 
include framework reference numbers, lot numbers and the name and company registration number (where 
appropriate) of the supplier. 
 
5. CONSORTIA 
 
5.1 Where the Council joins one or more bodies/contracting authorities in a consortium or partnership 
and the contract is being tendered and awarded by that consortium or partnership, the Council shall not be 
required to invite further tenders, provided that these Rules have been followed to the extent that they are 
not inconsistent with the procedure(s) adopted by that consortium or partnership for awarding contracts. 
 
6. COLLABORATIVE CONTRACTS (EXCLUDING FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS) 
 
6.1 In order to secure Value for Money, the Council may enter into collaborative procurement 
arrangements. This may be with or through another local authority, government department, statutory 
undertaker or public service purchasing consortium. 
 
The views of the relevant Portfolio Holder shall be sought before any decision is made as to whether to enter 
into collaborative procurement arrangements. 
 
6.2 Before undertaking a collaborative agreement, Officers should contact the Procurement Team. 
Fundamentally it is the responsibility of the lead authority putting in place a collaborative procurement 
process or framework agreement to ensure the process is fully compliant with all relevant procurement 
legislation. However, the Council has a clear responsibility not to utilise any contractual agreement which is 
not fully compliant and can be held accountable should they do so. 
 
6.3 Where collaborative agreements are entered into the Officer must:- 
 

 clarify who is the contracting authority; 

 ensure there is a legal agreement that protects the interests of the Council, which may include the 
use of a memorandum of agreement; 

 ensure that where the overall contract values are above EU Thresholds the contract was let in 
accordance with EU procedures and that any procurement activity below the EU Thresholds is 
conducted with due regard to the EU Treaty-based principles; and 

Page 201



 

 

 ensure that the duration of any call off contract is calculated to take account of the nature and 
volatility of market for the goods, works or services being procured. 

  
7. PARTNERSHIPS 
 
7.1 Whenever the Council enters into a formal partnership the Council will ensure Governance 
arrangements are agreed in writing and include tendering responsibilities and arrangements. 
 
7.2 Where the Council acts as Lead Authority in the partnership these Contract Procedure Rules shall 
whenever practicable be followed. 
 
7.3 Before entering into contracts, written agreements shall be made with funding partners regarding the 
level of and conditions attached to any funding. 
 
7.4 Where the Council is not the lead partner, the tendering procedure rules agreed by the partnership 
shall be followed. 
 
8. ACCOUNTABLE BODY 
 
8.1 Tendering arrangements must conform with this Council’s and any appointed partner(s) Contract 
Procedure Rules, and be capable of providing evidence of this to the Council, its agents and auditors. 
 
N.B. Failure to follow the funding body’s tendering rule is likely to result in funds being clawed back, leading 
to a potential budget deficit to be financed by the Council 
 
9. E-PROCUREMENT 
 
9.1 The use of e-procurement technology does not negate the requirement to comply with all elements of 
these Contract Procedure Rules, particularly those relating to competition and Value for Money. 
 
10. RELEVANT CONTRACTS 
 
10.1 All Relevant Contracts must comply with these Contract Procedure Rules. A Relevant Contract is 
any arrangement made by, or on behalf of, the Council, other than those in 10.2 below. 
 
10.2 Relevant Contracts do not include: 
 

 contracts of employment which make an individual a direct employee of the Council, or 

 agreements regarding the acquisition, disposal, or transfer of land (for which the Financial 
Framework shall apply). 

 
10.3 Providing Services to External Organisations 
 

 The Monitoring Officer, the Chief Finance Officer, other Directors as appropriate, Financial Services 
(insurance) and the Procurement Team must be consulted where contracts to work for organisations 
other than the Council are contemplated. 

 
SECTION 2: COMMON REQUIREMENTS 
 
11. STEPS PRIOR TO PROCUREMENT 
 
11.1 As part of the budget process for the following financial year, the Council will prepare a Procurement 
Schedule. This will be considered by Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Cabinet and approved by Council 
as part of the Budget and Policy Framework and will be included in the Forward Plan. 
 
11.2 The Procurement Schedule will include:- 
 
(a) the title of the contract; 
 
(b) the service and officer responsible; 
 

Page 202



 

 

(c) a brief summary of the goods or services covered; 
 
(d) proposed start and end dates; 
 
(e) a review date and extension period (if applicable); 
 
(f) estimated value by band (Under £10k, £10k - £100k, Over £100k to OJEU, Over OJEU); 
 
(g) the process to be followed, if known (e.g. request for quotation, invitation to tender, use of existing 
framework, full OJEU); and 
 
(h) the proposed decision route (officer Administrative Decisions, DED, Cabinet) 
 
11.3 Each Assistant Director is responsible for ensuring the Procurement Schedule is updated. It should 
include waivers and exemptions. 
 
11.4 At the beginning of each financial year the Council  shall publish a Prior Information notice (PIN) in 
the Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU) listing the contracts for supplies or services above the 
relevant EU thresholds that it expects to procure during that financial year. In relation to works contracts the 
Council shall publish a PIN as above when the works have been approved. The formal advice of the 
Monitoring Officer must be sought for the following contracts: 
 

 where the Contract value exceeds the EU threshold 

 those involving leasing arrangements, where the advice of the Chief Finance Officer will also be 
required 

 where there may be significant Intellectual Property Rights, copyright and confidentiality 
considerations (e.g. in the case of consultancies) 

 where risk assessments show the contract to be of medium or high risk or those that are complex in 
any other way. 

 
11.5 Tenders and Requests for Quotation shall wherever practicable be widely and appropriately 
advertised to ensure equality of opportunity for potential suppliers to compete if they so choose. 
 
11.6 Officers must ensure that appropriate authorisation has been given to proceed with the procurement 
and that the processes within the financial regulations are followed. 
 
11.7 Officers must ensure that provision for resources for the management of the contract and for support 
from internal specialists, for its entirety, have been identified and where necessary included in a business 
case. 
 
11.8 Officers must assess the procurement process in a manner commensurate with its complexity and 
value. Officers must:- 
 

 appraise the need for the expenditure and its priority; 

 define the objectives of the procurement process; 

 conduct an options appraisal to consider how the contract should be packaged and what 
procurement method is most likely to achieve the objectives and demonstrate value for money, 
including internal or external sourcing, partnering and collaborative procurement arrangements; 

 assess the risks associated with the procurement process and how to manage them; 

 consult the Corporate Asset Manager for all procurement relating to the Council’s land and buildings; 

 consult end users, internally and externally, about their expectations, the proposed procurement 
method, and expected  contract standards and performance; 

 consider what terms and conditions (T&Cs) should be used, including use of:- 

o Council standard T&Cs for straight forward procurements; 

o the most recent edition of professional/industry standard T&Cs where appropriate (e.g. JCT 
Minor Works Contract); 

o specialist T&Cs drafted by Legal Services for more complex, high spend or high risk 
procurements; and 

Page 203



 

 

o the T&Cs relating to any framework (if applicable); 

 ensure conflicts of interest are identified, including where staff members have, directly or indirectly, a 
financial, economic or other personal interest which might be perceived to compromise their 
impartiality and independence in the procurement process. Any potential conflicts should be 
identified to the Monitoring Officer; and 

 set out these matters in writing if the Contract value of the Procurement exceeds £25,000. 

 
12. TRANSFER OF UNDERTAKINGS (PROTECTION OF EMPLOYMENT) REGULATIONS 2006 
(TUPE) 
 
12.1 In all cases where a request for Quotation or Invitation to Tender for services may result in a transfer 
of employees to or from the Council the Council will:- 
 

 issue a statement on the application of the Acquired Rights Directive(s) and the Transfer of 
Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006; and 

 consult staff who may be affected. 

  
13. NON-COMMERCIAL CONSIDERATIONS, EQUALITIES & COMMUNITY BENEFIT 
 
13.1 Under procurement law, public bodies are only able to take social and environmental matters into 
account in the decision to award a contract to the extent that those matters are directly relevant to the 
subject matter of the contract. However, in compliance with public procurement law, public bodies are now 
required to consider how social, economic and environmental improvements can be achieved through 
procurement. 
 
13.2 Inclusion of such criteria in specifications should be undertaken in accordance with the Sustainable 
Procurement & Commissioning Strategy and the Procurement Toolkit. 
 
14. RECORDS 
 
14.1 All contractual documents associated with Requests for Quotations and Tenders from successful and 
unsuccessful suppliers must be retained in accordance with the clauses below:- 
 
14.1.1 The method for obtaining bids 
 
14.1.2 copies of public notices 
 
14.1.3 any Contracting decision including exemptions and the reasons for it 
 
14.1.4 the shortlisting criteria and scoring 
 
14.1.5 the Award criteria and scoring 
 
14.1.6 the reason if the lowest price is not accepted 
 
14.1.7 Tenders/Quotations returned 
 
14.1.8 Any post tender interviews and clarifications including written notes of any interviews 
 
14.1.9 arrangement for contract management and monitoring 
 
14.1.10 communications with all Candidates and with the successful contractor 
 
14.1.11 Requisition for Supplies/goods 
 
14.1.12 Copy orders 
 
14.1.13 Delivery Notes 
 
14.1.14 Invoices, credit notes etc 
 

Page 204



 

 

14.1.15 Price Advices 
 
14.1.16 Contract Variations 
 
14.1.17 Write off Approvals 
 
14.2 A complete set of the original contract and tender documents must also be retained, including 
contract terms and conditions, specification, pricing schedule, evaluation models, correspondence and 
award decision and letter as either electronic or hard copies. All of the above will be safely stored on the 
Council’s e-tendering portal, The Chest when used to undertake a procurement exercise. 
 
14.3 Records required by this rule, must be retained in accordance with the Council’s document retention 
policy but in any event must be retained for the following: 
 

 For contracts below £60,000 in total estimated value – 3 years or the lifetime of the contract 

 For contracts £60,000 and above – six years after the expiry of the contract 
 
14.4 The Monitoring Officer shall have overall responsibility to ensure a register (the Contract Register) is 
maintained for all contractual arrangements. The Register will be continually reviewed and updated in line 
with all relevant procurement activity, by the Monitoring Officer and/or the Procurement & Contracts 
Manager. 
 
15. TENDER PROCEDURE 
 
15.1 For the purposes of this rule, all estimates of contract values shall be in accordance with the 
procurement toolkit. If for any reason this is not available the estimates are to be in writing and prepared by 
the relevant Director or a competent member of his/her staff. No contract for goods,  
 
15.2 No contract for goods, services, or works having an estimated value not exceeding £100,00 in value 
shall be made unless:- 
 
15.2.1 For contracts having an estimated value of £10,000 but not exceeding £100,000 quotations are 
obtained from competent contractors through The Chest. 
 
Tenders (Below EU Threshold Values) 
 
15.3 No contract having an estimated value of £100,000 or more but below EU Threshold values 
applicable at the time shall be made unless the procedures below are undertaken:  
 
15.3.1 At least fourteen (14) days public notice should be given on The Chest and Contracts Finder using 
the Council’s standard documentation or a variation of such, and stating:- 
 

 the nature and purpose of the contract; 

 inviting tenders for its execution; 

 details of the award criterion; and 

 the last date for when tenders will be accepted.  

 
Framework agreement 
 
15.3.2 In accordance with Rule 4  
 
Pre-Qualification 
 
15.3.3 Where application has been invited by Public Notice in accordance with the Rules above, the 
invitation may require a pre-tender assessment (Pre-Qualification Questionnaire) to be undertaken and for 
the invitation to submit a tender to be limited to those persons who satisfactorily meet the requirements of 
that assessment. 
 
15.3.4 Where this applies the public notice must clearly and unambiguously state this fact. 
 

Page 205



 

 

15.3.5 The relevant Director shall select not less than 5 contractors from the list who have satisfactorily met 
the pre-qualification criteria to submit a tender. Where less than 5have satisfactorily met the pre-qualification 
criteria the maximum number of suitable contractors must be invited to submit a tender. 
 
15.3.6 A two stage procurement process including pre-qualification should not be used as standard practice 
but instead when the procurement and contract process is considered high risk. 
 
15.3.7 The Council shall only enter into a contract with a potential supplier if it is satisfied as to the 
suppliers’:- 
 

 eligibility that he/she is not disbarred from tendering; 

 financial standing; and 

 overall technical ability. 

 
Tenders above EU threshold values 
 
15.4 All supplies, services or works having an estimated contract value in excess of the values stipulated 
in the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 shall be undertaken strictly in accordance with the requirements of 
that legislation. 
 
15.5 All public notices for such contracts must be in the prescribed form and appear in the Official Journal 
of the European Union (OJEU), electronically transmitted via the e-tendering portal, The Chest and on 
Contracts Finder. 
 
15.6 Placement of additional local/national or other public notices must only be made after the date of 
despatch to OJEU and should contain the same fundamental criteria as the OJEU Notice. 
 
15.7 The advice and assistance of the Procurement & Contracts Manager must be sought prior to the 
despatch of any OJEU Notice. 
 
SECTION 3: CONDUCTING PROCUREMENT AND DISPOSAL 
 
16. FINANCIAL LIMITS AND THRESHOLDS 
 
16.1 All requests for quotations, tendering and contracting, other than detailed in Rule 3 Exemptions, shall 
be subject to the thresholds shown on SharePoint. 
 
16.2 The Council acting as an ‘Accountable Body’ may be subject to lower financial thresholds than 
specified in Appendix 1 as stipulated by the funding body 
 
16.3 The Council will regularly review and if appropriate revise the Financial thresholds listed on 
SharePoint. 
 
17. AWARD CRITERIA 
 
17.1 The basis of tender acceptance and award must be made clear in the tender documentation. Either 
 

 Most Economically Advantageous Tender; or 

 Lowest Price where payment is to be made by the Council; or 

 Highest Price if payment is to be received. 

 
As more fully described hereunder 
 
17.2 Contracts shall primarily be awarded on the basis of the Most Economically Advantageous Tender 
which is most likely to offer ‘Value for Money’ by a robust assessment of cost and quality. Setting evaluation 
criteria based solely on lowest prices should be done with extreme caution. 
 
17.3 For contracts having a value in excess of £100,000, or identified as likely to have significant 
environmental impacts(s) the evaluation of cost and quality shall include an assessment of ‘Whole Life 
Costs’ proportional to the relevant goods, works or services. 

Page 206



 

 

 
17.4 Unless there are exceptional reasons, the weighting given to price shall be between 60% and 85%. A 
lower figure than 60% will require the written approval of the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
17.5 An award on the basis of lowest price should be reserved for sectors where it is possible to precisely 
specify the goods or supplies to be procured or the items are otherwise identical. (For example basic gas 
and electricity supply prices but not where an element of the supply is to be from renewable or carbon 
neutral processes) 
 
17.6 The award criteria must be established before publication of Invitation to Tender (ITT) and must be 
included in the documentation issued to potential suppliers as part of the tender process. In the case of 
contracts that are estimated to be over the EU thresholds it is encouraged that the evaluation criteria is also 
published in the initial OJEU notice and is required to be included at the PQQ stage. 
 
17.7 Award Criteria must not include:- 
 

 non-Commercial Considerations; 

 matters which discriminate against suppliers from the European Economic Area or signatories to the 
Government Procurement Agreement; or 

 criteria used in selection and award - criteria should be distinguished separately at all times in the 
tendering process. 

 
18. QUOTATIONS 
 
18.1 All Requests for Quotations (RFQs) must include a specification that describes the Council’s 
requirements in sufficient detail to enable the submission of competitive offers 
 
18.2 The Officer must define Award Criteria that are appropriate to the Procurement and designed to 
secure an outcome giving value for money for the Council. 
 
18.3 All Quotations must specify the terms and conditions of contract that will apply. 
 
18.4 The Request for Quotation must state that the Council is not bound to accept the lowest or any 
Quote, and reserves the right not to award the Contract at all. 
 
18.5 All Candidates invited to quote must be issued with the same information at the same time and 
subject to the same conditions via The Chest. Any supplementary information must be given on the same 
basis. 
 
18.6 Quotations must be returned electronically via the Chest, or where an alternative procedure is 
adopted via email or in writing addressed impersonally to the relevant Director. 
 
18.7 The Assistant Director may accept the most advantageous Quotations received in respect of 
proposed contracts, provided they have been sought and evaluated fully in accordance with these Contract 
Procedure Rules. 
 
18.8 The authority in 18.7 may be subject to delegation for quotations under £10,000. However, the 
decision on acceptance must be taken by an Officer of appropriate seniority and experience and must be 
formally recorded. 
 
19. ITT 
 
19.1 Any Invitation to Tender issued by the Council shall include details of the Council’s requirements for 
that particular contract including:- 
 
19.1.2 A description of the supplies, services or works being procured; 
 
19.1.3 The procurement timetable including tender return date and time. Such date must allow a reasonable 
period for potential suppliers to prepare and submit their tender; 
 
19.1.4 A specification and instructions on whether variants are permissible; 
 

Page 207



 

 

19.1.5 The Council’s standard terms and conditions of contract, or other suitably prepared T&Cs with the 
agreement of Legal Services; 
 
19.1.6 A statement on the Council’s Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy including reference to the 
Whistle-blowing Policy (Confidential Reporting Code) and the Bribery Act 2010; 
 
19.1.7 The evaluation criteria and any weightings considered appropriate; 
 
19.1.8 The pricing mechanism and instructions for completion; 
 
19.1.9 The form and content of any method statements etc. to be submitted; 
 
19.1.10 A statement that the Council does not bind itself to accept the lowest or any tender; 
 
19.1.11 A statement that late tenders, incomplete tenders, tenders returned not using the means indicated, or 
where applicable, not returned in the envelope provided or bearing distinguishing marks that would identify 
the sender, or those containing an unauthorised alteration will be disqualified; 
 
19.1.12 Whether the Council is of the view that the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) 
Regulations 2006 may apply; 
 
19.1.13 A list of documents to be returned, and the rules for their submission; 
 
19.1.14 Any further information that will inform and assist those invited to tender to prepare and submit 
tenders; 
 
19.1.15 A Non-Collusive Tendering Certificate for completion and return by the tenderer; and 
 
19.1.16 A statement that “The Council does not bind itself to accept the lowest (highest), or any tender” 
 
19.2 Tenders invited in pursuance of Rule 22(1) of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 shall be 
returned electronically where the process has taken place via the e-tendering portal. 
 
19.3 Where submissions are required in other formats to support the process on The Chest they shall be 
addressed impersonally to the relevant Director. 
 
19.4 Tender return envelopes/labels shall be a plain colour. They shall bear the word ‘Tender’ followed by 
the tender subject, and clearly state the deadline for receipt of tenders in the top left hand corner. 
 
20. SUBMISSION AND RECEIPT OF TENDERS/QUOTATIONS 
 
20.1 Candidates must be given an adequate period in which to prepare and submit a proper 
Tender/Quotation, consistent with the complexity of the contract requirement. The EU Procedure lays down 
specific time periods which are required by law and must be adhered to. 
 
20.2 Electronic tenders and tender envelopes returned must only be opened after expiry of the closing 
date in accordance with the provisions of Clause 21 below. Any opening of tenders, (electronic or hard 
copy), prior to the tender return deadline will render the tender exercise invalid 
 
20.3 All tender responses shall be returned via the portal where they will be sealed until after the deadline 
for return has passed when only an appointed verifier can release them. 
 
20.4 Where supporting evidence is requested, tender envelopes on their return shall be date stamped on 
the outside with the date of their return by Reception/post room staff who will initial them and insert the time 
of their return. Envelopes will then be placed in the locked Tender Box where they will remain unopened until 
after the deadline for return has passed. 
 
20.5 Where the preferred method of the approved e-tendering portal is followed all quotations shall be 
returned via the portal where they will remain locked until after the final deadline for receipt of all quotations 
when only someone from the Procurement Team can release them. 
 
20.6 Where a paper-based exercise is followed for quotations under £10,000, quotation envelopes on 
their return shall be date stamped, the time of their return inserted and initialled by the staff who first receives 

Page 208



 

 

them. They will be forwarded to the relevant Director who will store them in a secure locked place where they 
will remain unopened until after the deadline for return has passed. 
 
21. OPENING OF TENDERS/QUOTATIONS 
 
21.1 Tenders and Quotations shall be opened at a single time. 
 
21.2 Where the preferred method of the approved e-tendering portal is followed all quotations shall be 
returned via the portal where they will remain locked until after the final deadline for receipt of tenders when 
only an appointed verifier can release them. 
 
21.3 The relevant Director and a designated member of his/her staff or two designated members of 
his/her staff shall open supporting documents to tenders and written quotations received under any other 
procedure or in the case of using the e-tendering portal an appointed verifier can release them. 
 
21.4 Where a paper-based exercise has been followed for quotations under £10,000 the Form of 
Tender/Quotation, Non-collusive certificates, form of bond and any priced documents submitted by the 
potential supplier shall be date stamped and those persons present shall insert their initials within the stamp. 
 
21.5 Any Tender/Quotation received after the appointed time for receipt of tenders/quotations for a 
particular contract shall be disqualified, other than under exceptional circumstances, and shall not be opened 
save to ascertain the name of the tenderer/potential supplier to whom it shall be returned immediately. The 
Monitoring Officer must agree if special circumstances apply. The circumstances must be recorded on the 
procurement file and reported to the Procurement Team. 
 
21.6 Where this is carried out as a paper-based activity the Tender and Quotation return envelopes, or 
photocopies thereof indicating the date and time of receipt shall be retained as part of the tender file. 
 
22. CLARIFICATION PROCEDURES 
 
General 
 
22.1 Providing clarification of an Invitation to Tender (ITT) to potential or actual Candidates or seeking 
clarification of a Tender is permitted only via The Chest. 
 
22.2 The Council may seek clarification via The Chest from potential suppliers in respect of their offer 
where appropriate. However the same opportunity must be afforded to all potential suppliers to ensure a 
transparent, non-discriminatory process that affords equality of opportunity. 
 
22.3 Any question points of clarification must be raised by potential suppliers via The Chest. Questions 
shall be answered promptly and only via The Chest. The same information must also be communicated in 
writing to all other potential tenderers to ensure transparency and equality. Consideration must be given to 
extending the timescales for submission if material clarifications are sought, particularly if clarifications are 
issued within 6 days of the submission deadline. 
 
Post Tender 
 
22.4 Discussions with Tenderers after submission of a Tender and before the award of a contract with a 
view to obtaining adjustments in price, delivery or content must be the exception rather than the rule and be 
within the scope of the contract.  
 
22.5 Post tender discussions may only be conducted in circumstances which do not put other tenderers at 
a disadvantage, distort competition or affect adversely the integrity of the competitive tendering process. 
 
22.6 Where during the tender evaluation process, examination of the most favourable tender or quotation 
reveals errors or discrepancies, which affect the tender/quotation figure the following process shall be 
followed:- 
 
22.6.1 If the errors or discrepancies are of an arithmetic nature that results in the tender figure being 
reduced from that submitted, the tenderer etc. will be informed of the errors or discrepancies involved and 
that the Council intends to treat the tender figure as reduced to reflect the true arithmetic value of the 
tender/quotation; 
 

Page 209



 

 

22.6.2 If the errors or discrepancies are of an arithmetic nature that results in the tender figure being 
increased from that submitted, the tenderer etc. will be informed of the errors or discrepancies involved and 
afforded the opportunity to confirm the tender/quotation figure at the original submitted price or to withdraw 
the tender/quotation offer; 
 
22.6.3 In all other circumstances, the tenderer etc. is to be given details of the errors or discrepancies and 
afforded the opportunity to confirm the tender/quotation figure or withdraw the offer. 
 
22.6.4 A reviewed tender price cannot be submitted by the tenderer at this stage unless the OJEU 
competitive procedure with negotiation procedure is being followed. 
 
22.6.5 If a tenderer etc. withdraws an offer as a result of 22.6.2 or 22.6.3 above the next most favourable 
tender shall be examined and treated in the same manner. 
 
22.7 Where post-tender discussions result in a fundamental change to the specification, scope or contract 
terms, the contract must not be awarded, but re-tendered. 
 
23. EVALUATION 
 
23.1 Evaluation means assessment of tenders submitted against published selection and award criteria. 
Evaluation must only be against the published criteria, any other assessment which has not been stated on 
commencement of the procurement is against the principles of fairness and transparency. 
 
23.2 Apart from any debriefing required or permitted by these Contract Procedure Rules, the 
confidentiality of Quotations, Tenders and the identity of Candidates must be preserved at all times and 
information about one Candidate’s response must not be given to another Candidate. This is subject to the 
requirements of legislation, for example the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 
 
23.3 Evaluation of the tenders must be carried out by a minimum of two officers of sufficient seniority, skill, 
knowledge and experience. The evaluation must be fully documented. 
 
23.4 The arithmetic in compliant Tenders must be checked. If arithmetical errors are found they should be 
corrected and notified to the Tenderer, who should be requested to confirm whether they wish their Tender 
to be evaluated with the amended amount or whether they wish to withdraw their Tender. 
 
23.5 Where no tenders are fully compliant with the specification, the advice of the Procurement Team 
must be sought. 
 
24. AWARD 
 
24.1 The most favourable tender or quotation may only be accepted where there is adequate provision in 
the Revenue estimates approved by the Council or an approved Capital Estimate.  
 
24.2 The most advantageous Quotations and Tenders received in respect of proposed contracts may only 
be accepted provided they have been sought and evaluated fully in accordance with these Contract 
Procedure Rules. 
 
24.3 Where tenders are to be accepted these must be done in accordance with the financial thresholds 
information held on SharePoint. 
 
24.4 Where the most favourable tender received is unacceptable, exceeds the budget provision, despite 
any adjustments that may be permitted under the Invitation to Tender and these Rules, a report on all 
tenders for that particular contract, and the options available shall be made to the Cabinet or relevant 
Council Committee for consideration and decision. 
 
24.5 Where the most favourable quotation received is unacceptable, exceeds the budget provision, 
despite any adjustments that may be permitted under the Request for Quotation and these Rules, a report 
on all quotations and the options available shall be prepared by the Assistant Director for consideration and 
decision by the relevant Director. 
 
24.6 Where a payment is proposed to be made to the Council, and the most favourable tender/quotation 
is unacceptable, or it is proposed to accept other than the most favourable tender/quotation a report shall be 
made on all tenders or quotation as described in 25.4 and 25.5 respectively. 

Page 210



 

 

 
24.7 At the conclusion of the tender exercise, having an estimated value above EU threshold values, and 
prior to any award being made, there shall be a minimum 10-day standstill period during which unsuccessful 
suppliers shall be debriefed in writing. No information, other than the following, should be given without 
taking the advice of the Monitoring Officer: 
 

 The criteria and weightings 

 The score of the bidder, the score of the winning bidder and the score of the other bidders which 
must be kept anonymous 

 The name of the winning bidder 

 The reasons for the decision, including the characteristics and relative advantages of the winning 
tender 

 
24.8 If formal objections to the intended award are raised the Officer shall not award the contract and 
immediately consult the Monitoring Officer and the Procurement & Contracts Manager. 
 
24.9 For below EU threshold procurement exercises suppliers shall be debriefed as to the outcome of the 
exercise taking into account the same principles of openness and transparency. 
 
24.10 Acceptance of other than the most economic advantageous Tender must be authorised as follows: 
 

 Up to Tender Threshold  
 
 By the Assistant Director. This authority will not be subject to delegation. Full details of the reasons 

for the decision must be recorded, signed by the Service Director and forwarded to the Procurement 
Team to be held on file. 

 

 Tender Threshold to EU Threshold  
 
 By the Delegated Executive Decision, based on the formal recommendation of the Director. Full 

details of the reasons for the decision must be recorded and held on file. 
 

 Over EU Threshold (OJEU procedure) 
 
 By the Cabinet, based on a formal detailed report submitted by the relevant Director. 
 

 Where the tender is covered by the EU Procurement Directives, then acceptance must comply with 
these. 

 
SECTION 4: CONTRACT AND OTHER FORMALITIES 
 
25. CONTRACT FORMALITIES 
 
25.1 All contracts having an estimated total value of £25,000 and above, and any other case where the 
Monitoring Officer so decides shall be in writing. 
 
25.2 Every such contract entered into on behalf of the Council shall be in a form approved by the said 
Director and shall be signed by at least two officers of the Council or made under the common seal of the 
Council attested by at least one officer in accordance with the Council’s Constitution. 
 
25.3 Contract formalities must be carried out and completed to the satisfaction of the Monitoring Officer 
before the contractor commences any work under the contract. 
 
25.4 Every such contract shall include 
 
25.4.1 The supplies, services or works to be furnished/delivered, had or done [including appropriate 
technical specification(s]; 
  
25.4.2 The price to be paid with a statement of any discounts or other deductions; 
 

Page 211



 

 

25.4.3 Payment terms which should normally state payment in arrears. However where payment in advance 
is necessary the rationale for this should be fully documented, and where payments in advance exceed 
£5,000 a documented risk assessment must be approved by the relevant Assistant  Director. 
 
25.4.4 The time or times within which the contract is to be performed/undertaken; 
 
25.4.5 Valid copies of the minimum appropriate insurance to be held by the contractor at the 
commencement of the contract and on each subsequent anniversary; 
 
25.4.6 Clauses(s) for the way in which any arbitration is to proceed under the contract; 
 
25.4.7 A clause prohibiting the contractor from transferring, assigning (directly or indirectly) to any person 
whatsoever, any portion of the contract without the prior written permission of the Council, or from subletting 
any portion of the contract without such permission other than may be customary in the trade concerned; 
 
25.4.8 In every contract for the execution of works or the supply of goods and materials and in every 
contract where the estimated value exceeds £60,000 (except where the contract is entered into under 
partnering arrangements) there shall be a consideration of the need for liquidated damages. The 
requirement and amount of such provision shall be determined in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer 
who shall consider the nature of the contract and its associated risks. The calculation shall be recorded and 
filed with the contract documents; 
 
25.4.9 A clause stating the retention of any appropriate amount determined following consultation with the 
Monitoring Officer that will be withheld until clearance of the Final Account. 
 
25.4.10 That all goods, materials and workmanship must be at least to the standard specified having regard 
to the relevant European, British or equivalent body, and must otherwise be fit for purpose; 
 
25.4.11 A clause empowering the Council to cancel the contract and to recover from the contractor the 
amount of any loss resulting from such cancellation, if the contractor shall have offered or given or agreed to 
give any person any gift, consideration or any kind of inducement or reward for doing or forbearing to do or 
to have done any action in relation to obtaining or execution of the contract with the Council; 
  
25.4.12 A clause empowering the Council to cancel the contract and recover from the contractor the amount 
of any loss resulting from such cancellation if the contractor or any person employed by him/her or acting on 
his behalf shall have committed any offence under the Bribery Act 2010 or shall have given any fee or 
reward, the receipt of which is an offence under Section 117(2) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
25.4.13 A clause prohibiting the Contractor from transferring or assigning, directly or indirectly, any portion of 
the contract to any person or organisation without the express written consent of the Council. 
  
25.4.14 A clause that the contractor, his staff, agents and any sub-contractors are required to comply with the 
Council’s Anti Fraud and Corruption procedures and the Whistle-blowing Policy (Confidential Reporting 
Code) for reporting any such events. A copy of the Whistle-blowing policy currently applicable shall be 
included in the schedule of documents under clauses 25.1 and 25.2 above. 
  
25.4.15 A clause that the contractor will comply with the provisions of:  
 

 The Council’s Equality and Diversity Policy including requirements of the Equality Act 2010; 

 All obligations of the Council under the Human Rights legislations; 

 All restrictions and requirements of the Council under Data Protection legislation; 

 All restrictions and requirements that may be imposed on the Council under the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000; and 

 The Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 and any other legislation made thereunder or relevant to 
the health and safety of employees. 

 The TUPE requirements (where applicable). 

 
25.5 Where a formal contract is not required the Director will notify acceptance in writing to the successful 
contractor and place the necessary order. This must include the Council’s relevant standard terms and 
conditions. 

Page 212



 

 

 
25.6 Where the annual amount spent with any one contractor or on any one specific type of goods, works 
or services exceeds £25,000 and outside an existing contractual agreement, a review must be carried out to 
assess the procurement method and a formal contractual agreement put in place. 
 
Sub Contractors 
 
25.8 Where any sub-contractor or supplier is to be nominated to a main contractor/supplier for the 
execution of a contract with the Council, these Contract Procedure Rules shall apply as if the Council was 
entering into a direct contract with the sub-contractor or supplier. 
 
25.9 Details of contracts must be entered on the Council’s contracts register 
 
26. SAFEGUARDS FOR DUE PERFORMANCE 
 
Liquidated Damages 
 
26.1 Every written contract must, unless the relevant Director in consultation with the Chief Finance 
Officer considers it inappropriate, provide for the payment of liquidated damages by the contractor in the 
event of his default. 
 
26.2 The level of damages required will be determined by the relevant Director, in consultation with the 
Chief Finance Officer. 
 
Failure to Deliver 
 
26.3 In every contract for the execution of work, supply of goods, materials or services having an 
estimated value of £25,000 and above a clause shall be inserted to secure that, should the contractor fail to 
deliver the goods, materials or execute the service or works or any part or portion thereof within the time or 
times specified in the contract, the Council, may without prejudice to any other remedy for breach of contract, 
either wholly or in part, or to the extent of such default, and to provide for the execution of the work or 
service by other means, or to purchase other goods or materials, as the case may be make good 
 

 Such default; or 

 In the event of the contracts being wholly determined, the unexecuted work or service or the goods 
or materials to be delivered 

 
The clause shall further secure that the amount by which the cost of providing for the execution of the work 
or service by other means, or the purchasing of other goods or materials, exceeds the amount which would 
have been payable to the contractor had he executed the contract, or portion thereof, within the time or times 
specified therein, shall be payable by the contractor. 
 
Performance Bonds 
 
26.4 The Council shall require and take sufficient security for the due performance of all contracts 
exceeding £60,000 where appropriate. For works contracts the amount of security shall be the retention of 
10% of the contract sum during the life of the contract, such retention to be released on issue of the 
certificate of practical completion of the contract. The use of, and level of, retentions on other contracts shall 
be agreed with the Chief Finance Officer prior to the publication of the proposed T&Cs. 
 
26.5 In any particular contract or class of contract the Chief Finance Officer may decide that the Council’s 
interest in the proper performance of the contract can be appropriately protected by specifying and taking a 
different form of security 
 
27. PREVENTION OF CORRUPTION 
 
27.1 The Officer must comply with the Code of Conduct and must not invite or accept any gift or reward in 
respect of the award or performance of any contract. High standards of conduct are obligatory. It will be for 
the Officer to prove that anything received was not received corruptly. Corrupt behaviour is a crime under the 
statutes referred to in Rule 27.2 below and is likely to lead to disciplinary action. 
 
27.2 The following clause must be put in every written Council contract (excluding framework call-offs):- 

Page 213



 

 

 
“The Council may terminate this contract and recover all its loss if the Contractor/Supplier, its employees or 
anyone acting on the Contractor/Supplier’s behalf do any of the following things: 
 

 offer, give or agree to give to anyone any inducement or reward in respect of this or any other 
Council contract (even if the Contractor / Supplier does not know what has been done); or 

 commit an offence under Section 117(2) of the Local Government Act 1972 or the Bribery Act 2010; 
or 

 commit any fraud in connection with this or any other Council order or contract whether alone or in 
conjunction with Council Members, contractors, suppliers, or employees. 

 
Any clause limiting the Contractor’s liability shall not apply to this clause.” 
 
28. DECLARATION OF INTEREST 
 
28.1 Every Officer and Member of the Council has a responsibility to declare any links or personal 
interests that they may have with purchasers, suppliers and /or contractors if they are engaged in contractual 
or purchasing decisions on behalf of the Council, in accordance with the applicable Codes of Conduct. 
 
SECTION 5: CONTRACT MANAGEMENT 
 
29. MANAGING CONTRACTS 
 
Freedom of information 
 
29.1 The Council shall fulfil its obligations under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (as amended) in 
respect of any application made under the Act in relation to the contracts it has entered into and the manner 
in which the contract was procured. 
 
Statistics 
 
29.2 The Procurement & Contracts Manager or such other officer nominated by the Chief Finance Officer 
shall be responsible for ensuring the Council meets its reporting requirements EU Rules required by the 
Department of Communities and Local Government or others. 
 
29.3 Directors and Assistant Directors shall upon request of the nominated officer provide the details and 
any information necessary to complete these returns with the minimum of delay. 
 
Extensions 
 
29.4 A contract for goods, services or works shall only be extended where the contract terms and 
conditions expressly provide for an option for extension. 
 
29.5 Any such extension shall be considered where the contract:- 
 

 has been successful in demonstrating performance targets identified in the original contract were 
met; 

 will demonstrate Service Improvement or innovative service delivery processes; 

 is able to demonstrate that such extension will deliver Value for Money; or 

 where there is a genuinely justifiable case to extend to maintain continuity of supply or site 
experience. 

 
29.6 Any such extension shall be subject to: - 
 

 adequate budget provision; 

 the extension being priced at the original contract rates subject to any adjustment mechanism set out 
in the contract; 

 the agreement of the supplier; and 

 compliance with EU Procurement legislation. 

Page 214



 

 

 
29.8 Any proposed contract extension shall be approved by the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
Consultants 
 
29.9 It shall be a condition of the appointment and engagement of the services of any consultant, not 
being an officer of the Council, who is to be responsible to the Council for the supervision of a contract, or 
design of any scheme etc. on behalf of the Council that: - 
 

 the appointment will be undertaken in accordance with these Rules which includes the use of 
appropriate framework agreements; 

 consideration will be given to any requirement for vetting, data protection, intellectual property rights 
etc.; 

 consideration will be given to the most appropriate form of payment, including based on inputs 
(usually time) or output based; 

 the consultant will be prohibited from bidding for the work, service etc. and any subsequent stage 
unless this was the specific purpose of their appointment; 

 that in supervising any contract on behalf of the Council the Consultant shall comply with these Rules 
as though he/she was a Director of the Council, subject to the modification that the procedure to be 
followed in inviting and opening tenders shall be approved in advance by the relevant Director; 

 at any time during the period of carrying out the contract procedure during his/her appointment, the 
Consultant shall produce to the Chief Finance Officer or authorised representative, on request, all the 
records maintained by him/her in relation to the contract; and 

 On completion of the appointment/contract he/she shall without delay transmit all records in relation 
to any contract to the relevant Director. 

 
30. RISK ASSESSMENT AND CONTINGENCY PLANNING 
 
30.1 For all contracts, contract managers must:- 
 

 maintain a risk register during the contract period; 

 undertake appropriate risk assessments; and 

 ensure contingency measures are in place for identified risks 

 
31 CONTRACT MONITORING, EVALUATION AND REVIEW 
 
31.1 Each Director responsible for the awarding of contracts, which provide for payment to be made by 
instalments, shall arrange for the keeping of a register, to the satisfaction of the Chief Finance Officer, to 
show the state of account on each contract between the Council and a contractor, together with any other 
payments and related professional fees. 
 
31.2 Payments to contractors on account of contracts shall be made only on a certificate issued by the 
relevant person. 
 
31.3 Subject to the provision of the contract in each case, every variation shall be authorised in writing by 
the relevant person. Each variation shall include an estimate of the increase or reduction in cost arising from 
that variation of the contract. Any variations must be within the scope of the contract. 
 
31.4 When the net effect of such variations exceeds the following limits, this shall be reported as soon as 
possible to the Cabinet or relevant Committee of the Council: 
 

 for contracts up to £100,000 (in amount or budgetary provision) – 3% of the contract sum or 
budgetary provision (but not less than £1,000) 

 for contracts in excess of £100,000 (in amount or budgetary provision) - £3,000 + 1.5% of the excess 
of the contract sum or budgetary provision over £100,000. 

 

Page 215



 

 

31.5 Provided that it shall not be necessary to report such net effect in the case of contracts undertaken 
under agency or contractual arrangements on behalf of another local or public authority where that authority 
has approved the cost of the variation. 
 
31.6 Where the relevant person issues a certificate and the amount to be paid on that certificate, when 
added to amounts previously certified for payment, would result in the contract sum or budgetary provision 
being exceeded, then the certificate shall be accompanied by a report fully explaining the position from the 
relevant person to the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
31.7 The final certificate of completion of any contract shall not be issued until the relevant person has 
produced to the Chief Finance Officer a detailed final statement of account and all relevant documents, if 
required. 
 
31.8 The Chief Finance Officer shall, to the extent that is considered necessary, examine final accounts 
for contracts and shall be entitled to make all such enquiries and receive such information and explanations 
as may be required in order to be satisfied as to the accuracy of the accounts. 
 
31.9 Every works contract and every other contract which is estimated to exceed £60,000 in value or 
amount shall include provision for liquidated damages, except where the contract is a partnering contract 
entered into under the Council’s procurement policy. Where there has been a delay in the completion of a 
contract and an extension of time is not appropriate to be authorised, the relevant person shall impose the 
liquidated damages clause in all instances, unless, after consultation with the Monitoring Officer, it is decided 
it is inappropriate to do so. 
 
31.10 A report as to final costs under each contract shall, after agreement of the final account, be 
incorporated into the Post Implementation Review submitted to the Senior Management Team, Cabinet or 
relevant Committee by the appropriate Director after consultation with the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
31.11 Claims from contractors in respect of matters not clearly within the term of any existing contract shall 
be referred to the Monitoring Officer for consideration of the Council’s legal liability and, where necessary, to 
the Chief Finance Officer for financial consideration, before a settlement is reached. 
 
31.12 Where a contractor enters into liquidation or receivers are appointed or the contractor makes 
arrangement or composition with his/her creditors, the relevant person shall report the full circumstances in 
writing to the Cabinet or relevant Committee of the Council as soon as they are known to him/her. 
 
GLOSSARY 
 
Procurement Schedule 
A plan identifying the projects and contracts that are expected to be procured during the financial year. 
Where possible the Procurement Schedule should also identify the lead officer and an outline timetable. This 
should be signed-off by the relevant Assistant-Directors, Directors and Council at the beginning of each 
financial year. 
 
Contract Period 
The period over which a contract is delivered. The period determined must comply with European and 
National legislation, allow for continuous improvement, enable appropriate exit strategies, and enable the 
contract to be packaged to encourage delivery in the most cost effective manner 
 
Contracts Register 
The register held by the Council containing of all written contracts entered into by the Council. 
 
E-Procurement / e-tendering 
An electronic procurement process using proprietary software or media to enable the tender/quotation 
process to be undertaken electronically. It provides all the controls applicable to manual tendering as 
required by these rules. 
 
EU Procurement Directives 
The Legislation setting out the defined mandatory procurement procedures that must be followed when 
procuring supplies, services or works above the pre-determined threshold values in force for the time being. 
 
EU Treaty-based Principles 

Page 216



 

 

The principles of the European Union which impact on all procurement regardless of value. These must be 
adhered to and include principles of equality, non-discrimination, transparency, mutual recognition and 
proportionality. 
 
Framework Agreement 
Contracts awarded following a compliant tender exercise that provides for the ‘call-off’ of supplies, services 
or works against a supplier. The Framework provides a non-binding offer without obligation; a binding 
contract coming into effect once the Council initiates a ‘call-off’ 
 
ITT 
Invitation to Tender 
 
OJEU 
Official Journal of the European Union. The advertising medium for tenders above EU procurement 
threshold values 
 
Performance Bond 
Applicable to contracts over £60,000 in value where there are potentially high levels of risk. The Council 
seeks security to mitigate such risk, and this is normally in the form of a parent company guarantee or a 
Performance Bond. 
 
Procurement 
The mechanism and processes by which the Council acquires the supplies (goods), services and works 
necessary to achieve delivery of its objectives. It will include all associated performance measurement, 
monitoring and other controls necessary to complete such delivery. 
 
Procurement Cards 
Approved purchasing cards generally used as a mechanism for ordering and invoicing low value goods and 
services. Purchasing Cards are not credit cards. 
 
Regulations/PCR2015 
The UK regulations implementing the EU public procurement directives, currently the Public Contract 
Regulations 2015. 
 
RFQ 
Request for Quotation 
 
Risk Management 
Risks associated with procurement exercises shall be identified, assessed and managed 
 
Supplier 
Any person, firm, organisation or body providing or potentially providing supplies (goods) services or works 
to the Council. 
 
Value for Money 
The optimum combination of quality and cost taking into account ‘whole life costs’. 
 
Whole Life Costs 
The costs associated with a procurement form the initial definition of need, to the actual procurement of the 
supplies, services or works, their delivery and operation through to the end of the useful life and/or disposal. 

Page 217



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 218



CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 

BRIEF GUIDE 

SECTION 1:  SCOPE OF CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 

1. BASIC PRINCIPLES
2. DIRECTORS’ AND ASSISTANT DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
3. EXEMPTIONS
4. FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS
5. CONSORTIA
6. COLLABORATIVE AGREEMENTS
7. PARTNERSHIPS
8. ACCOUNTABLE BODY
9. E-PROCUREMENT
10. RELEVANT CONTRACTS

SECTION 2: COMMON REQUIREMENTS 

11. STEPS PRIOR TO PROCUREMENT
12. TRANSFER OF UNDERTAKINGS PROTECTION OF EMPLOYEES
13. NON-COMMERCIAL CONSIDERATIONS, EQUALITIES & COMMUNITY BENEFIT
14. RECORDS
15. TENDER PROCEDURE

SECTION 3: CONDUCTING PROCUREMENT AND DISPOSAL 

16. FINANCIAL LIMITS AND THRESHOLDS
17. AWARD CRITERIA
18. QUOTATIONS
19. ITT
20. SUBMISSION AND RECEIPT OF TENDERS/QUOTATIONS
21. OPENING OF TENDERS/QUOTATIONS
22. CLARIFICATION PROCEDURES
23. EVALUATION
24. AWARD

SECTION 4: CONTRACT AND OTHER FORMALITIES 

25. CONTRACT FORMALITIES
26. SAFEGUARDS FOR DUE PERFORMANCE
27. PREVENTION OF CORRUPTION
28. DECLARATION OF INTEREST

SECTION 5: CONTRACT MANAGEMENT 

29. MANAGING CONTRACTS
30. RISK ASSESSMENT AND CONTINGENCY PLANNING
31. CONTRACT MONITORING, EVALUATION AND REVIEW
32. GLOSSARY

Appendix 2

Page 219



 

 

BRIEF GUIDE TO CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 
 
These Contract Procedure Rules (issued in accordance with section 135 of the Local Government Act 1972) 
are intended to promote good procurement practice and public accountability and deter corruption, ensuring 
value for money on all Council spend. The rules are the best defence against allegations that a procurement 
process has been conducted unlawfully. 
 
Legal challenges against public procurement are increasing with potentially serious consequences for the 
Council and its officers if procurement activity is not undertaken to the highest standards of probity and 
professionalism. 
 
These Rules are complimented by the Sustainable Procurement and Commissioning Strategy and the 
Procurement Toolkit maintained by the Procurement Team. The guidance can be found on the Council’s 
SharePoint. 
 
For the purposes of these rules, where there is a requirement for communication to be in writing, this shall be 
deemed to include e-mail transmissions as well as hard copy. In addition, the term “contract”, refers to both 
paper/hard copy documents and process and their replication by electronic media. 
 
In accordance with the Constitution, the Monitoring Officer in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer, is 
authorised to make technical amendments from time to time to these Contract Procedure Rules. 
 
Important Tips. 
 

 Follow the rules if you procure goods, services or building work. This is very much in your own 
interest as well as that of the Council. 

 Ensure that all known future procurements projects are placed on the Council’s Procurement 
Schedule in advance as part of the annual review or as they arise. 

 Take all necessary legal, financial, HR and professional advice. Do this early in the procurement 
process to avoid abortive effort and to allow time for consideration of all relevant issues. 

 Declare any personal conflict of interest, financial or otherwise, in a contract. Corruption is a criminal 
offence. 

 Check you have correct and appropriate authorisation before you proceed. 

 Check whether there is an existing contract or an appropriate framework agreement that you can 
make use of before undergoing a competitive process. 

 Consider your procurement objectives and available procurement routes such as collaboration, use 
of framework agreements or exemptions/waivers at the outset. 

 Consider risk, including non-financial factors, at the outset e.g. data protection, safeguarding. 

 If your procurement affects any of the Council’s land and building you must contact the Corporate 
Asset Manager. 

 Use the Council’s chosen e-tendering portal, The Chest. 

 Use the Procurement Toolkit that can be found on SharePoint. 

 Ensure you have agreed your contract documents including selection and award criteria, weightings 
and draft terms and conditions before you publish any OJEU advert, Selection Questionnaire (SQ) 
(previously known as a Pre-qualification Questionnaire (PQQ)) or tender. 

 Pre-market engagement is now allowed and encouraged under the Public Contracts Regulations 
2015. The nature of the pre-market engagement should be agreed with the Procurement Team. 
Once the procurement has commenced contact should be via The Chest only. 

 Tenders take time with minimum timescales specified for some aspects of the process. Ensure you 
consult with the Procurement Team to draw up an appropriate procurement timetable. For tenders 
above the OJEU threshold minimum timescales are mandatory by law.  

 Take into account mobilisation periods, elections, public holidays and other events which may impact 
the decision making or implementation process.  

 Take into account any approval process (including Forward Plan) if required by the Procurement 
Schedule or if your procurement is not on the Procurement Schedule. 

Page 220



 

 

 Ensure your service and any potential changes being considered as part of this procurement are 
assessed for their ultimate social value, impact on equality and impact on sustainability before 
proceeding. 

 Keep bids confidential during the bidding process. 

 Keep records of all dealings with suppliers and contractors. 

 Complete a written contract where appropriate, and Purchase Order before the supply of goods, 
services or works begin. 

 Nominate an appropriately qualified contract manager with responsibility for ensuring the contract 
delivers as intended. 

 Share lessons learned about what went well or not so well during the procurement, feedback to the 
Procurement Team. 

 Assess each contract 6-12 months after award to see how well it met the procurement needs and 
Value for Money requirements. 

 Remember that all information regarding your procurement process could be subject to a Freedom of 
Information request or Environmental Information Regulations request. Requests for information 
concerning tender processes and suppliers/contractors are relatively common and publication of 
tenders is part of the movement towards greater transparency. However, before releasing any 
information consult the Principal Performance and Intelligence Officer and the Procurement Team. 

 Under the Government’s transparency requirements all contracts over £10,000 must be included on 
the electronic contracts register once the contract is awarded or extended. This should also include 
waivers and exemptions. 

 
SECTION 1: SCOPE OF CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 
 
1. BASIC PRINCIPLES 
 
1.1 The following basic principles shall apply to all procurement and disposal procedures and contracts:- 
 

 All procurement activity will comply with the EU Treaty and Procurement Directives, UK 
Legislation, the Council Constitution and all other relevant policies and procedures; 

 The Council will undertake procurement activity using the most efficient and effective methods 
and will select the most appropriate delivery mechanisms to ensure Value for Money; 

 All procurement activity will include due consideration of social, economic and environmental 
factors and will be assessed on Whole Life Costing; 

 Robust contract management will support improved service delivery through continuous 
improvement in the quality of goods, works and services; and 

 Procurement will be fair, open and transparent and undertaken to the highest standards of 
probity, integrity, honesty and professionalism. 

 
1.2 These rules apply equally to tenders and requests for quotations. 
 
1.3 All contracts must have an appropriate funded budget. 
 
1.4 These Contract Procedure Rules shall be reviewed and updated annually. These Rules and 

Amendments to them shall be agreed and approved by the full Council. 
 
2. DIRECTORS’ AND ASSISTANT DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
2.1 Directors and Assistant Directors shall:- 
 

2.1.1 Review and update the Council’s Procurement Schedule (including exemptions and waivers) 
at least annually. 

 
2.1.2 Ensure the central registers of: 

(a) contracts completed by signature, rather than by the Council’s seal and arrange 
their safekeeping on Council premises; 

 (b) exemptions recorded under Rule 3; 

Page 221



 

 

 are updated for all procurements. 
 

2.1.3 Compile and keep under continuous review a written schedule of all standing delegations 
made by them under these Contract Procedures 

 
3. EXEMPTIONS AND WAIVERS 
 
Exemptions 
 
3.1 Nothing in these Rules shall require written quotations or tenders to be invited if:- 
 

 (a) the total estimated value is less than £10,000 although obtaining quotes to ensure best 
value is encouraged. Where quotations have been sought they should be retained in a format 
agreed by the Procurement and Contracts Manager; or 

 
 (b) the goods, services or works are proprietary or of such a specialised nature that they can 

only be obtained from one particular supplier; or are sold only at a fixed price and no reasonably 
satisfactory alternative is available; or 

 
 (c) the prices of the goods or materials are wholly controlled by trade organisations or 

Government Order and no reasonably satisfactory alternative is available; or 
 
 (d) a purchase is to be made at a public auction, provided that the person bidding is satisfied 

that the cost of the purchase is reasonable compared to the cost of alternative methods of 
purchase; or 

 
 (e) the purchase is through an alternative contract or Framework Agreement available to the 

Council and which has been put together as a result of a lawfully tendered competition; or 
 
 (f) the contract is with professional persons for the provision of services where the personal 

skill of those persons is of primary importance; or 
 
 (g) for other reasons certified by the relevant Director there would be no genuine competition; or 
 
 (h) the contract is for the execution of work, the supply of goods, or services certified by the 

relevant Director as being required so urgently as not to permit the invitation of quotations or 
tenders; or 

 
 (i) the works to be executed or the goods, works or services fall within the scope of the existing 

contract; an extension of an existing contract as stated in the initial contract agreement; or 
 
 (j) the works to be executed or the goods, works or services fall within the scope of an existing 

contract where there is a genuinely justifiable case to use the existing contract to maintain 
continuity of supply. Extensions will not be considered where to do so would breach EU 
Procurement legislation. 

 
The Procurement Team and the Chief Finance Officer must be consulted before an exemption is 
agreed by the relevant Director under clauses (b) to (j). These exemptions will be included in the 
Procurement Schedule or, if issued under clauses (b) to (j), will be reported by the relevant Director 
as part of the Corporate Financial Monitoring process. 

 
Waiving the Rules 
 
3.2.1 Subject to UK and EU law any of these rules may be waived in consultation with the Procurement 

Team and the Chief Finance Officer. Waivers should be included in the Procurement Schedule to be 
approved by Council as part of the budget setting process. If this is not possible, waivers shall be 
approved by the Monitoring Officer where they are satisfied that to do so is justified in special 
circumstances and those special circumstances and the advantages and disadvantages of the 
alternative options are identified. Waivers should be reported to the next meeting of the Cabinet or 
relevant Committee of the Council if over £100,000 or by the relevant Director as part of the 
Corporate Financial Monitoring process if less than £100,000. 

 

Page 222



 

 

3.2.2 All waivers will be recorded centrally in a format agreed by the Procurements and Contracts 
Manager. 

 
4. FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS 
 
4.1 Where the Council identifies and adopts suitable Framework agreement(s) that have been tendered 

and awarded by central or local government or other public body or statutory undertaker the Council 
may benefit from using those agreements without entering into a separate procurement process, 
provided:- 

 
4.1.1 There are one or more suitable suppliers who are party to the framework; 
 
4.1.2 An options appraisal proportionate to the contract value has been conducted to ensure the council is 

obtaining best value; 
 
4.1.3 The duration of any call off contract that results is calculated to take account of the nature and 

volatility of the market for the goods, works or services that are being procured; 
 
4.1.4 All framework instructions are complied with, such as those relating to:- 
 

 which organisations can access the framework; 

 use of direct award or mini competition; 

 terms and conditions; and 

 contract duration; 
 
4.1.5 The use of the Framework Agreement is recorded in the electronic Contract Register. This should 

include framework reference numbers, lot numbers and the name and company registration number 
(where appropriate) of the supplier. 

 
5. CONSORTIA 
 
5.1 Where the Council joins one or more bodies/contracting authorities in a consortium or partnership 

and the contract is being tendered and awarded by that consortium or partnership, the Council shall 
not be required to invite further tenders, provided that these Rules have been followed to the extent 
that they are not inconsistent with the procedure(s) adopted by that consortium or partnership for 
awarding contracts. 

 
6. COLLABORATIVE CONTRACTS (EXCLUDING FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS) 
 
6.1 In order to secure Value for Money, the Council may enter into collaborative procurement 

arrangements. This may be with or through another local authority, government department, 
statutory undertaker or public service purchasing consortium. 

 
The views of the relevant Portfolio Holder shall be sought before any decision is made as to whether 
to enter into collaborative procurement arrangements. 

 
6.2 Before undertaking a collaborative agreement, Officers should contact the Procurement Team. 

Fundamentally it is the responsibility of the lead authority putting in place a collaborative 
procurement process or framework agreement to ensure the process is fully compliant with all 
relevant procurement legislation. However, the Council has a clear responsibility not to utilise any 
contractual agreement which is not fully compliant and can be held accountable should they do so. 

 
6.3 Where collaborative agreements are entered into the Officer must:- 
 

 clarify who is the contracting authority; 

 ensure there is a legal agreement that protects the interests of the Council, which may 
include the use of a memorandum of agreement; 

 ensure that where the overall contract values are above EU Thresholds the contract was let 
in accordance with EU procedures and that any procurement activity below the EU 
Thresholds is conducted with due regard to the EU Treaty-based principles; and 

Page 223



 

 

 ensure that the duration of any call off contract is calculated to take account of the nature 
and volatility of market for the goods, works or services being procured. 

  
7. PARTNERSHIPS 
 
7.1 Whenever the Council enters into a formal partnership the Council will ensure Governance 

arrangements are agreed in writing and include tendering responsibilities and arrangements. 
 
7.2 Where the Council acts as Lead Authority in the partnership these Contract Procedure Rules shall 

whenever practicable be followed. 
 
7.3 Before entering into contracts, written agreements shall be made with funding partners regarding the 

level of and conditions attached to any funding. 
 
7.4 Where the Council is not the lead partner, the tendering procedure rules agreed by the partnership 

shall be followed. 
 
8. ACCOUNTABLE BODY 
 
8.1 Tendering arrangements must conform with this Council’s and any appointed partner(s) Contract 

Procedure Rules, and be capable of providing evidence of this to the Council, its agents and 
auditors. 
 
N.B. Failure to follow the funding body’s tendering rule is likely to result in funds being clawed back, 
leading to a potential budget deficit to be financed by the Council 

 
9. E-PROCUREMENT 
 
9.1 The use of e-procurement technology does not negate the requirement to comply with all elements of 

these Contract Procedure Rules, particularly those relating to competition and Value for Money. 
 
10. RELEVANT CONTRACTS 
 
10.1 All Relevant Contracts must comply with these Contract Procedure Rules. A Relevant Contract is 

any arrangement made by, or on behalf of, the Council, other than those in 10.2 below. 
 
10.2 Relevant Contracts do not include: 
 

 contracts of employment which make an individual a direct employee of the Council, or 

 agreements regarding the acquisition, disposal, or transfer of land (for which the Financial 
Procedure Rules shall apply). 

 
10.3 Providing Services to External Organisations 
 

The Monitoring Officer, the Chief Finance Officer, other Directors as appropriate, Financial Services 
(insurance) and the Procurement Team must be consulted where contracts to work for organisations 
other than the Council are contemplated. 

 
SECTION 2: COMMON REQUIREMENTS 
 
11. STEPS PRIOR TO PROCUREMENT 
 
11.1 As part of the budget process for the following financial year, the Council will prepare a Procurement 

Schedule. This will be considered by Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Cabinet and approved by 
Council as part of the Budget and Policy Framework and will be included in the Forward Plan. 

 
11.2 The Procurement Schedule will include:- 
 

(a) the title of the contract; 
(b) the service and officer responsible; 
(c) a brief summary of the goods or services covered; 

Page 224



 

 

(d) proposed start and end dates; 
(e) a review date and extension period (if applicable); 
(f) estimated value by band (Under £10k, £10k - £100k, Over £100k to OJEU, Over OJEU); 
(g) the process to be followed, if known (e.g. request for quotation, invitation to tender, use of 

existing framework, full OJEU); and 
(h) the proposed decision route (officer Administrative Decisions, DED, Cabinet) 

 
11.3 Each Assistant Director is responsible for ensuring the Procurement Schedule is updated. It should 

include waivers and exemptions. 
 
11.4 At the beginning of each financial year the Council shall publish a Prior Information notice (PIN) in 

the Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU) listing the contracts for supplies or services above 
the relevant EU thresholds that it expects to procure during that financial year. In relation to works 
contracts the Council shall publish a PIN as above when the works have been approved. The formal 
advice of the Monitoring Officer must be sought for the following contracts: 

 

 where the Contract value exceeds the EU threshold 

 those involving leasing arrangements, where the advice of the Chief Finance Officer will also 
be required 

 where there may be significant Intellectual Property Rights, copyright and confidentiality 
considerations (e.g. in the case of consultancies) 

 where risk assessments show the contract to be of medium or high risk or those that are 
complex in any other way. 

 
11.5 Tenders and Requests for Quotation shall wherever practicable be widely and appropriately 

advertised to ensure equality of opportunity for potential suppliers to compete if they so choose. 
 
11.6 Officers must ensure that appropriate authorisation has been given to proceed with the procurement 

and that the processes within the Financial Procedure Rules are followed. 
 
11.7 Officers must ensure that provision for resources for the management of the contract and for support 

from internal specialists, for its entirety, have been identified and where necessary included in a 
business case. 

 
11.8 Officers must assess the procurement process in a manner commensurate with its complexity and 

value. Officers must:- 
 

 appraise the need for the expenditure and its priority; 

 define the objectives of the procurement process; 

 conduct an options appraisal to consider how the contract should be packaged and what 
procurement method is most likely to achieve the objectives and demonstrate value for 
money, including internal or external sourcing, partnering and collaborative procurement 
arrangements; 

 assess the risks associated with the procurement process and how to manage them; 

 consult the Corporate Asset Manager for all procurement relating to the Council’s land and 
buildings; 

 consult end users, internally and externally, about their expectations, the proposed 
procurement method, and expected  contract standards and performance; 

 consider what terms and conditions (T&Cs) should be used, including use of:- 

o Council standard T&Cs for straight forward procurements; 

o the most recent edition of professional/industry standard T&Cs where appropriate (e.g. 
JCT Minor Works Contract); 

o appropriate levels of insurance; 

o specialist T&Cs drafted by Legal Services for more complex, high spend or high risk 
procurements; and 

o the T&Cs relating to any framework (if applicable); 

Page 225



 

 

 ensure conflicts of interest are identified, including where staff members have, directly or 
indirectly, a financial, economic or other personal interest which might be perceived to 
compromise their impartiality and independence in the procurement process. Any potential 
conflicts should be identified to the Monitoring Officer; and 

 set out these matters in writing if the Contract value of the Procurement exceeds £25,000. 

11.9 The Chief Finance Officer will set, from time to time, default levels of insurances appropriate for 
different types of procurement/contracts.  These default levels can only be reduced with the approval 
of the Chief Finance Officer. 

 
12. TRANSFER OF UNDERTAKINGS (PROTECTION OF EMPLOYMENT) REGULATIONS 2006 
(TUPE) 
 
12.1 In all cases where a request for Quotation or Invitation to Tender for services may result in a transfer 

of employees to or from the Council the Council will:- 
 

 issue a statement on the application of the Acquired Rights Directive(s) and the Transfer of 
Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006; and 

 consult staff who may be affected. 

  
13. NON-COMMERCIAL CONSIDERATIONS, EQUALITIES & COMMUNITY BENEFIT 
 
13.1 Under procurement law, public bodies are only able to take social and environmental matters into 

account in the decision to award a contract to the extent that those matters are directly relevant to 
the subject matter of the contract. However, in compliance with public procurement law, public 
bodies are now required to consider how social, economic and environmental improvements can be 
achieved through procurement. 

 
13.2 Inclusion of such criteria in specifications should be undertaken in accordance with the Sustainable 

Procurement & Commissioning Strategy and the Procurement Toolkit. 
 
14. RECORDS 
 
14.1 All contractual documents associated with Requests for Quotations and Tenders from successful 

and unsuccessful suppliers must be retained in accordance with the clauses below:- 
 

14.1.1 The method for obtaining bids 
14.1.2 copies of public notices 
14.1.3 any Contracting decision including exemptions and the reasons for it 
14.1.4 the shortlisting criteria and scoring 
14.1.5 the Award criteria and scoring 
14.1.6 the reason if the lowest price is not accepted 
14.1.7 Tenders/Quotations returned 
14.1.8 Any post tender interviews and clarifications including written notes of any interviews 
14.1.9 arrangement for contract management and monitoring 
14.1.10 communications with all Candidates and with the successful contractor 
14.1.11 Requisition for Supplies/goods 
14.1.12 Copy orders 
14.1.13 Delivery Notes 
14.1.14 Invoices, credit notes etc 
14.1.15 Price Advices 
14.1.16 Contract Variations 
14.1.17 Write off Approvals 

 
14.2 A complete set of the original contract and tender documents must also be retained, including 

contract terms and conditions, specification, pricing schedule, evaluation models, correspondence 
and award decision and letter as either electronic or hard copies. All of the above will be safely 
stored on the Council’s e-tendering portal, The Chest when used to undertake a procurement 
exercise. 

 
14.3 Records required by this rule, must be retained in accordance with the Council’s document retention 

policy but in any event must be retained for the following: 

Page 226



 

 

 

 For contracts below £60,000 in total estimated value – 3 years or the lifetime of the contract 

 For contracts £60,000 and above – six years after the expiry of the contract 
 
14.4 The Monitoring Officer shall have overall responsibility to ensure a register (the Contract Register) is 

maintained for all contractual arrangements. The Register will be continually reviewed and updated 
in line with all relevant procurement activity, by the Monitoring Officer and/or the Procurement & 
Contracts Manager. 

 
15. TENDER PROCEDURE 
 
15.1 For the purposes of this rule, all estimates of contract values shall be in accordance with the 

procurement toolkit. If for any reason this is not available the estimates are to be in writing and 
prepared by the relevant Director or a competent member of his/her staff. No contract for goods,  
Written quotations or tenders are not required for goods, services or works having an estimated 
value of less than £10,000 although best value should be obtained; this can be demonstrated 
through seeking 3 written quotes. 

 
15.2 No contract for goods, services, or works having an estimated value not exceeding £100,00 in value 

shall be made unless:- 
 
15.2.1 For contracts having an estimated value of £10,000 but not exceeding £100,000 quotations are 

obtained from competent contractors through The Chest. 
 
Tenders (Below EU Threshold Values) 
 
15.3 No contract having an estimated value of £100,000 or more but below EU Threshold values 

applicable at the time shall be made unless the procedures below are undertaken:  
 
15.3.1 At least fourteen (14) days public notice should be given on The Chest and Contracts Finder using 

the Council’s standard documentation or a variation of such, and stating:- 
 

 the nature and purpose of the contract; 

 inviting tenders for its execution; 

 details of the award criterion; and 

 the last date for when tenders will be accepted.  

 
Framework agreement 
 
15.3.2 In accordance with Rule 4  
 
Pre-Qualification 
 
15.3.3 Where application has been invited by Public Notice in accordance with the Rules above, the 

invitation may require a pre-tender assessment (Selection Questionnaire, previously known as a 
Pre-Qualification Questionnaire) to be undertaken and for the invitation to submit a tender to be 
limited to those persons who satisfactorily meet the requirements of that assessment. 

 
15.3.4 Where this applies the public notice must clearly and unambiguously state this fact. 
 
15.3.5 The relevant Director shall select not less than 5 contractors from the list who have satisfactorily met 

the pre-qualification criteria to submit a tender. Where less than 5 have satisfactorily met the pre-
qualification criteria the maximum number of suitable contractors must be invited to submit a tender. 

 
15.3.6 A two stage procurement process including pre-qualification should not be used as standard practice 

but instead when the procurement and contract process is considered high risk. 
 
15.3.7 The Council shall only enter into a contract with a potential supplier if it is satisfied as to the 

suppliers’:- 
 

 eligibility that he/she is not disbarred from tendering; 

Page 227



 

 

 financial standing; and 

 overall technical ability. 

 
Tenders above EU threshold values 
 
15.4 All supplies, services or works having an estimated contract value in excess of the values stipulated 

in the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 shall be undertaken strictly in accordance with the 
requirements of that legislation. 

 
15.5 All public notices for such contracts must be in the prescribed form and appear in the Official Journal 

of the European Union (OJEU), electronically transmitted via the e-tendering portal, The Chest and 
on Contracts Finder. 

 
15.6 Placement of additional local/national or other public notices must only be made after the date of 

despatch to OJEU and should contain the same fundamental criteria as the OJEU Notice. 
 
15.7 The advice and assistance of the Procurement & Contracts Manager must be sought prior to the 

despatch of any OJEU Notice. 
 
SECTION 3: CONDUCTING PROCUREMENT AND DISPOSAL 
 
16. FINANCIAL LIMITS AND THRESHOLDS 
 
16.1 All requests for quotations, tendering and contracting, other than detailed in Rule 3 Exemptions, shall 

be subject to the thresholds shown on SharePoint. 
 
16.2 The Council acting as an ‘Accountable Body’ may be subject to lower financial thresholds than 

specified in Appendix 1 as stipulated by the funding body 
 
16.3 The Council will regularly review and if appropriate revise the Financial thresholds listed on 

SharePoint. 
 
17. AWARD CRITERIA 
 
17.1 The basis of tender acceptance and award must be made clear in the tender documentation. Either 
 

 Most Economically Advantageous Tender; or 

 Lowest Price where payment is to be made by the Council; or 

 Highest Price if payment is to be received. 

 
 As more fully described hereunder 
 
17.2 Contracts shall primarily be awarded on the basis of the Most Economically Advantageous Tender 

which is most likely to offer ‘Value for Money’ by a robust assessment of cost and quality. Setting 
evaluation criteria based solely on lowest prices should be done with extreme caution. 

 
17.3 For contracts having a value in excess of £100,000, or identified as likely to have significant 

environmental impacts(s) the evaluation of cost and quality shall include an assessment of ‘Whole 
Life Costs’ proportional to the value of the relevant goods, works or services. 

 
17.4 Unless there are exceptional reasons, the weighting given to price shall be between 60% and 85%. A 

lower figure than 60% will require the written approval of the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
17.5 An award on the basis of lowest price should be reserved for sectors where it is possible to precisely 

specify the goods or supplies to be procured or the items are otherwise identical. (For example basic 
gas and electricity supply prices but not where an element of the supply is to be from renewable or 
carbon neutral processes) 

 
17.6 The award criteria must be established before publication of Invitation to Tender (ITT) and must be 

included in the documentation issued to potential suppliers as part of the tender process. In the case 

Page 228



 

 

of contracts that are estimated to be over the EU thresholds it is encouraged that the evaluation 
criteria is also published in the initial OJEU notice and is required to be included at the PQQ stage. 

 
17.7 Award Criteria must not include:- 
 

 non-Commercial Considerations; 

 matters which discriminate against suppliers from the European Economic Area or 
signatories to the Government Procurement Agreement; or 

 criteria used in selection and award - criteria should be distinguished separately at all times 
in the tendering process. 

 
18. QUOTATIONS 
 
18.1 All Requests for Quotations (RFQs) must include a specification that describes the Council’s 

requirements in sufficient detail to enable the submission of competitive offers 
 
18.2 The Officer must define Award Criteria that are appropriate to the Procurement and designed to 

secure an outcome giving value for money for the Council. 
 
18.3 All Quotations must specify the terms and conditions of contract that will apply. 
 
18.4 The Request for Quotation must state that the Council is not bound to accept the lowest or any 

Quote, and reserves the right not to award the Contract at all. 
 
18.5 All Candidates invited to quote must be issued with the same information at the same time and 

subject to the same conditions via The Chest. Any supplementary information must be given on the 
same basis. 

 
18.6 Quotations must be returned electronically via the Chest, or where an alternative procedure is 

adopted via email or in writing addressed impersonally to the relevant Director. 
 
18.7 The Assistant Director may accept the most advantageous Quotations received in respect of 

proposed contracts, provided they have been sought and evaluated fully in accordance with these 
Contract Procedure Rules. 

 
18.8 The authority in 18.7 may be subject to delegation for quotations under £10,000. However, the 

decision on acceptance must be taken by an Officer of appropriate seniority and experience and 
must be formally recorded. 

 
19. ITT 
 
19.1 Any Invitation to Tender issued by the Council shall include details of the Council’s requirements for 

that particular contract including:- 
 

19.1.2  A description of the supplies, services or works being procured; 
 
19.1.3  The procurement timetable including tender return date and time. Such date must allow a 

reasonable period for potential suppliers to prepare and submit their tender; 
 
19.1.4  A specification and instructions on whether variants are permissible; 
 
19.1.5  The Council’s standard terms and conditions of contract, or other suitably prepared T&Cs 

with the agreement of Legal Services; 
 
19.1.6  A statement on the Council’s Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy including reference 

to the Whistle-blowing Policy (Confidential Reporting Code) and the Bribery Act 2010; 
 
19.1.7  The evaluation criteria and any weightings considered appropriate; 
 
19.1.8  The pricing mechanism and instructions for completion; 
 
19.1.9  The form and content of any method statements etc. to be submitted; 

Page 229



 

 

 
19.1.10 A statement that the Council does not bind itself to accept the lowest or any tender; 
 
19.1.11 A statement that late tenders, incomplete tenders, tenders returned not using the means 

indicated, or where applicable, not returned in the envelope provided or bearing 
distinguishing marks that would identify the sender, or those containing an unauthorised 
alteration will be disqualified; 

 
19.1.12 Whether the Council is of the view that the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of 

Employment) Regulations 2006 may apply; 
 
19.1.13 A list of documents to be returned, and the rules for their submission; 
 
19.1.14 Any further information that will inform and assist those invited to tender to prepare and 

submit tenders; 
 
19.1.15 A Non-Collusive Tendering Certificate for completion and return by the tenderer; and 
 
19.1.16 A statement that “The Council does not bind itself to accept the lowest (highest), or any 

tender” 
 
19.2 Tenders invited in pursuance of Rule 22(1) of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 shall be 

returned electronically where the process has taken place via the e-tendering portal. 
 
19.3 Where submissions are required in other formats to support the process on The Chest they shall be 

addressed impersonally to the relevant Director. 
 
19.4 Tender return envelopes/labels shall be a plain colour. They shall bear the word ‘Tender’ followed by 

the tender subject, and clearly state the deadline for receipt of tenders in the top left hand corner. 
 
20. SUBMISSION AND RECEIPT OF TENDERS/QUOTATIONS 
 
20.1 Candidates must be given an adequate period in which to prepare and submit a proper 

Tender/Quotation, consistent with the complexity of the contract requirement. The EU Procedure 
lays down specific time periods which are required by law and must be adhered to. 

 
20.2 Electronic tenders and tender envelopes returned must only be opened after expiry of the closing 

date in accordance with the provisions of Clause 21 below. Any opening of tenders, (electronic or 
hard copy), prior to the tender return deadline will render the tender exercise invalid 

 
20.3 All tender responses shall be returned via the portal where they will be sealed until after the deadline 

for return has passed when only an appointed verifier can release them. 
 
20.4 Where supporting evidence is requested, tender envelopes on their return shall be date stamped on 

the outside with the date of their return by Reception/post room staff who will initial them and insert 
the time of their return. Envelopes will then be placed in the locked Tender Box where they will 
remain unopened until after the deadline for return has passed. 

 
20.5 Where the preferred method of the approved e-tendering portal is followed all quotations shall be 

returned via the portal where they will remain locked until after the final deadline for receipt of all 
quotations when only someone from the Procurement Team can release them. 

 
20.6 Where a paper-based exercise is followed for quotations under £10,000, quotation envelopes on 

their return shall be date stamped, the time of their return inserted and initialled by the staff who first 
receives them. They will be forwarded to the relevant Director who will store them in a secure locked 
place where they will remain unopened until after the deadline for return has passed. 

 
21. OPENING OF TENDERS/QUOTATIONS 
 
21.1 Tenders and Quotations shall be opened at a single time. 
 

Page 230



 

 

21.2 Where the preferred method of the approved e-tendering portal is followed all quotations shall be 
returned via the portal where they will remain locked until after the final deadline for receipt of 
tenders when only an appointed verifier can release them. 

 
21.3 The relevant Director and a designated member of his/her staff or two designated members of 

his/her staff shall open supporting documents to tenders and written quotations received under any 
other procedure or in the case of using the e-tendering portal an appointed verifier can release them. 

 
21.4 Where a paper-based exercise has been followed for quotations under £10,000 the Form of 

Tender/Quotation, Non-collusive certificates, form of bond and any priced documents submitted by 
the potential supplier shall be date stamped and those persons present shall insert their initials within 
the stamp. 

 
21.5 Any Tender/Quotation received after the appointed time for receipt of tenders/quotations for a 

particular contract shall be disqualified, other than under exceptional circumstances, and shall not be 
opened save to ascertain the name of the tenderer/potential supplier to whom it shall be returned 
immediately. The Monitoring Officer must agree if special circumstances apply. The circumstances 
must be recorded on the procurement file and reported to the Procurement Team. 

 
21.6 Where this is carried out as a paper-based activity the Tender and Quotation return envelopes, or 

photocopies thereof indicating the date and time of receipt shall be retained as part of the tender file. 
 
22. CLARIFICATION PROCEDURES 
 
General 
 
22.1 Providing clarification of an Invitation to Tender (ITT) to potential or actual Candidates or seeking 

clarification of a Tender is permitted only via The Chest. 
 
22.2 The Council may seek clarification via The Chest from potential suppliers in respect of their offer 

where appropriate. However the same opportunity must be afforded to all potential suppliers to 
ensure a transparent, non-discriminatory process that affords equality of opportunity. 

 
22.3 Any question points of clarification must be raised by potential suppliers via The Chest. Questions 

shall be answered promptly and only via The Chest. The same information must also be 
communicated in writing to all other potential tenderers to ensure transparency and equality. 
Consideration must be given to extending the timescales for submission if material clarifications are 
sought, particularly if clarifications are issued within 6 days of the submission deadline. 

 
Post Tender 
 
22.4 Discussions with Tenderers after submission of a Tender and before the award of a contract with a 

view to obtaining adjustments in price, delivery or content must be the exception rather than the rule 
and be within the scope of the contract.  

 
22.5 Post tender discussions may only be conducted in circumstances which do not put other tenderers at 

a disadvantage, distort competition or affect adversely the integrity of the competitive tendering 
process. 

 
22.6 Where during the tender evaluation process, examination of the most favourable tender or quotation 

reveals errors or discrepancies, which affect the tender/quotation figure the following process shall 
be followed:- 

 
22.6.1 If the errors or discrepancies are of an arithmetic nature that results in the tender figure being 

reduced from that submitted, the tenderer etc. will be informed of the errors or discrepancies 
involved and that the Council intends to treat the tender figure as reduced to reflect the true 
arithmetic value of the tender/quotation; 

 
22.6.2 If the errors or discrepancies are of an arithmetic nature that results in the tender figure being 

increased from that submitted, the tenderer etc. will be informed of the errors or discrepancies 
involved and afforded the opportunity to confirm the tender/quotation figure at the original submitted 
price or to withdraw the tender/quotation offer; 

 

Page 231



 

 

22.6.3 In all other circumstances, the tenderer etc. is to be given details of the errors or discrepancies and 
afforded the opportunity to confirm the tender/quotation figure or withdraw the offer. 

 
22.6.4 A reviewed tender price cannot be submitted by the tenderer at this stage unless the OJEU 

competitive procedure with negotiation procedure is being followed. 
 
22.6.5 If a tenderer etc. withdraws an offer as a result of 22.6.2 or 22.6.3 above the next most favourable 

tender shall be examined and treated in the same manner. 
 
22.7 Where post-tender discussions result in a fundamental change to the specification, scope or contract 

terms, the contract must not be awarded, but re-tendered. 
 
23. EVALUATION 
 
23.1 Evaluation means assessment of tenders submitted against published selection and award criteria. 

Evaluation must only be against the published criteria, any other assessment which has not been 
stated on commencement of the procurement is against the principles of fairness and transparency. 

 
23.2 Apart from any debriefing required or permitted by these Contract Procedure Rules, the 

confidentiality of Quotations, Tenders and the identity of Candidates must be preserved at all times 
and information about one Candidate’s response must not be given to another Candidate. This is 
subject to the requirements of legislation, for example the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 

 
23.3 Evaluation of the tenders must be carried out by a minimum of two officers of sufficient seniority, skill, 

knowledge and experience. The evaluation must be fully documented. 
 
23.4 The arithmetic in compliant Tenders must be checked. If arithmetical errors are found they should be 

corrected and notified to the Tenderer, who should be requested to confirm whether they wish their 
Tender to be evaluated with the amended amount or whether they wish to withdraw their Tender. 

 
23.5 Where no tenders are fully compliant with the specification, the advice of the Procurement Team 

must be sought. 
 
24. AWARD 
 
24.1 The most favourable tender or quotation may only be accepted where there is adequate provision in 

the Revenue estimates approved by the Council or an approved Capital Estimate.  
 
24.2 The most advantageous Quotations and Tenders received in respect of proposed contracts may only 

be accepted provided they have been sought and evaluated fully in accordance with these Contract 
Procedure Rules. 

 
24.3 Where tenders are to be accepted these must be done in accordance with the financial thresholds 

information held on SharePoint. 
 
24.4 Where the most favourable tender received is unacceptable, exceeds the budget provision, despite 

any adjustments that may be permitted under the Invitation to Tender and these Rules, a report on 
all tenders for that particular contract, and the options available shall be made to the Cabinet or 
relevant Council Committee for consideration and decision. 

 
24.5 Where the most favourable quotation received is unacceptable, exceeds the budget provision, 

despite any adjustments that may be permitted under the Request for Quotation and these Rules, a 
report on all quotations and the options available shall be prepared by the Assistant Director for 
consideration and decision by the relevant Director. 

 
24.6 Where a payment is proposed to be made to the Council, and the most favourable tender/quotation 

is unacceptable, or it is proposed to accept other than the most favourable tender/quotation a report 
shall be made on all tenders or quotation as described in 25.4 and 25.5 respectively. 

 
24.7 At the conclusion of the tender exercise, having an estimated value above EU threshold values, and 

prior to any award being made, there shall be a minimum 10-day standstill period during which 
unsuccessful suppliers shall be debriefed in writing. No information, other than the following, should 
be given without taking the advice of the Monitoring Officer: 

Page 232



 

 

 

 The criteria and weightings 

 The score of the bidder, the score of the winning bidder and the score of the other bidders 
which must be kept anonymous 

 The name of the winning bidder 

 The reasons for the decision, including the characteristics and relative advantages of the 
winning tender 

 
24.8 If formal objections to the intended award are raised the Officer shall not award the contract and 

immediately consult the Monitoring Officer and the Procurement & Contracts Manager. 
 
24.9 For below EU threshold procurement exercises suppliers shall be debriefed as to the outcome of the 

exercise taking into account the same principles of openness and transparency. 
 
24.10 Acceptance of other than the most economic advantageous Tender must be authorised as follows: 
 

 Up to Tender Threshold  
 
 By the Assistant Director. This authority will not be subject to delegation. Full details of the reasons 

for the decision must be recorded, signed by the Service Director and forwarded to the Procurement 
Team to be held on file. 

 

 Tender Threshold to EU Threshold  
 
 By the Delegated Executive Decision, based on the formal recommendation of the Director. Full 

details of the reasons for the decision must be recorded and held on file. 
 

 Over EU Threshold (OJEU procedure) 
 
 By the Cabinet, based on a formal detailed report submitted by the relevant Director. 
 

 Where the tender is covered by the EU Procurement Directives, then acceptance must comply with 
these. 

 
SECTION 4: CONTRACT AND OTHER FORMALITIES 
 
25. CONTRACT FORMALITIES 
 
25.1 All contracts having an estimated total value of £25,000 and above, and any other case where the 

Monitoring Officer so decides, shall be in writing. 
 
25.2 Every such contract entered into on behalf of the Council shall be in a form approved by the said 

Director and shall be signed by at least two officers of the Council or made under the common seal 
of the Council attested by at least one officer in accordance with the Council’s Constitution. 

 
25.3 Contract formalities must be carried out and completed to the satisfaction of the Monitoring Officer 

before the contractor commences any work under the contract. 
 
25.4 Every such contract shall include 
 

25.4.1 The supplies, services or works to be furnished/delivered, had or done [including appropriate 
technical specification(s)]; 

  
25.4.2 The price to be paid with a statement of any discounts or other deductions; 
 
25.4.3 Payment terms which should normally state payment in arrears. However where payment in 

advance is necessary the rationale for this should be fully documented, and where payments 
in advance exceed £5,000 a documented risk assessment must be approved by the relevant 
Assistant  Director. 

 
25.4.4 The time or times within which the contract is to be performed/undertaken; 

Page 233



 

 

 
25.4.5 Valid copies of the minimum appropriate insurance to be held by the contractor at the 

commencement of the contract and on each subsequent anniversary; 
 
25.4.6 Clauses(s) for the way in which any arbitration is to proceed under the contract; 
 
25.4.7 A clause prohibiting the contractor from transferring, assigning (directly or indirectly) to any 

person whatsoever, any portion of the contract without the prior written permission of the 
Council, or from subletting any portion of the contract without such permission other than 
may be customary in the trade concerned; 

 
25.4.8 In every contract for the execution of works or the supply of goods and materials and in 

every contract where the estimated value exceeds £60,000 (except where the contract is 
entered into under partnering arrangements) there shall be a consideration of the need for 
liquidated damages. The requirement and amount of such provision shall be determined in 
consultation with the Chief Finance Officer who shall consider the nature of the contract and 
its associated risks. The calculation shall be recorded and filed with the contract documents; 

 
25.4.9 A clause stating the retention of any appropriate amount determined following consultation 

with the Monitoring Officer that will be withheld until clearance of the Final Account. 
 
25.4.10 That all goods, materials and workmanship must be at least to the standard specified having 

regard to the relevant European, British or equivalent body, and must otherwise be fit for 
purpose; 

 
25.4.11 A clause empowering the Council to cancel the contract and to recover from the contractor 

the amount of any loss resulting from such cancellation, if the contractor shall have offered 
or given or agreed to give any person any gift, consideration or any kind of inducement or 
reward for doing or forbearing to do or to have done any action in relation to obtaining or 
execution of the contract with the Council; 

  
25.4.12 A clause empowering the Council to cancel the contract and recover from the contractor the 

amount of any loss resulting from such cancellation if the contractor or any person employed 
by him/her or acting on his behalf shall have committed any offence under the Bribery Act 
2010 or shall have given any fee or reward, the receipt of which is an offence under Section 
117(2) of the Local Government Act 1972. 

 
25.4.13 A clause prohibiting the Contractor from transferring or assigning, directly or indirectly, any 

portion of the contract to any person or organisation without the express written consent of 
the Council. 

  
25.4.14 A clause that the contractor, his staff, agents and any sub-contractors are required to comply 

with the Council’s Anti Fraud and Corruption procedures and the Whistle-blowing Policy 
(Confidential Reporting Code) for reporting any such events. A copy of the Whistle-blowing 
policy currently applicable shall be included in the schedule of documents under clauses 
25.1 and 25.2 above. 

  
25.4.15 A clause that the contractor will comply with the provisions of:  

 

 The Council’s Equality and Diversity Policy including requirements of the Equality 
Act 2010; 

 All obligations of the Council under the Human Rights legislations; 

 All restrictions and requirements of the Council under Data Protection legislation; 

 All restrictions and requirements that may be imposed on the Council under the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000; and 

 The Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 and any other legislation made 
thereunder or relevant to the health and safety of employees. 

 The TUPE requirements (where applicable). 

 

Page 234



 

 

25.5 Where a formal contract is not required the Director will notify acceptance in writing to the successful 
contractor and place the necessary order. This must include the Council’s relevant standard terms 
and conditions. 

 
25.6 Where the annual amount spent with any one contractor or on any one specific type of goods, works 

or services exceeds £25,000 and outside an existing contractual agreement, a review must be 
carried out to assess the procurement method and a formal contractual agreement put in place. 

 
Sub Contractors 
 
25.8 Where any sub-contractor or supplier is to be nominated to a main contractor/supplier for the 

execution of a contract with the Council, these Contract Procedure Rules shall apply as if the Council 
was entering into a direct contract with the sub-contractor or supplier. 

 
25.9 Details of contracts must be entered on the Council’s contracts register 
 
26. SAFEGUARDS FOR DUE PERFORMANCE 
 
Liquidated Damages 
 
26.1 Every written contract must, unless the relevant Director in consultation with the Chief Finance 

Officer considers it inappropriate, provide for the payment of liquidated damages by the contractor in 
the event of his default. 

 
26.2 The level of damages required will be determined by the relevant Director, in consultation with the 

Chief Finance Officer. 
 
Failure to Deliver 
 
26.3 In every contract for the execution of work, supply of goods, materials or services having an 

estimated value of £25,000 and above a clause shall be inserted to secure that 

 should the contractor fail to deliver the goods, materials;   

 or execute the service or works or any part or portion thereof within the time or times specified 
in the contract,  

 the Council, may without prejudice to any other remedy for breach of contract, either wholly or in 
part, or to the extent of such default,  

 provide for the execution of the work or service by other means; or 

 purchase other goods or materials, as the case may be make good such default; orin the 
event of the contracts being wholly determined, the unexecuted work or service or the goods 
or materials to be delivered 

 
 The clause shall further secure that the amount by which the cost of providing for the execution of 

the work or service by other means, or the purchasing of other goods or materials, exceeds the 
amount which would have been payable to the contractor had he executed the contract, or portion 
thereof, within the time or times specified therein, shall be payable by the contractor. 

 
Performance Bonds 
 
26.4 The Council shall require and take sufficient security for the due performance of all contracts 

exceeding £60,000 where appropriate. For works contracts the amount of security shall be the 
retention of 10% of the contract sum during the life of the contract, such retention to be released on 
issue of the certificate of practical completion of the contract. The use of, and level of, retentions on 
other contracts shall be agreed with the Chief Finance Officer prior to the publication of the proposed 
T&Cs. 

 
26.5 In any particular contract or class of contract the Chief Finance Officer may decide that the Council’s 

interest in the proper performance of the contract can be appropriately protected by specifying and 
taking a different form of security 

 

Page 235



 

 

27. PREVENTION OF CORRUPTION 
 
27.1 The Officer must comply with the Code of Conduct and must not invite or accept any gift or reward in 

respect of the award or performance of any contract. High standards of conduct are obligatory. It will 
be for the Officer to prove that anything received was not received corruptly. Corrupt behaviour is a 
crime under the statutes referred to in Rule 27.2 below and is likely to lead to disciplinary action. 

 
27.2 The following clause must be put in every written Council contract (excluding framework call-offs):- 
 
 “The Council may terminate this contract and recover all its loss if the Contractor/Supplier, its 

employees or anyone acting on the Contractor/Supplier’s behalf do any of the following things: 
 

 offer, give or agree to give to anyone any inducement or reward in respect of this or any other 
Council contract (even if the Contractor / Supplier does not know what has been done); or 

 commit an offence under Section 117(2) of the Local Government Act 1972 or the Bribery Act 
2010; or 

 commit any fraud in connection with this or any other Council order or contract whether alone 
or in conjunction with Council Members, contractors, suppliers, or employees. 

 
 Any clause limiting the Contractor’s liability shall not apply to this clause.” 
 
28. DECLARATION OF INTEREST 
 
28.1 Every Officer and Member of the Council has a responsibility to declare any links or personal 

interests that they may have with purchasers, suppliers and /or contractors if they are engaged in 
contractual or purchasing decisions on behalf of the Council, in accordance with the applicable 
Codes of Conduct. 

 
SECTION 5: CONTRACT MANAGEMENT 
 
29. MANAGING CONTRACTS 
 
Freedom of information 
 
29.1 The Council shall fulfil its obligations under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (as amended) in 

respect of any application made under the Act in relation to the contracts it has entered into and the 
manner in which the contract was procured. 

 
Statistics 
 
29.2 The Procurement & Contracts Manager or such other officer nominated by the Chief Finance Officer 

shall be responsible for ensuring the Council meets its reporting requirements EU Rules required by 
the Department of Communities and Local Government or others. 

 
29.3 Directors and Assistant Directors shall upon request of the nominated officer provide the details and 

any information necessary to complete these returns with the minimum of delay. 
 
Extensions 
 
29.4 A contract for goods, services or works shall only be extended where the contract terms and 

conditions expressly provide for an option for extension. 
 
29.5 Any such extension shall be considered where the contract:- 
 

 has been successful in demonstrating performance targets identified in the original contract 
were met; 

 will demonstrate Service Improvement or innovative service delivery processes; 

 is able to demonstrate that such extension will deliver Value for Money; or 

 where there is a genuinely justifiable case to extend to maintain continuity of supply or site 
experience. 

Page 236



 

 

 
29.6 Any such extension shall be subject to: - 
 

 adequate budget provision; 

 the extension being priced at the original contract rates subject to any adjustment 
mechanism set out in the contract; 

 the agreement of the supplier; and 

 compliance with EU Procurement legislation. 

 
29.8 Any proposed contract extension shall be approved by the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
Consultants 
 
29.9 It shall be a condition of the appointment and engagement of the services of any consultant, not 

being an officer of the Council, who is to be responsible to the Council for the supervision of a 
contract, or design of any scheme etc. on behalf of the Council that: - 

 

 the appointment will be undertaken in accordance with these Rules which includes the use of 
appropriate framework agreements; 

 consideration will be given to any requirement for vetting, data protection, intellectual property 
rights etc.; 

 consideration will be given to the most appropriate form of payment, including based on inputs 
(usually time) or output based; 

 the consultant will be prohibited from bidding for the work, service etc. and any subsequent 
stage unless this was the specific purpose of their appointment; 

 that in supervising any contract on behalf of the Council the Consultant shall comply with 
these Rules as though he/she was a Director of the Council, subject to the modification that 
the procedure to be followed in inviting and opening tenders shall be approved in advance by 
the relevant Director; 

 at any time during the period of carrying out the contract procedure during his/her 
appointment, the Consultant shall produce to the Chief Finance Officer or authorised 
representative, on request, all the records maintained by him/her in relation to the contract; 
and 

 On completion of the appointment/contract he/she shall without delay transmit all records in 
relation to any contract to the relevant Director. 

 
30. RISK ASSESSMENT AND CONTINGENCY PLANNING 
 
30.1 For all contracts, contract managers must:- 
 

 maintain a risk register during the contract period; 

 undertake appropriate risk assessments; and 

 ensure contingency measures are in place for identified risks 

 
31 CONTRACT MONITORING, EVALUATION AND REVIEW 
 
31.1 Each Director responsible for the awarding of contracts, which provide for payment to be made by 

instalments, shall arrange for the keeping of a register, to the satisfaction of the Chief Finance 
Officer, to show the state of account on each contract between the Council and a contractor, 
together with any other payments and related professional fees. 

 
31.2 Payments to contractors on account of contracts shall be made only on a certificate issued by the 

relevant person. 
 
31.3 Subject to the provision of the contract in each case, every variation shall be authorised in writing by 

the relevant person. Each variation shall include an estimate of the increase or reduction in cost 
arising from that variation of the contract. Any variations must be within the scope of the contract. 

Page 237



 

 

 
31.4 When the net effect of such variations exceeds the following limits, this shall be reported as soon as 

possible to the Cabinet or relevant Committee of the Council: 
 

 for contracts up to £100,000 (in amount or budgetary provision) – 3% of the contract sum or 
budgetary provision (but not less than £1,000) 

 for contracts in excess of £100,000 (in amount or budgetary provision) - £3,000 + 1.5% of 
the excess of the contract sum or budgetary provision over £100,000. 

 
 Provided that it shall not be necessary to report such net effect in the case of contracts undertaken 

under agency or contractual arrangements on behalf of another local or public authority where that 
authority has approved the cost of the variation. 

 
31.5 Where the relevant person issues a certificate and the amount to be paid on that certificate, when 

added to amounts previously certified for payment, would result in the contract sum or budgetary 
provision being exceeded, then the certificate shall be accompanied by a report fully explaining the 
position from the relevant person to the Chief Finance Officer. 

 
31.6 The final certificate of completion of any contract shall not be issued until the relevant person has 

produced to the Chief Finance Officer a detailed final statement of account and all relevant 
documents, if required. 

 
31.7 The Chief Finance Officer shall, to the extent that is considered necessary, examine final accounts 

for contracts and shall be entitled to make all such enquiries and receive such information and 
explanations as may be required in order to be satisfied as to the accuracy of the accounts. 

 
31.8 Every works contract and every other contract which is estimated to exceed £60,000 in value or 

amount shall include provision for liquidated damages, except where the contract is a partnering 
contract entered into under the Council’s procurement policy. Where there has been a delay in the 
completion of a contract and an extension of time is not appropriate to be authorised, the relevant 
person shall impose the liquidated damages clause in all instances, unless, after consultation with 
the Monitoring Officer, it is decided it is inappropriate to do so. 

 
31.9 A report as to final costs under each contract shall, after agreement of the final account, be 

incorporated into the Post Implementation Review submitted to the Senior Management Team, 
Cabinet or relevant Committee by the appropriate Director after consultation with the Chief Finance 
Officer. 

 
31.10 Claims from contractors in respect of matters not clearly within the term of any existing contract shall 

be referred to the Monitoring Officer for consideration of the Council’s legal liability and, where 
necessary, to the Chief Finance Officer for financial consideration, before a settlement is reached. 

 
31.11 Where a contractor enters into liquidation or receivers are appointed or the contractor makes 

arrangement or composition with his/her creditors, the relevant person shall report the full 
circumstances in writing to the Cabinet or relevant Committee of the Council as soon as they are 
known to him/her. 

 
GLOSSARY 
 
Procurement Schedule 
A plan identifying the projects and contracts that are expected to be procured during the financial year. 
Where possible the Procurement Schedule should also identify the lead officer and an outline timetable. This 
should be signed-off by the relevant Assistant-Directors, Directors and Council at the beginning of each 
financial year. 
 
Contract Period 
The period over which a contract is delivered. The period determined must comply with European and 
National legislation, allow for continuous improvement, enable appropriate exit strategies, and enable the 
contract to be packaged to encourage delivery in the most cost effective manner 
 
Contracts Register 
The register held by the Council containing of all written contracts entered into by the Council. 

Page 238



 

 

 
E-Procurement / e-tendering 
An electronic procurement process using proprietary software or media to enable the tender/quotation 
process to be undertaken electronically. It provides all the controls applicable to manual tendering as 
required by these rules. 
 
EU Procurement Directives 
The Legislation setting out the defined mandatory procurement procedures that must be followed when 
procuring supplies, services or works above the pre-determined threshold values in force for the time being. 
 
EU Treaty-based Principles 
The principles of the European Union which impact on all procurement regardless of value. These must be 
adhered to and include principles of equality, non-discrimination, transparency, mutual recognition and 
proportionality. 
 
Framework Agreement 
Contracts awarded following a compliant tender exercise that provides for the ‘call-off’ of supplies, services 
or works against a supplier. The Framework provides a non-binding offer without obligation; a binding 
contract coming into effect once the Council initiates a ‘call-off’ 
 
ITT 
Invitation to Tender 
 
OJEU 
Official Journal of the European Union. The advertising medium for tenders above EU procurement 
threshold values 
 
Performance Bond 
Applicable to contracts over £60,000 in value where there are potentially high levels of risk. The Council 
seeks security to mitigate such risk, and this is normally in the form of a parent company guarantee or a 
Performance Bond. 
 
Procurement 
The mechanism and processes by which the Council acquires the supplies (goods), services and works 
necessary to achieve delivery of its objectives. It will include all associated performance measurement, 
monitoring and other controls necessary to complete such delivery. 
 
Procurement Cards 
Approved purchasing cards generally used as a mechanism for ordering and invoicing low value goods and 
services. Purchasing Cards are not credit cards. 
 
Regulations/PCR2015 
The UK regulations implementing the EU public procurement directives, currently the Public Contract 
Regulations 2015. 
 
RFQ 
Request for Quotation 
 
Risk Management 
Risks associated with procurement exercises shall be identified, assessed and managed 
 
Supplier 
Any person, firm, organisation or body providing or potentially providing supplies (goods) services or works 
to the Council. 
 
Value for Money 
The optimum combination of quality and cost taking into account ‘whole life costs’. 
 
Whole Life Costs 
The costs associated with a procurement form the initial definition of need, to the actual procurement of the 
supplies, services or works, their delivery and operation through to the end of the useful life and/or disposal. 
 

Page 239



 

 

Financial Limits and Thresholds 
 
 

ESTIMATED 

VALUE (NET OF 

VAT) 

INVITATION 

METHOD 

WHO 

ISSUES/SEEKS 

THE INVITATION 

WHO MAY 

ACCEPT 

£Up to £10,000 

Minimum of 3 written 

quotations from 

competent contractors is 

encouraged 

Relevant Assistant Director 

Relevant Assistant Director 

– Administrative Decision 

with copy to the 

Procurement & 

Contracts Manager 

Procurements in accordance with Procurement Schedule: 

£10,000 or above   
As stated on the 

Procurement Schedule 

Relevant Assistant Director 

via The Chest 
Relevant Assistant Director 

Procurements not on Procurement Schedule or not in accordance with Procurement Schedule (e.g. in 

excess of budget, change of procurement route): 

£10,000 to £59,999 
Invitation to Quote via 

The Chest 

Relevant Director via The 

Chest 

Relevant Director 

Administrative Decision with 

copy to the Procurement & 

Contracts Manager 

£60,000 to £99,999  
Invitation to Quote via 

The Chest 

Relevant Director via The 

Chest 

Delegated Director’s 

Executive Decision 

£100,000 up to EU 

Thresholds  
Invitation via The Chest 

Relevant Director via The 

Chest 

Key decision, follow 

procedure for Key decision 

including the forward plan. 

Possible DED, consult with 

the Director Policy & 

Resources (Monitoring 

Officer) 

Above EU thresholds as 

stated in the 

Procurement Toolkit / 

SharePoint  

Formal Invitation to 

Tender in accordance 

with Public Contracts 

Regulations 2015 

Director Policy & Resources 

(Monitoring Officer) 

Portfolio Holder 

recommendation to the 

Cabinet 

 
 

Page 240



South Lakeland District Council 

Audit Committee  

1 December 2016 

REVIEW OF ANTI-FRAUD POLICY AND ACTIVITY 

PORTFOLIO: Not applicable 

REPORT FROM: Shelagh McGregor – Assistant Director Resources 
and Section 151 

REPORT AUTHOR: Helen Smith - Financial Services Manager 

WARDS: Corporate Issue 

KEY DECISION NO: Not applicable 

 

1.0 EXPECTED OUTCOME 

1.1 This report is presented to show the results of the Audit Committee’s annual 
review of the Council’s Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy and to 
provide statistical data on cases where sources of information indicated that 
fraudulent activity might be occurring. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 It is recommended that Audit Committee: - 

(1) note the review of the Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy; 

(2) note the anti-fraud activity. 

BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS 

3.1 The Audit Committee Work Programme for 2016/17 includes an annual review 
of the Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy.  This policy links very closely 
with the Whistleblowing Policy, which is reviewed biennially. 

3.2 There number of bodies now involved in anti-fraud activity following the 
closure of the Audit Commission ballooned. Officers monitor surveys and 
recommended good practice from many sources including: 

 the Cabinet Office, who run the National Fraud Initiative(NFI),  

 the National Crime Agency,  

 the Counter Fraud Centre, run by the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA)  

 the Institution of Revenues, Rating and Valuation (IRRV), 

 Department of Work and Pensions (DWP)/Single Fraud Investigation 
Service (SFIS), 

 National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN) 

 Lancashire fraud manager group. 

 

Page 241

Item No.15



Policies and Procedures 

3.3 The Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy forms part of the Council’s 
Policy Framework. The last review of the Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption 
Policy was by Audit Committee in December 2015 with amendments 
approved by Council in December 2015.  The Anti-Money Laundering Policy 
was approved by Audit Committee in April 2015 and Council in December 
2015. 

3.4 CIPFA produced a new Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and 
Corruption in October 2014.  Guidance notes on the implementation of the 
code were published in December 2014 and a Counter-Fraud Assessment 
Tool has now been produced and is included at Appendix 2.   

3.5 The Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer has prepared fraud and corruption risk 
assessment with Operational Managers and action plans for all Council 
services.  It has been used to inform the production of a draft Anti-Fraud and 
Corruption Strategy and Action Plan which will be brought to the Audit 
Committee in April 2017.  Some elements of the current Anti-Bribery, Fraud 
and Corruption Policy cover procedures which should be dealt with within the 
Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy and Action Plan. 

 Assessment 

3.6 The Local Government counter fraud and corruption strategy, Fighting Fraud 
& Corruption Locally, has been updated in 2016 and sets out a strategy up to 
2019.  The report builds on earlier versions of Fighting Fraud Locally and 
developments such as the Serious and Organised Crim Strategy and the UK 
Anti-Corruption Plan.  The vision of the national strategy is that by 2019: 

a) There is a culture in which fraud and corruption are unacceptable and 
everyone plays a part in eradicating them; 

b) By better understanding of risk and using technology local authorities 
will shut the door to fraudsters who try to access their systems or 
services; 

c) Local authorities will have invested in sustainable systems to tackle 
fraud and corruption and will see the results of recovery; 

d) Local authorities will be sharing information more effectively and by 
using advanced data technology will prevent and detect losses; 

e) Fraudsters will be brought to account quickly and efficiently and losses 
will be recovered. 

 The report acknowledges that local authorities have made significant progress 
in tackling fraud by acknowledging and understanding the risks they face and 
by collaborating, making more use of technology and information sharing to 
prevent fraud. 

3.7 The report includes list of continuing risks and emerging/increasing fraud 
risks: 

Page 242



Known Fraud Risks Remaining Significant Emerging / 
Increasing Fraud Risks 

Tenancy – Fraudulent applications for 
housing or successions of tenancy, 
and subletting of the property. 

Procurement – Tendering issues, split 
contracts, double invoicing. 

Payroll – False employees, overtime 
claims, expenses. 

Council tax – Discounts and 
exemptions, council tax support. 

Blue Badge – Use of 
counterfeit/altered badges, use when 
disabled person is not in the vehicle, 
use of a deceased person’s Blue 
Badge, badges issued to institutions 
being misused by employees. 

Grants –Work not carried out, funds 
diverted, ineligibility not declared. 

Pensions –Deceased pensioner, 
overpayments, entitlement overstated. 

Schools – Procurement fraud, payroll 
fraud, internal fraud. 

Personal budgets – Overstatement of 
needs through false declaration, 
multiple claims across authorities, third 
party abuse, posthumous continuation 
of claim. 

Internal fraud – Diverting council 
monies to a personal account; 
accepting bribes; stealing cash; 
misallocating social housing for 
personal gain; working elsewhere 
while claiming to be off sick; false 
overtime claims; selling council 
property for personal gain; wrongfully 
claiming benefit while working. 

Identity fraud – False identity / fictitious 
persons applying for services / 
payments. 

Business rates – Fraudulent 
applications for exemptions and 
reliefs, unlisted properties. 

Right to buy – Fraudulent 
applications under the right to 
buy/acquire. 

Money laundering – Exposure to 
suspect transactions. 

Insurance Fraud – False claims 
including slips and trips. 

Disabled Facility Grants – 
Fraudulent applications for 
adaptions to homes aimed at 
the disabled. 

Concessionary travel schemes – 
Use of concession by ineligible 
person, including Freedom 
Passes. 

No recourse to public funds – 
Fraudulent claim of eligibility. 

New Responsibilities – Areas 
that have transferred to local 
authority responsibility e.g. 
Public Health grants, contracts. 

Commissioning of services – 
Including joint commissioning, 
third sector partnerships – 
conflicts of interest, collusion. 

Local Enterprise Partnerships – 
Voluntary partnerships between 
local authorities and businesses. 
Procurement fraud, grant fraud. 

Immigration – Including sham 
marriages. False entitlement to 
services and payments. 

Cyber dependent crime and 
cyber enabled fraud – Enables a 
range of fraud types resulting in 
diversion of funds, creation of 
false applications for services 
and payments. 

Page 243



3.8 The report highlights the changing ways in which fraudsters target existing 
areas of vulnerability.  Fraud prevention rather than just fraud detection will 
need to become an increasingly important part of the overall strategic 
response of councils to fraud. 

  

 Activity 

3.9 Following the move to Universal Credit a Single Fraud Investigation Service 
(SFIS) has been set up and fraud investigation staff from this Council 
transferred to the SFIS in July 2015.  The Council retained one member of the 
counter-fraud team as a Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer who works closely with 
both the Revenues and Benefits Team and the Finance Team in tackling fraud. 

3.10 The Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer has also be involved in raising the profile of 
anti-fraud and corruption in the authority.  This has included attending team 
meetings, briefing Operational managers and reviewing policies and practices 
related to Interviews under Caution across the Council to ensure consistency 
of practice.   

3.11 During 2016 the Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer has carried out fraud risk 
assessments with Operational Managers.  This helps to direct her activity to 
key risk areas and has helped change procedures to reduce opportunity for 
fraud.  Recently compulsory fraud awareness training has been introduced for 
all new staff. 

3.12 The policy requires a central log to be kept of all reported cases of fraud and 
whistleblowing by the Assistant Director (Resources), which will be reported 
periodically to the Audit Committee.  The attached analysis in Appendix 4 
summarises the work undertaken and the outcome of investigations excluding 
National Fraud Initiative “NFI”.  Investigations have included the submission of 
false invoices for flood grant claims, claims for business rate flood relief for 
properties which were not flooded and a review of council tax exemptions.  The 
Council is also working with South Lakes Housing to review all applications for 
Right-to-Buy as this has been identified nationally as an area of high risk and 
high value.  

3.13 The National Fraud Initiative matches electronic data within and between public 
and private sector bodies to prevent and detect fraud.  This includes police 
authorities, local probation boards, fire and rescue authorities as well as local 
council and a number of private sector bodies.  Since the closure of the Audit 
Commission in April 2015 the NFI data matching service has transferred to the 
Cabinet Office. There are now two separate NFI matching exercises: one is a 
biannual process including benefits, housing, licensing, employee and 
insurance data relating to October 2016 which will be released in spring 2016.  
The second exercise concerns Council Tax single person discounts and the 
electoral register which is conducted annually at the same time that the 
electoral register is finalised in December.  In 2015 this review was deferred 
with the agreement of the Cabinet Office due to the number of residents in 
temporary accommodation following flooding.  The Council’s Corporate Anti-
Fraud Officer now leads on both the submission of data and the processing of 
matches for the NFI. 

Page 244



4.0 CONSULTATION 

4.1 Officers have reviewed best practice relating to anti-bribery, fraud and 
corruption.   

5.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

5.1 It is good practice to have an Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy.  The 
attached policy has been recommended for acceptance but amendments may 
be made to it if this is felt appropriate. 

6.0 LINKS TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES 

6.1 To develop and embed a high performance culture. 

7.0 IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 Financial and Resources 

7.1.1 This report has no direct financial implications.  Effective anti-fraud 
procedures minimise the likelihood of financial losses through fraud. 

7.2 Human Resources 

7.2.1 There are no direct human resources implications of this report. 

7.3 Legal 

7.3.1 There is a criminal offence of failing to prevent bribery under the Bribery Act 
2010 and if convicted an organisation can be liable to an unlimited fine. 
Therefore the review of this policy and compliance has an important role in 
minimising the risks to the Council arising from this legislation. 

7.4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4.1  

Have you completed and Health, Social, Economic 
and Environmental Impact Assessment? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If yes, please confirm that it is attached to the report 
in the appendices. 

Yes ☐ No ☐ 

If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, 
please explain your reasons. 

The review of the anti-fraud 
policy has no direct HSEE 
implications. 

7.5 Equality and Diversity 

7.5.1  

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If yes, please confirm that it is attached to the report 
in the appendices. 

Yes ☐ No ☐ 

If you have not completed an Equality Impact 
Analysis, please explain your reasons. 

The review of the anti-fraud 
policy has no direct Equality and 
Diversity implications. 

 

 

Page 245



 

 

7.6 Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

Failure to have an 
Anti-Fraud and 
Corruption Policy in 
place. 

There will be no high level 
direction to the way in which 
fraudulent or corrupt acts are 
reported, investigated or dealt 
with. 

 

Fraud and corruption will not 
be detected resulting in 
significant losses in council 
finances and bad publicity. 

 

Lack of procedures to prevent 
bribery may lead to prosecution  

A policy that clearly reflects 
the Council’s stance on 
fraud and corruption which 
acts as a deterrent to 
potential fraudsters. 

A policy that clearly defines 
responsibilities and the 
introduction of monitoring 
arrangements to highlight 
high risk areas. 

A policy that clearly defines 
bribery and defines 
responsibilities for ensuring 
‘adequate procedures’ to 
prevent bribery. 

Failure to have 
effective Anti-fraud 
monitoring in place 

Fraud and corruption will not 
be detected resulting in 
significant losses in Council 
finances and bad publicity 

A Policy that clearly 
identifies responsibilities 
and monitoring 
arrangements to highlight 
high risk areas. 

CONTACT OFFICERS 

Helen Smith, Financial Services Manager, 01539 793147, 
h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk 

APPENDICES ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT  

Appendix No.  

1 Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy 

2 CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and 
Corruption Counter-Fraud Assessment Tool 

3 Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally 2016-19 Checklist 

4 Fraud data to end of October 2016 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

Fighting Fraud Locally: the local government 
fraud strategy 

http://tinyurl.com/mo55pnz 

Page 246

http://tinyurl.com/mo55pnz


 

 

TRACKING INFORMATION 

Assistant 
Director 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Solicitor to the 
Council 

SMT Scrutiny 
Committee 

17/11/16 n/a 17/11/16 17/11/16 n/a 

Executive 
(Cabinet) 

Committee Council Section 151 
Officer 

Monitoring 
Officer 

n/a 1/12/16 n/a 17/11/16 17/11/16 

Human Resource Services 
Manager 

Leader Ward 
Councillor(s) 

 

n/a n/a n/a  

 

Page 247



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 248



Appendix 1

South Lakeland District Council

ANTI-BRIBERY FRAUD AND CORRUPTION POLICY
Policy Document
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1 Fraud is one of the fastest growing areas of crime in modern society and residents of 

South Lakeland are entitled to expect that their public funds are secure and handled 
honestly and conduct its affairs with integrity and honesty. South Lakeland District 
Council has a good record in preventing and identifying fraud but cannot afford to be 
complacent.  Fraud diverts money away from front line public services and 
prevention and detection of fraud is the responsibility of all staff. South Lakeland 
District Council has a duty to ensure that it safeguards the public money that it is 
responsible for. In carrying out its functions and responsibilities, the Council wishes 
to promote a culture of openness and fairness and expects all those who work and 
with the Council to adopt the highest standards of propriety and accountability.

1.2 The Council is committed to eliminating all forms of bribery, fraud and corruption by 
having adequate prevention measures in place.  All suspicions of bribery, fraud or 
corrupt practise will be investigated and there will be no distinction made in 
investigation and action between those that generate financial benefits and those that 
do not.  Any investigation will not compromise the Council’s commitment to Equal 
Opportunities or the requirements of the Human Rights Act.  The Council advocates 
strict adherence to its anti-fraud framework.  The Council will not tolerate bribery, 
fraud or corruption by its employees, councillors, suppliers, contractors or partners. 
This Policy is intended to provide a clear statement of intent and responsibilities for:

(a) Preventing bribery, fraud and corruption and

(b) The investigation, reporting and handling of alleged irregularities

This Policy outlines the Council’s commitment to eliminating fraud and corruption, 
whilst creating an anti-fraud culture and maintaining high ethical standards so as to 
protect public money.

1.3 The Policy is based on a series of comprehensive and inter-related procedures, 
designed to prevent, detect and deter fraud and to take effective action against any 
attempted or actual fraudulent act affecting the Council.  These procedures will keep 
pace with any future developments in both preventative and detection techniques 
regarding fraudulent or corrupt activity that may affect the Council’s operations.  The 
Policy also satisfies the legislative requirements of having effective arrangements for 
tackling fraud and conforms to professional guidance laid down in the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS)

Page 249



2

2. OVERVIEW
The Council is required to maintain an effective internal audit of its activities, with a key 
role to monitor the effectiveness of internal controls operating within the Council.  The 
Internal Audit function is currently provided by Cumbria Internal Audit Shared Service.  

For ease of understanding this policy is separated into four areas as below

 Corporate Framework and Culture

 Prevention and Responsibilities

 Reporting, Detection and Investigation

Awareness and Deterrence

Fraud is defined in the Fraud Act 2006 as:-  

 “the intentional distortion of financial statements or other records by persons 
internal or external to the organisation which is carried out to mislead or 
misrepresent”

The Fraud Act also sets out a general offence of fraud as follows:

 “A dishonest act where a perpetrator intends to make a gain for themselves or 
cause loss to another”

The offence of fraud is defined in three classes.

 False representation

 Failing to disclose information

 Abuse of position

Corruption is described as “the offering, giving, soliciting or acceptance of an inducement 
or reward which may influence the action of any person”.

Under the 2010 Bribery Act, a bribe is 

 “An inducement or a reward offered, promised or provided to gain personal, 
commercial, regulatory or contractual advantage”

There are four criminal offences created by the Bribery Act 2010:

 Bribery of another person (section 1) to induce or reward them to perform a 
function improperly

 Requesting or accepting a bribe (section 2) as a reward for performing a 
function improperly

 Bribing a foreign official (section 6) to gain a business advantage

 Failing to prevent bribery (section 7)

Bribery may not always be monetary and may include gifts or hospitality.  The last 
offence is a corporate offence which places responsibility on the Council to put in 
place adequate procedures to prevent bribery. 

Anyone found guilty of an offence under sections 1, 2, or 6 is liable:

 On conviction in a magistrates court, to imprisonment for a maximum term of 
12 months or to a fine not exceeding £5000 or both

 On conviction in a crown court, to imprisonment for a maximum term of ten 
years, or to an unlimited fine, or both. 

Organisations found guilty of an offence under section 7 are liable to an unlimited 
fine. 

Page 250



3

It is irrelevant whether the request is made directly or through a third party or whether 
the advantage is for the benefit of the person performing the function or for the 
benefit of another person. Employees should always be aware of the possibility they 
may be targeted for attempted bribery

NOTE: Throughout this policy the term “Fraud” is used generically and 
includes bribery and corruption and this policy covers all of the above. 
In addition to the above, the Council also expects the residents of South Lakeland to 
be honest in their dealings with the authority.

3. CORPORATE FRAMEWORK AND CULTURE
3.1 The prevention and detection of fraud and the protection of public money are 

responsibilities of everyone, both internal and external to the organisation.  The 
Council expects that Members and officers at all levels will lead by example in 
ensuring adherence to legal requirement, contracts procedure rules, financial 
procedure rules, codes of conduct and best practice. They are positively encouraged 
to raise any concerns regarding fraud, immaterial of seniority or status in the 
knowledge that any such concerns wherever possible, will be treated in confidence. 

3.2 This policy should be read in conjunction with a range of interrelated policies which 
provide a corporate framework to counter fraudulent activity. 

 Codes of Conduct for Members and officers [Part 5 of the Constitution of the 
Council]

 A Register of Interests

 Registers of Gifts and Hospitality

 Financial Procedure Rules and Contract Procedure Rules [Part 4 of the 
Constitution of the Council]

 Accounting procedures and records including general procedures for receiving 
income

 Sound internal control systems

 Effective internal audit, currently provided by Cumbria Internal Audit Shared 
Service

 Officer Employment Procedure Rules

 Disciplinary Procedure

 Criminal Acts Procedure

 Fraud Investigation Procedures and Guidelines

 Whistleblowing Policy

 The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) Procedure

 Training

3.3 The Council believes that the maintenance of a culture of honesty and openness is a 
key element in tackling fraud. The Codes of Conduct for Members and Staff are 
based on the Nolan Principles of Standards in Public Life, these being

 Selflessness

 Integrity

 Objectivity

 Accountability

Page 251



4

 Openness

 Honesty

 Leadership

            The overall culture supports intolerance stance towards fraud, bribery and corruption. 
Failure to uphold these Codes will be considered as detrimental to the aims of the 
Council and will lead to the appropriate action being taken against those concerned.

4. PREVENTION AND RESPONSIBILITES
The Council recognises that incidences of fraud and corruption are costly, both in 
terms of reputational risk and financial losses. The prevention of fraud is therefore a 
key objective of the authority and respective roles and responsibilities are outlined 
below.

4.1 Council Employees
4.1.1 A key preventative measure in dealing with fraud is to take effective steps at the 

recruitment stage. These will be to establish, as far as possible, the previous record 
of potential staff, in terms of their honesty and integrity. In this regard, temporary, 
casual and agency staff should be treated in the same manner as permanent 
officers.

4.1.2 Staff recruitment will be undertaken in accordance with the Council's policies for 
Recruitment and Selection. Whenever possible, written references should be 
obtained regarding the known honesty and integrity of potential members of staff, 
before formal employment offers are made.

4.1.3 For all appointments to posts where the employee will:-

 have access to corporate computer systems or

 be required to order goods or authorise invoices or

 be required to handle cash or cheques or

 negotiate contracts for the supply of goods or services

or for any other post which the responsible Director considers appropriate, the 
Council will seek a declaration from applicants that they have not been involved in 
false claims for Housing Benefit and/or Council Tax Discounts.  The declaration will 
be sought in respect of successful applications and with their agreement.  This 
process will be made clear in recruitment packs.  Disclosure and Barring Service 
(DBS) checks are undertaken for employees deemed to be working in appropriate 
roles. 

4.1.4 All staff must abide by the Council's Code of Conduct for Officers, which sets out 
requirements on personal conduct. All professional staff are expected to follow the 
codes of conduct laid down by their respective professional institute or trades body. 

4.1.5 The Council recognises that staff are often the first line of defence in preventing 
fraud. The Financial Procedure Rules place responsibility for fraud prevention on all 
employees and all employees of the Council have a duty to assist with an 
investigation. They are expected to conduct themselves in ways which are beyond 
reproach, above suspicion and fully accountable.  Employees are expected to be 
aware of the possibility that fraud, corruption and theft may exist in the workplace and 
be able to share their concerns with appropriate officers.

4.1.6 The Council has in place disciplinary procedures for all employees and these will be 
used to facilitate a thorough investigation of any allegations of improper behaviour by 
employees. Those found to have committed any acts of misconduct will face 
disciplinary action. Where criminal activity is suspected or found, the matter will be 
referred to the police for investigation and possible prosecution, in accordance with 

Page 252



5

the Criminal Acts Procedure. In addition, the Council will pursue recovery for any 
financial loss.

4.1.7 Under the Council's Constitution, staff must be aware of the disclosure of financial 
interests in contracts relating to the Council, or the non-acceptance of any fees, gifts, 
hospitality or any other rewards, other than their proper remuneration. These 
requirements are set out in Part 5 of the Constitution of the Council.

4.1.8 The Council is required to comply with legislation relating to money laundering and 
there is a separate Anti-Money Laundering policy.  There is a legal requirement for 
employees to report any financial transactions which could be indicative or criminal 
action to the Section 151 Officer, the Assistant Director Resources

4.2 Members
4.2.1 As elected representatives, all Members of the Council have a duty to the residents 

of South Lakeland to protect the Council and public money from any acts of fraud.  
This is done through this policy and through the regulations below. 

4.2.2 Members are required to operate within:

 Member Code of Conduct 

 Sections 94-96 of the Local Government Act 1972

 Sections 27-34 of the Localism Act  2011

 Part 5 of the Constitution of the Council

4.2.3 These matters and other guidance are specifically brought to the attention of new 
Members at induction courses. They include rules on the declaration of disclosable 
financial and other registerable interests.

4.2.4 Members will face appropriate action under this policy if they are found to have been 
involved in theft, fraud or corruption against the Authority. Action will be taken in 
addition to, or instead of criminal proceedings, depending on the circumstances of 
each individual case but in a consistent manner.

4.2.5 After approving an Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy, Members will be expected to 
play an important role through leading by example and being seen to support it.

4.2.6 The Council has in place an Overview and Scrutiny process. Its remit includes the 
review of decisions and actions undertaken by the Council. Any matter arising from 
this process, in which fraud is suspected, can be referred to the Council’s internal 
auditors for independent investigation.

4.2.7 The Council has a Standards Committee, which sets and monitors standards of 
conduct to and examines issues of potential misconduct by Members.

 4.3 Internal Control Systems
4.3.1 The Council has Financial and Contract Procedure Rules, Accounting Procedures 

and various rules and codes of conduct in place. Staff are required to comply with 
this best practice when dealing with the Council's affairs.

4.3.2 The Assistant Director (Resources) has a statutory responsibility under Section 151 
of the Local Government Act 1972, to ensure proper arrangements are made for the 
Council's financial affairs.  “Proper administration” encompasses all aspects of local 
authority financial management.

4.3.3  In addition, under the Accounts and Audit Regulations (England) 2011, the Council 
is required to maintain an adequate and effective internal audit of its financial records 
and systems of internal control.

4.3.4 The Council's aim is to have sound financial systems and procedures, which 
incorporate efficient and effective internal controls.  Effective role separation will 

Page 253



6

guarantee decisions made are seen to be based upon impartial advice and ensure 
that no single individual has complete authority over one transaction. Directors and 
Assistant Directors are responsible for maintaining effective internal controls 
including the prevention and detection of fraud and other illegal acts. The Council’s 
internal auditors will monitor and report upon these controls.

4.4 Combining with Others to Prevent and Fight Fraud
4.4.1 The Council acknowledges that it cannot afford to work in isolation and must liaise 

with other organisations. There are a variety of arrangements in place and these will 
continue to be developed, which facilitate the regular exchange of information 
between the Council and other local authorities and agencies, for the purpose of 
preventing and detecting fraud. These involve national, regional and local networks 
of investigators such as internal auditors, fraud investigators etc.  All liaisons are 
subject to observance of Data Protection legislation and due regard to the proper 
handling of confidential information. 

4.4.2 The Council operates to the standards previously set out in the Verification 
Framework (VF) in line with central government initiatives to reduce fraud and error 
in Housing and Council Tax Benefit (Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme from April 
2013).

4.4.3 South Lakeland District Council is a member of the National Anti-Fraud Network 
(NAFN) which is a not-for-profit organisation which supports its members in 
protecting the public interest. Key benefits include the gathering of information in full 
compliance with the law from a wide range of information providers in response to 
allegations of fraud and on-going investigations and acting as a hub for the collection, 
collation and circulation of intelligence alerts. 

4.4.4 The Council also undertakes specific initiatives to detect fraud. Examples include 

 Data matching both internally and with the Cabinet Office. This is recognised 
as an important tool in the prevention and detection of fraud, and is used by all other 
local authorities. The Audit Commission drew up a Code of Data Matching Practice 
for its National Fraud Initiative (NFI), which is recognised by the Information 
Commissioner as complying with Data Protection legislation. The Council contributes 
to this bi-annual National Fraud Initiative led by the Cabinet Office and involves 
comparing computer records held by one body against other computer records held 
by the same or another body to see how far they match.  This is usually personal 
information and computerised data matching allows potentially fraudulent claims and 
payments to be identified.   No assumption can be made as to whether there is fraud, 
error or other explanation until an investigation is carried out. 

 Data matching via the Housing Benefit Matching Service (HBMS) which 
identifies irregularities in claims for Housing Benefit. 

4.4.5 The Council has also introduced a Benefit Fraud Hotline, to allow members of the 
public to report individuals who are suspected of abusing the benefits system.

5. REPORTING, DETECTION AND INVESTIGATION
5.1 It is the responsibility of Directors and Assistant Directors to maintain good control 

systems and ensure that all staff complies with these systems.

5.2 The Council’s internal auditor, currently Cumbria Internal Audit Shared Service, has a 
planned programme to undertake a cyclical programme of audits to test for fraud and 
corruption, based on a risk assessment model. This includes liaison with external 
audit when considering the programme of audits.

5.3 Despite the best efforts of managers and auditors, many frauds are discovered by 
the vigilance of staff or a member of the public and there are procedures in place to 
enable such information to be properly dealt with.    In addition, members of the 

Page 254



7

public may wish to raise concerns relating to areas of local authority responsibility.  In 
such cases there is a requirement within the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules for 
staff to:

 Report actual or suspected instances of fraud to the Director concerned who shall 
immediately notify the Assistant Director (Resources) who shall take such steps 
as he considers necessary by way of investigation

 The Assistant Director (Resources) will decide whether to involve the Police in 
matters of serious fraud and inform the Leader of the Council or appropriate 
Chairman accordingly.

5.4 There is a dedicated Verification team responsible for conducting evidence checks in 
line with Verification Framework procedures, the Housing Benefit (General) 
Regulations and the Council Tax Benefit (General) Regulations. 
Evidence checks will include:

 Identity

 Residency and rent

 Household composition

 Earnings, employed and self- employed

 Benefits

 Income

 Capital

The Team will also report any allegations of fraud to the Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer 
who will carry out initial enquiries and assess the claim for suitability for referral to the 
Department for Works and Pensions investigations team.  Risk assessment will be 
undertaken to direct cases to the resources deemed to be the highest risk in terms of 
loss to the public purse. Separate guidelines and Codes of Practice for the 
prosecution of offenders are in place, including a Code of Conduct for Fraud 
investigators and practices for the treatment and questioning of persons and tape 
recording of interviews.

5.5 Money laundering is the practice whereby criminals attempt to “clean” the proceeds 
of criminal activity by passing it through a legitimate institution.  All staff who receive 
cash as part of their duties will be vigilant for any unusual transactions that might 
indicate that an attempt is being made to launder money.  As an additional safeguard 
receipt of notes, coins or travellers’ cheques will not be accepted over £5,000 for any 
one transaction. Note: A separate Anti-Money Laundering policy refers.

5.6 Reporting suspected irregularities is essential to the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy 
and ensures:

 consistent treatment of information regarding fraud and corruption

 proper investigation by an experienced team

 the optimum protection of the Council's interests

Although this document specifically refers to bribery, fraud and corruption, it equally 
applies to any forms of malpractice that can reduce public confidence in the Council 
and its services and may also include acts committed outside of official duties but 
which impact upon the Council’s trust in the individual concerned.  As part of the 
culture, the Council will provide clear routes by which concerns can be raised by both 
Members and officers and those outside who are providing using or paying for public 
services. Staff will report any irregularities to the Assistant Director concerned who 
will refer all cases to the Head of Internal Audit and to his/her director.  The Assistant 

Page 255



8

Director and the Assistant Director (Resources) will determine if an investigation is 
necessary.  The Assistant Director (Resources) will decide whether to involve the 
Police in cases where an offence is suspected and inform the Leader of the Council 
or the appropriate Chairman accordingly.  Every concern raised will be centrally and 
formally recorded through the Head of Internal Audit.  Details of all concerns will be 
periodically reported to the Audit Committee.

5.7 Depending on the nature and anticipated extent of the allegations, the Assistant 
Director (Resources) may involve Cumbria Internal Audit Shared Service who work 
closely with:

 Departmental Management

 Human Resources Group

 Legal Services

 Other agencies, such as the Police

This is to ensure that all allegations and evidence are properly investigated and 
reported upon, and that where appropriate, recoveries are made for the Council.

5.8 The Council's Whistleblowing Policy provides a clear path for individuals to raise 
concerns of malpractice in any aspect of the Council’s work, without the fear of 
recrimination or victimisation. The Council will take appropriate action to protect any 
individual who has raised a concern in good faith. The Policy deals with the reporting 
of fraud or alleged fraud through formal channels. The Policy also covers making 
disclosures to external bodies if there is an unsatisfactory outcome to a disclosure 
made internally.

The Fraud Hotline phone facility (0800 587 0688) is available to staff, suppliers and 
members of the public for raising whistleblowing concerns.  All calls will be 
specifically logged, treated confidentially and investigated through the most 
appropriate means.

5.9 For employees that are suspected of fraud a full investigation under the Council’s 
Disciplinary Policy and Procedure will take place. If the individual is found guilty of 
any wrongdoing this could ultimately lead to action taking place including dismissal.  
It should be noted that an allegation does not mean that person or company is guilty 
of any wrong-doing and so they will not be treated as such until the case is proven. 

5.10 Where financial misconduct is discovered relating to employees or Members, or grant 
aided voluntary organisations, the matter may be referred to the Police in accordance 
with the Criminal Acts Procedure. Such decisions are a matter for the Assistant 
Director (Resources) in consultation with the Director concerned. Referral to the 
Police will not necessarily prohibit action under the disciplinary procedure.

5.11 The Council's External Auditor, Grant Thornton, appointed by the Audit Commission, 
also has powers to independently investigate bribery fraud and corruption.

6. TRAINING AND AWARENESS
6.1 The Council recognises that the success and credibility of this policy will depend 

largely on how effectively it is communicated throughout the organisation and 
beyond. To this end, appropriate action will be taken to raise awareness levels and 
details of the Policy will be provided to all Members and all staff and be included on 
induction programmes. The Policy will also be shown on the Council’s website and 
be available on the Intranet.

 

6.2 The Council supports the concept of induction training, particularly for officers 
involved in internal control systems, to ensure that their responsibilities and duties in 
this respect are regularly highlighted and reinforced.

Page 256



9

6.3 The officers involved in the review of internal control systems and investigative work 
should be properly and regularly trained. Those involved with fraud investigation will 
be required to hold a relevant Counter Fraud qualification and during the course of 
the investigation, the following actions will be taken

 A fraud log will be maintained, detailing every action taken during the 
investigation, including dates and times that each action undertaken was 
carried out

 As much documentary evidence as possible will be obtained before any 
interviews are conducted

 All evidence will be obtained lawfully, properly recorded and retained securely 
in accordance with the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (PACE) and 
the Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996

 Fact finding interviews will be conducted during the course of the 
investigation. If at any time during these interviews it becomes clear that a 
criminal offence may have occurred, the fact finding interview will be ended 
and the interviewee will be formally cautioned.  The interviewee will then be 
formally interviewed under caution in accordance with PACE. 

6.4 It is the responsibility of Assistant Directors to communicate the Anti-Fraud and 
Corruption Policy to their staff and to promote a greater awareness of fraud within 
their services.

7. DETERRENCE
7.1 There are a number of ways in which we seek to deter a bribe or potential fraudsters 

from committing or attempting fraudulent or corrupt acts, whether they are inside or 
outside of the Council, and these include:

 publicising the fact the Council is firmly set against fraud and corruption and 
states this at every appropriate opportunity, e.g. statements in contracts, on claim 
forms, on the Council’s website and in publicity literature both internal and 
external. 

 acting robustly and decisively when fraud and corruption is suspected and 
proven, to deter others from committing offences against the Authority, e.g. the 
termination of contracts, the dismissal and/or prosecution of offenders

 taking action to effect the maximum recoveries for the Council, e.g. through 
agreement, court action, penalties, insurance, superannuation etc

 having sound internal control systems, that still allow for innovation and 
calculated risk, but at the same time minimising the opportunity for fraud and 
corruption.

8. REVIEW
8.1 This policy will be reviewed at appropriate times in response to procedural and legal 

changes.

Page 257



10

9 CONCLUSIONS
9.1 The Council has in place a robust network of systems and procedures to assist it in 

the fight against fraud and corruption and pledges to take all action necessary to 
identify such cases.   It is determined that these arrangements will keep pace with 
any future developments in both preventative and detection techniques regarding 
fraudulent or corrupt activity that may affect its operation or related responsibilities. 
To this end, the Council maintains a continuous overview of such arrangements.

9.2 The Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy provides a comprehensive framework 
for preventing and tackling fraudulent and corrupt acts against the authority. The 
approval of the Policy by the full Council demonstrates a commitment to protecting 
public funds and minimising losses to fraud and corruption. Having made this 
commitment, it is imperative that Directors and Assistant Directors put in place 
arrangements for disseminating the Policy and promoting fraud awareness, 
throughout their services.

December 2015

Page 258



REVIEW OF ANTI-FRAUD POLICY – APPENDIX 2 

PURPOSE OF APPENDIX
1 The purpose of this Appendix is to show the results of the Council’s review against the CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing 

the Risk of Fraud and Corruption: Counter Fraud Assessment.
Principle What should you look for Evidence Concl-

usion
Actions required Deadline & 

Who

A. Acknowledge responsibility

The governing body should acknowledge its responsibility for ensuring that the risks associated with fraud and corruption are managed effectively across 
all parts of the organisation

A1. The organisation’s 
leadership team acknowledge 
the threats of fraud and 
corruption and the harm they 
can cause to the organisation, 
its aims and objectives and to 
service users.

Leaders taking the initiative:
Public statements, spoken or written
Current (i.e. in the last year)
Frequency (how often is counter fraud on 

the agenda?)
Specific (e.g. naming particular types of 

fraud, identifying the harm of fraud)

Reports: Annual report to Audit Committee 
on content of Anti-Fraud policy, number of 
cases, amounts recovered

Newsletters: Desktop News

Press Articles: prosecutions e.g. tree-felling, 
benefit fraud

Met

A2. The organisation’s 
leadership team acknowledge 
the importance of a culture 
that is resilient to the threats of 
fraud and corruption and 
aligns to the principles of good 
governance.

Own code of governance (has 
CIPFA/SOLACE Addendum and updated 
guidance note (2012) been taken 
account of

Local codes of conduct/ethical behaviour

Evidence of awareness/training/ 
guidance to reinforce ethical behaviour 
being supported/promoted by leaders

Local Code of Governance updated 
December 2013 for CIPFA/SOLACE 
addendum & guidance note

Code of Conduct for Employees / Code of 
Conduct for Members (do not use term anti-
corruption but make reference to 7 principles 
and stress need to avoid conflict of interest 
or acting to gain personal advantage).

Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy

Personal Qualities Framework – included in 
all annual assessments for staff

Met

A3.  The governing body 
acknowledges its responsibility 
for ensuring the management 
of its fraud and corruption risks 
and will be accountable for the 
actions it takes through its 
governance reports.

Statement in Annual Governance Report

Framework to manage fraud risks e.g. 
nomination of lead officer, delegated 
powers, budget.

Statement included in Annual Governance 
Report from 2014/15.

Anti-fraud and corruption policy, lead officer 
identified, resources identified.

Met

P
age 259



Principle What should you look for Evidence Concl-
usion

Actions required Deadline & 
Who

A4. The governing body sets a 
specific goal of ensuring and 
maintaining its resilience to 
fraud and corruption and 
explores opportunities for 
financial savings from 
enhanced fraud detection and 
prevention.

Goals/objectives, perhaps in the counter 
fraud strategy

Goal is linked to risks, appropriate for 
organisation. E.g. specific to a particular 
fraud risk, include ‘resilience to fraud’

Consideration of opportunities for 
savings. Recognise that greater with 
some fraud risks than others

No specific goals set Not met Review as part of  
strategy

Financial 
Services 
Manager

April 2017

B. Identify risks
Fraud risk identification is essential to understand specific exposures to risk, changing patterns in fraud and corruption threats and the potential 
consequences to the organisation and its service users.

B1. Fraud risks are routinely 
considered as part of the 
organisation’s risk 
management arrangements.

Does your organisation’s risk 
management policy include reference to 
risks arising from fraud and corruption 
and guidance on how the risks should be 
assessed?

Are fraud risk assessments undertaken 
for significant new operations or changes 
to processes?

Risk management policy updated April 2016

Detailed specific fraud & corruption risk 
assessments completed summer 2016

Met

B2.  The organisation 
identifies the risks of 
corruption and the importance 
of behaving with integrity in its 
governance framework

Does your organisation’s 
guidance/statement on good governance 
values, behaviours, codes of conduct 
include explicit reference to counter fraud 
and avoidance of corruption?

Are training & awareness sessions 
undertaken to support the adoption of 
good ethical conduct by both staff and 
members of the governing body?

Code of Conduct for Employees includes 
explicit reference to counter fraud, anti-
bribery and avoidance of corruption.

Code of Conduct for Members includes 
explicit reference to avoidance of corruption

Good ethical conduct is discussed as part of 
the Personal Qualities Framework in annual 
performance assessments conducted for all 
employees

All newly elected members are required to 
attend training on the requirements of the 
Code of Conduct and the Member/Employee 
Protocol; this is a joint session with staff

Met

P
age 260



Principle What should you look for Evidence Concl-
usion

Actions required Deadline & 
Who

B3. The organisation uses 
published estimates of fraud 
loss, and where appropriate its 
own measurement exercises, 
to aid its evaluation of fraud 
risk exposures.

Does your organisation identify 
appropriate fraud loss estimates that are 
appropriate for its sector or fraud risk 
types?  Do you use these to inform its 
fraud risk assessment?

Does your organisation use published 
fraud loss data as a comparator for its 
own experience of fraud and to help 
quantify value of fraud prevention.

Annual review of anti-fraud and corruption 
activity to Audit Committee includes 
assessment of fraud loss.

Protecting the Public Purse exercise 
organised previously by the Audit 
Commission published fraud loss data for 
comparator councils: this is reported to Audit 
Committee and used internally to help 
identify areas for additional scrutiny e.g. 
Right to Buy fraud

Results of National Fraud Initiative used to 
guide activity.

Met

B4. The organisation 
evaluates the harm to its aims 
and objectives and services 
users that different fraud risks 
can cause.

As part of a fraud risk assessment it is 
made clear where the harm caused by 
fraud lies.

Fraud risk assessments complete Met

C. Develop a strategy
An organisation needs a counter fraud strategy setting out its approach to managing its risks and identifying responsibilities for action.

C1.  The governing body 
formally adopts a counter 
fraud and corruption strategy 
to address the identified risks 
and align with the 
organisation’s acknowledged 
responsibilities and goals.

C2.  The strategy includes the 
organisation’s use of joint 
working or partnership 
approaches to managing its 
risks, where appropriate. 

C3.  The strategy includes 
clear identification of 
responsibility and 
accountability for delivery of 
the strategy and for providing 
oversight.

Draft Strategy to be reported April 2017 Not met Draft strategy as part 
of review of anti-fraud 
and corruption policy, 
to be considered by 
Audit Committee April 
2017

Financial 
Services 
Manager

April 2017

P
age 261



Principle What should you look for Evidence Concl-
usion

Actions required Deadline & 
Who

D.  Provide resources
The organisation should make arrangements for appropriate resources to support the corporate fraud strategy.

D1. An annual assessment of 
whether the level of resource 
invested to counter fraud and 
corruption is proportionate for 
the level of risk

Assessment is:

 Evidenced
 Relates to strategy & risk
 Covers all resource forms
 Capacity and capability
 Agreed by accountable officer
 Ideally, supported by analysis

Met

D2.  The organisation utilises 
an appropriate mix of 
experienced and skilled staff, 
including access to counter 
fraud staff with professional 
accreditation.

Look for:

 Capability – trained staff for 
investigation work

 Capability – access to specialist 
skills e.g. financial investigation

 Capability – audit, data 
analysis, risk management, 
training & presentation delivery

 Capability – awareness of risks

Review of anti-fraud and corruption activity 
includes summary of activity.

Internal management review during 2015: 
Internal audit report March 2015, report to 
SMT March 2015, report to Audit Committee 
April 2015 on Future Corporate Fraud 
Arrangements.

Review identified there would be significant 
additional risk to the Council following the 
planned transfer of existing counter-fraud 
staff to the DWP following the rollout of 
Universal Credit.

Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer post approved 
April 2015: recruitment May 2015: 
commencement in post June 2015.

Met

D3.  The organisation grants 
counter fraud staff unhindered 
access to its employees, 
information and other 
resources as required for 
investigation purposes.

Policies are in place to ensure that 
investigation staff are able to access the 
required information and staff to conduct 
the investigation.  Protocols are in place 
to ensure that such access is 
proportionate and necessary.

Access rights are in place covering 
outsourced activities, shared services 
and partnership arrangements so that an 
investigator is able to conduct 
appropriate enquiries.

Policies include access to info

Access proportionate & necessary: process 
requires consent of Assistant Director 
(Resources) or deputy

Council’s Standard Terms and Conditions of 
Contract require access to be granted to 
investigator to conduct appropriate enquiries.

Met

D4.  The organisation has 
protocols in place to facilitate 
joint working and data and 
intelligence sharing to support 
counter fraud activity.

What does the organisation have in 
place?

 Contracting arrangements
 Resourcing agreements
 Collaborative work
 Handling requests for 

assistance

Policies include access to info

Access proportionate & necessary: process 
requires consent of Assistant Director 
(Resources) or deputy

Council’s Standard Terms and Conditions of 
Contract require access to be granted to 
investigator to conduct appropriate enquiries.

Met

P
age 262



Principle What should you look for Evidence Concl-
usion

Actions required Deadline & 
Who

E. Take action
The organisation should put in place the policies and procedures to support the counter fraud and corruption strategy and take action to prevent, detect 
and investigate fraud.

E1.  The organisation has put 
in place a policy framework 
which supports the 
implementation of the counter 
fraud strategy.  As a minimum 
the framework includes:

 A counter fraud policy
 A whistleblowing 

policy
 An anti-money 

laundering policy
 An anti-bribery policy
 An anti-corruption 

policy
 A gifts and hospitality 

policy and register
 A pecuniary interest 

and conflicts of 
interest policy and 
register

 Codes of conduct 
and ethics

 An information 
security policy

 A cyber security 
policy

Does the organisation have 
arrangements in place to ensure that all 
appropriate staff are aware of the 
policies and understand their 
responsibilities under the policy?

Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy 
approved by Audit Committee and Council 
December 2015 

Whistleblowing Policy approved HR 
Committee July 2013; reviewed Audit 
Committee Dec 2015

Anti-bribery, fraud and corruption policy 
includes expanded elements on bribery 
following Internal audit recommendations 
March 2015.

Code of Conduct for Employees includes 
policy for gifts and hospitability: register 
maintained by Monitoring Officer.  Annual 
report produced.

Code of Conduct for Members and Co-opted 
Members of the Authority includes 
instructions on pecuniary interests and 
conflicts of interest: register published on 
website

Code of Conduct for Employees and 
Members include ethics.  For staff: Personal 
Qualities Framework

Information Security Policy approved Cabinet 
July 2012

Cyber security policy included in Information 
Security Policy

Met

E2.  Plans and operations are 
aligned to the strategy and 
contribute to the achievement 
of the organisation’s overall 
goal of maintaining resilience 
to fraud and corruption.

The effectiveness of the organisation’s 
performance over the year is reviewed 
and an evaluation of its contribution to 
improving the organisations’ overall 
resilience is found to be favourable.

Annual report to Audit Committee on Anti-
fraud and corruption policy and activity

Met

P
age 263



Principle What should you look for Evidence Concl-
usion

Actions required Deadline & 
Who

E3. Making effective use of 
national or sectoral initiatives 
to detect fraud or prevent 
fraud, such as data matching 
or intelligence sharing.

The organisation takes part in initiatives 
that will help it detect or prevent fraud.

Council participates in NFI exercises: all 
matches are checked and followed up as 
required

Annual report to Audit Committee on anti-
fraud and corruption activity includes update 
on NFI progress.

Met

E4. Providing for independent 
assurance over fraud risk 
management, strategy and 
activities.

Results of internal audit or consultants 
reports and any recommendations are 
reported to the audit committee.

Internal audit report Counter Fraud 
Measures March 2015

Reasonable assurance

Reported Audit Committee April 2015

Met

E5. There is a report to the 
governing body at least 
annually on performance 
against the counter fraud 
strategy and the effectiveness 
of the strategy from the lead 
person(s) designated in the in 
strategy.  Conclusions are 
featured in the annual 
governance report.

Annual report to Audit Committee on Anti-
bribery, fraud and corruption reviews 
effectiveness of the policy.

Any amendments to the Anti-bribery, fraud 
and corruption policy are reported to Council 
for approval.

Met

P
age 264



Appendix 3

Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally

2016-19 Checklist
A local authority is self-regulating in respect of counter fraud. It should aim to show that it undertakes realistic self-assessment and has 
identified and understands the major risks. It should acknowledge the problems and put in place plans which can demonstrate that it is taking 
action with visible outcomes. It should aim to create a transparent process and report the results to the corporate management team and those 
charged with governance.

This national checklist has been used to measure the Council’s counter fraud and corruption culture and response.

Yes No N/A Comment
The local authority has made a proper 
assessment of its fraud and corruption risks, has 
an action plan to deal with them and regularly 
reports to its senior Board and its members.

√ Risk assessments completed 2016, actions identified for each risk.

The local authority has undertaken an 
assessment against the risks in Protecting the 
Public Purse: Fighting Fraud Against Local 
Government (2014) and has also undertaken 
horizon scanning of future potential fraud and 
corruption risks.

√ Additional risk identified around RTB sales: partnership working set 
up with South Lakes Housing to review applications.

There is an annual report to the audit committee, 
or equivalent detailed assessment, to compare 
against Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally 
(FFCL) 2016 and this checklist.

√ This report

There is a counter fraud and corruption strategy 
applying to all aspects of the local authority’s 
business which has been communicated 
throughout the local authority and acknowledged 
by those charged with governance.

√ Draft prepared, to be reported to Audit Committee in April 2017.  
Once approved, the strategy will be communicated.

P
age 265



Appendix 3

Yes No N/A Comment
The local authority has arrangements in place that 
are designed to promote and ensure probity and 
propriety in the conduct of its business.

√

The risks of fraud and corruption are specifically 
considered in the local authority’s overall risk 
management process.

√ Risk management policy amended April 2016

Counter fraud staff are consulted to fraud-proof 
new policies, strategies and initiatives across 
departments and this is reported upon to 
committee.

√ Chief Finance Officer/Financial Services Manager consulted on 
new policies, strategies and initiatives, where more detailed 
consideration is required the Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer is 
consulted.

Successful cases of proven fraud/corruption are 
routinely publicised to raise awareness.

√

The local authority has put in place arrangements 
to prevent and detect fraud and corruption and a 
mechanism for ensuring that this is effective and 
is reported to committee.

√ Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer in conjunction with Financial Services 
Manager and Revenues and Benefits Manager, annual report to 
Audit Committee

The local authority has put in place arrangements 
for monitoring compliance with standards of 
conduct across the local authority covering:

√ Annual reports to Standards Committee or Audit Committee

– codes of conduct including behaviour for 
counter fraud, anti-bribery and corruption
– register of interests
– register of gifts and hospitality.
The local authority undertakes recruitment vetting 
of staff prior to employment by risk assessing 
posts and undertaking the checks recommended 
in FFCL 2016 to prevent potentially dishonest 
employees from being appointed.

√

P
age 266



Appendix 3

Yes No N/A Comment
Members and staff are aware of the need to make 
appropriate disclosures of gifts, hospitality and 
business. This is checked by auditors and 
reported to committee.

Partially Members and staff aware of need to make disclosures, reported to 
committee but not checked by auditors on a recurring basis: last 
internal audit review was 2013 and found a reasonable level of 
assurance.

There is a programme of work to ensure a strong 
counter fraud culture across all departments and 
delivery agents led by counter fraud experts.

√ Fraud risk assessments prepared during 2016 for all services; 
standing invitation for Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer to attend team 
meetings, compulsory fraud awareness training for all new staff 
from September 2016.

There is an independent whistle-blowing policy 
which is monitored for take-up and can show that 
suspicions have been acted upon without internal 
pressure.

√ Whistle-blowing policy approved 2013; reviewed biannually by 
Audit Committee.

Contractors and third parties sign up to the 
whistle-blowing policy and there is evidence of 
this. There should be no discrimination against 
whistle-blowers.

√ Included in procurement documents

Fraud resources are assessed proportionately to 
the risk the local authority faces and are 
adequately resourced.

√ Fraud resources are directed towards the areas with the greatest 
risks based on the fraud risk assessments.

There is an annual fraud plan which is agreed by 
committee and reflects resources mapped to risks 
and arrangements for reporting outcomes. This 
plan covers all areas of the local authority’s 
business and includes activities undertaken by 
contractors and third parties or voluntary sector 
activities.

√

Statistics are kept and reported by the fraud team 
which cover all areas of activity and outcomes.

√ This report

Fraud officers have unfettered access to premises 
and documents for the purposes of counter fraud 
investigation.

√ Also included in the Council’s standard terms and conditions for 
procurements.

P
age 267



Appendix 3

Yes No N/A Comment
There is a programme to publicise fraud and 
corruption cases internally and externally which is 
positive and endorsed by the council’s 
communication team.

√ Fraud cases routinely reported in local press and on Council 
website.

All allegations of fraud and corruption are risk 
assessed.

√ Although there is no formal risk assessment process for individual 
allegations, all allegations are initially investigated and subsequent 
actions are based on initial findings.

The fraud and corruption response plan covers all 
areas of counter fraud work:

√ Covered by draft Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy

– prevention
– detection
– investigation
– sanctions
– redress.
The fraud response plan is linked to the audit plan 
and is communicated to senior management and 
members.

√ Fraud risk assessment help inform the preparation of the internal 
audit plan

Asset recovery and civil recovery is considered in 
all cases.

√ Also prosecution and penalties within the benefits system

There is a zero tolerance approach to fraud and 
corruption which is always reported to committee.

√ This report

There is a programme of proactive counter fraud 
work which covers risks identified in assessment.

√ Based on actions arising from the risk assessments completed 
2016

The fraud team works jointly with other 
enforcement agencies and encourages a 
corporate approach and co-location of 
enforcement activity

√ Particularly with DWP staff on benefits work but also work with 
Police and HMRC.

The local authority shares data across its own 
departments and between other enforcement 
agencies.

√ Working mainly with Lancashire and North West authorities in data 
sharing.  Used resources of the National Anti-Fraud Network 
(NAFN) in obtaining data for cross-matching.

P
age 268



Appendix 3

Yes No N/A Comment
Prevention measures and projects are undertaken 
using data analytics where possible.

√ Mainly focussed on Revenues & Benefits, recent work on flood 
grant applications and right-to-buy applications from South Lakes 
Housing 

The local authority actively takes part in the 
National Fraud Initiative (NFI) and promptly takes 
action arising from it.

√ Data provided for 2016/17 NFI exercise.
December 2016 Council tax/electoral register review deferred with 
agreement of Cabinet Office due to disruption from floods.

There are professionally trained and accredited 
staff for counter fraud work. If auditors undertake 
counter fraud work they too must be trained in this 
area. 

√ Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer professionally qualified in counter-
fraud.

The counter fraud team has adequate knowledge 
in all areas of the local authority or is trained in 
these areas.

√ Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer professionally qualified in counter-
fraud and has prepared fraud risk assessments to gain 
understanding of risks in other areas of the local authority.

The counter fraud team has access (through 
partnership/other local authorities/or funds to buy 
in) to specialist staff for:

√

– surveillance
– computer forensics
– asset recovery
– financial investigations.
Weaknesses revealed by instances of proven 
fraud and corruption are scrutinised carefully and 
fed back to departments to fraud proof systems.

√ Majority of cases relate to claims for benefits and reliefs: systems 
are constantly reviewed to learn from any identified frauds.

P
age 269



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 270



REVIEW OF ANTI-FRAUD ACTIVITY – APPENDIX 4 

PURPOSE OF APPENDIX
1 The purpose of this Appendix is to provide a summary of fraud anti-activity since 

2012/13.
Fraud Hotline & Other non-benefit related Investigations

Benefit Related Staff Related Other Total

Year No. % No. % No. % No.

2012/13 4 100 0 0 0 0 4

2013/14 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2014/15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2015/16 0 0 2 100 0 0 2

2016/17 0 0 1 2 45 98 46

Total 4 8 3 6 45 86 52

**Other** relates to investigations into 26 Council Tax discounts and exemptions from 
carrying out targeted drives resulting in savings of over £25000, 15 Right to Buy resulting 
in two refusals, 2 Flood Grant applications (one awaiting legal proceedings), 1 Disabled 
Facilities Grants and 1 Homeless application.  It does not include figures resulting from 
National Fraud Initiative investigations.

Benefits Related Investigations

Year No. Fraud 
Investigators 
(FTE)

No. 
Referred 
Cases

No 
Investigated 
Cases 
Closed

No 
Cautions 
Offered 
and 
Accepted

No Ad 
Pens 
Offered 
and 
Accepted

No Cases 
Accepted 
for 
Prosecution

No 
Prosecutions 
resulting in 
Guilty 
outcomes 

Value of 
Recoverable 
Overpayments 
Identified

2012/13 2.0 300 255 21 1 14 20 £141,500*

2013/14 2.0 330 312 34 2 13 14 £134,877*

2014/15 2.0 404 390 28 4 14 14 £208,000*

2015/16 1.0 418 380 13 11 14 14 £169,370*

2016/2017 
(to 

30/09/2016
1.0 238 200 1 6 3 3 £50,256*

Total 1,690 1,537 97 24 58 65 £704,003*

**Due to DWP taking over responsibility for sanctioning Housing Benefit cases from 1/7/15, 
sanction figures are lower than in previous years.  Overpayment figures marked “*” are the 
amounts from only the cases which were sanctioned.  Actual total overpayment for the year 
2015/16 which involved fraud section intervention is £499,820.18 and from 1/4/16 – 30/9/16 total 
overpayment involving fraud section intervention is £181,514.48**

Page 271



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 272



1 

South Lakeland District Council 

Audit Committee 

1 December 2016 

AUDIT COMMITTEE RISK REGISTER 

 

PORTFOLIO: Not applicable 

REPORT FROM: Shelagh McGregor - Assistant Director Resources 
and S151 Officer  

REPORT AUTHOR: Helen Smith – Financial Services Manager 

WARDS: Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: Not applicable 

 

1.0 EXPECTED OUTCOME 

1.1 This report is presented to Audit Committee to facilitate the ongoing review of the Audit 
Committee Risk Register. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 It is recommended that Audit Committee:- 

(1)    review the updated Audit Committee Risk Register. 

3.0 BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS 

3.1 The Risk Register was last reviewed on 21 July 2016 and has been brought back with that 
meeting’s recommendations included.  

Appendix 1 shows the risks previously identified for the Audit Committee and those which 
have been archived. These risks have been reviewed and archived during the period the 
Committee has existed.  These will continue to be reviewed annually. 

3.2 The Committee at its meeting in July 2016 considered its four current risks:   

3.2.1 RISK AC 1: The challenge from the committee is ineffective due to inexperience. 
This was archived on the 19/06/08, but resurrected as part of the review process at 
the 4 December 2014 Audit Committee. Due to the experience of long-standing 
Members and training for new Members this risk was down-graded in April 2016.  

3.2.2 RISK AC 2: This risk regards the ability of the Council to carry out its statutory 
requirements effectively due to limited resources as a result of the level of funding of 
local government.  This risk is linked to the strategic risk around the Medium Term 
Financial Plan.  The likelihood of this risk has been reduced to reflect the Council’s 
robust financial planning process including the identification and delivery of savings.  
However, the risks remain as the current financial situation is particularly 
unpredictable following the outcome of the EU referendum, changes to Government 

Page 273

Item No.16



2 

and proposals for future changes in funding linked to 100% retention of business 
rates. 

3.2.3 RISK AC 3: Members identified the risk regarding the statutory timetable for final 
accounts reporting from the 2017/18 accounts being earlier than present.  Although 
officers are already factoring this in, achieving quality accounts on time was a risk 
that Audit Committee needed assurance on. 

The new deadline will require the accounts for 2017/18 to be prepared and 
authorised by the Chief Finance Officer by the end of May 2018 and audited by the 
end of July 2018 which gives one month less for both the preparation and the audit 
of the accounts.  Officers prepared a draft of the 2015/16 accounts by the end of the 
first week in June 2016 with only checks carried out for the remainder of June 2016.  
For 2016/17 the accounts will be completed and checked by the end of May 2017.  
External Audit will monitor the delivery of these timescales. 

3.2.4 RISK AC 4: External Auditor appointment.  The Council have until December 2017 
to make an appointment for external auditors when the current arrangements come 
to an end.  Previous appointments were made by the Audit Commission nationally 
and are currently overseen by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) on 
behalf of the Secretary of State.  Audit Committee and Council are to be requested 
to formally approve inclusion in a sector-led national procurement exercise. 

3.3 Previous risks that have been considered and archived are: 

RISK AC 001: Insufficient support/ backup provided to the committee: archived 19/6/08 
RISK AC 002: The challenge from the committee is ineffective due to inexperience: 
archived on the 19/06/08 
RISK AC 003: Officers do not recognise the importance of the Audit Committee: 
archived 10/2/11 
RISK AC 004: Members do not recognise the importance of Audit Committee: archived 
10/2/11 
RISK AC 005: Perception that the Committee is too critical: archived 10/2/11 
RISK AC 007: Significant changes to the membership In one year: archived 19/6/08 
RISK AC 008 Lack of indicators or measurable outcomes to enable the committee to 
demonstrate progress and contribution: archived 18/7/13 
RISK AC 009 The priority Significant Issues identified by Internal Audit are not 
addressed.   

4.0 CONSULTATION 

4.1 This report forms the consultation on the  

5.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

5.1 No alternative options – risks should be reviewed and managed. 

6.0 LINKS TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES 

6.1 Risk management activity underpins Council Plan activity. 

7.0 IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 Financial and Resources 

7.1.1 The proposed mitigations can be met within existing budgets. 

Page 274



3 

7.2 Human Resources 

7.2.1 The proposed mitigations can be met within the existing human resources available. 

7.3 Legal 

7.3.1 There are no additional legal requirements. 

7.4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

Have you completed and Health, 
Social, Economic and Environmental 
Impact Assessment? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If yes, please confirm that it is 
attached to the report in the 
appendices. 

Yes ☐ No ☐ 

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons. 

The review of Audit Committee risks is 
a corporate governance issue and has 
no direct health, social, economic or 
environmental impacts. 

 

7.5 Equality and Diversity 

Have you completed an Equality 
Impact Analysis? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If yes, please confirm that it is 
attached to the report in the 
appendices. 

Yes ☐ No ☐ 

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons. 

The review of Audit Committee risks is 
a corporate governance issue and has 
no direct equality or diversity impacts. 

7.6 Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

No significant risks 
associated with this 
report 

  

 

CONTACT OFFICERS 

Report Author – Helen Smith, Financial Services Manager, h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk, 01539 
793147  

APPENDICES ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT  

Appendix No.  

1 Audit Committee Risk Register. 

 

Page 275

mailto:h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk


4 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE 

 

Name of Background 
document 

Where it is available  

None  

 

TRACKING INFORMATION 

Assistant 
Director 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Solicitor to the 
Council 

SMT Scrutiny 
Committee 

15/11/16 n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Executive 
(Cabinet) 

Committee Council Section 151 
Officer 

Monitoring 
Officer 

n/a n/a n/a 15/11/16 16/11/16 

Human 
Resource 
Services 
Manager 

Leader 

 

Ward 
Councillor(s) 

 

  

n/a n/a n/a   

 

 

  

Page 276



5 

Appendix 1 

Audit Committee Risk Register 

 

Report Author: Helen Smith 

Generated on: 1.12.2016  Audit Committee 

The Risk matrix shows how risks are prioritised: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Audit Committee Risks:  

2016/17 Risk Register/162015  

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 1 The challenge from the committee is ineffective due to inexperience   

Risk 
Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

 X   

Impact 
 

Latest 
Note 

Audit Committee of 19/06/08 decided that this risk should be 
archived as is no longer relevant. The Audit Committee of the 
23/07 decided that this risk should be re-instated as 2 new 
members were added to the Committee at the 20 May 2015 
Annual Council. In April 2016 the likelihood was reduced 
reflecting the experience and training of the existing 
Committee members. 

  

Actions to 
control 
this risk 

Provide suitable 
development 
opportunities to prepare 
Members to make an 
effective contribution. 

Action 

completed? 
Commenced Due Date 

 Throughout 

2016/17 Actioned 
Simon 
McVey 

  

 

 

 

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

 

High 

    

Medium 

    

Low 

    

Very Low 

    

 

Negligible Marginal Serious Critical 

 
Impact 

Priority risks which 
require mitigating 
controls and 

quarterly review 

Low priority risks 
which require annual 

review 

Page 277



6 

Risk No. & Title 

RISK AC 2 Audit Committee ineffective due to limited resources following Government changes to the 
funding of local government. 

Local authorities continue to face unprecedented challenges, relating to the pressures of austerity and 
central government funding reductions, and demographic and technological change. 

  

Risk 
Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  X  

    

Impact 
 

Latest 
Note 

Audit Committee of 4 December 2014 added this risk. In April 2016 the 
risk was amended to concentrate on the impact of funding cuts on the 
ability of the Council to meet its statutory requirements.  This risk links to 
the Medium Term Financial Plan strategic risk. 

  

Actions to 
control 
this risk 

Quarterly monitoring of 
MTFP financial model & 
risks 

Action 

completed? Ongoing  Due Date 

Ongoing: 
see Budget 
Timetable, 
Appendix 1, 
MTFP 

Actioned Shelagh McGregor   

 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 3 The Council fail to meet the tighter timescales for the preparation of final accounts from 
2017/18 onwards. 

Risk 
Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
 

Latest Note 

The new deadlines will require the accounts for 2017/18 to be 
prepared and authorised by the Chief Finance Officer by the end of 
May 2018 and audited by the end of July 2018 which gives one 
month less for both the preparation and audit of the accounts.  For 
2016/17 the accounts will be completed and checked by the end of 
May 2017 and audited by the end of July 2017.  

Actions to 
control this 
risk 

Review the 2016/17 
closedown 

Action 

completed? 
Ongoing Due Date 

Audit 

Committee 

July 2017 
Actioned 

Shelagh 
McGregor 

 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 4 The Council fails to appoint external auditors in accordance with statutory 
requirements. 

Risk 
Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
 

Latest Note 

The Council have until December 2017 to make an appointment for 
external auditors when the current arrangements come to an end.  
Previous appointments were made by the Audit Commission 
nationally and are currently overseen by Public Sector Audit 
Appointments Ltd on behalf of the Secretary of State.  Audit 
Committee and Council are to be asked in December 2016 to 
approve use of the Sector Led body approach. This reduces the 
likelihood of failing to properly appoint an external auditor in 
accordance with statutory requirements through an Audit Panel. 

Actions to 
control this 
risk 

Review the progress of the 
proposed sector-led 
procurement exercise 

Action 
completed? 

Ongoing Due Date 
During 
2016/17 Actioned 

Shelagh 
McGregor 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 278



7 

Archived as agreed by previous Audit Committees 

Listed in order of Risk No. & Title 

 

 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 001 Insufficient support/ backup provided to the committee   

Risk 
Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

  X  

Impact 
 

Latest 
Note 

Audit Committee of 19/06/08 decided that this risk should be 
archived as is no longer relevant  

  

Actions to 
control 
this risk 

  
Action 

completed? 
 Due Date   Actioned    

 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 002 The challenge from the committee is ineffective due to inexperience   

Risk 
Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  X  

    

Impact 
 

Latest 
Note 

Audit Committee of 19/06/08 decided that this risk should be 
archived as is no longer relevant. The Audit Committee of the 
23/07 decided that this risk should be re-instated as 2 new 
members were added to the Committee at the 20 May 2015 
Annual Council. This is included as a new risk below the line of 
tolerance. 

  

Actions to 
control 
this risk 

 Provide suitable 
development 
opportunities to prepare 
Members to make an 
effective contribution. 

Action 

completed? 
 Due Date   Actioned    

 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 003 Officers do not recognise the importance of the Audit Committee   

Risk 
Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

 X   

Impact 
 

Latest 
Note 

Audit Committee of 10/02/11 decided to archive this risk    

Actions to 
control 
this risk 

  
Action 

completed? 
 Due Date   Actioned    

 

 

 

 

 

Page 279



8 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 004 Members do not recognise the importance of Audit Committee   

Risk 

Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
 

Latest 

Note 
Audit Committee of 10/02/11 decided to archive this risk    

Actions to 
control 
this risk 

  
Action 

completed? 
 Due Date   Actioned    

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 005 Perception that the Committee is too critical   

Risk 
Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

 X   

    

    

Impact 
 

Latest 
Note 

Audit Committee of 10/02/11 decided to archive this risk    

Actions to 
control 
this risk 

  
Action 

completed? 
 Due Date   Actioned    

 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 006 Insufficient capacity from Members to make the Committee effective   

Risk 
Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
 

Latest 
Note 

Audit Committee of 18/07/13 decided to archive this risk    

Actions to 
control 
this risk 

  
Action 

completed? 
 Due Date   Actioned    

 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 007 Significant changes to the membership In one year   

Risk 
Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

 X   

Impact 
 

Latest 
Note 

Audit Committee of 19/06/08 decided that this risk should be 
archived as is no longer relevant  

  

Actions to 
control 
this risk 

  
Action 

completed? 
 Due Date   Actioned    

 

Page 280



9 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 008 Lack of indicators or measurable outcomes to enable the committee to 
demonstrate progress and contribution. 

  

Risk 
Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

 X   

Impact 
 

Latest 
Note 

Audit Committee of 18/07/13 decided to archive this risk    

Actions to 
control 
this risk 

  
Action 

completed? 
 Due Date   Actioned    

 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 009 The priority Significant Issues identified by Internal Audit are not addressed   

Risk 
Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  X  

    

Impact 
 

Latest 
Note 

Audit Committee of 4 December 2015 decided to archive this 
risk.  

  

Actions to 
control 
this risk 

  
Action 

completed? 
 Due Date   Actioned    

Page 281



10 

 

Page 282



South Lakeland District Council 

Audit Committee  

1 December 2016 

REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS OF THE AUDIT 
COMMITTEE 

PORTFOLIO: Not applicable 

REPORT FROM: Shelagh McGregor – Assistant Director Resources 
and Section 151 Officer 

REPORT AUTHOR: Helen Smith - Financial Services Manager 

WARDS: Corporate Issue 

KEY DECISION NO: Not applicable 

 

1.0 EXPECTED OUTCOME 

1.1 This report is presented to show the results of the annual review of the 
Committee’s effectiveness, carried out using principles established by CIPFA, 
the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy.  The review uses 
a questionnaire approach: its conclusion is that the Committee continues to 
operate effectively. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 It is recommended that Audit Committee: - 

(1) consider and approve the review and its conclusion that the 
Committee is operating effectively in all material respects; 

(2) note the skills framework for members of Audit Committee in 
Appendix 2. 

BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS 

3.1 The Committee’s work programme requires it to review its own effectiveness 
on an annual basis.  Unlike the review of internal audit, this is not a statutory 
requirement but an element of best practice.  The review will provide 
assurance for the Annual Governance Statement.   

3.2 The Committee’s latest annual report, prepared in April 2016, is a useful 
starting point for the review but it tends to be descriptive rather than analytical 
and a different approach is required to test effectiveness.  In this respect 
CIPFA has published updated Practical Guidance for Local Authority and 
Police Audit Committees in 2013. 

3.3 The CIPFA Practical Guidance included a checklist to assess the 
effectiveness of Audit Committees, which is included at Appendix 1 along with 
responses prepared by officers.  The review concludes that the Committee 

Page 283

Item No.17



can demonstrate that it has been established in accordance with best practice 
and that it has operated effectively during the last year.  The Committee 
should be alert to any changes in its membership and the expertise of its 
Members so that it can arrange suitable training.  Appendix 2 includes a skills 
framework for members of Audit Committee also produced by CIPFA. 

3.4 The Practical Guidance also includes suggested terms of reference for audit 
committees.  The Terms of Reference of Audit Committee were revised in 
December 2014 to reflect these suggested terms of reference. 

3.5 The Practical Guidance includes possible wider functions of an audit 
committee.  The questionnaire in Appendix 1 includes a question of whether 
these possible wider functions have been considered by Audit Committee. 

 These functions are: 

a) Considering governance, risk or control matters at the request of other 
committees or statutory officers; 

b) Working with local standards committees to support ethical values and 
reviewing the arrangements to support those values; 

c) Reviewing and monitoring treasury management arrangements in 
accordance with the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice. 

Audit Committee does support some work of the Standards Committee to 
support ethical values, particularly around reviewing whistleblowing 
arrangements.  For SLDC the treasury management scrutiny function is carried 
out by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  The terms of reference do not 
refer to requests for consideration of matters from other committees or statutory 
officers: any such proposals should be considered on a case-by-case basis 
bearing in mind the need to maintain the independence of the Audit Committee. 

4.0 CONSULTATION 

4.1 Officers have reviewed the guidance on the operation of audit committees as 
set out above. 

5.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

5.1 The Committee can challenge and alter the detail or the conclusion of the 
review, however it is believed that the assessment is accurate and can be 
evidenced.  

6.0 LINKS TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES 

6.1 To develop and embed a high performance culture. 

7.0 IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 Financial and Resources 

7.1.1 This report has no financial implications 

7.2 Human Resources 

7.2.1 There are no human resources implications of this report. 

7.3 Legal 

7.3.1 There are no legal implications of this report. 

Page 284



7.4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4.1  

Have you completed and Health, Social, Economic 
and Environmental Impact Assessment? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If yes, please confirm that it is attached to the report 
in the appendices. 

Yes ☐ No ☐ 

If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, 
please explain your reasons. 

The review of the effectiveness 
of audit committee has no direct 
HSEE implications. 

 

7.5 Equality and Diversity 

7.5.1  

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If yes, please confirm that it is attached to the report 
in the appendices. 

Yes ☐ No ☐ 

If you have not completed an Equality Impact 
Analysis, please explain your reasons. 

The review of the effectiveness 
of audit committee has no direct 
Equality and Diversity 
implications. 

 

7.6 Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

The review is not 
carried out to 
appropriate standards. 

Failure to recognise any 
weaknesses in the 
Committee’s performance and 
potential adverse effect on the 
Use of Resources assessment. 

A thorough review and 
assessment based on 
CIPFA guidance. 

 

CONTACT OFFICERS 

Helen Smith, Financial Services Manager, ext 3147, h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk 
 

APPENDICES ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT  

Appendix No.  

1 Audit Committee Effectiveness Checklist November 2016 

2 CIPFA Audit Committee Members Knowledge and Skills 
Framework 

Page 285



BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

None  

 

TRACKING INFORMATION 

Assistant 
Director 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Solicitor to the 
Council 

SMT Scrutiny 
Committee 

14/11/16 n/a 14/11/16 14/11/2016 n/a 

Executive 
(Cabinet) 

Committee Council Section 151 
Officer 

Monitoring 
Officer 

n/a 1/12/16 15/12/16 14/11/16 14/11/16 

Human Resource Services 
Manager 

Leader Ward 
Councillor(s) 

 

n/a n/a n/a  

 

Page 286



Appendix 1

ASSESSMENT CHECKLIST

REVIEW OF THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

November 2016

 ISSUE YES NO N/A Comment
A Terms of Reference 

1 Does the authority have a dedicated 
audit committee?     

2 Does the audit committee report 
directly to full Council?    Annual review to Annual Council, 

May

3

Do the terms of reference clearly set 
out the purpose of the Committee in 
accordance with CIPFA’s position 
statement?

    

4
Is the role and purpose of the audit 
committee understood and accepted 
across the authority?

   Reported annually to full Council 

5
Does the audit committee provide 
support to the authority in meeting the 
requirements of good governance?

    

6
Can the Committee access other 
committees and call officers to 
account as necessary?

   Also Committee reports to Council 
annually

7 Does it use that power to challenge 
the Executive/Committees?    

The Committee has commented 
critically to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees on their work 
programmes

B Functions of the Committee

8

Do the Committee’s terms of 
reference explicitly address all the 
core areas identified in CIPFA’s 
Position Statement?

    

 i.        good governance     
 ii.        assurance framework     
 iii.        internal audit     
 iv.        external audit     
 v.        financial reporting     
 vi.        risk management     
 vii.        value for money or best value     
 viii.        counter fraud and corruption     

9

Is an annual evaluation undertaken to 
assess whether the committee is 
fulfilling its terms of reference and that 
adequate consideration has been 
given to all core areas?

   This report

10

Has the audit committee considered 
the wider areas identified in CIPFA’s 
position statement and whether it 
would be appropriate for the 
committee to undertake them?

   

    Considering governance, risk 
or control matters at the request 
of other committees or statutory 
officers

Page 287



Appendix 1

 ISSUE YES NO N/A Comment
  Working with local standards 

committees to support ethical 
values and reviewing the 
arrangements to achieve those 
values
  Reviewing and monitoring 

treasury management 
arrangements in accordance with 
the CIPFA Treasury Management 
Code of Practice: in SLDC this is 
carried out by Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

11
Where coverage of core areas has 
been found to be limited, are plans in 
place to address this?

    

12

Has the committee maintained its 
non-advisory role by not taking on any 
decision-making powers that are not 
in line with its core purpose?

   Only additional role is overseeing 
of Royal Wedding Fund

C Membership 

13

Has an effective audit committee 
structure and composition of the 
committee been selected? This 
should include:

    

 i.        separation from the executive    

Members of the committee also sit 
on Shadow Cabinet, Lake 
Administration Committee, 
Planning Committee, Licensing 
Committee and Standards 
Committee.  Officers would give 
the relevant members advice if 
they believed there was conflict of 
interest regarding any audit or 
other review of other committee 
issues.

 ii.        an appropriate mix of knowledge 
and skills among the membership     

 iii.        size of committee that is not 
unwieldy     

 

iv.        where independent members 
are used, that they have been 
appointed using an appropriate 
process

   All members of Audit Committee 
are elected members of SLDC

14 Does the chair of the committee have 
appropriate knowledge and skills?     

15
Are arrangements in place to support 
the committee with briefings and 
training?

    

16

Has the membership of the committee 
been assessed against the core 
knowledge and skills framework and 
found to be satisfactory?

   Core knowledge framework 
attached at Appendix 2.

Page 288



Appendix 1

 ISSUE YES NO N/A Comment

17

Does the committee have good 
working relations with key people and 
organisations, including external 
audit, internal audit and the chief 
finance officer?

    

18
Is adequate secretariat and 
administrative support to the 
committee provided?

    

D Meetings

19
Does the Committee meet regularly to 
a planned timetable and work 
schedule?

    

20

Are meetings free and open without 
political influences being displayed 
and are agenda papers available to 
members of the public?

   

The Committee has decided to 
hold evening meetings which 
should encourage attendance by 
the public.

21 Are decisions reached promptly?     

22
Are agenda papers circulated in 
advance of meetings to allow 
adequate preparation by Members?

    

23
Does the Committee have the benefit 
of appropriate officers at its 
meetings?

    

24 Does the Council's Section 151 
Officer or deputy attend all meetings?     

25
Are separate meetings held with the 
external auditor and the internal 
auditor?

   

Meetings held Jan 2010, Feb 
2011, Dec 2011, Dec 2012, Dec 
2013, Dec 14, Dec 15 & planned 
Dec 2016

E External Audit 

26 Does the Committee input into the 
external audit programme?    

The Committee's views are 
expressed to the external Auditor 
when considering the proposed 
programme

27
Are reports on the work of external 
audit and other inspection agencies 
presented to the Committee?

   As appropriate

28

Does the Committee ensure that 
officers are acting on and monitoring 
action taken to implement 
recommendations?

    

29

Does the Committee know what 
aspects of the Council's activities the 
external auditors consider to be of 
high risk?

   Reported as part of the Annual 
Audit Plan

30
Is the Committee satisfied that 
external audit will be addressing 
these issues?

    

31

Has the Audit Committee satisfied 
itself that the work of internal audit 
and external audit is properly co-
ordinated?

   
 

Page 289



Appendix 1

 ISSUE YES NO N/A Comment

32

Is the Committee aware of any 
significant problems in completing the 
external audit that resulted in over-
runs or revisions to the audit plan due 
to deficiencies in internal 
control/accounting records?

   There were no problems or over-
runs in the 2015/16.

33
Is the Committee satisfied that 
external audit provides value for 
money?

   

Reduction in fees following Audit 
Commission procurement 
exercise, rebate from Audit 
Commission for both 2013/14 and 
2014/15.

F Internal Audit     

34

Do formal terms of reference exist 
defining internal audit's 
responsibilities, objectives and 
reporting lines?

    

35

Is the Committee satisfied that 
internal audit reports to the 
appropriate member of the senior 
management team and that it has the 
authority it needs?

   
Internal audit is outsourced to 
TIAA Ltd which gives it a further 
degree of independence

36

Does the Committee approve the 
strategic internal audit approach and 
the annual plan, and ensure that they 
are based on a proper assessment of 
risks?

   Annual Plan approved annually

Does the Committee regularly review 
the work of internal audit, including:

• individual audit reports with detailed 
prioritised recommendations

• follow up reports confirming that 
previous audit recommendations have 
been acted upon

• seeking explanations from officers 
for delays in implementing 
recommendations
 

37

• periodic progress reports 
summarising audit activity, major 
audit issues and comparisons to the 
annual plan?

   The Committee receives all 
individual audit reports

38
Does the Committee use performance 
indicators to measure the 
performance of internal audit?

   PIs also monitor officers' 
responses to draft audit reports

39
Does the Committee ensure that 
officers are acting on the 
implementation of recommendations?

   Standing item on the Committee 
Agenda

Is the Audit Committee satisfied that:
40 • internal audit received all the co-

operation they needed
    

Page 290



Appendix 1

 ISSUE YES NO N/A Comment
• there was no attempt to restrict the 
scope of internal audit work
• the audit plan was not modified due to 
deficiencies in internal control or 
accounting records
• there were no significant 
disagreements with management
• internal audit do not have any 
concerns about management’s 
commitment to a strong control 
environment
• there is a good working relationship 
between internal audit and 
management
• internal audit are not being subjected 
to undue pressure?

Is the Committee satisfied that:
• internal audit staff have sufficient 
technical knowledge, experience and 
skills to perform their duties to an 
appropriate standard
• the work of internal audit is properly 
planned, completed, supervised and 
reviewed?
• there are adequate quality 
assurance procedures in place

41

• internal audit reports are issued on a 
timely basis?

   

The CIPFA checklist on the 
effectiveness of internal audit is 
completed annually and reported 
to Committee.

42 Is the Internal Audit Manager's annual 
report presented to the Committee?     

G Accounts 
Does the Committee provide 
assurance to the closure of accounts 
process by:
• considering the impact of changing 
accounting requirements
• reviewing and approving the 
accounting policies annually before 
preparation of the Statement of 
Accounts
• assessing the adequacy of the 
arrangements for the production of 
the Statement

43

• considering and challenging the 
Statement before its approval?

   

Accounting policies approved at 
the start of the financial year & 
reviewed as part of the closure of 
accounts process; Committee 
review the process of the 
preparation of accounts as part of 
the approval of the Statement of 
Accounts.

44

Does the Committee receive the 
comments of the external auditor on 
his examination of the Council's 
Accounts?

    

45

Does the Committee ensure that any 
deficiencies highlighted by the 
external auditor are followed up and 
that robust corrective procedures are 
put in place?

   

Recommendations from External 
Audit are included in the 
monitoring of audit 
recommendations report 
considered at each committee 
meeting.

Page 291



Appendix 1

 ISSUE YES NO N/A Comment
H Regulatory Framework 

Does the Committee take a role in 
overseeing:
• risk management and business 
continuity strategies
• performance management systems
• Annual Governance Statement 
preparation and content
• anti-fraud arrangements
• whistle-blowing strategies

46

• constitutional revisions?

    

47

Is the Committee satisfied that 
sufficient assurance reporting is in 
place to encompass all the Council's 
governance responsibilities?

    

48
Does the Committee take an active 
role in the review of internal 
control/governance arrangements?

   
Review of Annual Governance 
Statement through a panel of its 
Members

49

Does it ensure that an action plan is 
drawn up to correct any deficiencies 
arising from that review and monitor 
progress?

    

50
Does the Committee fulfil the 
statutory requirement to approve the 
statement resulting from that review?

    

I Effectiveness of the Committee     

51

Has the committee obtained feedback 
on its performance from those 
interacting with the committee or 
relying on its work?

    

52
Has the committee evaluated whether 
and how it is adding value to the 
organisation?

    

53
Does the committee have an action 
plan to improve any areas of 
weakness?

    

Page 292



APPENDIX 2

REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS OF AUDIT COMMITTEE

CIPFA AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBERS KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS FRAMEWORK

Details of core knowledge required How the audit committee member is able to 
apply the knowledge

Organisational knowledge

 An overview of the governance structures 
of the authority and decision making 
processes

 Knowledge of the organisational objectives 
and major functions of the authority 

This knowledge will be core to most activities of 
the audit committee including review of the Annual 
Governance Statement, internal and external 
audit reports and risk registers

Audit Committee role and functions

 An understanding of the committee’s role 
and place within the governance structures.  
Familiarity with the committee’s terms of 
reference and accountability arrangements.

 Knowledge of the purpose and role of the 
audit committee

This knowledge will enable the audit committee to 
prioritise its work in order to ensure it discharges 
its responsibilities under its terms of reference and 
to avoid overlapping the work of others 

Governance

 Knowledge of the principles of the 
CIPFA/SOLACE Good Governance 
framework and the requirements of the 
Annual Governance Statement

 Knowledge of the local code of governance

The committee will plan the assurances it is to 
receive in order to adequately support the AGS.
The committee will review the AGS and consider 
how the authority is meeting the principles of good 
governance

Internal Audit

 An awareness of the key principles of the 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and 
the Local Government Application Note

 Knowledge of the arrangements for delivery 
of the internal audit service in the authority 
and how the role of the head of internal 
audit is fulfilled

The audit committee has oversight of the internal 
audit function and will monitor its adherence to 
professional internal audit standards
The audit committee will review the assurances 
from internal audit work and will review the risk-
based audit plan.  The committee wil also receive 
the annual report, including an opinion and 
information on conformance with professional 
standards.
In relying on the work of internal audit, the 
committee will need to be confident that 
professional standards are being followed.

Financial Management and Accounting

 Awareness of the financial standards that a 
local authority must produce and the 
principles it must follow to produce them.

 Understanding of food financial 
management principles

 Knowledge of how the organisation meets 
the requirements of the role of the chief 
financial officer, as required by the CIPFA 
Statement on the Role of the Chief 
Financial Officer in Local Government

Reviewing the financial statement prior to 
publication, asking questions.
Receiving the external audit report and opinion on 
the financial audit.
Reviewing both external and internal audit 
recommendations relating to financial 
management and controls
The audit committee should consider the role of 
the CFO and how this is met when reviewing the 
AGS

External Audit

Page 293



APPENDIX 2

 Knowledge of the role and functions of the 
external auditor and who currently 
undertakes this role.

 Knowledge of the key reports and 
assurances that external audit will provide

 Knowledge about arrangements for the 
appointment of auditors and quality 
monitoring undertaken

The audit committee should meet with the 
external auditor regularly and receive their reports 
and opinions.
Monitoring external audit recommendations and 
maximising benefit from audit process.
The audit committee should monitor the 
relationship between the external auditor and the 
authority and support the delivery of an effective 
service.

Risk Management

 Understanding of the principles of risk 
management, including linkage to good 
governance and decision making.

 Knowledge of the risk management policy 
and strategy of the organisation.

 Understanding of risk governance 
arrangements, including the role of 
members and of the audit committee

In reviewing the AGS, the committee will consider 
the robustness of the authority’s risk management 
arrangements and should also have awareness of 
the major risks the authority faces.
Keeping up to date with the risk profile is 
necessary to support the review of a number of 
audit committee agenda items, including the risk-
based internal audit plan, external audit plans, 
and the explanatory foreword of the accounts.  
Typically risk registers will be used to inform the 
committee.
The committee should also review reports and 
action plans to develop the application of risk 
management practice.

Counter-fraud

 An understanding of the main areas of 
fraud risk the organisation is exposed to.

 Knowledge of the principles of good fraud 
risk management practice (Red Book 2)

 Knowledge of the organisation’s 
arrangements for tacking fraud

Knowledge of fraud risks and good fraud risk 
management practice will be helpful when the 
committee reviews the organisation’s fraud 
strategy and receives the reports on the 
effectiveness of that strategy.
An assessment of arrangements should support 
the AGS and knowledge of good fraud risk 
management practice will support the audit 
committee member in reviewing that assessment.

Values of good governance

 Knowledge of the Seven Principles of 
Public Life

 Knowledge of the authority’s key 
arrangements to uphold ethical standards 
for both members and staff

 Knowledge of the whistleblowing 
arrangements in the authority.

The audit committee member will draw on this 
knowledge when reviewing governance issues 
and the AGS.
Oversight of the effectiveness of whistleblowing 
will be considered as part of the AGS.  The audit 
committee member should know to whom 
concerns should be reported.

Page 294


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Audit Committee 2016/17 Work Programme
	6 Risk Management Update
	Risk Management Update - Appendix 1 COLOUR

	7 Accounting Policies 2016/17
	Accounting Policies 2016-17 - Appendix 1

	8 Review of the Local Code of Governance
	Review of the Local Code of Governance - Appendix 1
	Review of the Local Code of Governance - Appendix 2

	9 Internal Audit Recommendations Progress Report
	Internal Audit Recommendations Progress Report - Appendix 1 COLOUR

	10 External Audit Progress and Update Report
	11 External Audit Annual Audit Letter for South Lakeland District Council
	12 Appointment of External Auditors
	Appointment of External Auditors - Appendix 1

	13 Internal Audit Progress Report
	Internal Audit Progress Report - Appendix 1 COLOUR

	14 Review of Constitution
	Review of Consitution - Appendix 1
	Review of Consitution - Appendix 2

	15 Review of Anti-Fraud Policy and Activity
	Review of Anti-Fraud Policy and Activity - Appendix 1
	Review of Anti-Fraud Policy and Activity - Appendix 2
	Review of Anti-Fraud Policy and Activity - Appendix 3
	Review of Anti-Fraud Policy and Activity - Appendix 4

	16 Audit Committee Risk Register
	17 Review of Effectiveness of the Audit Committee
	Review of Effectiveness of the Audit Committee - Appendix 1
	Review of Effectiveness of the Audit Committee - Appendix 2


